
 
 
 

 
 

PLANNING REFERRALS 
COMMITTEE 
 

Please ask 
for: 

Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk 

DATE Wednesday, 12 July 2017  
 

Direct Line: 01449 724673 

PLACE Council Chamber, 
Council Offices,  
Needham Market 
 

Email: Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk 

TIME 2.00 pm 
 

  

 
The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or broadcast 
this meeting when the public and press are not lawfully excluded.  Any member of the public 
who attends a meeting and objects to being filmed should advise the Committee Clerk. 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 Page(s) 

1   Apologies for absence/substitutions  
 

 

2   To receive any declarations of pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest 
by Members  
 

 

3   Declarations of Lobbying  
 

 

4   Declarations of Personal Site Visits  
 

 

5   Questions by the Public  
 
The Chairman to answer any questions from the public of which notice 
has been given no later than midday three clear working days before the 
day of the meeting in accordance with Committee and Sub-Committee 
Procedure Rule 7. 
 

 

6   Questions by Councillors  
 
The Chairman to answer any questions on any matter in relation to 
which the Council has powers or duties which affects the District and 
which falls within the terms of reference of the Committee, of which due 
notice has been given no later than midday three clear working days 
before the day of the meeting in accordance with Committee and Sub-
Committee Procedure Rule 8. 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 Page(s) 
 

7   RF/17/1 - Schedule of Applications  
 

1 - 2 

a   Overview of all the Applications being presented to the Planning Referrals 
Committee (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

b   4963/16 - Land west of Ixworth Road, Thurston (Pages 7 - 154) 
 

c   5070/16 - Land at Norton Road, Thurston (Pages 155 - 316) 
 

d   4386/16 - Land on the west side of Barton Road, Thurston (Pages 317 - 462) 
 

e   4942/16 - Land at Meadow Lane, Thurston (Pages 463 - 592) 
 

f   2797/16 - Highfield, Norton Road, Thurston (Pages 593 - 768) 
 

g   APPEAL ITEM 5010/16 - Land to the South of Norton Road, Thurston  
(Pages 769 - 884) 
 

 

Notes:   
 

1. The Council has adopted a Charter on Public Speaking at Planning Committee. A link 
to the Charter is provided below:  

 
 http://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s3945/Charter%20on%20Public

%20Speaking%20at%20Planning%20Committee.pdf  
 
 Those persons wishing to speak on a particular application should arrive in the Council 

Chamber early and make themselves known to the Officers.  They will then be invited 
by the Chairman to speak when the relevant item is under consideration. This will be 
done in the following order:   

 

 Parish Clerk or Parish Councillor representing the Council in which the application 
site  is located  

 Objectors  

 Supporters  

 The applicant or professional agent / representative  
 
 Public speakers in each capacity will normally be allowed 3 minutes to speak. 
 

2. Ward Members attending meetings of Development Control Committees and Planning 
Referrals Committee may take the opportunity to exercise their speaking rights but are 
not entitled to vote on any matter which relates to his/her ward. 
 

http://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s3945/Charter%20on%20Public%20Speaking%20at%20Planning%20Committee.pdf
http://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s3945/Charter%20on%20Public%20Speaking%20at%20Planning%20Committee.pdf


 
 

Members: 
 
Councillor Matthew Hicks – Chairman – Conservative and Independent Group 
Councillor Kathie Guthrie – Vice Chairman – Conservative and Independent Group 
 

Conservative and Independent Group 

 
Councillors: 

 
Roy Barker 
Gerard Brewster 
Michael Burke 
David Burn 
Julie Flatman 
Jessica Fleming 
Lavinia Hadingham 
Barry Humphreys MBE 
Diana Kearsley 
John Levantis 
Lesley Mayes 
Jane Storey 
David Whybrow 

  

    

Liberal Democrat Group 

 
Councillors: 

 
John Field 
Wendy Marchant 
 

  

Green Group 

 
Councillors: 

 
Anne Killett  
Sarah Mansel 

  

 Keith Welham   
 

Ward Members 
 

Ward Members who are not Committee Members have the right to speak but not to vote on 
issues within their Wards. 
 



 

 

 
Mid Suffolk District Council 

 
     Vision 

 
 “We will work to ensure that the economy, environment and communities of Mid 
Suffolk continue to thrive and achieve their full potential.” 
 
 

Strategic Priorities 2016 – 2020 
 
1. Economy and Environment 

 
Lead and shape the local economy by promoting and helping to deliver sustainable 
economic growth which is balanced with respect for wildlife, heritage and the 
natural and built environment 

 

2. Housing  
  
Ensure that there are enough good quality, environmentally efficient and cost 
effective homes with the appropriate tenures and in the right locations 
 
3. Strong and Healthy Communities 
 
Encourage and support individuals and communities to be self-sufficient, strong, 
healthy and safe 
 

Strategic Outcomes 
 
Housing Delivery – More of the right type of homes, of the right tenure in the right place 
 
Business growth and increased productivity – Encourage development of employment 
sites and other business growth, of the right type, in the right place and encourage 
investment in infrastructure, skills and innovation in order to increase productivity 
 
Community capacity building and engagement – All communities are thriving, growing, 
healthy, active and self-sufficient 
 
An enabled and efficient organisation – The right people, doing the right things, in the 
right way, at the right time, for the right reasons 
 
Assets and investment – Improved achievement of strategic priorities and greater 
income generation through use of new and existing assets (‘Profit for Purpose’) 
 



 

Suffolk Local Code 

of Conduct 

 

1. Pecuniary Interests 
 

2. Non-Pecuniary Interests 

Does the item of Council 
business relate to or affect 

any of your  
non-pecuniary interests ? 

 

Does the item of Council 
business relate to or affect 
any of your/your spouse 

/partner’s pecuniary 
interests? 

 

No 

Participate fully and vote 

Breach = non-compliance 
with Code  

 

No interests to 
declare 

 

Breach = criminal offence 

Declare you have a 
pecuniary interest 

Yes 

Leave the room. Do not 
participate or vote (Unless 
you have a dispensation) 

 

No 

Yes 

Declare you have a non-
pecuniary interest 

 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING REFERRALS COMMITTEE  
 
 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS - 12 JULY 2017 
 

 

Item Ref No. Location And  
Proposal 

Ward Member Officer (Full) Page 
No. 

1.  Various Overview of all applications 
being presented to 
Referrals 

Esther Jewson 
and Derrick Haley 

Dylan Jones 3-6 

2.  4963/16 Land West of Ixworth Road, 
Thurston - Outline Planning 
Application for up to 250 
new dwellings, open space 
and associated 
infrastructure, up to 4.4Ha 
of land for educational uses 
for Thurston Community 
College, and a new Primary 
School site, including 
details of access on land 
west of Ixworth Road 

Esther Jewson 
and Derrick Haley 

Dylan Jones 7-154 

3.  5070/16 Land at Norton Road, 
Thurston - Outline Planning 
Permission sought for the 
erection of up to 200 homes 
(including 9 self-build plots), 
primary school site together 
with associated access, 
infrastructure, landscaping 
and amenity space (all 
matters reserved except for 
access) 

Esther Jewson 
and Derrick Haley 

Dylan Jones 155-
316 

4.  4386/16 Land on the West Side of 
Barton Road, Thurston - 
Erection of 138 dwellings. 
Construction of new 
vehicular access and 
provision of 
cycle/pedestrian link to 
Barton Road. Provision of 
road and drainage 
infrastructure, landscaping 
and open space 
 

Esther Jewson 
and Derrick Haley 

Dylan Jones 317-
462 

Page 1

Agenda Item 7



5.  4942/16 Land at Meadow Lane, 
Thurston - Residential 
development consisting of 
64 dwellings and associated 
highway, car parking and 
public open space 

Esther Jewson 
and Derrick Haley 

Dylan Jones 463-
592 

6.  2797/16 Highfield, Norton Road 
Thurston - Outline Planning 
Application (with all matters 
other than means of access 
reserved) for residential 
development of up to 175 
dwellings with associated 
car parking, landscaping, 
public open space areas, 
allotments, and vehicular 
access from Sandpit Lane  

Esther Jewson 
and Derrick Haley 

Dylan Jones 593-
768 

 
 

Appeal Item 
 

Item Ref No. Location And  
Proposal 

Ward Member Officer (Full) Page 
No. 

1.  5010/16  Land to the South of 
Norton Road 
Thurston - Application for 
Outline Planning 
Permission (with all 
matters other than means 
of access reserved) for 
residential development of 
up to 175 dwellings with 
associated car parking, 
landscaping, public open 
space areas, allotments, 
and vehicular access from 
Sandpit Lane (duplicate to 
application 2797/16) 

Esther Jewson 
and Derrick Haley 

Dylan Jones 769-
884 

 

Page 2



Slide 1 

The Development Proposals 

• 5 sites being promoted through the planning application 
process: 

– Hopkins: 175 homes (valid: June 2016) 

– Bovis: 138 homes (valid: Oct 2016) 

– Pigeon: 200 homes + land for school (valid: Dec 2016) 

– Persimmon: 250 homes + land for primary school and 
land for the adjacent secondary school (valid: Dec 
2016) 

– Laurence: 64 homes (valid: Dec 2016) 

• Total Proposed: 827 new homes 

 

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 7a



Slide 2 

Thurston 

P
age 4



Slide 3 

P
age 5



Slide 4 

Bovis 

Persimmon 

Laurence 

Pigeon 

Hopkins 

P
age 6



Committee Report     

 

Committee Date: 12th July 2017 

  

Item No:  Reference: 4963/16 
Case Officer: Dylan Jones 

    

 

Description of Development: Outline Planning Application sought for 

up to 250 new dwellings, open space and associated infrastructure, and 

up to 4.4 ha of land for educational uses for Thurston Community 

College and a new Primary School site, including details of access on 

land west of Ixworth Road  

Location: Land west of Ixworth Road, Thurston IP31 3PB 

Parish: Thurston  
 

Ward: Thurston & Hessett  

Ward Member/s: Councillors Esther Jewson & Derrick Haley 

 

Site Area: 13.6 

Conservation Area: No 

Listed Building: Manor Farm – Grade 2*, converted Manor Farm Barns - Grade 2, Church 

of St Peter Grade 2 – These are all buildings in the surrounding locality. 

 

Received: 14/12/2016 

Expiry Date: 30/06/2017 

 

 

Application Type: Outline Planning Permission 

Development Type: Largescale Major Dwellings 

Environmental Impact Assessment: Schedule 2 development – EIA not required. 

 

Applicant: Persimmon Homes Limited 

Agent: Bidwells 

 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED FOR CONSIDERATION 

 

The defined Red Line Plan for this application is drawing number THUR-SLP01B received 
on the 22nd December 2016.  This drawing is the red line plan that shall be referred to as 
the defined application site.  Any other drawings approved or refused that may show any 
alternative red line plan separately or as part of any other submitted document have not 
been accepted on the basis of defining the application site.   
 

Submitted Documents:  
 

Sketch block plan received on 14th December 2016. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7b



Ecological constraints and opportunities plan reference number ENO97-01 received on the 

22nd December 2016. 

Indicative Landscape Master Plan reference number JBA16-053 REV A received on the 22nd 

December 2016 

Proposed footpath plan reference number OAS 16-088-TPP01 received on the 22nd 

December 2016. 

Proposed footpath plan reference number OAS 16-088-TPP02 received on the 22nd 

December 2016. 

Proposed footpath plan reference number OAS 16-088-TPP03 received on the 22nd 

December 2016. 

Western boundary cross section reference number THUR received on the 22nd December 

2016. 

Opportunities and constraints map reference number THUR-01B received on the 22nd 

December 2016. 

Concept block plan reference number 02 received on the 11th May 2017. 

Sketch block plan reference number 03 received on the 11th May 2017. 

Building height plan reference number 04 received on the 11th May 2017.. 

Character areas plan reference number 05 received on the 11th May 2017. 

Street scene 1A drawing number Thur-Streetscene 1A received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Street scene 2B drawing number Thur-Streetscene 2B received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Proposed access strategy drawing number 1041 06/011F received on 6th June 2017 

Proposed access strategy drawing number 1041 06/012A received on 2nd May 2017 

Proposed access strategy – emergency access - drawing number 1041 06/013 received on 

2nd May 2017 

Transport assessment received on the 4th December 2016 

Agricultural assessment received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Arboricultural implications assessment received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Arboricultural report received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Archaeological desk based assessment received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Contaminated land report received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Design and access statement received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Final infiltration results received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Flood risk assessment received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Geophysical survey received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Landscape and visual assessment report received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Planning statement received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Preliminary ecological appraisal received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Tree schedule survey received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Residential travel plan received on the 22nd December 2016. 

Transport assessment part 1 received on the 4th January 2017 

Transport assessment part 2 received on the 18th January 2017 

Flood risk assessment received on the 15th March 2017. 

 

The application, plans and documents submitted by the Applicant can be viewed online at 

www.midsuffolk.gov.uk via the following link: 

 

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessioni

d=BE8747788A80F3ECADE308F46AB6D1C3?action=firstPage 

Page 8

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessionid=BE8747788A80F3ECADE308F46AB6D1C3?action=firstPage
http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessionid=BE8747788A80F3ECADE308F46AB6D1C3?action=firstPage


 

Alternatively, a copy is available to view at the Mid Suffolk and Babergh District Council 

Offices. 

 

SUMMARY 

 

The proposal has been assessed with regard to adopted development plan policies, the 

National Planning Policy Framework and all other material considerations. The scheme is 

contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy; however, the Council cannot demonstrate 

a 5 year supply of housing. As such, the scheme falls to be considered under paragraph 14 

of the NPPF where the adverse impacts of the scheme have to be balanced against the 

benefits of the scheme to demonstrate whether it constitutes sustainable development. 

Officers are recommending a minded approval of this application as it is considered to be 

sustainable development where the significant public benefits that the scheme will deliver 

(contributions towards a new school, pre-school, additional land for the community college, 

highway improvements, health provision, affordable housing and library facilities amongst 

others) are considered to outweigh the negative aspects of the proposal. 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 
 
 -  It is a “Major” application for residential land allocation for 15 or over dwellings. 
 
 
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND  
 

 

1. This section details history, policies, advice provided, other legalisation and events 

that forms the background in terms of both material considerations and procedural 

background.     

 

History 

 

2. The planning history relevant to the application site is listed below.  A detailed 

assessment of the planning history including any material Planning Appeals will be 

carried out as needed in Part Three: 

 

 There is no planning history for this site. 

 

3. The following applications are also considered to be relevant to the consideration of 

this proposal as they represent the other major applications for residential 

development in Thurston that are currently with the Council for consideration: 

 

2797/16 Application for Outline Planning Permission (with all matters other than 

means of access reserved) for residential development of up to 175 

dwellings with associated car parking, landscaping, public open space 

Page 9



areas, allotments, and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane. The 

applicant is Hopkins Homes and this proposal is identical to appeal 

5010/16. 

 
4386/16 Full planning application for the erection of 138 dwellings on land on the 

west side of Barton Road, Thurston. The applicant is Bovis Homes.  

 

4942/16  Full planning application for the erection of 64 dwellings on land at 

Meadow Lane, Thurston. The applicant is Laurence Homes. 

 

5010/16  Outline Planning Application (with all matters other than means of access 

reserved) for residential development of up to 175 dwellings with 

associated car parking, landscaping, public open space areas, 

allotments, and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane and Norton Road 

(This case is at appeal for non-determination in the statutory period of 13 

weeks for a major application). 

 

5070/16 Outline Planning Permission sought for the erection of up to 200 homes 

(including 9 self-build plots), primary school site together with associated 

access, infrastructure, landscaping and amenity space (all matters 

reserved except for access) on land at Norton Road, Thurston – The 

applicant is Pigeon Capital Management. 

 

4. The consideration of the cumulative infrastructure issues that this group of 

applications present has been explored in a collaborative, but without 

prejudice, working group including County and District Council Officers with 

the five respective applicants and their technical advisers. This has enabled a 

constructive and timetabled analysis of the proposals and their cumulative 

impact. 

 

Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions 

 

5. None 

 

Details of Member site visit  

 

6. Members visited Thurston on the 13th June to look at this site and the four other 

residential development schemes that are currently with the Council for 

consideration. 

 

Details of any Pre Application Advice 

 

7. The applicant engaged with the Council and received pre-application advice on the 

principle of the development and its acceptability having regards to the fact that the 

Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing. 

 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

Page 10



 
Consultations 
 
8. The following consultation responses have been received: 
 
Great Barton Parish Council – Raises the following comments in relation to this scheme: 
 

 Great Barton uses the services and facilities in Thurston and will feel the pressure on 
local services and facilities as a result of this development. 

 Raise concerns about the impact of extra traffic at the Bunbury crossroads. This 
junction is already at capacity and needs work done to it to make it safe as part of 
this and the other schemes in Thurston. 

 There is education provision in the scheme but there is no agreement or commitment 
by the education authority to take this forward. 

 The Council needs to make sure that it gets the necessary structure under its CIL 

scheme, or failing that through necessary S106 agreements. 

Thurston Parish Council (which includes the comments of the Thurston 

Neighbourhood Plan Team) – Objects to the scheme on the following grounds:  

The following points which have been raised by the Neighbourhood Plans team relate to the 

impact of all 5 applications (and appeal) currently with the Council for residential 

development in Thurston: 

 Thurston is to face an unprecedented level of growth due to the submission of 6 
planning applications proposing over 800 houses between them. 

 The 6 applications need to be considered on a cumulative basis as failure by the 
District Council to do so would result in the individual schemes having a significant 
impact on the local community and it wouldn’t meet the requirements of the NPPF. 

 Consider that the Neighbourhood Plan should be given some weight in the 
consideration of this proposal as it has been the subject of public consultation despite 
not allocating sites or proposing planning policies. 

 The speed of the submission of the applications in Thurston and the amount of 
dwellings proposed between the five undetermined applications and the Granary site 
will result in Thurston losing its ‘village feel’ and for it to become ‘a small dormitory 
town’. 

 The cumulative impact of the scheme needs to be considered in the light of the 101 
residences (92 dwellings and one block of flats incorporating 9 units) already granted 
at the Granary site. 

 The current primary school is at capacity and it is landlocked and cannot be 
extended. Any additional houses would need additional primary school places. Agree 
with the County Council’s stance that a new primary school is required and it should 
be provided before the dwellings are occupied. However, a new school causes its 
own infrastructure issues and there is nowhere in Thurston that has current adequate 
provision to assimilate the pedestrian and vehicle movements particularly at the 
beginning and at the end of the day in school term. 

 Development is proposed on the best and most versatile agricultural land on the 
northern part of the village. 

 The density of all of the schemes is too high and they reflect urban type development 
rather than what you would expect in a village. 

 The local community would prefer to see schemes of no greater than 50 dwellings 
being built with more open space around them. They would also like to see more 
bungalow developments which the developers are not providing. There should also 

Page 11



be more one and two bedroom flats/apartments and houses in the schemes. 

 Thurston is accessed by a network of A roads and country lanes which are not well 
maintained by the County Council and are not of a design or standard to 
accommodate increased growth in Thurston and also that planned in the surrounding 
villages and in Bury St Edmunds.  

 Congestion of the local highway network already exists and these schemes will make 
the situation worse and will cause more accidents to occur at key sites which already 
experience accidents in the village. 

 There are no plans by network rail to improve the station at Thurston and this will 
cause capacity, parking and safety issues. 

 The number of dwellings proposed cumulatively will cause social impacts for the local 
community. These have been split in a pros and cons list as below: 
 

Positive Negative 

 New purpose built school more 
attuned to 21st Century needs.  

 Improved facilities and to allow more 
clubs and organisations to increase 
will increase their sustainability. 

 More residents in the locality would 
help to support a greater variety of 
leisure facilities in the village. 

 A new school would potentially 
trigger more new houses in the 
future which would change the 
social dynamics of the village. 

 New cycle and walking routes to 
the new school would have to be 
created as they don’t exist at 
present. 

 Newcomers to the village will put 
pressure on current organisations 
in the village will not be able to 
expand to meet this increased 
demand. 

 A greater variety of shops and 
facilities would be supported. 

 More shops and facilities will 
change the character of the village 
into a small town and local 
residents will resent this change 
and the new developments that 
have caused this change to 
happen. 

 More residents will sustain bus and 
train services in the locality. 

 More residents will increase 
pressure on the network which 
cannot be met unless 
improvements are made to the 
railway station car park. 

 More pressure for a medical surgery.  The nearest practice doesn’t have 
capacity and all that is being asked 
through this and the other schemes 
is a contribution towards health 
care which will make the service 
unsustainable. 

 Additional footpaths and cycle ways 
will offer a variety of routes for 
walkers and cyclists.  

 The new residents using the paths 
will not be familiar with the way that 
local residents look after their 
valued paths and this could result 
in bad feeling against them. There 
may also be more dogs off leads 
which could cause problems. 

 
Specifically in relation to the Persimmon scheme, the Neighbourhood Plans team raise the 

Page 12



following points:  

 The site only has one access point from Ixworth Road to serve 250 dwellings and this 
road is narrow and at points unsuitable to provide the main access point into the site. 

 Ixworth Road has a poor line of vision for vehicles coming up towards Thurston which 
is dangerous and the access point into the site is in this location. 

 Parking provision is poor for both primary and secondary school and this scheme will 
fail to alleviate that problem. 

 Road safety at peak times in close proximity to the community college is an issue. 

 Road safety concerns at Pokeriage Corner and accessing the A14. 

 Impact of increased traffic levels on other nearby parishes. 

 Location of the proposed primary school and the proximity of its entrance to the 
commencement of the 30mph speed limit. 

 No safe crossing points for pedestrians to access this site. Acknowledge that new 
paths are to be put in to reach this site from the edge of the village. 

 The development is inappropriate to the abutting surrounding countryside. 

 Impact on health and education in the village. 

 The types and densities of the dwellings proposed do not match the local needs for 
smaller properties and bungalows. 

 The affordable homes will be too expensive for local residents as they do not cater 
for the need for 1 and 2 bedrooms. 
 

Thurston Parish Council has raised the following additional comments not previously 
referred to above in relation to this scheme: 

 

 Doesn’t support this scheme for 250 dwellings despite a primary school being 
proposed.   

 The site and surrounding area are within the countryside and therefore outside of any 
settlement boundary for Thurston as defined by Mid Suffolk’s Local Plan and would 
result in the development of new dwellings that would be visually, physically and 
functionally isolated from the facilities and services offered by Thurston as a Key 
Service Centre. The proposal is contrary to policy GP1, H13 and H16 of the local 
plan, policies FC1.1 and FC2 of the Core Strategy Focused Review and policy CS5 
of the Core Strategy. 

 This proposal is not sympathetic to the countryside that it will be sited in and it fails to 
protect the intrinsic character of the countryside by the density and mix of properties 
proposed. 

 Wish to echo the comments made by the Ramblers in that the public footpath than 
runs through the site will be significantly affected by this proposal. 

 The density, tenure and mix including the height of some of properties do not reflect 
that currently in Thurston. 

 Raise highway and pedestrian safety concerns in terms of the access point into the 
site. Of particular concern is that only 1 access is proposed into the site and the 
emergency access proposed is also unacceptable as it is onto a narrow country road. 
Would like the fire service to be consulted on this scheme to make sure that they can 
get their emergency vehicles into the site through the emergency access point.  

 Consider that the access point into the school should be separate and not from the 
single access point into the site. This arrangement will cause a conflict between 
users, could be dangerous and would not be sustainable. 

 It is noted that the applicant states that they intend to reduce the speed limit along 
Norton Road to 30mph along the road frontage of the site. This cannot be 
guaranteed as it is a separate process carried out by the Highway Authority and is 
not something that can be done under the remit of this planning application. 

Page 13



 The site is in a remote location and this raises concerns that the development of 
the site will not be able to allow for the convenient integration of public transport 
within the site and that the traffic that will be generated will not be able to be 
accommodated on the existing road network. 

 It is also felt that the development would not support the transition to a low carbon 
future and is unable to meet the environmental dimension of sustainable 
development and would be contrary to paragraph 17, 30, 35 and 55 of the NPPF and 
Policies FC1 and FC1.1 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy Focused Review. 

 The Parish Council considers that the development fails to demonstrate that it has 
considered safe and suitable access points for all people and as such is contrary to 
paragraph 32 of the NPPF. As the development fails to give priority to pedestrian and 
cycle movements and given the location of the site, it would not support the transition 
to a low carbon future and is therefore unable to meet the environmental dimension 
of sustainable development and would be contrary to paragraph 17, 30, 35 and 55 of 
the NPPF and Policies FC1 and FC1.1 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy Focused 
Review. 

 The Parish Council is concerned at the impact that will be had by the location of a 
site for 250 houses and a 420+ pupil primary school on road safety. The Parish 
Council is concerned that very little assessment has been carried out on the impact 
of vehicular movements on Norton Road  and that consideration should be given to 
the dangers associated with vehicular and pedestrian movements at the single 
entrance to the proposed primary school. 

 There are drainage issues at Ixworth Road and Old Norton Road. Whilst this is 
acknowledged in the planning application, it is considered that no solution has been 
found to resolve the problems identified and large areas of hardstandings will make 
matters worse. 
 

MSDC - Environmental Health – Contaminated land – Does not object to the scheme on 
contamination grounds subject to the imposition of planning conditions. 
 
MSDC - Environmental Health – Public Protection – Does not object to this scheme. 
Points out that there are residential properties in the locality and their residents need to be 
protected during the construction of this scheme by a construction management plan which 
can be secured by a planning condition. 
 
MSDC Heritage Officer – The site lies on agricultural land which is within the setting of 
Manor Farm which is Grade 2* listed and also the barn to the north of it which is Grade II 
listed in its own right.  
 
The Historic Buildings Officer advises that the significance of Manor Farm is that it was 
designed by Philip Webb who was an influential architect and designer. He was also 
responsible for contemporary alterations at Nether Hall. The spacious rural setting of 
Manor Farm and its former farm buildings makes a positive contribution to their 
significance. However, Manor Farmhouse does not seem to succeed an earlier building, 
but is associated historically with Nether Hall to the north.  As a later building, its 
agricultural surroundings make a less important contribution to its significance than would 
be the case for a traditional farmhouse. Since conversion of the barn complex, the 
introduction of residential development and activity in the curtilage of the barn dwellings 
has eroded the agricultural character of the land between them and the application site.  
Similarly development associated with the keeping of horses has changed the character of 
land belonging to Manor Farm. 
 
The site lies on agricultural land and building on it would extend development further along 
Mill Lane, although in a limited degree of arc in relation to remaining farmland. In this 

Page 14



sense the proposal would represent some degree of harm to the setting of the listed 
farmhouse.  However, in the light of the existing compromises to the building’s setting, 
and the remaining extent of farmland around the farmhouse, the level of harm is 
considered low. 
 
He advises in accordance with NPPF paragraphs 129, 132 and 134 that the Council in 
determining this proposal needs to consider whether this harm can be avoided or 
minimised, and whether it is justified in terms of public benefits. 
 
As there are now 5 separate housing proposals in Thurston which together total 872 
houses, with the potential for the cumulative impact of two or more of the schemes to have 
an impact on the heritage assets listed above, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been 
asked for his comments. He considers that in terms of the assets listed above, that this 
proposal has a limited impact on Manor Farm when considered cumulatively with the other 
sites that are currently under consideration by the Council. He considers that the 
cumulative impact of the Hopkins site (2797/16 & 5010/16) and the Pigeon site (5070/16) 
will have the greatest effect and the cumulative impacts of these proposals are considered 
in the two reports for those proposals.   
 
MSDC - Strategic Housing (Summary) – Advises that no objections are raised to the 

scheme as submitted as 35% affordable housing is proposed in line with the Council’s 

requirements. The strategic Housing Officer advises that the affordable housing 

requirement for the site is 87 affordable units. These are broken down as follows: 

Affordable Rent Tenancy = 53 units broken down as follows:  
 
General Needs Affordable Dwellings: 
 

 6 x 1B 2P houses @  58 sqm 

 6 x 1B 2P flats @ 50 sqm 

 6 x 2B 4P flats @ 70 sqm  

 4 x 2B 3P Bungalows @ 63 sqm   

 22 x 2B 4P Houses @ 79 sqm   

 7 x 3B 5P Houses @  93 sqm 

 2 x 3B6P Houses @ 102 sqm 
Total = 53  
 
General Needs Shared Ownership dwellings: 
 

 4 x 2B 4P flats @ 70 sqm 

 14 x 2B 4P Houses @ 79 sqm 

 6 x 3B 5P Houses @ 93 sqm 
Total = 24 
 
Starter Home Dwellings: - 
 

 4 x 2B4P flats @ 70sqm 

 9 x 2B4P houses @ 76 sqm 
 
MSDC Sustainability Officer – Initially objected to this scheme on the grounds that there 
is insufficient information about the environmental and sustainability measures which will 
be used throughout the scheme. However, the applicant has subsequently provided this 
information and it is considered that this has addressed the concerns raised by the 
Sustainability Officer.   

Page 15



 
MSDC Tree Officer – Does not object to this proposal. He comments that a small number 
of trees are proposed for removal and these are generally of limited amenity value and 
should not be considered as a constraint. Advises that tree matters such as root protection 
during construction can be controlled by planning conditions. 
 
SCC Archaeology – Does not raise any objections to this scheme subject to the 
imposition of conditions. 
 
SCC Flood and Water Team – Initially objected to the scheme, but following the 
submission of additional information from the applicant, no longer object to the application 
subject to the imposition of conditions dealing with flood risk matters.  
 
The SCC Flood Management Team has been asked to comment on the cumulative impact 

of 827 houses being proposed in Thurston and they have commented that they would 

expect all of the developers to design suitable sustainable drainage systems (which they 

all have). All of the 5 sites are in a flood zone 1 so they comply with national policy 

requirements. However, surface water drainage has historically been an issue in Thurston 

with soil conditions not being viable for water to drain away easily. Most of the surface 

water from the village is drained into the foul sewer system with the east part of the village 

having a surface water drainage system. It is understood that Anglian Water are 

considering options to improve capacity in the locality to help to prevent the flood events 

that have happened in the centre of the village in recent years.  

SCC Highways – The Highways Authority has provided two responses on this proposal. 
One deals with the cumulative impact of this scheme and the four others that have all been 
submitted in Thurston on the local highway infrastructure. The second response deals with 
the highway issues that are specific to this proposal. 
 
Cumulative impact - The Transport Assessments provided for the individual proposed 
developments show varying degrees of impact on the highway infrastructure. To date none 
have shown the cumulative impact of all five developments but at some locations SCC 
considers this may be severe, particularly where the network is already close to or 
exceeding capacity. Paragraph 21 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
states that planning policies should recognise and seek to address potential barriers to 
investment, including any lack of infrastructure and identify priority areas for infrastructure 
provision. Both SCC and MSDC are aware that paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that 
development should only be prevented on transport grounds where residual impacts of 
development as severe. The same statement allows decisions to be made taking account 
of whether improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost 
effectively limits the significant impacts of development. 
 
On this occasion, we consider that by taking a co-operative approach for all five 
developments there is an opportunity that the planning process can provide improvements 
to both mitigate against any severe impacts and any lack of transport infrastructure. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Congestion)  
The initial data and modelling provided in Transport Assessments indicates that the road 
network will experience additional traffic through growth and development and at some 
locations this will exceed the theoretical junction capacity. Those junctions that are or may 
exceed capacity are discussed below. 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  

Page 16



Modelling shows that this junction is already close to theoretical capacity in the AM peak 
with northbound traffic waiting to turn onto the A143 queueing on Barton Road and at 
capacity in the PM peak with Thurston bound traffic waiting right from the A143 into Barton 
Road. The additional traffic from the proposed developments in Thurston will exacerbate 
these problems; in particular, modelling shows the queueing traffic on Barton Road will 
exceed capacity in the AM peak.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
Modelling indicates that the southbound approach to the junction is currently close to 
capacity in the morning peak and that its capacity will be exceeded before all five 
developments could be delivered. However, in the PM peak the junction has the capacity 
for the predicted traffic for all developments.  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
The modelling of this junction shows some inconstancies with one study indicating it will be 
close to capacity southbound on Thedwastre Road in the AM peak due to traffic from one 
specific development but other modelling showing it would have capacity for the traffic 
generated by the developments. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Road Safety) 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
There have been three recorded crashes resulting in slight injuries and one involving 
serious injury at this junction in the last 5 years for which data is available (2012-2016).  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
There have been two crashes resulting in slight injuries at this junction in the past 5 years. 
  
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
At this junction there have been 9 crashes resulting in slight injuries and one resulting in a 
serious injury in the past 5 years.  
 
The frequency of injury related crashes at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road 
/ C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner) junction would, in the opinion of SCC, necessitates 
some work to improve road safety. Although the frequency of crashes at the A143 Bury 
Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road does not justify significant road safety 
improvements it is a factor that should be considered in any future mitigation measures. 
 
Suggested Mitigation Measures 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
An assumption has been made that the junction can be signalised and that this will reduce 
congestion and improve road safety. Although there is a generous width of highway verge 
in the vicinity of the junction the geography of the site may place constraints on the design 
and further work is required to confirm that a solution is possible or beneficial. The 
proposed junction improvements would be delivered through a jointly funded S106 
contribution.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
The issue of congestion on the southbound approach is difficult to mitigate as there is 
insufficient land within the highway boundary to provide a meaningful solution. It is noted 
that the road network around Thurston is relatively permeable and an option exists for 
traffic to avoid this by diverting onto Beyton Road and then turning right to approach this 
junction from the east. 
 

Page 17



Several minor traffic management features such as improved signing, marker posts and 
high friction surfacing have been used at this junction in the past as crash reduction 
measures. Despite this, crashes causing injury continue to occur. To reduce the severity of 
these crashes it is proposed to restrict the road to 40mph and undertake local safety 
improvements such as enhanced road signs and markings. This would be delivered 
through a jointly funded S106 contribution.  
 
A longer term solution would be to remodel the junction or drastically remodel the road 
network. It is recommended these matters should be addressed in any future revisions to 
the Local Plan. 
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road 
The highway boundary constrains any improvements in this location and thus there does 
not appear to be any viable mitigation to increase capacity on the southbound Thedwastre 
Road approach. The relatively low number of crashes suggests that the issue of road 
safety is not as important as it is for the other two junctions and mitigation measures would 
only comprise low cost work, such as road signs and markings. 
 
Speed Limits  
It is noted that a number of proposed access roads are located close to or beyond the 
existing 30mph speed limit in Thurston. In some cases, assumptions have been made 
when determining visibility for these junctions that the 85%ile speed limits are or will be 
close to 30mph. Developers are advised that the visibility requirements shall be designed 
for the measured 85%ile speed adjacent to the junction and not the posted or proposed 
future speed limit. A legal process must be followed to change or extend a speed limit and 
during this process objections can be made which can delay or stop creation of the 
necessary legal order. For this reason, Suffolk County Council cannot accept visibility 
splays based on changes to speed limits unless there is confidence that no significant 
objections to the traffic regulation order are likely.  
 
Based on the available details of the five proposed developments the following changes to 
speed limits are suggested; 
 

 Extend the 30mph speed limit north on Ixworth Road to Thurston Rugby Club  

 Extend the 30mph speed limit on Norton Road towards and beyond Church 
Road  

 Extend of 30mph speed limit on Barton Road west of Mill Lane  

 Create a new 40mph speed limit between and including the C693 Thurston 
Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road and the C560 Beyton Road / 
C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road for road safety reasons.  

 
The necessary Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) could be raised individually or preferably 
as a single order. The latter is preferred as it reduces cost and administration. This can be 
delivered through site specific or joint S106 contributions. As stated above implementation 
of an order cannot be guaranteed and if a TRO is required to justify reduced visibility splay 
lengths then the order would need to be substantially complete before such a reduction 
would be accepted. If a process can be agreed between the parties’ initial consultation can 
be undertaken in advance of determination of the planning applications. 
 
Pedestrian and Cycling Infrastructure 
The benefit of considering all five applications together is that a coherent system of 
footways and pedestrian crossings can be delivered in Thurston. The proposed footways 
are intended to provide good, direct pedestrian access both to the main village and 
schools. The proposed improvements, most of which have already been proposed by 

Page 18



individual applications, are listed below:  
 

 An uncontrolled pedestrian crossing on Norton Road between Meadow Lane 
and Station Hill / Ixworth Road.  

 A footway on west side of Ixworth Road between Norton Road and the entrance 
to Persimmon’s site  

 A footway link on Ixworth Road between the entrance to the Persimmon 
development and the entrance to the Thurston Rugby Club.  

 A controlled pedestrian crossing facility (e.g. a raised table junction with zebra 
crossing) if practicable at or adjacent to the Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth 
Road junction. Pooled contributions from all 5 developments are required for 
the County Council to deliver this.  

 A footway on the north side of Norton Road from Meadow Lane east towards 
Church Lane as far as the site boundary allows. This could be within the 
development and or on the highway verge.  

 An uncontrolled pedestrian crossing on Norton Road linking the Hopkins 
Homes and Pigeon sites  

 Meadow Lane resurfaced to improve cycle / pedestrian facilities (and maintain 
access to properties)  

 Provide a metalled footway on Church Road between Footpath 006 and the 
footpath link to School Lane. This will include provision of street lighting along 
this short section of footpath.  

 Provide two uncontrolled pedestrian crossings on Sandpit Lane to link the 
Hopkins Homes development to the main village  

 
With the exception of the pedestrian crossing facility at the junction of Ixworth Road, 
Station Hill and Norton Road, the above are expected to be secured by conditions or S106 
obligations as appropriate and delivered by the relevant development with S278 
(improvements to existing highway) or S38 agreements (if adoption as highway 
maintainable at public expense is desired) as appropriate. All the footways are expected to 
be metalled and where verge space allows provision for cyclists should also be 
considered. 
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW)  
It is proposed that a small number of PRoW are improved to provide alternative pedestrian 
links between the proposed developments and current and future school sites. These are 
improvements to:  
 

 Thurston Footpath 001 between Ixworth Road and Meadow Lane. It is 
proposed that this is to an all-weather standard, preferably a bituminous 
surface.  

 Thurston Footpath 018 between Ixworth Road and Mill Lane. This lies within the 
development site and the works can be secured by condition.  

 Thurston Footpath 006 between Norton Road and Church Road. This lies within 
the development site and the works can be secured by condition. It is proposed 
that this is to an all-weather standard; preferably a bituminous surface as far as 
it is a safe pedestrian route to the site north of Norton Road  

 New PROW link along southern boundary of the Bovis Homes site to join 
Barton Road  

 New PROW link from the site west of Barton Road to Heath Road, linking with 
Cycle Route 51.  

 Improve PROW 007 North of Meadow Lane (un-metalled). 
 
If diversion of a PRoW is likely it is recommended that discussions are held with the 

Page 19



relevant SCC officer at an early state. 
 
Public Transport  
Improvements to public transport infrastructure will be limited to any site-specific works 
necessary as a result of each development through S106. All other public transport 
improvements are included in the CIL.  
 
The specific highway comments relating to this scheme only are as follows: 
 
Speed limit – The developer is proposing to reduce the speed limit to 30mph limit from its 
existing position down to the Rugby Club. However, this change cannot be guaranteed as 
it is a separate legal process under the highway act and as such, the scheme needs to be 
designed to the current speed limit of the road. 
 
Emergency access – This is considered to be acceptable via Mill Lane provided the 
following occurs: 
 

 The length of the main access between Ixworth Road and the beginning of the 
loop road is kept to a minimum.  

 Details of the junction layout including swept path analysis show that this 
access is practical with regard to the narrow width of Mill lane.  

 The emergency access is designed to be of a suitable width with features to 
effectively deter use by non-authorised vehicles while allowing pedestrian and 
cycle use.  

 
Internal Highway layout – A carriageway width of 5.5m would be acceptable for the main 
access road. Details of the footway layout and shared space design will be required. 
 
Car parking - To be agreed at Reserved Matters stage having regards to the Council’s 
standards. 
 
Footway and cycle connectivity - The proposal of a footway along the western side of 
Ixworth Road between Norton Road and the Rugby Club is welcomed. However, the 
provision of a footway must not reduce the carriageway width on Ixworth Road to an 
unacceptable width.  
To improve pedestrian connectivity a pedestrian crossing should be provided at the 
junction of Ixworth Road, Station Hill and Norton Road.  
 
An uncontrolled crossing to should be provided to link the new footway alongside Ixworth 
Road to the PRoW Thurston 001 opposite.  
 
The proposed footway as detailed includes provision of root barriers and ‘no dig’ 
construction. These are regarded as indicative and details will be agreed as part of the 
S278 approval process.  
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW) – Changes or additions to the existing PRoW network (eg 
spurs to the proposed school site) must be agreed with the relevant SCC PRoW Officer. 
Care should be taken not to create a canyon effect by confining footpaths between linear 
features such as walls, high hedges and fences. Some of the footways shown on drawing 
03 Sketch Block Plan are within the existing or proposed adoptable highway and as such 
do not require PRoW status. 
 
Road Safety - The Transport Assessment does not refer to the cluster of crashed at the 
junction of C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road. However, this 

Page 20



has been addressed in the letter regarding the cumulative effects of the developments in 
Thurston. 
 
Landscaping - When considering the masterplan for full planning application the developer 
should note the Highway Authority’s preference for trees to be planted in public open 
space rather than adjacent to adoptable highways (including footways). 
 
Transport Assessment and Local Highway Infrastructure  
The trip rates calculated for this development are 0.568 (am peak) and 0.528 (pm peak). 
These are lower than adjacent developments in Thurston and surrounding villages but 
considered acceptable due to the proportion of affordable houses.  
 
The TA does not address cumulative impact of other sites and does not include A143 Gt 
Barton and C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road junction, which 
have been identified in other Transport Assessments as junctions that will receive 
additional traffic from this development and will then exceed theoretical capacity.  
 
Proposed S278 works  
 

 Footway on west side between Norton Road and Persimmon site and beyond 
to the Thurston Rugby Club  

 
Proposed S106 Heads of Terms  
 

 Improvements to PRoW Thurston 001 between Meadow Lane and Ixworth 
Road. A contribution of £8889 is required on completion of 50% of the total 
number of dwellings. 

 Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at Norton Road / 
Station Hill / Ixworth Road junction. A contribution of £27297 is required on 
occupation of the first dwelling. 

 Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston 
Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton. A contribution of £86911 is 
required on commencement of construction work on site. 

 Contribution towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 
Thurston Road / C693 New Road including a 40mph speed limit on the C692 
Thurston Road. A contribution of £15780 is required on commencement of the 
first dwelling. 

 Extension of the 30mph speed limit to Thurston Rugby Club. A contribution of 
£8000 is required on commencement of work on site.  

 Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 
annum from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five years, or 
one year after occupation of the final dwelling, whichever is longest.  This is to 
cover Suffolk County Council officer time working with the Travel Plan 
Coordinator and agreeing new targets and objectives throughout the full 
duration of the travel plan.  If the contribution is not paid Suffolk County Council 
may not be able to provide sufficient resource to assisting the ongoing 
implementation and monitoring of the travel plan, which may result in the failure 
of the Travel Plan to mitigate the highway impact of this development. 

 Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £127,975 (£512 per 
dwelling – based on the estimated cost calculated by Suffolk County Council of 
fully implementing the travel plan).  This is to cover the cost of implementing 
the travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to deliver it themselves. 

 
The S106 proposals are based on the assumption of a collaborative approach as outlined 

Page 21



in our letter of the 10th March 2017.  If this site is determined as a stand-alone application 
these conditions and contributions would be re-assessed.  
 
Advises that the reminder of the issues that are relevant to this proposal can be covered by 
planning conditions and within the S106 agreement for the scheme. The County has 
indicated that the cost of this will be £176,877 for the works required under S106 of the act 
(excluding costs for the travel plan which are shown separately above) and £130,000 for 
works under section 278 of the Highways Act. 
 
SCC - Obligations Manager: Comments that 250 new houses proposed in the scheme 
will have an impact on local infrastructure particularly in terms of education.  
 
Primary Provision 
The residents of the scheme will generate the need for 62 new primary school places and 
it has been advised that there is no capacity in the local Primary School which is the 
Thurston Church of England Primary Academy to accommodate this development and as 
such a contribution is requested towards a new primary school. As new schools cannot be 
provided through the Council’s CIL scheme (the 123 list only allows for extensions to 
schools and not new schools) a request is made for a contribution towards a new school 
under S106 of the planning act.  
 
A contribution for £1,018,598 as broken down below is require to meet education needs 
which will arise from this development: 
 

School level Minimum pupil 
yield:  

Required: Cost per 
place £  
(2016/17): 

Primary school 
age range, 
5-11*: 

62 62 16,429 

 
Land for new school 
A contribution for a further £80,228 is also requested to contribute towards the cost of the 

land to provide the school. This is worked out on a maximum cost of £100,000 per acre 
(£247,100 per hectare, which will be £543,620 for a 2.2 hectare site and equates to 
£1,294 per pupil place. For the proposed development, this equates to a proportionate 
land contribution of 62 places x £1,294 per place = £80,228 
 
Temporary classroom 
The Obligations Manager has also advised that there will be a need for temporary 
classroom arrangements to accommodate the needs of the children that arise from this 
development. The existing primary school is on a very constrained site and an 
extension to the facility is not possible under Department for Education guidelines. 
However, it is advised that where extra pupils either through a spike in local population 
or from housing development cause a ‘bulge’ in the admission numbers, this can be 
accommodated by providing temporary classrooms. 
 
A double temporary mobile classroom providing 60 places could be located within the 
hard surfaced play and car park areas within the school for a period of no longer than 3 
years to meet the admissions ‘bulge’ which would be caused by this and other large 
housing developments in Thurston.  As the primary school is an academy whereby 
the County Council has limited control over its operation, agreement to the provision of 
the temporary building has had to be sought from the Academy board that runs the 
school and it is understood from the Obligations Manager, that agreement has now 

Page 22



been given by them for this to go ahead. 
 
The temporary classroom will be facilitated via a CIL bid as it is classified as being an 
extension to an existing school in the Council’s 123 list. 
 
Secondary School and 6th form provision 
The Obligations Manager has commented that secondary and 6th form provision in the 
area is currently sufficient to accommodate the additional pupils which will be generated 
from this proposal as shown in the table below. 
 
Total primary education contributions: £1,098,826 
 
Restriction on occupation 

The Obligations Manager has also commented that as there is another application in 
Thurston that is proposing a primary school site (application 5070/16 – Land on land at 

Norton Road, Thurston for Pigeon Capital) but neither this or that application is 
approved yet, that the district council should consider imposing a planning condition 
restricting occupation of any dwellings once the capacity of the existing primary school 
with additional temporary classroom are full. This condition could then be discharged 
once the construction of the new primary school on whichever site has been chosen 
has commenced. 
 
Pre-school      

The Obligations Manager has also noted that there are currently 4 pre-school 
establishments in the locality (2 childminders, Thurston pre-school and Tinkerbells Day 
Nursery) and that spare capacity between them is only 10 spaces. Based on the scale of 
development currently being assessed in Thurston, the proposed legislative changes and 
the intention to establish a new primary school (with nursery provision), the most practical 
approach is to establish a new early education setting on the site of the new primary 
school which would be a 30 place setting, providing sufficient capacity for 60 children in 
total. Our latest estimates are that a 30 place early education setting costs £500,000 to 
construct on a site of approximately 630m2 (note: this includes outdoor play and parking). 
 
The Mid Suffolk Regulation 123 List indicates that new early years settings are not 
identified for funding through CIL. A proportionate contribution for this scheme would be 
based on 25 children of the total 60 who would be accommodated within the new setting, 
could be calculated as follows (revised costs from a similar scheme in Suffolk):  

 £500,000 construction cost (including land as collocated with the new primary 
school) for a new 60 place setting  

 £500,000/60 early years pupils = £8,333 per place  From 250 dwellings there is 
the need for 25 additional places  

 Therefore 25 pupils x £8,333 per place = £208,325 (2016/17 costs)  
 
Total contribution for all education provision - £1,307,151  
 
Other infrastructure contributions 
Requests a contribution of £54,000 towards library provision. This is requested under the 
Council’s CIL 123 list. 
 
SCC Public Rights of Way – Notes that public footpath number 18 runs through the site, 
but they do not raise any objections to this scheme subject to the imposition of a condition 
to ensure that foliage along the site is cut back so that it stays at its legal width of 1m. 
 
Anglian Water – They have been consulted but have not responded to this proposal. 

Page 23



 
Ecology Officer, Essex Place Services –  The Council’s Ecologist originally objected to 
the scheme on the basis that the site could support Skylarks which are a UK and European 
Priority Species and that there was insufficient information in the applicant’s ecological 
report to assess and mitigate against the loss of habitat. Following additional discussions 
with the Ecologist, the applicant has now agreed to provide Skylark nesting plots on land 
within their ownership (and included as a blue line in the site location plan for this 
application) and the Ecologist has now withdrawn their objection to the scheme . She is 
now satisfied that all matters can be satisfactorily controlled by conditions.   
 
Environment Agency – Does not object to this scheme on flood risk or on foul water 
grounds.  
 
They have also considered the cumulative impact of all 5 schemes together and they 
advise that none of the sites are in an area at risk of fluvial flooding. They also confirm that 
from their records there will be sufficient capacity in the Thurston Water Recycling Centre 
to accommodate all 827 dwellings. They have advised that Thurston lies in an area of 
‘water supply stress’ by Anglian Water which has a duty under their own legislation to 
provide a water supply to new houses when they are built. 
 
Fire Service - County Fire Officer – They have been consulted but have not responded 
to this proposal. 
 
Highways England: Does not raise any objection in relation to this proposal. 
 
Historic England – They do not wish to make any comments on this scheme. 
 
Landscape Officer – Essex Place Services: Does not object to the proposal but 
comments that it will significantly change the visual character of the site which will change 
from agriculture to residential and that it will take a number of years for the landscaping as 
suggested to screen the site to develop and grow. 
 
In their response they provide key details which the applicant will need to explore should 
this scheme be approved in formulating their layout for their reserved matters application. 
 
Natural England – They do not have any comments to make on this proposal. 
 
Network Rail – They have been consulted on the cumulative impact of building 827 new 
dwellings in Thurston on the railway station and the local railway network as requested by 
the local community. They state that the main issue is the Barrow Level Crossing at 
Thurston station which has historically seen a number of safety issues associated with it 
and the level of usage which would arise from the erection of the number of dwellings 
proposed would have a severe impact on safety unless mitigation measures are 
introduced. They indicate that their preferred option is to close the level crossing and 
replace it with a new pedestrian ramp from platform 1 (upside) down the embankment 
leading onto Beyton Road. This design will also need to include a drop off point/layby for 
vehicles along Beyton Road. They have advised that the cost of the works amount to 
£1million and should be shared proportionally amongst the developers. They are seeking 
this through a S106 agreement. 
 
When questioned, Network Rail has made it clear that the works that they propose to the 
crossing point at Thurston Station are directly related to the impact of the 5 planning 
applications and the 827 houses that would be built.  They have advised that the other 
works that they propose to close crossing points elsewhere on the same line are minor in 
nature and cannot be compared to this site as the other crossing points are not facing 

Page 24



unprecedented levels of pedestrian use which would be generated from the proposed 
housing in Thurston.   
 
NHS/Primary Care Trust – The proposal will have an impact on the Woolpit Surgery and 
there will be a need to either extend or reconfigure the building to meet the additional 
capacity requirements that will be generated if this proposal is approved. The PCT have 
not specified an amount that they require, but they have confirmed that they will be making 
a bid under the Council’s CIL scheme for the funding that they require to carry out the 
works they deem necessary to ensure that the facilities can meet the need that arises from 
this development. 
 
Ramblers Association – Objects to this scheme as the public right of way that links 
Ixworth Road to the east and Mill Lane to the west across the site and to the site will be 
adversely affected by loss of open space and amenity currently enjoyed by local walkers 
and residents. This development will alter the character of the north side of the village and 
diminish the enjoyment of a walk in the countryside. Also states that the character of 
Ixworth Road will change from a rural highway to a busy urban character and this is likely 
to make it dangerous for walkers to cross the road safely. They have also stated that they 
are concerned at the closure of the public footpath during the build process for the scheme 
and also would not be happy if the footpath was to be diverted away from its existing route. 
 
Suffolk Wildlife Trust – Raise the following points: 
 

 Note the comments of the ecologist who surveyed the site but whilst no 
evidence of Skylarks was found on site it was early in the season when the 
survey was done. It is considered that this site would be suitable for Skylark 
habitat and a compensation scheme needs to be provided with this proposal as 
Skylarks are a UK and Suffolk Priority Species.  

 It is also noted that a sympathetic lighting scheme should be provided at the 
site to mitigate its impact on ecology in the area.  

 Query how the landscaped and Suds areas will be maintained in the interest of 
protecting and improving ecology in the area. 

 If approved, there needs to be a condition on the planning permission to ensure 
that the scheme is developed in accordance with the recommendations of the 
ecological report. 

 The scheme should also provide environmental/ecological enhancements. 
 

Representations 
 
9. 25 letters in total have been received objecting to this proposal on the following 

grounds: 
 
Highway safety 
 

 The proposed cycle way and footpath does not extend to the full extent of the 
site. It should do. 

 The road approaching the school should be widened with parking facilities on it 
to address potential future traffic issues. 

 The applicant’s transport statement makes unrealistic assumptions about how 
traffic will flow into and out of this site. 

 There needs to be a combined traffic management plan for the area to 
accommodate the needs of all development in Thurston. 

 The crash data for Fishwick Corner as submitted by the applicant does not 
seem to be correct. More accidents than is listed in the report have been 

Page 25



witnessed on site by local people. 

 The additional land proposed for the College is of concern as this is likely to in 
the future facilitate an extension to the school which will further increase 
congestion and traffic issues in the locality. 

 The local roads are inadequate and dangerous to cope with so many new 
dwellings and they are always in a poor state of repair which will be made 
worse by this proposal. 

 There are a number of dangerous junctions and pinch points in the area which 
will become more dangerous with the number of vehicles which will be 
generated by this development. 

 Additional vehicles on the road network will cause congestion and chaos at 
peak times.  

 The railway station has poor parking. Additional residents from this site using 
the railway station to access places such as Bury St Edmunds will increase the 
parking issues experienced.  

 Increased users of the railway line will result in more users having to walk 
across the railway tracks to access trains. These lines are shared with fast 
moving and non-stopping express and freight trains. This is unsafe and there 
will be accidents and possible fatalities. 

 There is no turning head or anything shown for buses or cars using the new 
school to turn around on so traffic twice a day will be parked on the highway 
which is not wide enough to accommodate it. 

 Drainage of water on Ixworth road is a problem and this scheme will make the 
situation worse. 

 The applicant’s trip generation figures aren’t believable and traffic impact will be 
greater than suggested. 

 There is poor visibility from Cedars Close. The additional volume of traffic on 
the highway will make the situation worse. 

 Saw a traffic survey being carried out earlier this year in Thurston. This 
proposal must be considered having regards to its findings. Any future traffic 
surveys should be done at peak times during the day to be accurate. 

 
Infrastructure 
 

 This proposal will have a negative impact on water pressure in the locality. 

 The infrastructure for this proposal is limited and as such it should be refused 
planning permission. 

 This development will create excessive pressure on the local GP surgery as 
well as other NHS infrastructure in this part of Suffolk. 

 If this is approved, a supermarket will be needed locally to meet the needs of 
the residents. 

 The local primary school cannot accommodate the children from this 
development. If this is approved, what is going to happen if the houses are built 
before the new school and how is the existing school supposed to cope in that 
situation? Would children need to be bused to other schools in the locality? 

 
Impact on the character and amenity of the area 

 

 People use the public right of way regularly to enjoy peace, open air and views. 
This scheme will destroy that as the path will become an urban route right next 
to the new houses. 

 The proposal is urban in character and will have a negative impact on the 
surrounding open countryside. 

 Increasing the width and ‘urbanising’ Ixworth Road to provide access into the 

Page 26



site is unacceptable and will have a harmful impact on the rural setting of this 
part of Thurston. 

 Would like to see more landscaping if this scheme is approved. 

 This proposal does not maintain of enhance the amenity of the area as the 
Council’s local plan requires schemes to do. 

 
Impact on residential amenity 
 

 The dwellings will be too close to existing properties. We enjoy an area of 
tranquillity undisturbed by noise to the rear of us and a separation distance of 
20 – 30m between us and the new dwellings will completely destroy this. 

 Our property is on a slope and having a two storey house facing us will impact 
negatively on our privacy. 

 The proposed buffer zone will impact on the amount of light received by some 
of the existing properties adjacent which will affect the amenities of the 
occupiers. 

 
Impact on wildlife in the locality 
 

 It says in the applicant’s documentation that the proposal will result in the 
existing landscape quality of the area being retained. How can this be when a 
green field is being built on? 

 The hedge between the college and the land earmarked for the college is a 
major feeding area for bats and should not be removed without substantial 
consideration. 

 
Policy issues 
 

 The development is outside the settlement limits for Thurston and that part is 
being glossed over by the applicant. 

 This proposal ignores the 50 limit per housing site as suggested by the Parish 
Council in their neighbourhood plan. 

 This proposal is not sustainable as it will provide dwellings for people 
commuting to Ipswich or towards Cambridge. 

 When will Mid Suffolk tell us the maximum number of new houses Thurston 
should take in the new Local Plan for the district? 

 This proposal should not go ahead until the Council works collaboratively with 
the local community and prepares its new local plan for the district and the new 
Neighbourhood plan is issued. 

 
Other issues 
 

 This proposal is not sustainable. 

 There are not enough bungalows as part of this scheme. 

 If the scheme is approved, it is important that the housing numbers are 
reduced, with no units near the western boundary of the site, or if these are 
essential then they must be single storey properties. There also needs to be an 
improved buffer zone on the northern boundary of the site and an improvement 
to the connectivity between the lagoon/open space area and the northern end 
of the site. 

 The developer has ignored the local need for more bungalows in his proposal. 

 The field which is the subject of this proposal has been used to grow crops over 
the years. It is designated as Grade 2 agricultural land and has significant 
economic benefit for food production in Suffolk. This proposal is therefore 

Page 27



contrary to the requirements of the NPPF. 

 There are other sites in the village that should come first before this one does. 

 Significant weight should not be put on the fact that the applicant is proposing a 
new school and land for the primary school when considering this proposal as 
the negatives of the scheme outweigh the positives. 

 If the school and land for the college was taken out, would this proposal then 
stand on its merits? 

 The energy efficiency merits of this scheme need to be excellent to make them 
sustainable. 

 This proposal will make Thurston a town and not the current village that it is. 
 
Cumulative Impacts 
 

 The 5 sites in Thurston should be considered cumulatively and not singularly 
due to their linked impacts and they should also be considered having regards 
to the Granary site which already has permission. 

 There are too many houses proposed particularly when you take into account 
all of those in Bury St Edmunds which is only a short distance away from 
Thurston. 

 
Following the submission of revised plans in May 2017, further letters from two of the 
original objectors have been received. They state that they continue to object to this 
scheme on the following grounds: 
 

 We do not understand what the significance is of the changes that the applicant 
has made to the application plan. It does not address any of our previous 
objections to this scheme.  

 We want to see bungalows along the whole length of the western boundary. 

 A significant buffer zone is needed along the western boundary. 

 There is a need for more 2 bedroom houses and bungalows on site. 

 This scheme should be rejected unless the number of houses and the density 
of the development can be reduced. 

 
The Site and Surroundings 
 
10. The application site lies in the village of Thurston which has a population of 

approximately 3200 people (2011 census). The site extends to an area of 13.7 
hectares of grade 2 agricultural land which is generally flat but falls away gently 
towards its northern point and towards the dwellings that lie on Barton Road and Mill 
Lane. Ixworth Road is a typical country road without pavements and street lighting as 
it extends out into the countryside. Barton Road to the west of the site is bordered by 
existing residential properties, with Mill Lane which directly borders the site being a 
narrow country lane with limited and low density residential development on it.  

 
11. As the site is currently in agricultural use, tree cover is limited to sporadic trees on the 

Ixworth Road boundary, dense hedging between the site and the school playing 
fields of the College, and a line of sporadic trees between the site and the properties 
on Barton Road. The tree/hedge cover becomes denser between the site and Mill 
Lane, but it does not completely screen it.  

 
12. Adjacent to the most northern part of the site in the east lies the Thurston Rugby 

club, but otherwise the land is open countryside characterised by agricultural 
practices. A public footpath also crosses the field running west/east directly through 
the middle of the site. 

Page 28



 
13. Directly to the south of the site lies the school playing fields belonging to the college 

and this parcel of land is designated as a visually important open space in the Mid 
Suffolk Local Plan.  The settlement boundary for Thurston runs between the school 
playing field and the designated land and, as such, this proposal does not abut the 
settlement boundary for Thurston and remains as countryside for planning purposes.  

 
The Proposal 
 
14. Please note details of the proposed development including plans and application 

documents can be found online. 
 

15. Proposed is an outline planning application for the erection of up to 250 dwellings, 
open space and infrastructure up to 4.4ha of land for education uses for Thurston 
Community College and a new primary school site.  Details of access is included 
with this proposal with all other matters reserved for future consideration if this 
scheme is approved  

 
16. The applicant has submitted an indicative masterplan with the proposal showing a 

single access point from Ixworth Road into the site and a suggested layout utilising a 
single spine road through the site, with various secondary streets leading through to 
the dwellings. 

 
17. The layout shows a separate access point off Ixworth Road into the land set aside for 

education purposes which will lie on the south east corner of the site. The school land 
can also be reached from a link within the site. To the west lies a drainage lagoon 
which will be landscaped and enhanced to provide part of the public realm for the 
scheme. The public footpath running from Mill Lane to Ixworth Road crosses the site 
above the lagoon and runs on its current line through the site. Directly on the 
southern part of the site, and to the north of the existing college playing fields, a 
parcel of land will be provided to the college to purchase to allow it to improve its 
facilities on site should it wish to do so.  

 
18. The indicative layout for the site shows substantial landscaping along the southern 

boundary and significantly increased landscaping/tree planting along the Mill Lane 
and Ixworth Road frontages compared to what exists at present. A band of trees is 
proposed along the northern boundary of the site to help to soften the impact of the 
scheme on the surrounding open countryside. The layout provides an indicative 
density of 31 dwellings per hectare (this figures excludes the 4.4ha set aside for 
education purposes and the land for the drainage lagoon). 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government's 

planning policies for England and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  
Planning law continues to require that applications for planning permission are 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  The policies contained within the NPPF are a material 
consideration and should be taken into account for decision-making purposes.   

 
20. The following parts of the NPPF are considered to be applicable to this scheme: 
 

Para 6: Achieving sustainable development  
Para 7: Three dimensions to sustainable development  
Para 11 – 15: The presumption in favour of sustainable development  

Page 29



Para 17: Core planning principles  
Para 32 and 34: Transport movements  
Para 47: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes (including the need to 
have a 5 year deliverable supply of housing)  
Para 49: All housing proposals should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Para 55: To promote sustainable development in rural areas. 
Para 56 & 60: Requiring good design  
Para 64: Development of poor design must not be supported.  
Para 69: Promoting healthy communities  
Para 70: Delivery of social, recreational and cultural facilities that the 
community needs. 
Para 72: Provision of school places. 
Para 73: Access to high quality open space.  
Para 75: Protection and enhancement of public rights of way. 
Para 100: Development and flood risk  
Para 103: Development and increasing flood risk elsewhere  
Para 109: Planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and 
local environment.  
Para 112 & 117–119: Development affecting protected wildlife   
Para 123: Planning and noise. 
Para 125: Planning and darker skies. 
Paras 128 & 129: Describing the significance of a designated heritage asset. 
Para 131: Determining planning applications that affect heritage assets. 
Para 132: Significance of heritage assets. 
Para 134: Development and less than substantial harm 
Para 186: Approaching decision taking in a positive way. 
Para 187: Local Planning Authorities should find solutions rather than 
problems in decision taking. 
Para 196: Plan led planning system. 
Para 197: Assessing and determining application applying the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.  
Paras 203 -206 – Planning conditions and obligations. 
Paras 211 - 212: Using development plans and the NPPF in decision making.  
Paras 214 – 215: The weight attached to development plan policies having 
regards to their consistency with the NPPF.  
Para 216 – Weight given to policies in emerging plans 

 
CORE STRATEGY 
 
21. Core Strategy Focused Review 
 FC1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 FC1.1 – Mid Suffolk’s approach to delivering sustainable development 
 FC2 – Provision and distribution of housing. 
 
22. Core Strategy 
 

CS1 – Settlement hierarchy 
CS2 – Development in the countryside & countryside villages 
CS4 – Adapting to climate change. 
CS5 – Mid Suffolk’s environment 
CS6 – Services and infrastructure 
CS9 – Density and mix 

 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN / SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS /AREA 

Page 30



ACTION PLAN 
 
23. In 2013 Thurston received a neighbourhood plan designation and the settlement is 

currently working on its new neighbourhood plan. The plan is, however, at an early 
stage and as yet does not have any policies which could be used in the assessment 
and consideration of this proposal 

 
SAVED POLICIES IN THE LOCAL PLAN 
 

GP1 – Design and layout of new developments 
HB1 – Protection of historic buildings 
HB13 – Protecting ancient monuments 
HB14 – Ensuring that Archaeological remains are not destroyed 
H3 – Housing developments in villages 
H13 – Design and layout of development 
H15 – Development to reflect local characteristics. 
H16 – Protecting existing residential amenity  
H17 – Keeping new development away from pollution 
CL8 – Protecting wildlife 
CL11 – Retaining high quality agricultural land 
T9 – Parking standards 
T10 – Highway consideration in developments 
RT4 – Amenity open space and play areas within residential development 
RT12 – Footpaths and bridleways 
SB3 – Retaining visually import landscapes (with the land to the south of this 
site between it and the college being designated) 

 
Main Considerations 
 
24. From an assessment of relevant planning policy and guidance, representations 

received, the planning designations and other material issues the main planning 
considerations considered relevant to this case are set out including the reason/s for 
the decision, any alternative options considered and rejected.  Where a decision is 
taken under a specific express authorisation, the names of any Member of the 
Council or local government body who has declared a conflict of interest are 
recorded. 

 
25. The following are identified as the main considerations in assessing this application: 
 
The Principle Of Development 
 
26. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Councils to identify and 

update, on an annual basis, a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 
for five years’ worth of housing provision against identified requirements (paragraph 
47). For sites to be considered deliverable they have to be available, suitable, 
achievable and viable.  

  
27. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the 

local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites (as stated in paragraph 49 of the NPPF). Where policies cannot be considered 
up-to-date, the NPPF (paragraph 14) cites the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that planning permission should be granted unless i) any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or ii) 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted. The 

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


presumption in paragraph 14 also applies where a proposal is in accordance with the 
development plan, where it should be granted without delay (unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise).  

 
28. The precise meaning of ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing’ has been the 

subject of much case law, with inconsistent results. However last month, the 
Supreme Court gave judgment in a case involving Suffolk Coastal District Council 
which has clarified the position. The Supreme Court overruled earlier decisions of the 
High Court and the Court of appeal in this and other cases, ruling that a ‘’narrow’’ 
interpretation of this expression is correct; i.e.it means policies identifying the 
numbers and location of housing, rather than the “wider” definition which adds 
policies which have the indirect effect of inhibiting the supply of housing, for example, 
countryside protection policies. However, the Supreme Court made it clear that the 
argument over the meaning of this expression is not the real issue. The absence of a 
five year housing land supply triggers the application of paragraph 14 of the NPPF. In 
applying the ‘tilted balance’ required by this paragraph, the Council must decide what 
weight to attach to all of the relevant development plan policies, whether they are 
policies for the supply of housing or restrictive ‘counterpart’ polices such as 
countryside protection policies.  

 
29. In accordance with National Planning Policy Guidance paragraph 030 (Reference ID: 

3-030-20140306) the starting point for calculating the 5 year land supply should be 
the housing requirement figures in up-to-date adopted Local Plans. It goes on to state 
that ‘…considerable weight should be given to the housing requirement figures in 
adopted Local Plans, which have successfully passed through the examination 
process, unless significant new evidence comes to light….Where evidence in Local 
Plans has become outdated and policies in emerging plans are not yet capable of 
carrying sufficient weight, information provided in the latest full assessment of 
housing needs should be considered. But the weight given to these assessments 
should take account of the fact they have not been tested or moderated against 
relevant constraints...’ 

 
30. The Council published the Ipswich and Waveney Housing Market Areas Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) in May 2017 which is significant new evidence 
for the emerging Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan. Therefore, the 5 year 
land supply has been calculated for both the adopted Core Strategy based figures 
and the new SHMA based figures. For determining relevant planning applications, it 
will be for the decision taker to consider appropriate weight to be given to these 
assessments and the relevant policies of the development plan. 

 
31. A summary of the MSDC 5 year land supply position is: 
 

 Core Strategy based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 

 SHMA based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 
 
32. The NPPF requires that development be sustainable, and paragraph 6 of the NPPF 

sets out guidance on what this means in practice by drawing attention to all of the 
policies from paragraph 18 to 219 of the NPPF. In some circumstances there is also 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development which is to be applied as set out 
in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This has been discussed above.  

 
33. Paragraph 7 of the NPPF sets out three dimensions for sustainable development, 

economic, social and environmental: 
 

"an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 

Page 32

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/


economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure:  

 
a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and 
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect 
the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and  

 
an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and 
historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change including moving to a low carbon economy."  

 
34. In light of all of the above, this report will consider the proposal against the policies of 

the development plan to determine if the development is in accordance with the 
development plan as a whole. If it is not, and there are policy conflicts, they will need 
to be weighed against other material considerations to see whether a decision which 
does not accord with the development plan is warranted, in the light of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and in the context of the authority 
not being able to demonstrate a 5 year land supply. 

 
Sustainability of the Proposal (including assessment against the development plan 
and the NPPF) 
 
35. The NPPF provides (para 187) that “Local planning authorities should look for 

solutions rather than problems, and decision-takers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible. Local planning 
authorities should work proactively with applicants to secure developments that 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.” 

 
36. The Parish Council and some of the objectors have commented that this scheme 

should be refused as this proposal is outside and does not even abut the 
development limits for Thurston, in line with the policies contained in the adopted 
Core Strategy and Local Plan. Further, comments also suggest that housing numbers 
should be limited in Thurston. However, it is clear on reviewing the guidance in the 
NPPF that, as the Council does not have a five year supply of housing land, the 
housing delivery policies CS1 and CS2 of the core strategy, along with policy H7 of 
the Local Plan, should not be considered to be up-to-date. In this respect, refusing 
the application solely on the basis of the development being outside the development 
limits of Thurston, or seeking to cap the development that can be considered, would 
not sit comfortably with the requirements of the NPPF that look to consider the 
sustainability of the development in relation to the environmental, social and 
economic strands of sustainability. Furthermore, as the Council has a deficit of 
housing completions with the result that it is significantly short of reaching its 5 year 
supply target, a limit on new housing in any part of the district cannot be given until 
the deficit in completions is made up to the 5 year level. 

 
37. The contents of paragraph 55 of the NPPF are also considered to be material in the 

making of a decision on this case. Objections have been received stating that this 
proposal should not be allowed as it is outside the settlement limit for Thurston and 
that the site should be considered as countryside. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF makes 
it clear that Councils can no longer consider sites that are adjacent or near to a 
settlement limit to be unacceptable simply because they are the wrong side of the 
line. It now makes it clear that ‘new isolated homes in the countryside will not be 

Page 33



supported and that Councils are encouraged to promote sustainable development in 
rural areas by considering housing development in locations where they could 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. It gives an example in 
paragraph 55 that new housing could provide increased facilities in one settlement 
which would be of benefit to it and the other surrounding settlements.   

 
38. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the application site is not in an 

isolated location as it is adjacent to the built up part of the village, and the scheme 
will bring with it a new primary school, land for the secondary school as well as other 
contributions which will be of benefit to the residents of Thurston and the surrounding 
villages. Therefore, in terms of paragraph 55 of the NPPF, this proposal could be 
considered to promote sustainable development in a rural area. However, having 
regards to the fact that the Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing and has 
to balance the negatives of the scheme against the positives that it brings in line with 
the requirements of the NPPF, consideration of whether the scheme will be 
supported as sustainable development or not will be given in the conclusion to this 
report. 

 
39. Other comments have been received stating that the Council should not consider this 

application and the others in the Thurston area until the Council determine a new 
style local plan and has established its stance on the location of new housing in the 
district. Comments have also been made that the Council should not determine this 
application until the Parish Council’s Neighbourhood Plan has received its 
referendum vote. However, national policy, as contained in the NPPF, does not give 
the Council either of these options and requires all applications to be determined 
promptly and in accordance with the development plan. Whilst weight can be given to 
emerging policy in certain circumstances, the extent to which weight can be given to 
the emerging neighbourhood plan will be considered later in this report. 

 
40. In reaching a decision, paragraph 47 of the NPPF is a material consideration and 

requires Local Planning Authorities to boost significantly the supply of housing, by 
identifying and updating annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements, with an 
additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. As 
stated above, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and as 
such paragraph 49 of the NPPF applies and states that in this situation, the relevant 
policies for the supply of housing in the Council’s adopted plan should not be 
considered to be up to date and that the scheme remains to be considered under the 
requirements of paragraphs 7 and 14 of the NPPF which defines what sustainable 
development is and how decisions should be made. 

 
41. Since the submission of this application, four other developers have also submitted 

applications for residential development in Thurston. Bovis Homes have applied for 
138 dwellings on land on the west side of Barton Road (4386/16); Laurence Homes 
have applied for 64 dwellings on land at Meadow Lane (4942/16); Hopkins Homes 
have applied for 175 dwellings (2797/16 and an identical proposal under reference 
number 5010/16 which they have appealed for non-determination) and Pigeon 
Capital for up to 200 homes and also a new primary school (5070/16). Including this 
application, 827 new homes are currently proposed in Thurston. There are also a 
further 92 dwellings which have planning permission at the Granary where works are 
commencing on site at present. 

 
42. Following receipt of these applications an approach of joint working to explore 

cumulative infrastructure issues has been agreed between the respective applicants 
and the District and County Council. This has enabled the constructive exploration of 

Page 34



significant infrastructure issues on a collaborative but without prejudice basis to a 
consensual timetable. Therefore, as there are unprecedented numbers of new 
dwellings proposed, it is considered that all schemes must be considered both on 
their own merits and in combination with each other to assess if they meet the tests 
for sustainable development as outlined in the NPPF. The assessment of whether 
this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable development is given in the 
conclusion. 

 
43. Policy FC1 of the Mid Suffolk District Core Strategy Focused Review states that it 

takes a positive approach to sustainable development and, as with the NPPF 
requirements, the Council will work proactively with developers to resolve issues that 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. Related 
policy FC1.1 makes it clear that for development to be considered sustainable it must 
be demonstrated against the principles of sustainable development. The policy goes 
on to say that proposals for development must conserve and enhance the local 
character of the different parts of the district and how it addresses the key issues of 
the district. 

 
44. The settlement of Thurston is one of the two largest villages in the district of Mid 

Suffolk (with the other being nearby Elmswell) where a wide range of local services 
and local infrastructure is provided. Thurston has both a primary and a secondary 
school, and a number of other local facilities which act as a service to the inhabitants 
of the village as well as providing employment opportunities. Whilst Thurston does 
not have a doctor’s surgery, there is one in Woolpit and another in Moreton Hall 
which is a reasonably short journey away either by car or via public transport.  

 
45. Thurston is also unusual in that it has a railway station which provides access for the 

residents to be able to commute to Ipswich, Bury St Edmunds and further afield 
without having to use their cars. Thurston is also on the Mendlesham to Bury St 
Edmunds bus route with a number of designated stops within the village.  

 
46. In relation to paragraph 7 of the NPPF, the proposals would contribute to building a 

strong, responsive and competitive economy through the creation of construction and 
related jobs and the on-going contribution to the local economy from the creation of 
up to 250 additional households in the area. The proposals would also contribute 
towards providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and 
future generations and by having the potential to create a high quality built 
environment, as well as contributions towards affordable housing, the highway 
network and other social infrastructure (public open space, education, health care) 
through a CIL contribution, or where appropriate, a section 106 agreement.  

 
47. It must also be remembered that paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that 

housing applications should be considered in the context of sustainable development. 
The applicant is proposing up to 250 dwellings in this instance and they have 
confirmed that it is their intention if they get planning permission to commence with 
work on site as soon as possible following the granting of their reserved matters 
application. To speed this up, they have agreed to have a shorter period than is usual 
to submit their reserved matters application (2 rather than 3 years) which helps to 
justify that as a developer, they are serious about delivering the houses.  They have 
also signed an agreement with Mid Suffolk and Suffolk County Council to work as a 
group with the other 4 other developers in Thurston to contribute to and work 
together to achieve the necessary infrastructure within the area to make this and the 
other 4 schemes sustainable.   

 

Page 35



48. Consideration of whether this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable 
development, having regard to the contents of policies FC1 and FC1.2 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy Focused Review and the contents of the NPPF will be 
reached in the conclusion to this report. 

 
Site Access, Parking And Highway Safety Considerations 
 
49. Policy T10 of the Mid Suffolk District Local Plan provides criteria on highway 

considerations when assessing planning applications. This policy requires access 
points into and out of the site to be safe and an assessment made as to whether the 
existing local roads can suitably accommodate the impact of the proposal, whether 
adequate parking and turning spaces exist within the site and that the needs of 
pedestrians and cyclists have been met. This policy is considered to carry significant 
weight in the determination of this application as it is in compliance with paragraph 32 
of the NPPF which requires all schemes to provide safe access for all. 
 

50. A number of objections have been received to the scheme on the grounds that the 
single access points point to serve the proposed dwellings  from Ixworth Road would 
be detrimental to highway safety; the separate access point into the school is on a 
busy and potentially dangerous part of Ixworth Road and that the local road network 
as a whole is unsuitable and badly maintained for a development of a further 250+ 
dwellings. Mention has specifically been made that some local junctions are unsafe 
at present (see Parish Council objection for details as well as the Local Highway 
Authority consultation response), particularly those adjacent to the railway bridge to 
the south of the village, and that this scheme will exacerbate this problem as more 
vehicles will be using these junctions to access local roads, particularly the A14 to 
reach other destinations such as Bury St Edmunds and further afield. Comments 
have also been received that this scheme cumulatively with the other 4 schemes that 
have been submitted in Thurston for residential development will cause a significant 
and severe impact on the road network in the locality both in terms of congestion and 
safety. 

 
51. The site is located to the north west of the village with Ixworth Road, Barton Road 

and Mill Lane bordering the site to the east and west respectively. Proposed is a 
single access point from Ixworth Road into the site with a separate access point from 
the same road to serve the proposed primary school. This is to help to split traffic 
accessing the dwellings from traffic accessing the new school at peak times in the 
interest of safety and traffic flow. An emergency access point into the site is proposed 
from Mill Lane which will only be available for use by the emergency services. The 
emergency access point will also double up as a pedestrian and cycle access into 
and out of the site outside emergency situations. Objections have been received on 
the grounds that the access points into the site are unsuitable for the volume of traffic 
that will use them and, as such, they will cause highway safety and congestion issues 
in the locality. 

 
52. The LHA has not objected to the access points into the site from Ixworth Road and 

has confirmed that the emergency access layout as suggested by the applicant can 
be supported on highway grounds. They do not consider that the scheme as 
proposed is unsafe, nor do they consider that the transport statement provided by the 
applicant is unrealistic in its assumptions as referred to by the objectors. They identify 
that, subject to the necessary works being carried out as advised in the Highway 
Officer’s consultation response, the scheme is considered to meet the requirements 
of paragraph 32 of the NPPF in that safe access can be provided for all. It must be 
remembered that the internal layout of the site is currently indicative only, and the 
opportunity would exist at reserved matters stage to design the layout to meet the 

Page 36



necessary highways standards. It should be noted that the Manual for Streets does 
allow 250 dwellings to be accessed with a single access point, and your Officers 
consider that to consider refusing this scheme on those grounds alone would be 
difficult to defend at appeal. Drainage deficiencies on the highway network, as 
referred to by one of the objectors, is something that the highway authority will need 
to assess and deal with under their own legislation, but in the absence of any 
objection from the LHA on this point, it is not considered that there are grounds to 
consider refusing the application on this basis.  

 
53. The Local Highway Authority has considered the cumulative impact of this proposal 

along with the other 4 schemes currently before the Council both in terms of safety 
and congestion on the highway network in Thurston. They have come to the 
conclusion that the impact of the 5 schemes, if they are all delivered, will be severe. 
However, the LHA have made it clear that the NPPF requires all public bodies to try 
and resolve problems and they are confident that with a collective approach between 
all 5 developers, suitable and cost effective alterations can be made to the highway 
network to ensure that the impact is not severe. The highway officer has assessed 
the road network and has suggested alterations and improvements to key areas of it 
(see the LHA’s consultation response earlier in this report for more information) and 
all 5 developers have been asked to contribute towards through either a section 106 
agreement or through a Section 278 agreement under the Highways Act. All 5 
developers, which include the applicant in this case, have agreed to contribute 
towards the works as requested by the Highway Authority. For this specific proposal, 
the Highway Authority is requesting £142,965 via a S106 agreement, and a further 
£130,000 under section 278 of the Highway Act.  

 
54. As such, the LHA no longer considers that this proposal fails the requirements of 

paragraph 32 of the NPPF when considered cumulatively with the other 4 residential 
schemes, as the impact following the alterations carried out to the highway network 
will no longer be severe in terms of safety. For the avoidance of doubt, the LHA has 
not raised any objections to this scheme on congestion grounds and does not 
consider that additional traffic and queuing as a consequence of this scheme can be 
considered to be severe such as to sustain a refusal of planning permission. 

 
55. The LHA identify that the scheme will offer sustainable travel options to local 

residents as additional pavements and improvements to the public right of way are 
proposed and these will link up the whole site to both existing facilities and those 
proposed on neighbouring sites proposed for development. This will help to improve 
accessibility on foot, cycling and via public transport and will ensure that the site is 
accessible to the local railway station. The Local Highway Authority is also 
recommending that the applicant is obligated via a S106 agreement to provide a 
travel plan to ensure that there are sustainable transport options available to the new 
residents of the scheme rather than just having to rely on their private cars to access 
local facilities. 

 
56. Having regards to the specific and cumulative highway impacts of the scheme, when 

considered in line with the requirements of paragraphs 21 and 32 of the NPPF, the 
LHA has had regard to the fact that, in some locations, the impact of the granting of 
827 dwellings will be severe on the highway network. However, these impacts can 
successfully be mitigated by the works to the network as suggested. Having regards 
to the above, it is considered that the proposal complies with the requirements of 
policy T10 of the local plan and paragraph 32 of the NPPF, in that safe and suitable 
access for all people can be achieved and that cost effective improvements can be 
undertaken to the transport network to ensure that non-motorised modes of transport 
can be used to access local facilities.  

Page 37



 
57. An objector has commented that the applicant is suggesting in his documentation 

that the speed limit adjacent to the site should be reduced from its current limit to 
30mph and that this is a separate legal process that is outside this planning 
application. The LHA have confirmed that this scheme and the 4 others have been 
designed and considered at the existing speed limit and that their comments are 
given on that basis. They have advised that it would be in the public interest to alter 
the speed limit as suggested by the applicant and that this alteration is to be taken on 
under the relevant highway legislation. 

 
58. Having regards to the above, it is considered that this proposal is acceptable in terms 

of highway safety and complies with the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF 
and paragraph T10 of the local plan. 

 
Design And Layout [Impact On Street Scene] 
 
59. Section 7 of the NPPF refers to design. Specifically, paragraph 56 states that good 

design is a key aspect of sustainable development; it should contribute positively to 
making places better for people. Decisions should aim to ensure that development 
will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, establish a strong sense of 
place, create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit, optimise the 
potential of the site to accommodate development, create and sustain an appropriate 
mix of uses and support local facilities and transport networks. Furthermore it 
provides that development should respond to local character and history, and reflect 
the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation. The NPPF goes on to state it is "proper to seek to promote or 
reinforce local distinctiveness" (para 60) and permission should be "refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving 
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions" (para 64). In addition 
policy CS5 provides that "All development will maintain and enhance the 
environment, including the historic environment, and retain the local distinctiveness of 
the area” and echoes the provision of the NPPF. 
 

60. Objections have been received stating that the site is currently an open field and that 
the scale and density of the proposal, particularly in reference to any 2.5 to 3 storey 
dwellings on the site, is considered to be inappropriate and not in keeping with the 
locality. Comments have also been made that the housing numbers should be 
reduced and there should be no units near the western boundary, or if these are 
essential they must be single storey. Objectors also wish to see connectivity 
improved through the site and comments have also been received on the basis that 
the proposal will extend the built up footprint of the village some way into the 
surrounding open countryside, which is unacceptable to the objectors and the parish 
council. 

 
61. The application is in outline form and the plans as submitted provide an indicative 

layout of how the scheme could potentially look should this outline planning 
application be approved. This relates to the principle of the development of the site. 
This site does extend the built footprint of the village into the surrounding open 
countryside as the fields that surround it are currently undeveloped with residential 
development limited to only the small amount of dwellings on Barton Road and Mill 
Land to the west of the site. However, the applicant has taken account of this and is 
providing additional screening along all boundaries to help the proposal integrate into 
the countryside. The indicative density of the site at 31 dwellings per hectare is also 
not considered to be out high as referred to by the objectors and is not considered to 
be out of keeping with the existing dwellings in the surrounding locality. The points 

Page 38



that have been made by local residents at outline stage are useful for the applicant to 
formulate their reserved matters scheme where the matters raised above as 
objections will be considered rather than the principle of the scheme as is the case 
with an outline planning application. 

 
62. Furthermore, objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the 

proposal is lacking in bungalows and smaller house types. It must be emphasised 
that the proposal is in outline form and full details of the housing specification will only 
be given at reserved matters stage.  

 
63. The Council’s Sustainability Officer has also objected to the scheme on the grounds 

that insufficient information has been submitted on the environmental and 
sustainability measures that will be used throughout the scheme. In response, the 
applicant has submitted a sustainability statement highlighting the key sustainable 
practices to be incorporated into the design and construction of the development. 
Having regards to the above, it is considered that sufficient information has been 
submitted at this outline stage to overcome the concerns of the Sustainability Officer.  

 
64. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the scheme in terms of its 

suggested layout constitutes good design in line with the requirements of the NPPF 
and local policy CS5 as it proposes a form of development that would reflects the 
character, scale and appearance of the surrounding settlement. It is agreed that the 
site does project into the surrounding countryside; however this matter needs to be 
balanced having regards to all of the positive benefits that the scheme brings. As 
stated in previous topics above, that will be done in concluding this report. 

 
PARISH PLAN / NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
 
65. A Neighbourhood Plan designation was confirmed in 2013 and covers the Parish of 

Thurston. At the time of the consideration of this proposal, the parish have set up a 
Neighbourhood Plan Committee to prepare the policies for the new Neighbourhood 
Plan. Both the Parish Council and their Neighbourhood Plan Committee have 
objected to this scheme with the latter raising objections based on some of the early 
work that they have carried out for the evidence base for the new plan. 

 
66. The Planning Practice Guidance identifies that “Paragraph 216 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework sets out the weight that may be given to relevant policies 
in emerging plans in decision taking. Factors to consider include the stage of 
preparation of the plan and the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures that the community has the final say 
on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers should 
respect evidence of local support prior to the referendum when seeking to apply 
weight to an emerging neighbourhood plan. The consultation statement submitted 
with the draft neighbourhood plan should reveal the quality and effectiveness of the 
consultation that has informed the plan proposals. And all representations on the 
proposals should have been submitted to the local planning authority by the close of 
the local planning authority’s publicity period. It is for the decision maker in each case 
to determine what is a material consideration and what weight to give to it”. 

 
67. As such, whilst it is ultimately for Members to determine the weight that should be 

given to the plan, whilst it is at an early stage in its development, it is the view of 
Officers that little material weight can be given at this time. 

 
Landscape Impact 
 

Page 39

https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#draft-neighbourhood-plan-meets-requirement


68. Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that proposals should provide appropriate 
landscaping to ensure that they integrate well into the surrounding locality. This 
requirement is repeated in one of the requirements of policy H13 of the Mid Suffolk 
District Local Plan.  

 
69. Objections have been received to this proposal on the grounds that the site lies in an 

exposed location and that the approval of this scheme will erode the intrinsic beauty 
and the character of the surrounding open countryside. The indicative layout for this 
proposal shows a thin boundary of landscaping along the northern and eastern 
boundary of the site. The Council’s Landscape Consultant has been consulted on this 
scheme and he has advised that the proposal will significantly change the visual 
character of the site from agricultural to residential. However, they have not objected 
to the scheme and have only raised detailed matters with the landscaping of the 
scheme which the applicant can address at the reserved matters stage, given the 
indicative nature of the proposal at this stage. The site will clearly be viewed from 
points in the surrounding open countryside as identified in the LVIA, but this impact 
can be mitigated by improvements to the site boundary landscaping. The Council’s 
Arboricultural Officer has also been consulted on the scheme and has not objected to 
it, advising that the trees that are to be lost are of limited amenity value and that this 
should not be used as a constraint for the development of this site. 

 
70. To the south of the application site (but not within the application red line) lies the 

school playing field of Thurston Community College. This land is designated in the 
Mid Suffolk Local Plan under policy SB3 as a visually important open space. The 
policy says that land within or abutting settlement boundaries is considered to be 
designated as visually important open space due to the contribution that it makes to 
the character and appearance of the surroundings, and also due to the amenity value 
of the land to the local community. The policy goes on to say that the Council will 
restrict development that will have a harmful on the designated visually important 
open space because of the contribution it makes in its undeveloped form to the 
distinctiveness of its own setting, or the character of a settlement or a nearby 
landscape.  

 
71. The NPPF talks within its core values of recognising the intrinsic character and 

beauty of the countryside when making planning decisions and, in paragraph 109, it 
states that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and 
local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes. 

 
72. However on examining subsequent paragraphs to 109, the NPPF only places 

emphasis on the protection of nationally designated landscapes such as the National 
Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty or areas where 
biodiversity could potentially be harmed. Policy SB3 is a local designation and 
consideration needs to be given as to the weight to be apportioned to it having 
regards to its degree of consistency with the NPPF (paragraph 215). Policy SB3 is 
restrictive as it aims to protect views and the amenity of the countryside from the 
designated site, whilst the NPPF tends to provide advice on nationally designated 
landscapes and specifically on landscapes where biodiversity impact needs to be 
considered. However, as the NPPF does state in its core values and in paragraph 
109 that planning decisions should protect and enhance valued landscapes, it is 
considered that policy SB3 does merit some weight in the decision making process. It 
is considered that the weight given is greater than moderate due to compliance with 
the core values and paragraph 109, but less than significant as the designation is a 
local designation and not a nationally designated landscape. Therefore, it is 
considered that policy SB3 should carry medium weight in the determination of this 
proposal. 

Page 40



 
73. The visually important open space area is the playing field to the Thurston 

Community College. The land is separated from the agricultural field to its north by a 
substantial belt of trees which runs along the boundary from Ixworth Road to Barton 
Road. The applicant is proposing to develop 250 houses and a new school to the 
north of this boundary (albeit, separated by a strip of land which will be given over as 
land to the College for their use) and, as such, the designated open space itself will 
not be developed on and will remain as envisaged in the local plan. However, the 
setting of the land, the impact of it on the character of the entrance to the village and 
the surrounding landscape will change as a consequence of this proposal. When 
travelling south along Ixworth Road into Thurston, only the belt of trees can be seen 
between the field boundary and the designated land. The road user is unaware that 
the land behind the tree cover is designated due to its amenity or the contribution that 
it makes to the amenity of the area as it is not open and does not feel like part of the 
agricultural fields that makes up the surrounding open countryside. The tree buffer 
encloses the land and provides a green but hard edge to the settlement along Ixworth 
Road and it can be argued that the development of this site will have a limited impact 
in terms of amenity on the designated land, or on the approach to Thurston which 
policy SB3 aims to try and protect if the applicant provides a similar level of screening 
along the eastern and northern site boundary as advised by the Council’s Landscape 
Consultant.  

 
74. Objections have been made to the scheme by both the Ramblers Association and by 

local residents that this proposal will alter the character of the public footpath that 
runs through the site and this will limit its enjoyment. It is noted that as part of this 
scheme a public footpath runs from Barton Road through the site towards Ixworth 
Road and the applicant is to incorporate it into the layout of the scheme. It is further 
noted that the Highway Officer requires improvements to this path as part of the 
connectivity through the site and into the wider area. It is agreed that the small part of 
the footpath that will run through the site will change in character from a rural path 
that runs through an open field to one that runs through a landscaped part of a 
housing estate. This is unfortunately unavoidable, but given the limited length of the 
path that would be affected, it is considered that this would not unacceptably affect 
the character of the path to such an extent that would weigh heavily against this 
proposal.  

 
75. Having regards to the requirements of policy H13 of the MSDC Local Plan and 

paragraph 58 of the NPPF, it is considered that the scheme can provide suitable 
screen landscaping both within and on the boundaries of the site to ensure that it 
assimilates well into the rural edge of Thurston and provides an attractive 
environment both for the new residents of the site and those living in the surrounding 
locality. The proposal will have an impact on the setting of the visually important open 
space area which lies to the south, but it is considered that this will not be significant 
and that it can also be overcome by the provision of suitable landscaping to help 
screen the site and integrate it into the surrounding open countryside.  

 
Residential Amenity 
 
76. Policies within the adopted development plan require, inter alia, that development 

does not materially or detrimentally affect the amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties.  This requirement is emphasised in the NPPF Core Values 
in paragraph 17, where it states that all schemes should seek a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.   

 

Page 41



77. This proposal is in outline form where there are no specific details of the exact 
location, orientation and types of houses proposed. There have been objections to 
this proposal on the grounds that it will affect the amenities of the occupiers of the 
dwellings on Mill Lane. The residents of Mill Lane currently face out on an open field 
and they are concerned that the development of dwellings on the land adjacent will 
alter their outlook and negatively affect their residential amenities. It is agreed that 
the erection of dwellings on land to the east of the properties on Mill Lane will change 
the outlook experienced by the residents, who currently have a view of a field as 
opposed to what may be in the future, other residential properties. This change would 
be unavoidable if planning permission is granted for this scheme, however, it is 
considered that the applicant can design the layout, house types and landscaping to 
minimise impact on the existing residents such that the impacts would not give rise to 
an unacceptable loss of amenity in planning terms. The Council’s distance 
requirements between dwellings would also have to be adhered to, so that loss of 
daylight and sunlight and overlooking to the existing residents of Mill Lane would be 
minimised.  

 
78. Whilst the proposal is in outline form, the indicative layout plan as suggested by the 

applicant does not give rise to any significant concerns in terms of loss of 
neighbouring amenity. If this proposal is approved, details in relation to form, design, 
the energy efficiency of the scheme, the distance between the dwellings and 
landscaping along the periphery of the site can be developed as part of the reserved 
matters application so as it meets the relevant NPPF core value in paragraph 17 and 
the requirements of paragraph 123. If permission is to be granted, a condition can be 
imposed requesting that the applicant enters into a construction management 
agreement with the Council to safeguard the living conditions of the surrounding 
occupiers, as requested by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer. 

 
Environmental Impacts - Trees, Ecology And Land Contamination 
 
79. The application site is a grade 2 agricultural parcel of land which is currently in use 

for agricultural purposes and is adjacent to the built up part of Thurston along Ixworth 
Road.  As the site is in an agricultural use, there is limited tree cover within the site 
with the majority of the trees running along the highway boundaries of the site. 

 
80. Objections have been received to this scheme from local residents and the Suffolk 

Wildlife Trust on the basis that the loss of the field and the hedgerows on the 
boundary of the field to create residential development will have a negative impact on 
animal species, particularly protected and priority species in the locality. Mention 
has specifically been made that the Wildlife Trust considers that the site is a prime 
habitat for Skylarks and that the applicant’s survey was done too early in the year 
hence why Skylarks were not identified to be on the site at that time. Reference has 
also been made by objectors to the scheme that the proposal will harm bats which 
feed in the hedge which separates the site from the college playing field. 

 
81. Regulation 9(5) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

(Implemented 1st April 2010) requires all "competent authorities" (public bodies) to 
"have regard to the Habitats Directive in the exercise of its functions.” In order for a 
Local Planning Authority to comply with regulation 9(5) it must "engage" with the 
provisions of the Habitats Directive. The content of paragraph 118 of the NPPF is 
also applicable to the consideration of this proposal, as it states that when 
determining planning applications, consideration must be given to 6 principles. Two 
of those principles are particularly relevant to the consideration of this proposal, 
being;  

 

Page 42



 If significant harm is caused which cannot be avoided or mitigated by conditions 
then planning permission should be refused. 

 Opportunities to integrate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
supported. 

 
82. The Council’s Consultant Ecologist has been consulted on this application and has 

not objected to it in terms of its impacts on protected species and has not raised any 
concerns about loss of hedgerow within the site. For the sake of clarity, the hedgerow 
that the objector refers to as being the feeding grounds for bats is not being removed, 
and the land adjacent to it is not being developed as part of this application. Any 
future applications by the college to expand its land/buildings whereby the hedge 
would be removed would need to be considered at that time.  

 
83. The Ecologist shares the concerns of the Wildlife Trust with regards to the potential 

loss of Skylark habitat which is a UK and Suffolk Priority species and has asked the 
applicant to provide mitigation in the form of two Skylark nest plots at another location 
away from the application site. The applicant owns land in the adjacent field and the 
Ecologist agrees that this would provide a suitable area to mitigate for the loss of the 
existing habitat. As the land is in the ownership of the applicant and is shown with a 
blue line around it, this matter can be suitably controlled by the use of planning 
conditions.   

 
84. The Suffolk Wildlife Trust has raised concerns over the management of the open 

space areas, particularly the sustainable drainage system within the site and what 
impact this will have on the ecology that establishes within it. The Council is not 
intending to adopt the landscaped areas within the site, but through a S106 
agreement is requesting that the developer sets up a management company who will 
look after the open spaces and landscaped areas within the site, for the benefit of the 
new residents of the site and to ensure that its ecological value is retained and 
enhanced in future years.  

 
85. The Wildlife Trust has also raised concerns about the fact that the lighting from the 

site could have a negative impact on the landscape and biodiversity, however it is 
considered that this can be controlled by a suitable condition if planning permission is 
granted for this proposal. 

 
86. Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local authorities should take into account the 

economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land when 
making planning decisions. Where significant development of agricultural land is 
demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use poorer 
quality land in preference to that of higher quality land. Agricultural land is split into 
categories with land defined as 3a up to 1 being best and most versatile land and 
grades 3b down to 5 not being defined as best and most versatile land. The 
application site is a Grade 2 and as such it is defined as best and most versatile 
agricultural land and as such the requirements of paragraph 112 of the NPPF apply 
to the determination of this scheme. Paragraph 112 does not preclude the 
development of land classified as best and most versatile agricultural land; it requires 
local authorities in making decisions to take account of the economic and other 
benefit of the best and most versatile agricultural land. The NPPF states that where 
significant development is proposed, local authorities should seek to use areas of 
poorer quality land in preference to the higher quality land.  

 
87. The applicant has submitted an agricultural assessment with his application to allow 

the council to make the assessment as required in the NPPF. In the assessment the 
applicant identifies that the parcel of land cannot be considered to be ‘significant’ as 

Page 43



this is defined in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 where it states that Natural England should only be 
consulted on plans involving the loss of 20ha or more of land on grades 1, 2 and 3a. 
As such, the parcel of land falls below the threshold and, therefore, it is not 
necessary to sequentially consider other land which is of a poorer quality. It is your 
officers view that the applicant’s position can be supported, and this position has 
been replicated in other Council’s where similar schemes have come forward for 
consideration. In considering the economic and other benefit of the land, it must be 
remembered that the parcel of land constitutes only 13ha out of the landowner’s total 
holding of 65ha and as such much of it will remain in production. Having looked at the 
agricultural land classifications for Mid Suffolk, most of the land within the district is 
classified as 2, 3a and 3b with very little land in the lower categories. As the district is 
predominantly rural in character it is not considered that the loss of this parcel of land 
either on its own, or considered cumulatively with the 4 other sites that have been put 
forwards for development in Thurston, will have a significantly negative impact on 
agriculture and specifically food production, or on the local economy. 

 
88. The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted on this scheme and 

has reviewed the documentation submitted by the applicant (Phase 1 risk 
assessment). Paragraph 121 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning decisions 
should make sure that the site is suitable for its new use taking account of the 
hazards of any previous use. The Contaminated Land Officer has not raised any 
objections to the scheme subject to the imposition of conditions requesting that the 
works on site be carried in line with the applicant’s contamination report.  

 
89. Having regards to the above it is considered that the proposal complies with the 

requirements of paragraph 112 of the NPPF in terms of agricultural land, its effects 
on Priority Species can be mitigated and the landscaped areas within the site can be 
adequately maintained in the future to protect their biodiversity value.  

 
Heritage Issues (The Setting Of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
90. Both the NPPF and Core Strategy place significant emphasis on safeguarding 

heritage as an important component of sustainable development.  
 
91. With reference to the treatment of the submitted application, the Council embraces its 

statutory duties and responsibilities in relation to listed buildings, notably the general 
duties undersections 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 which requires the local planning authority to have “special regard to the 
desirability of preserving [a] building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 

 
92. Recent case law on the application of the statutory duty acknowledges that the 

consideration of the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset is a matter for its own planning judgement, but that the 
Local Planning Authority is required to give any such harm considerable importance 
and weight. However, where special regard to the desirability of preserving heritage 
assets has been paid and no harm is considered to be posed, the ‘balancing’ of harm 
(which should be given considerable weight as above) against public benefits as 
required by the NPPF, is not engaged.  

 
93. Policy HB1 (Protection of Historic Buildings) places a high priority on the protection of 

the character and appearance of historic buildings, particularly the setting of Listed 
Buildings. 

 

Page 44



94. In paragraph 17 of the NPPF it makes it clear that development should “conserve 
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations”.  
Para 131 goes on to state that “In determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of; the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the desirability of 
new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.”  Furthermore Para 132 states “When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. As 
heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 
convincing justification.” 

 
95. Objections have been received to this scheme by members of the local community 

on the basis that the proposal is harmful to the setting of Manor Farm Barn which is 
grade II* listed, and the converted barns to the north of this building which are also 
grade II listed. Manor Farm lies a significant distance to the east of this site and is 
separated from the site by a significant number of fields, one of which forms part of 
the Pigeon Capital application for 200 dwellings.  

 
96. Historic England and the Council’s Heritage Officer have been consulted on the 

application. Neither Historic England nor the Council’s Heritage Officer has objected 
to this scheme. The Heritage Officer considers, by virtue of the distance and the 
orientation of the application site to Manor Farm, that there would be some harm to 
its setting, but the effect would be low. This is particularly the case if the Pigeon site 
is taken into consideration as it in effect lies between the application site and the 
group of listed buildings.  

 
97. In accordance with NPPF paragraphs 129, 132 and 134 in determining this proposal 

the Council needs to consider whether the identified harm can be avoided or 
minimised, and whether that harm is outweighed by the public benefits arising from 
the proposal. It is considered that as the Council does not have a 5 year supply of 
housing as required by paragraph 47 of the NPPF (the current supply is 3.9 years) 
that the proposal will help to contribute towards this deficit by providing up to 250 new 
dwellings which will provide public benefit. The scheme will also deliver 35% of the 
dwellings as affordable properties to help to meet the need in the locality, and further 
contributions which cover matters such as an improvement to the library, a 
contribution towards a new primary school and pre-school facility, the provision of 
land for the primary school and additional land for the community college as well as 
CIL monies to facilitate improvements to the doctor’s surgery. The scheme will also 
contribute towards improvements to the highway network in and around Thurston to 
ensure that the road network remains safe for its users. The scheme will bring with it 
public benefits also in the form of construction related jobs and also additional 
residents to help sustain and grow local services and businesses.  

 
98. As such, it is considered that the public benefits of this scheme are such that 

outweigh the less than substantial harm that has been identified to the setting of the 

listed buildings and, therefore, the scheme can be supported on heritage grounds. 

Page 45



99. As there are 5 different applications for major housing development in the northern 
part of Thurston, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked to consider the 
cumulative impact of this scheme in relation to the others. Of the 5 applications, the 
application by Hopkins Homes for 175 homes (application 2798/16 and appeal 
5010/16) and the one by Pigeon Capital (5070/16) are the only two out of the 5 that 
are considered to cumulatively have an impact on the settings of the listed buildings 
and this is assessed more appropriately in the reports for both of those applications.  

 
Environment and Flood Risk 
 
100. Paragraph 100 of the NPPF makes it clear that inappropriate development in areas 

of flood risk should be avoided by directing development away from areas of highest 
risk. The contents of policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy is in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF in terms of flood risk and carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. In terms of flooding from rivers, the site complies 
with local and national policy as it lies in a flood zone 1 area which is land at least risk 
of flooding. To deal with surface water, the applicant is proposing a drainage pond 
within the south western corner of the site with the surface water flow from the site 
channelled into it. 

 
101. Objections have been received raising concerns that the development of the site may 

cause localised floods in the area. Anglian Water and the Flood and Water Team at 
SCC have been consulted on this proposal. Anglian Water has not responded to the 
consultation request, but the Flood and Water team has advised that they do not 
object to the scheme subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the scheme to 
be built in line with the submitted drainage strategy. 

 
102. Due to unprecedented level of growth currently suggested for Thurston, the 

Environment Agency, Flood and Water team and Anglian Water have been 
specifically asked to consider the cumulative impact of this proposal on drainage, 
flood risk and water supply grounds. The Environment Agency and the Flood and 
Water team have advised that an increase of 827 dwellings with the mitigation 
measures proposed by the applicants will not increase flood risk in the locality to an 
unacceptable level. Confirmation has also been received that there is capacity in the 
local pumping station to serve 827 new dwellings in terms of sewage needs. 
Thurston lies in an area where water supply can be an issue, however Anglian Water 
has a duty by law to supply new houses with a water supply and this is a matter for 
them to resolve under their legislation. 

 
103. Having regards to the above, it is considered in terms of flood risk, water supply and 

drainage that the scheme when either considered singularly or cumulatively can be 
made acceptable subject to the imposition of a suitably worded condition to meet the 
requirements of paragraph 100 of the NPPF and policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core 
Strategy. 

 
Infrastructure -  Planning Obligations / CIL contributions 
 
104. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that the local 

infrastructure, which includes the local schools and health care, is insufficient to meet 
the need of the residents of this proposal. Comment has been made that if the 
scheme is approved without suitable provision, then it will cause significant impact on 
the existing community of Thurston. 

 
105. The Council has now implemented CIL which accordingly takes on board 

requirements such as open space contribution, NHS and education contributions.   

Page 46



 
106. As part of this proposal the contributions will be sought under the Council’s CIL 

Scheme for improvements to the following: 
 

 For the future expansion of the doctor’s surgery in Moreton Hall which the 
residents of this scheme would use. 

 For improvements to the local library provision. 
 
107. Local residents have made comment that a new doctor’s surgery will not be provided 

and that the proposal will cause capacity issues at the local surgeries. It should be 
noted that the PCT has made it clear that, due to the existing situation with doctors, 
their salaries and contracts, and the government’s policy in terms of the NHS, a new 
doctor’s surgery will not be achieved in Thurston as part of any of the 5 schemes. 
The PCT will be requesting contributions through CIL in relation to all 5 schemes and 
the monies will be used to improve the service offered and/or improve the facilities at 
either the Woolpit Surgery or at the Park Farm Surgery in Moreton Hall to meet the 
expected needs of the additional residents of the new dwellings in Thurston. They 
have specified that they will seek a contribution towards improvements at the Woolpit 
Surgery in relation to this proposal. 

 
108. An objection has also been received on the basis that the scheme will put more 

pressure on the emergency services in the area. However, it must be remembered 
when additional dwellings are built, these become the subject of Council Tax. The 
emergency services levy precepts as part of the Council Tax and these will be used 
towards providing a level of service that is needed to cater for the needs of the 
residents of the new housing developments.   

 
109. It has been identified following discussion with the County Infrastructure Officer that 

there is no capacity in the local primary school to expand and, as such, a contribution 
of £1,018,598 is required towards the building of a new 420 place two form primary 
school either on this site or the Pigeon Capital site elsewhere in the village. It has 
also been suggested that a further £208,325 is required for the provision of a new 
pre-school, which will be accommodated at the new school to help meet the demand 
generated by this development. As the Council’s CIL 123 list does not include the 
provision of new pre-school or primary school facilities (it only covers extensions to 
existing establishments) these contributions will have to be sought under S106 of the 
Planning Act and the applicant has agreed to the above payments. This application is 
one of two in Thurston at present which is proposing to include land for a new school 
as part of its proposal for residential development, and the County Council is working 
with both developers to secure both sites. The County Council will decide which of 
the two sites it prefers in terms of accessibility and has confirmed that it will return the 
site that it doesn’t want to the developer for them to consider in discussion with the 
Council what alternative use this land may be put to. 

 
110. Objections have been made to this scheme as to what will happen if the new houses 

are built and occupied before the new school is finished. The County Council has 
confirmed that whilst the new school is being built, it has been suggested that the 
existing school will be provided with two temporary classrooms funded via CIL to 
cope on a 2 to 3 year period with the increase in pupils generated from the first phase 
of new housebuilding in Thurston (from any of the 5 sites currently under 
consideration) until the new school is built. Once that happens, the existing school 
will be closed and the existing pupils moved over to the new school. The new school 
will be extended as appropriate up to a capacity of 420 pupils to accommodate the 
primary school age children arising from any of the proposed housing sites in 
Thurston. It is understood that the Diocese, who own the primary school, have 

Page 47



committed to using the capital receipt that they receive for the development of the 
existing school site into the new school which is also to be funded by a joint 
contribution by all 5 of the developers proposing major housing schemes currently in 
Thurston. 
 

111. Following further dialogue with the County Obligations Manager it is understood that 
progress is being made to secure options on the potential school sites proposed in 
other applications. The delivery of a new primary school is a necessary pre-requisite 
to mitigate the potential pressure on education infrastructure from the development 
and it has been agreed that a restrictive phasing condition is not necessary given the 
progress that has been made on options. Nevertheless the securing of a primary 
school site is a material consideration upon which the delivery of this development is 
predicated. 

 
112. The County Council has confirmed that there is capacity at all of the catchment 

secondary schools in the locality and, as such, a financial contribution towards new 
facilities is not warranted in that instance. The applicant has, as part of this 
application, been in discussion with the College and the County Education Authority 
and is proposing to provide land immediately to the north of the existing playing field 
to the college to purchase for their use. The County Council has confirmed that there 
is a need for this land as the college has extended within its existing site over the 
years onto the external play areas which have resulted in a deficiency. They have 
confirmed that the parcel of land put forwards by the applicant would help to resolve 
this issue. 

 
113. As is the case for new education buildings, affordable housing is not part of CIL and 

members should note that the policy which seeks up to a 35% provision remains in 
effect. The applicant has confirmed that they are agreeable to provide a policy 
compliant scheme for affordable housing and that this will be achieved via a Section 
106 contribution. On this basis, the Council’s Strategic Housing Officer has not 
objected to this proposal. 

 
114. Network Rail has been consulted on this scheme and has asked for a contribution of 

£1million through a S106 agreement between all five developers to close the existing 
level crossing and to provide safer and improved facilities at Thurston Railway 
Station having regards to the increased use of the facilities that will occur from the 
residents of the proposed 827 dwellings. The Council’s CIL 123 list includes provision 
for improvements to transport infrastructure As such it is considered that it would be 
appropriate for Network Rail to bid for the specified amount to make the 
improvements they have requested to improve pedestrian safety at the station under 
the CIL scheme.  
 

115. The Local Highway Authority has, as stated earlier in the report, asked for £176,877 
as a section 106 contribution to contribute to the applicant’s part of the contribution 
for works to the highway infrastructure. This is sought to ensure that the impact of 
approving all 5 housing schemes totalling 872 houses in Thurston is not severe on 
the highway network, as referred to in paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 

 
116. It is noted that within the application site there is a pond, open space and landscaped 

areas and concerns have been received from Suffolk Wildlife Trust over how these 
will be maintained. This will be done via a S106 agreement whereby the developer 
has to employ a management company to look after this land. There is no proposal 
for this to be transferred to the Council or the Parish Council as part of this or any of 
the other 4 schemes. 

Page 48



 
117. Having regards to the above, in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations, 2010, the obligations recommended to be secured above by way of a 
planning obligation deed are (a) necessary to make the Development acceptable in 
planning terms (b) directly related to the Development and (c) fairly and reasonably 
relate in scale and kind to the Development.   

 
Other Issues 
 
118. Objections have been made to this scheme on the grounds that there are other more 

suitable sites elsewhere and that these should be considered first. It must be 
remembered that each planning application must be considered on its own planning 
merits and there is no national requirement for a sequential test for preferred housing 
sites within an area. 

 
119. An objection has been received on the basis that the proposal will turn Thurston from 

a village into a town. Whilst Thurston will get larger as a consequence of additional 
housing growth, its status will remain as a village and it does not automatically turn 
into a town. At face value, this objection is not considered to be material in the 
consideration of this proposal, although Members are advised that consideration of 
the scale of development relevant to the existing settlement is something that 
requires consideration. 

 
Details Of Financial Benefits / Implications (S155 Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
 

Council Tax payments from the dwellings when built 
Planning Delivery Grant from Central Government for delivering the dwellings 
S106 Agreement: 

 £1,018,598 is required towards the building of a new primary school in 
Thurston.  

 £80,228 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

 £208,325 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston 

 £176,877 is required for highway infrastructure works 

 Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 
annum from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five years. 

 Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £127,975 (£512 per 
dwelling).  

 CIL payments per dwelling built on site. 
 

 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
Planning Balance 

 
120. The proposal for residential development on land between Ixworth Road, Barton 

Road and Mill Lane in Thurston is considered to be contrary to the adopted Mid 
Suffolk Core Strategy as the application site lies within the countryside, outside the 
built framework of the settlement of Thurston on what is open agricultural land.   

 
121. However, as the housing policies in the Core Strategy are out of date due to the 

Council not having a deliverable five year supply of housing, this scheme falls to be 
considered in relation to paragraph 14 and 49 of the NPPF which relate to residential 
development and sustainable development.  

Page 49



 
122. Paragraph 14 states that where the development plan for the area is out of date,  

permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF as a whole or specific policies in the NPPF which indicate that 
the development should be restricted. Whilst it has been identified that the proposal 
(either in isolation or when considered cumulatively with the 4 other schemes under 
consideration in the village) does give rise to negative impacts which weigh against 
the proposal, such as the adverse impact on the quality of the landscape character of 
the area, the irreplaceable loss of countryside and grade 2 agricultural land, the 
impact on an area designated as land that is visually important, the less than 
substantial harm on the setting of listed buildings in the locality and the potentially 
severe impact on parts of the highway network if not mitigated, it is considered that 
the benefits that the scheme brings through the provision of 250 new housing, the 
securing of 35% of which would be affordable properties, contributions towards local 
infrastructure such as the highways improvements, provision of open space and the 
new school and land for the secondary school to expand on that the appellant has 
agreed to contribute, outweighs the negative issues. 

 
123. Significant weight must also be given to the fact that there are no objections from the 

Council’s consultees to the scheme. There are no objections in terms of design; 
crime prevention; amenity; pollution; contamination; ecology; landscape; flood risk 
and drainage. The proposal will also help to deliver construction jobs and will also 
provide more residents who will help to sustain and potentially grow the local 
economy.  

 
124. In relation to highways impacts there are road safety impacts which can be 

addressed through mitigation at Fishwick Corner and other highways infrastructure 
improvements which weigh in favour of the scheme by providing enhanced 
sustainable links.  

 
125. There remains a road safety and capacity issue at the A143 Thurston Road junction 

(adjacent to The Bunbury Arms). A number of solutions have been investigated and 
the current preferred solution is traffic signals. The highway authority consider that 
the effects of the development can be mitigated but further detailed work needs to be 
undertaken to obtain the most practicable and viable solution to address the risks. 
For this reason Committee is asked to reach a “minded to” resolution which reserves 
the local planning authorities position pending the outcome of that detailed further 
investigation and junction design. Once the outcome of this investigation is known the 
application can be reported with a substantive recommendation to Committee. 

 
126. Therefore, it is considered having regards to paragraph 14 of the NPPF that the 

benefits the proposal would deliver outweigh the negative elements of the scheme. 
Furthermore, when assessing the proposal against the NPPF as a whole, it is not 
contrary to its requirements and there are no specific policies within it that would 
restrict this development and, as such, it is considered that it constitutes sustainable 
development which should be granted planning permission in line with the 
requirements of paragraph 14. 

 
Statement Required By Article 35 Of The Town And Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 
127. When determining planning applications The Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 requires Local 
Planning Authorities to explain how, in dealing with the application they have worked 

Page 50



with the applicant to resolve any problems or issues arising.  
 
128. In this case the planning authority has worked with the applicant to overcome 

highway objections to the scheme and to clarify issues relating to drainage and the 
impact on listed buildings. 

 
Identification of any Legal Implications of the decision 

 
129. There are no known legal implications derived from the determination of this 

application. 
 
130. The application has been considered in respect of the current development plan 

policies and relevant planning legalisation.  Other legislation including the following 
has been considered in respect of the proposed development.  

 
-  Human Rights Act 1998 
-  The Equalities Act 2012 
-  Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
-  Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (any rural site) 
-  The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
-  Localism Act 
-  Consideration has been given to the provisions of Section 17 of the Crime and 

Disorder Act, 1998, in the assessment of this application but the proposal does 
not raise any significant issues.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Committee express a “minded to” resolution, subject to the further investigation and 
reporting back of highway matters in relation to the A143 Thurston Road junction, on the 
following basis: 
 
That the authority would be minded to delegate to the Corporate Manager - Growth & 
Sustainable Planning to grant full planning permission subject to the prior completion of a 
Section 106 or Undertaking on terms to his satisfaction to secure the following heads of 
terms: 
 

 £1,018,598 is required towards the building of a new primary school in Thurston.  

 £80,228 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

 £208,325 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston  

 35% Affordable Housing to be transferred over to a Registered Provider 

 To secure the provision of public open space to be managed by a dedicated 
management company 

 £176,877 to secure off site highway improvement works as listed below: 

 
o Improvements to PRoW Thurston 001 between Meadow Lane and 

Ixworth Road. A contribution of £8889 is required on completion of 50% of 
the total number of dwellings. 

o Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at Norton 
Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road junction. A contribution of £27297 is 
required on occupation of the first dwelling. 

Page 51



o Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 
Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton. A 
contribution of £86155 is required on commencement of construction work 
on site. 

o Contribution towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / 
C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road including a 40mph speed limit on 
the C692 Thurston Road. A contribution of £15780 is required on 
commencement of the first dwelling. 

o Extension of the 30mph speed limit to Thurston Rugby Club. A 
contribution of £8000 is required on commencement of work on site.  

 To secure a travel plan in connection with the scheme detailed as follows: 

o Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 
annum from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five years, 
or one year after occupation of the final dwelling, whichever is longest.   
 

o Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £127,975 (£512 per 
dwelling. 
 

and that such permission be subject to the conditions as set out below: 
 

1) Two year time limit for submission of reserved matters (As opposed to the usual 3) 
2) Reserved matters (outline) 
3) Existing tree protection 
4) Construction management agreement 
5) External lighting 
6) Commencement period for landscaping 
7) Protection of birds during construction period 
8) Works to be carried out in line with the ecological report. 
9) Archaeology 
10) Highway Conditions 
11) Surface water drainage 
12) Implementation in line with recommendations of the ecological report. 
13) Fire Hydrant requirements 
14) Skylark mitigation 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



Slide 1 

Application No: 

 

Address: 

4963/16 

Land West Of Ixworth Road 

Thurston 

IP31 3PB P
age 53



Slide 2 

Verbal Updates: 

 

- Confirmation and summary of any 3rd Party 

representations received not previously issued to 

members.   

 

- Confirmation and summary of any consultee 

responses received not previously issued to 

members 

 

- Confirmation of any changes to recommendation, 

conditions or reasons.   

P
age 54



Slide 3 

Persimmon 

Settlement 

limits 

Settlement 

limits 

P
age 55



Slide 4 Site Location & Constraints Map 

P
age 56



Slide 5 Indicative site layout plan 

P
age 57



Slide 6 Western boundary cross section 

P
age 58



Slide 7 Indicative Street Scene  

P
age 59



Slide 8 Indicative Street Scene  

P
age 60



Slide 9 Access Points into the site 

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Committee Report     

 

Committee Date: 12th July 2017 

  

Item No:  Reference: 5070/16 
Case Officer: Dylan Jones 

    

 

Description of Development: Outline Planning Permission sought for 

the erection of up to 200 homes (including 9 self-build plots), primary 

school site together with associated access, infrastructure, landscaping 

and amenity space (all matters reserved except for access) 

Location: Land at Norton Road, Thurston 

Parish: Thurston  

 
Ward: Thurston & Hessett  

Ward Members: Councillors Esther Jewson & Derrick Haley 

 

Site Area: 18.1 

Conservation Area: No 

Listed Building: Manor Farm – Grade 2*, converted Manor Farm Barns - Grade 2, Church 

of St Peter Grade 2 – These are all buildings in the surrounding locality. 

 

Received: 22/12/2016 

Expiry Date: 30/06/2017 

 

 

Application Type: Outline Planning Permission 

Development Type: Largescale Major Dwellings 

Environmental Impact Assessment: Schedule 2 development – EIA not required. 

 

Applicant:  Pigeon Capital Management 2 Ltd and Mr Peter Hay 

Agent: Beacon Planning Ltd 

 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED FOR CONSIDERATION 

 

The defined Red Line Plan for this application is drawing number 016-032-002 received on 
the 22nd December 2016.  This drawing is the red line plan that shall be referred to as the 
defined application site.  Any other drawings approved or refused that may show any 
alternative red line plan separately or as part of any other submitted document have not 
been accepted on the basis of defining the application site.   
 

Submitted Documents:  
  
Illustrative masterplan – 016– 032–001 B received on 09/05/2017 

Existing site levels – 016-032-003 received on 22/12/2016 

Page 155

Agenda Item 7c



Affordable housing layout - 016-032-004 B received on 09/05/2017 

Parameters plan - 016-032-005 B received on 09/05/2017 

Street elevations plan - 016-032-006 received on 22/12/2016 

Access options plan - 016-032-007 received on 22/12/2016 

Bungalow plan – 016-032-008 received on 09/05/2017 

Landscape masterplan – 1892 01 Rev C received on 24/05/17 

Existing site plan – 5802 – D received on 22/12/2016 

Proposed site access - 618212/SK02 Rev E received on 09/05/2017 

Western junction swept path analysis – 618212/SK04 Rev C received on 09/05/2017 

Eastern junction swept path analysis - 618212/SK05 Rev c received on 09/05/2017 

Eastern access road swept path analysis - 618212/SK09 Rev B received on 09/05/2017 

Norton Road access drawing – 618212/SK11 Rev B received on 09/05/2017 

Access Road forward visibility splay - 618212/SK12 Rev C received on 09/05/2017 

Eastern access road junction visibility splay - 618212/SK13 Rev C received on 09/05/2017 

Eastern access road junction visibility splay - 618212/SK14 Rev C received on 09/05/2017 

Western access road junction visibility splay - 618212/SK15 Rev C received on 09/05/2017 

Highway swept path analysis - 618212/SK16 Rev A received on 09/05/2017 

Western access road junction visibility splay - 618212/SK17 Rev A received on 09/05/2017 

Western access road junction visibility splay - 618212/SK18 Rev A received on 09/05/2017 

Archaeology and geophysical report received on 22/12/2016 

Design and Access Statement received on 22/12/2016 

Ecological appraisal received on 22/12/2016 

Flood risk assessment and drainage strategy reference number 618211-REP-CIV-FRA Rev3 

received on 24/05/17 

Heritage statement received on 22/12/2016 

Landscape and visual impact assessment received on 22/12/2016 

Statement of community consultation received on 22/12/2016 

Sustainability statement received on 22/12/2016 

Transport plan received on 22/12/2016 

Tree Survey and constraints plan received on 22/12/2016 

Transport Assessment received on 22/12/2016 

Contaminated land report received on 22/12/2016  

Attenuation basis risk assessment report received on 08/03/2016 

Landscape masterplan reference number 1892 01 Rev C received on 24/05/2017 

 

The application, plans and documents submitted by the Applicant can be viewed online at 

www.midsuffolk.gov.uk via the following link: 

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessioni

d=21B48B527E2BD08F40E75921C01A51A8?action=firstPage.   

 

Alternatively, a copy is available to view at the Mid Suffolk and Babergh District Council 

Offices. 

 

SUMMARY 

 

The proposal has been assessed with regard to adopted development plan policies, the 

National Planning Policy Framework and all other material considerations. The scheme is 

contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy; however, the Council cannot demonstrate 

Page 156

http://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/


a 5 year supply of housing and the scheme falls to be considered under paragraph 14 of the 

NPPF where the adverse impacts of the scheme have to be balanced against the benefits of 

the scheme to demonstrate that it constitutes sustainable development. Officers are 

recommending a minded approval of this application as it is considered to be sustainable 

development as the as the significant public benefits that the scheme will deliver 

(contributions towards a new school, pre-school, highway improvements, health provision, 

affordable housing and library facilities amongst others) are considered to outweigh the 

negative aspects of the proposal. 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 
 
 -  It is a “Major” application for residential land allocation for 15 or over  
  dwellings. 
 
 
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND  
 

 

1. This section details history, policies, advice provided, other legalisation and events 

that forms the background in terms of both material considerations and procedural 

background.     

 

History 

 

2. The planning history relevant to the application site is listed below.  A detailed 

assessment of the planning history including any material Planning Appeals will be 

carried out as needed in Part Three: 

 

 There is no relevant planning history for this site. 

 

3. The following applications are also considered to be relevant to the consideration of 

this proposal as they represent the other major applications for residential 

development in Thurston that are currently with the Council for consideration: 

 

2797/16 Application for Outline Planning Permission (with all matters other than 

means of access reserved) for residential development of up to 175 

dwellings with associated car parking, landscaping, public open space 

areas, allotments, and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane. The applicant 

is Hopkins Homes and this proposal is identical to appeal 5010/16. 

  

4386/16 Full planning application for the erection of 138 dwellings on land on the 

west side of Barton Road, Thurston. The applicant is Bovis Homes.  

 

4942/16  Full planning application for the erection of 64 dwellings on land at 

Meadow Lane, Thurston. The applicant is Laurence Homes. 

Page 157



 

4963/16  Outline application for the erection of up to 250 dwellings and associated 

infrastructure including the provision of up to 2.4ha of land for use by the 

Thurston Community College and the provision of land for a new primary 

school on land west of Ixworth Road, Thurston. The applicant is 

Persimmon Homes. 

 

5010/16  Outline Planning Application (with all matters other than means of access 

reserved) for residential development of up to 175 dwellings with 

associated car parking, landscaping, public open space areas, allotments, 

and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane and Norton Road (This case is at 

appeal for non-determination in the statutory period of 13 weeks for a 

major application). The appellant is Hopkins Homes and this proposal is 

identical to application 2797/16. 

 

4. The consideration of the cumulative infrastructure issues that this group of 

applications present has been explored in a collaborative, but without 

prejudice, working group including County and District Council Officers with 

the five respective applicants and their technical advisers. This has enabled a 

constructive and timetabled analysis of the proposals and their cumulative 

impact. 

 

Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions 

 

5. None 

 

Details of Member site visit  

 

6. Members visited Thurston on the 13th June to look at this site and the four other 

residential development schemes that are currently with the Council for 

consideration. 

 

Details of any Pre Application Advice 

 

7. The applicant engaged with the Council and received pre-application advice on the 

principle of the development and its acceptability having regards to the fact that the 

Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing. 

         
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
8. Summary of Consultations 
 
Thurston Parish Council (which includes the comments of the Thurston 

Neighbourhood Plan Team) – Strongly objects to the scheme on the following 

grounds:  

The following points which have been raised by the Neighbourhood Plans team relate to the 

Page 158



impact of all 5 applications (and appeal) currently with the Council for residential 
development in Thurston: 
 

 Thurston is to face an unprecedented level of growth due to the submission of 6 
planning applications proposing over 800 houses between them. 

 The 6 applications need to be considered on a cumulative basis as failure by the 
District Council to do so would result in the individual schemes having a significant 
impact on the local community and it wouldn’t meet the requirements of the NPPF. 

 Consider that the Neighbourhood Plan should be given some weight in the 
consideration of this proposal as it has been the subject of public consultation despite 
not allocating sites or proposing planning policies. 

 The speed of the submission of the applications in Thurston and the amount of 
dwellings proposed between the five undetermined applications and the Granary site 
will result in Thurston losing its ‘village feel’ and for it to become ‘a small dormitory 
town’. 

 The cumulative impact of the scheme needs to be considered in the light of the 101 
residences (92 dwellings and one block of flats incorporating 9 units) already granted 
at the Granary site. 

 The current primary school is at capacity and it is landlocked and cannot be 
extended. Any additional houses would need additional primary school places. Agree 
with the County Council’s stance that a new primary school is required and it should 
be provided before the dwellings are occupied. However, a new school causes its 
own infrastructure issues and there is nowhere in Thurston that has current adequate 
provision to assimilate the pedestrian and vehicle movements particularly at the 
beginning and at the end of the day in school term. 

 Development is proposed on the best and most versatile agricultural land on the 
northern part of the village. 

 The density of all of the schemes is too high and they reflect urban type development 
rather than what you would expect in a village. 

 The local community would prefer to see schemes of no greater than 50 dwellings 
being built with more open space around them. They would also like to see more 
bungalow developments which the developers are not providing. There should also 
be more one and two bedroom flats/apartments and houses in the schemes. 

 Thurston is accessed by a network of A roads and country lanes which are not well 
maintained by the County Council and are not of a design or standard to 
accommodate increased growth in Thurston and also that planned in the surrounding 
villages and in Bury St Edmunds.  

 Congestion of the local highway network already exists and these schemes will make 
the situation worse and will cause more accidents to occur at key sites which already 
experience accidents in the village. 

 There are no plans by network rail to improve the station at Thurston and this will 
cause capacity, parking and safety issues. 

 The number of dwellings proposed cumulatively will cause social impacts for the local 
community. These have been split in a pros and cons list as below: 
 

Positive Negative 

 New purpose built school 
more attuned to 21st Century 
needs.  

 Improved facilities and to 
allow more clubs and 
organisations to increase will 
increase their sustainability. 

 More residents in the locality 

 A new school would 
potentially trigger more new 
houses in the future which 
would change the social 
dynamics of the village. 

 New cycle and walking routes 
to the new school would have 
to be created as they don’t 

Page 159



would help to support a 
greater variety of leisure 
facilities in the village. 

exist at present. 

 Newcomers to the village will 
put pressure on current 
organisations in the village will 
not be able to expand to meet 
this increased demand. 

 A greater variety of shops and 
facilities would be supported. 

 More shops and facilities will 
change the character of the 
village into a small town and 
local residents will resent this 
change and the new 
developments that have 
caused this change to 
happen. 

 More residents will sustain 
bus and train services in the 
locality. 

 More residents will increase 
pressure on the network which 
cannot be met unless 
improvements are made to the 
railway station car park. 

 More pressure for a medical 
surgery. 

 The nearest practice doesn’t 
have capacity and all that is 
being asked through this and 
the other schemes is a 
contribution towards health 
care which will make the 
service unsustainable. 

 Additional footpaths and cycle 
ways will offer a variety of 
routes for walkers and 
cyclists.  

 The new residents using the 
paths will not be familiar with 
the way that local residents 
look after their valued paths 
and this could result in bad 
feeling against them. There 
may also be more dogs off 
leads which could cause 
problems. 

 
Specifically in relation to the Pigeon scheme, the Neighbourhood Plans team raise the 
following points:  
 

 The site is separate from the settlement boundary. 

 The site encroaches into the countryside. 

 It lies on prime agricultural land. 

 Concerns about road safety as the site is close to the Community College. 

 Road safety concerns at Pokeriage Corner and accessing the A14. 

 No safe crossing points for pedestrians to access the village. 

 Impact of the development from two access points from Norton Road. 

 The development is inappropriate to the abutting surrounding countryside. 

 Impact on health and education in the village. 

 The types and densities of the dwellings proposed do not match the local needs for 
smaller properties and bungalows. 

 The affordable homes will be too expensive for local residents as they do not cater 
for the need for 1 and 2 bedrooms. 

 Proximity and impact on the grade II* listed Manor Farm House. 

Page 160



 Size of school being proposed – 2 forms of entry possible rising to 3. 
 

Thurston Parish Council has raised the following additional comments not previously 
referred to above in relation to this scheme: 

 

 The site and surrounding area are within the countryside and therefore outside of any 
settlement boundary for Thurston as defined by Mid Suffolk’s Local Plan and would 
result in the development of new dwellings that would be visually, physically and 
functionally isolated from the facilities and services offered by Thurston as a Key 
Service Centre. The proposal is contrary to policy GP1, H13 and H16 of the local 
plan, policies FC1.1 and FC2 of the Core Strategy Focused Review and policy CS5 
of the Core Strategy. 

 200 new dwellings would intrude into the currently open countryside and harm its 
setting and not reflect the local character of Thurston. 

 The proposal is contrary to paragraph 58 of the NPPF as permanent pasture land 
would be lost and the proposal would fail to protect wildlife habitats in the area. 

 The scheme does not consider the historic architectural and visual landscape 
connections between Manor Farm and Nether Hall and as such fails to protect a 
Grade II* Listed Building and is contrary to policy HB1 of the local plan. 

 The density, tenure and mix of properties do not reflect that currently in Thurston. 

 The Parish Council considers that the development fails to demonstrate that it has 
considered safe and suitable access points for all people and as such is contrary to 
paragraph 32 of the NPPF. As the development fails to give priority to pedestrian and 
cycle movements and given the location of the site, it would not support the transition 
to a low carbon future and is therefore unable to meet the environmental dimension 
of sustainable development and would be contrary to paragraph 17, 30, 35 and 55 of 
the NPPF and Policies FC1 and FC1.1 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy Focused 
Review. 

 The Parish Council is concerned at the impact that will be had by the location of a 
site for 200 houses and a 420+ pupil primary school with 2 entrances near the 
Victoria Public House Car Park. The increased traffic that this development will 
produce will have a detrimental impact on Norton Road and it is felt that insufficient 
detail has been given to ensure that, with reference to NPPF paragraph 32 ‘safe and 
suitable access can be achieved for all people.’ It is also acknowledged that Suffolk 
County Council in its response to Planning Application 2797/16 recommended 
refusal as the proposal ‘could not be considered to be safe for all’. The Parish 
Council feels that that assessment holds true for this application and would ask that 
Highways be asked to comment on the suitability of two site entrances situated close 
to one another. The Parish Council is concerned that very little assessment has been 
carried out on the impact of vehicular movements on the two entrances and that 
consideration should be given to the dangers associated with vehicular and 
pedestrian movements at the single entrance to the proposed primary school. 

 The Parish Council is also concerned that the development of the site will not be able 
to allow for the convenient integration of public transport within the site and that the 
traffic that will be generated will not be able to be accommodated on the existing road 
network (CS6 – services and infrastructure). 

 
The Parish Council has been consulted on the applicant’s amended layout plan and they 
comment that whilst they appreciate the alterations that the applicant has made to the 
scheme, they still strongly object to it. They raise the following comments: 
 

 Regardless of the changes, the site is still in the countryside and outside of the 
settlement boundary for Thurston and would still result in a development that would 
be visually, physically and functionally isolated from the facilities and services offered 

Page 161



by Thurston as a Key Service Centre. 
 

 Whilst it is noted that the school site has been reconfigured, the parish still has 
concerns over pedestrian safety with regards to crossing points. It is noted that the 
proposed footpath does not link up to the existing footpaths in the area. 

 The application still fails to take into account the current road infrastructure and the 
lack of pedestrian route-ways and cycle ways to connect to the to the secondary 
school and village facilities. This will still have a negative impact on traffic generation 
in the area which will affect the living conditions of local residents who live in the 
locality. 

 Appreciates that the applicant has altered the two access points onto Norton Road to 
try and resolve highway safety concerns. However the Parish still question if the 
arrangement is safe. 

 Whilst the applicant has potentially appeased the concerns of the residents of 
Meadow Lane by deleting the access points for the proposed dwellings on that part 
of the site and using the access points on Norton Road for the whole of the scheme, 
this arrangement will potentially put more pressure on Norton Road which the Parish 
is concerned about. 

 The Parish Council acknowledges that the applicant has increased the percentage of 
bungalows (including affordable bungalows) on site as well as increasing the number 
of 1 and 2 bedroom properties on site whilst also doubling the market housing mix. 
However, the Parish is still concerned that the density of the scheme is still 
inappropriate for a rural setting on the edge of a village and that little or no account 
has been made of the increased pressure the smaller units will place on the parking 
provision within the site.  

 
MSDC - Environmental Health – Public Protection – Does not object to the scheme as 
there is very little risk from the historical use of the site. The only onsite concern is from the 
infilled pond in the woodland area which is to be retained, but this risk from this is small. 
Advises that the impact of the scheme can be controlled by conditions 
 
MSDC Heritage Officer – The site is in close proximity to the Grade II listed Church of St 
Peter and also to Manor Farm which is Grade 2* listed and also the barn to the north of it 
which is Grade II listed in its own right. The Historic Buildings Officer advises that the 
significance of Manor Farm is that it was designed by Philip Webb who was an influential 
architect and designer. He was also responsible for contemporary alterations at Nether Hall. 
The spacious rural setting of Manor Farm and its former farm buildings makes a positive 
contribution to their significance. However, Manor Farmhouse does not seem to succeed an 
earlier building, but is associated historically with Nether Hall to the north.  As a later 
building, its agricultural surroundings make a less important contribution to its significance 
than would be the case for a traditional farmhouse. Since conversion of the barn complex, 
the introduction of residential development and activity in the curtilage of the barn dwellings 
has eroded the agricultural character of the land between them and the application site.  
Similarly development associated with the keeping of horses has changed the character of 
land belonging to Manor Farm. 
 
The change from farmland to residential and school use would represent a degree of harm in 
the spacious rural setting of the listed buildings, but because of the factors referred to above 
the level of harm resulting to the significance of the listed buildings is considered to be low. 
 
He advises in accordance with NPPF paragraphs 129, 132 and 134 that the Council in 
determining this proposal needs to consider whether this harm can be avoided or minimised, 
and whether it is justified in terms of public benefits. 

Page 162



The Historic Offer also asks whether the layout of the site can be altered to allow for a strong 
green buffer along the eastern boundary of the site which would serve to sustain a more 
rural character in the setting of the listed building.  
  
As there are now 5 separate housing proposals in Thurston which together total 872 houses, 
with the potential for the cumulative impact of two or more of the schemes to have an impact 
on the heritage assets listed above, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked for his 
comments. He considers that in terms of the assets listed above, only the Hopkins site 
(2797/16 & 5010/16) and this proposal will have a cumulative impact. He has assessed 
when considered together that 375 houses (up to 175 on the Hopkins site and up to 200 on 
this site) on a cumulative basis would cause harm to the grade II* Listed farm house of no 
greater than medium. He has assessed that even adding the harm to the significance of the 
nearby church; the resulting cumulative level of harm to the affected heritage assets would 
be greater than low but not greater than medium. 
 
MSDC – Infrastructure Team – Confirms that the scheme as submitted will be subject to 
the Council’s CIL payments.  
 
MSDC - Strategic Housing (Summary) – Advises that no objections are raised to the 
scheme either in its original form or in the amended plans as 35% affordable housing is 
proposed in line with the Council’s requirements. The strategic Housing Officer advises that 
the affordable housing provision should be provided on site as follows: 

Affordable Rent Tenancy = 52 units as follows:  
 
12 x 1b 2p flats @ 50sqm  
2 x 1b 2p bungalows @ 50sqm  
4 x 2b 4p bungalows @ 70sqm  
22 x 2b 4p houses @ 79sqm  
11 x 3b 6p houses @ 102sqm  
1 x 4b x 7p house @ 115sqm  
 
Shared Ownership = 18 units as follows:  
 
12 x 2bed 4p houses @ 79sqm  
6 x 3bed 6p person houses @ 102sqm  
 
SCC Archaeology – Does not raise any objections to this scheme subject to the imposition 
of conditions. 
 
SCC Flood and water management – They initially objected to the scheme, but following 
the submission of additional information from the applicant, they no longer object to the 
application subject to the imposition of conditions dealing with flood risk matters.  
 
The SCC Flood Management Team has been asked to comment on the cumulative impact 

of 827 houses being proposed in Thurston and they have commented that they would expect 

all of the developers to design suitable sustainable drainage systems (which they all have). 

All of the 5 sites are in a flood zone 1 so they comply with national policy requirements. 

However, surface water drainage has historically been an issue in Thurston with soil 

conditions not being viable for water to drain away easily. Most of the surface water from the 

village is drained into the foul sewer system with the east part of the village having a surface 

water drainage system. It is understood that Anglian Water are considering options to 

improve capacity in the locality to help to prevent the flood events that have happened in the 

centre of the village in recent years.  

Page 163



SCC Highways – The Local Highway Authority has provided two responses on this 
proposal. One deals with the cumulative impact of this scheme and the four others that have 
all been submitted in Thurston on the local highway infrastructure. The second response 
deals with the highway issues that are specific to this proposal. 
 
Cumulative impact - The Transport Assessments provided for the individual proposed 

developments show varying degrees of impact on the highway infrastructure. To date none 

have shown the cumulative impact of all five developments but at some locations SCC 

considers this may be severe, particularly where the network is already close to or 

exceeding capacity. Paragraph 21 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states 

that planning policies should recognise and seek to address potential barriers to investment, 

including any lack of infrastructure and identify priority areas for infrastructure provision. Both 

SCC and MSDC are aware that paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should 

only be prevented on transport grounds where residual impacts of development are severe. 

The same statement allows decisions to be made taking account of whether improvements 

can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limits the significant 

impacts of development. 

On this occasion, we consider that by taking a co-operative approach for all five 
developments there is an opportunity that the planning process can provide improvements to 
both mitigate against any severe impacts and any lack of transport infrastructure. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Congestion)  
The initial data and modelling provided in Transport Assessments indicates that the road 
network will experience additional traffic through growth and development and at some 
locations this will exceed the theoretical junction capacity. Those junctions that are or may 
exceed capacity are discussed below. 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
Modelling shows that this junction is already close to theoretical capacity in the AM peak with 
northbound traffic waiting to turn onto the A143 queueing on Barton Road and at capacity in 
the PM peak with Thurston bound traffic waiting right from the A143 into Barton Road. The 
additional traffic from the proposed developments in Thurston will exacerbate these 
problems; in particular, modelling shows the queueing traffic on Barton Road will exceed 
capacity in the AM peak.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
Modelling indicates that the southbound approach to the junction is currently close to 
capacity in the morning peak and that its capacity will be exceeded before all five 
developments could be delivered. However, in the PM peak the junction has the capacity for 
the predicted traffic for all developments.  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
The modelling of this junction shows some inconstancies with one study indicating it will be 
close to capacity southbound on Thedwastre Road in the AM peak due to traffic from one 
specific development but other modelling showing it would have capacity for the traffic 
generated by the developments. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Road Safety) 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
There have been three recorded crashes resulting in slight injuries and one involving serious 
injury at this junction in the last 5 years for which data is available (2012-2016).  

Page 164



 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
There have been two crashes resulting in slight injuries at this junction in the past 5 years. 
  
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
At this junction there have been 9 crashes resulting in slight injuries and one resulting in a 
serious injury in the past 5 years.  
 
The frequency of injury related crashes at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / 
C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner) junction would, in the opinion of SCC, necessitates some 
work to improve road safety. Although the frequency of crashes at the A143 Bury Road / 
C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road does not justify significant road safety 
improvements it is a factor that should be considered in any future mitigation measures. 
 
Suggested Mitigation Measures 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
An assumption has been made that the junction can be signalised and that this will reduce 
congestion and improve road safety. Although there is a generous width of highway verge in 
the vicinity of the junction the geography of the site may place constraints on the design and 
further work is required to confirm that a solution is possible or beneficial. The proposed 
junction improvements would be delivered through a jointly funded S106 contribution.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
The issue of congestion on the southbound approach is difficult to mitigate as there is 
insufficient land within the highway boundary to provide a meaningful solution. It is noted that 
the road network around Thurston is relatively permeable and an option exists for traffic to 
avoid this by diverting onto Beyton Road and then turning right to approach this junction from 
the east. 
 
Several minor traffic management features such as improved signing, marker posts and high 
friction surfacing have been used at this junction in the past as crash reduction measures. 
Despite this, crashes causing injury continue to occur. To reduce the severity of these 
crashes it is proposed to restrict the road to 40mph and undertake local safety improvements 
such as enhanced road signs and markings. This would be delivered through a jointly funded 
S106 contribution.  
 
A longer term solution would be to remodel the junction or drastically remodel the road 
network. It is recommended these matters should be addressed in any future revisions to the 
Local Plan. 
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road 
The highway boundary constrains any improvements in this location and thus there does not 
appear to be any viable mitigation to increase capacity on the southbound Thedwastre Road 
approach. The relatively low number of crashes suggests that the issue of road safety is not 
as important as it is for the other two junctions and mitigation measures would only comprise 
low cost work, such as road signs and markings. 
 
Speed Limits  
It is noted that a number of proposed access roads are located close to or beyond the 
existing 30mph speed limit in Thurston. In some cases, assumptions have been made when 
determining visibility for these junctions that the 85%ile speed limits are or will be close to 
30mph. Developers are advised that the visibility requirements shall be designed for the 
measured 85%ile speed adjacent to the junction and not the posted or proposed future 
speed limit. A legal process must be followed to change or extend a speed limit and during 

Page 165



this process objections can be made which can delay or stop creation of the necessary legal 
order. For this reason, Suffolk County Council cannot accept visibility splays based on 
changes to speed limits unless there is confidence that no significant objections to the traffic 
regulation order are likely.  
 
Based on the available details of the five proposed developments the following changes to 
speed limits are suggested; 

 
 Extend the 30mph speed limit north on Ixworth Road to Thurston Rugby Club  

 Extend the 30mph speed limit on Norton Road towards and beyond Church Road  

 Extend of 30mph speed limit on Barton Road west of Mill Lane  

 Create a new 40mph speed limit between and including the C693 Thurston Road / 
C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road and the C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston 
Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road for road safety reasons.  
 

The necessary Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) could be raised individually or preferably as 
a single order. The latter is preferred as it reduces cost and administration. This can be 
delivered through site specific or joint S106 contributions. As stated above implementation of 
an order cannot be guaranteed and if a TRO is required to justify reduced visibility splay 
lengths then the order would need to be substantially complete before such a reduction 
would be accepted. If a process can be agreed between the parties’ initial consultation can 
be undertaken in advance of determination of the planning applications. 
 
Pedestrian and Cycling Infrastructure 
The benefit of considering all five applications together is that a coherent system of footways 
and pedestrian crossings can be delivered in Thurston. The proposed footways are intended 
to provide good, direct pedestrian access both to the main village and schools. The 
proposed improvements, most of which have already been proposed by individual 
applications, are listed below:  
 

 An uncontrolled pedestrian crossing on Norton Road between Meadow Lane and 
Station Hill / Ixworth Road.  

 A footway on west side of Ixworth Road between Norton Road and the entrance to 
Persimmon’s site  

 A footway link on Ixworth Road between the entrance to the Persimmon development 
and the entrance to the Thurston Rugby Club.  

 A controlled pedestrian crossing facility (e.g. a raised table junction with zebra 
crossing) if practicable at or adjacent to the Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road 
junction. Pooled contributions from all 5 developments are required for the County 
Council to deliver this.  

 A footway on the north side of Norton Road from Meadow Lane east towards Church 
Lane as far as the site boundary allows. This could be within the development and or 
on the highway verge.  

 An uncontrolled pedestrian crossing on Norton Road crossing linking the Hopkins 
Homes and Pigeon sites  

 Meadow Lane resurfaced to improve cycle / pedestrian facilities (and maintain 
access to properties)  

 Provide a metalled footway on Church Road between Footpath 006 and the footpath 
link to School Lane. This will include provision of street lighting along this short 
section of footpath.  

 Provide two uncontrolled pedestrian crossings on Sandpit Lane to link the Hopkins 
Homes development to the main village  

 

Page 166



With the exception of the pedestrian crossing facility at the junction of Ixworth Road, Station 
Hill and Norton Road, the above are expected to be secured by conditions or S106 
obligations as appropriate and delivered by the relevant development with S278 
(improvements to existing highway) or S38 agreements (if adoption as highway maintainable 
at public expense is desired) as appropriate. All the footways are expected to be metalled 
and where verge space allows provision for cyclists should also be considered. 
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW)  
It is proposed that a small number of PRoW are improved to provide alternative pedestrian 
links between the proposed developments and current and future school sites. These are 
improvements to:  
 

 Thurston Footpath 001 between Ixworth Road and Meadow Lane. It is proposed that 
this is to an all-weather standard, preferably a bituminous surface.  

 Thurston Footpath 018 between Ixworth Road and Mill Lane. This lies within the 
development site and the works can be secured by condition.  

 Thurston Footpath 006 between Norton Road and Church Road. This lies within the 
development site and the works can be secured by condition. It is proposed that this 
is to an all-weather standard; preferably a bituminous surface as far as it is a safe 
pedestrian route to the site north of Norton Road  

 New PROW link along southern boundary of the Bovis Homes site to join Barton 
Road  

 New PROW link from the site west of Barton Road to Heath Road, linking with Cycle 
Route 51.  

 Improve PROW 007 North of Meadow Lane (un-metalled). 
 
If diversion of a PRoW is likely it is recommended that discussions are held with the relevant 
SCC officer at an early state. 
 
Public Transport  
Improvements to public transport infrastructure will be limited to any site-specific works 
necessary as a result of each development through S106. All other public transport 
improvements are included in the CIL.  
 
The specific highway comments relating to this scheme only are as follows: 
 
Site Access from the public highway – These are the subject of the last lot of amended plans 

and no objections are raised to them.  

Internal Highway layout – The layout of the internal site is indicative only and this is to be 
agreed at Reserved Matters stage.  
 
Car parking - To be agreed at Reserved Matters stage having regards to the Council’s 
standards. 
 
Footway and cycle connectivity - These are the subject of the last lot of amended plans and 
no objections are raised to them. 
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW) – Acknowledges that no paths go through the site, but 
Thurston Footpath 001 forms a significant link between the site and Ixworth Road, the 
Thurston Community College and probable future developments along Ixworth Road, 
therefore S106 funding for improvements to this path is requested. 
 

Page 167



Landscaping – This is the subject of the last lot of amended plans and no objections are 
raised to them. 
 
Road Safety - The data available indicates that the single significant location with a high 
frequency of crashes is at the junction of C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 
New Road and not Thredwastre Road / New Road as stated. It is proposed that mitigation 
measures are undertaken at the Thurston Road / New Road junction. 
 
Public Transport - The nearest bus stop is approximately 500m from the site. If practical it is 
proposed that additional bus stops and shelters are placed either side of Norton Road to the 
east of Rylands Close. 
 
Trip Generation - The Trip rates and modal splits are considered acceptable. 
 
Junction Assessment - It is noted that four junctions were modelled: 
  
• Junction 1: Norton Road / Church Hill / Pakenham Road  
• Junction 2: Norton Road / meadow Lane / Sandpit Lane  
• Junction 3: Station Hill / Barton Road  
• Junction 4: Beyton Road / Thurston Road / Thedwastre Road  
 
The A143 / Barton Road was not included, although 15% of the vehicles are expected to use 
this route. Modelling from other developments indicates that this junction is operating at or 
close to capacity in the peak periods and any additional traffic may have a severe impact. 
This matter is addressed in the letter regarding the cumulative impact of the five 
developments.  
 
The flow diagrams used for modelling of the AM peak the Norton Road East approach to the 
Pakenham Road junction seems to not agree with the traffic survey. It is also thought that 
there may be some confusion over the approaches to the Thurston Road/Thedwastre Road 
crossroads, when compared to the survey. These should be reviewed. The applicant has 
provided additional information to the Local Highway Authority and this matter has now been 
successfully resolved. 
 
The Local Highways Authority advises that the reminder of the issues that are relevant to 
this proposal can be covered by planning conditions and within the S106 agreement for the 
scheme. The S106 heads of terms will cover the following issues: 
 

 Improvements to PRoW Thurston 001 between Meadow Lane and Ixworth Road. A 
contribution of £7111 on commencement of the 100th dwelling.  

 Improve PROW 007 (un metalled) north of Meadow Lane. A contribution of £16500 in 
commencement of the 100th dwelling. 

 Contribution towards extension of speed limit on Norton Road. A contribution of 
£4267 on commencement of any construction work on site.  

 Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at Norton Road / 
Station Hill / Ixworth Road junction. A contribution of £21838 on occupation of the 
first dwelling. 

 Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ 
C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton. A contribution of £69,528 on 
commencement of any construction works on site. 

 Contribution towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 
Thurston Road / C693 New Road. A contribution of £12624 on commencement of the 
first dwelling.  

Page 168



 Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per annum for 
a minimum of five years or one year after occupation of the final dwelling, whichever 
is longest.  This is to cover Suffolk County Council officer time working with the 
Travel Plan Coordinator and agreeing new targets and objectives throughout the full 
duration of the travel plan 

 Travel Plan Implementation Bond – To be confirmed when a detailed 
application/Travel Plan is submitted.  This will be used to cover the cost of 
implementing the travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to deliver it 
themselves 

 Full Implementation of the Travel Plan and its monitoring 

 Provision of an approved welcome pack to each dwelling after first occupation 

 Securing remedial travel plan measures if the agreed travel plan targets are not 
achieved 

 
Except for the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great 

Barton the reasons for requesting these contributions are described above. The A143 

improvements are mitigation to improve capacity at this junction reflecting the small 

individual but, in terms of cumulative impact, significant effect that the five developments will 

have at this junction. The Local Highways Authority has indicated that the cost of this will be 

£131,868 for the works required under S106 of the act and £69,788 for works under section 

278 of the Highways Act. 

SCC - Obligations Manager: Comments that 200 new houses proposed in the scheme will 
have an impact on local infrastructure particularly in terms of education.  
 
Primary Provision 
The residents of the scheme will generate the need for 43 new primary school places and it 
has been advised that there is no capacity in the local Primary School which is the Thurston 
Church of England Primary Academy to accommodate this development and as such a 
contribution is requested towards a new primary school. As new schools cannot be provided 
through the Council’s CIL scheme (the 123 list only allows for extensions to schools and not 
new schools) a request is made for a contribution towards a new school under S106 of the 
planning act.  
 
A contribution for £821,450 as broken down below is require to meet education needs which 
will arise from this development: 
 

School level Minimum pupil 
yield:  

Required: Cost per 
place £  
(2016/17): 

Primary school 
age range, 
5-11*: 

50 50 16,429 

 
Land for new school 
A contribution for a further £64,700 is also requested to contribute towards the cost of the 

land to provide the school. This is worked out on a maximum cost of £100,000 per acre 
(£247,100 per hectare, which will be £543,620 for a 2.2 hectare site and equates to 
£1,294 per pupil place. For the proposed development, this equates to a proportionate 
land contribution of 50 places x £1,294 per place = £64,700 
 
Temporary classroom 

Page 169



The Obligations Manager has also advised that there will be a need for temporary 
classroom arrangements to accommodate the needs of the children that arise from this 
development. The existing primary school is on a very constrained site and an extension 
to the facility is not possible under Department for Education guidelines. However, it is 
advised that where extra pupils either through a spike in local population or from housing 
development cause a ‘bulge’ in the admission numbers, this can be accommodated by 
providing temporary classrooms. 
 
A double temporary mobile classroom providing 60 places could be located within the 
hard surfaced play and car park areas within the school for a period of no longer than 3 
years to meet the admissions ‘bulge’ which would be caused by this and other large 
housing developments in Thurston.  As the primary school is an academy whereby the 
County Council has limited control over its operation, agreement to the provision of the 
temporary building has had to be sought from the Academy board that runs the school 
and it is understood from the Obligations Manager, that agreement has now been given 
by them for this to go ahead. 
 
The temporary classroom will be facilitated via a CIL bid as it is classified as being an 
extension to an existing school in the Council’s 123 list. 
 
Secondary School and 6th form provision 
The Obligations Manager has commented that secondary and 6th form provision in the area 
is currently sufficient to accommodate the additional pupils which will be generated from this 
proposal as shown in the table below. 
 
Total primary education contributions: £886, 150 
 
Restriction on occupation 

The Obligations Manager has also commented that as there is another application in 
Thurston that is proposing a primary school site (application 4963/16 – Land West of 
Ixworth Road for Persimmon Homes) but neither this or that application is approved yet, 
that the district council should consider imposing a planning condition restricting 
occupation of any dwellings once the capacity of the existing primary school with 
additional temporary classroom are full. This condition could then be discharged once 
the construction of the new primary school on whichever site has been chosen has 
commenced. 
 
Pre-school      

The Obligations Manager has also noted that there are currently 4 pre-school 
establishments in the locality (2 childminders, Thurston pre-school and Tinkerbells Day 
Nursery) and that spare capacity between them is only 10 spaces. Based on the scale of 
development currently being assessed in Thurston, the proposed legislative changes and 
the intention to establish a new primary school (with nursery provision), the most practical 
approach is to establish a new early education setting on the site of the new primary school 
which would be a 30 place setting, providing sufficient capacity for 60 children in total. Our 
latest estimates are that a 30 place early education setting costs £500,000 to construct on a 
site of approximately 630m2 (note: this includes outdoor play and parking). 
 
The Mid Suffolk Regulation 123 List indicates that new early years settings are not identified 
for funding through CIL. A proportionate contribution for this scheme would be based on 8 
children of the total 60 who would be accommodated within the new setting, could be 
calculated as follows (revised costs from a similar scheme in Suffolk):  

Page 170



 £500,000 construction cost (including land as collocated with the new primary school) 
for a new 60 place setting  

 £500,000/60 early years pupils = £8,333 per place  From 175 dwellings there is the 
need for 8 additional places  

Therefore 20 pupils x £8,333 per place = £166,660 (2016/17 costs) 

Total contribution for all education provision - £1 052, 810  
 
Other infrastructure contributions 
Requests a contribution of £43,200 towards library provision. This is requested under the 
Council’s CIL 123 list. 
 
SCC Public Rights of Way – Notes that public footpath number 7 runs through the site, but 
does not raise any objections to the scheme. 
 
Anglian Water – They do not object to this proposal as it does not interfere with any of their 
assets. They confirm that foul drainage capacity is available at the Thurston Water Recycling 
Centre and there is capacity in the sewerage system to carry the sewage from the proposed 
dwellings. 
 
Ecology Officer, Essex Place Services – Has not raised any objections to the scheme in 
terms of loss of hedgerows or impact on any protected species. The officer has advised that 
the applicant needs to mitigate against the loss of Skylark habitats as they are a UK and 
Suffolk Priority Species. The applicant has agreed to provide two Skylark plots at an offsite 
location away in the Thurston area and this can be secured via a S106 agreement. 
 
Environment Agency – Does not object to this scheme on flood risk or on foul water 
grounds. They advise that the site is subject of a historic waste landfill and that the Council’s 
Contaminated Land Officer needs to assess and make comments on the applicant’s 
submission (see elsewhere in this report for this).  
They have also considered the cumulative impact of all 5 schemes together and they advise 
that none of the sites are in an area at risk of fluvial flooding. They also confirm that from 
their records there will be sufficient capacity in the Thurston Water Recycling Centre to 
accommodate all 827 dwellings. They have advised that Thurston lies in an area of ‘water 
supply stress’ by Anglian Water which has a duty under their own legislation to provide a 
water supply to new houses when they are built. 
 
Fire Service - County Fire Officer – Does not object to the proposal, but advises that 
details of the location of sufficient fire hydrants to make the development safe must be 
submitted. This can be covered by a planning condition. 
 
Historic England – They do not object to the scheme but raise the following comments: 
Historic England considers that the application is on a large parcel of land adjacent to the 
Grade II* Listed Manor Farm House complex and could affect its setting. Thurston as a 
village has over the years grown out towards the Manor Farm complex and eroded its 
agricultural landscape. Whilst they note that there will be a buffer zone of landscaping and 
open space separating the new houses and the grade II* listed building they are still 
concerned that the housing could erode the rural character of its surroundings and harm its 
historic significance. As a consequence of the above it is the role of the Council to assess 
the impact and weigh it against the public benefit that the scheme will bring in line with the 
requirements of paragraph 132 of the NPPF in making a decision on this proposal. 
 
Landscape Officer – Essex Place Services: Comments that the proposal will significantly 
change the visual character of the site which will change from agriculture to residential. 

Page 171



 
He advises that the Landscape Statement provides a clear methodology for the landscape 
strategy which includes plant species, landscape character, public open space provision and 
public realm, surface materials. The Landscape Statement proposes a clearly considered 
green infrastructure which adequately mitigates the impact of the development. The 
indicative layout includes a good range of public realm and public open spaces with high 
amenity value.  
 
Views to the development identified on the LVIA have been adequately mitigated through 
planting along edge boundaries and within the residential development helping to screen 
and filter those critical views. 
 
Having regards to the above, he does not object to this proposal. 

Network Rail – They have been consulted on the cumulative impact of building 827 new 
dwellings in Thurston on the railway station and the local railway network as requested by 
the local community. They state that the main issue is the Barrow Level Crossing at 
Thurston station which has historically seen a number of safety issues associated with it and 
the level of usage which would arise from the erection of the number of dwellings proposed 
would have a severe impact on safety unless mitigation measures are introduced. They 
indicate that their preferred option is to close the level crossing and replace it with a new 
pedestrian ramp from platform 1 (upside) down the embankment leading onto Beyton Road. 
This design will also need to include a drop off point/layby for vehicles along Beyton Road. 
They have advised that the cost of the works amount to £1million and should be shared 
proportionally amongst the developers. They are seeking this through a S106 agreement. 
 
When questioned, Network Rail has made it clear that the works that they propose to the 
crossing point at Thurston Station are directly related to the impact of the 5 planning 
applications and the 827 houses that would be built.  They have advised that the other 
works that they propose to close crossing points elsewhere on the same line are minor in 
nature and cannot be compared to this site as the other crossing points are not facing 
unprecedented levels of pedestrian use which would be generated from the proposed 
housing in Thurston.   
 
NHS/Primary Care Trust – The proposal will have an impact on the Mount Farm Doctors 
Surgery which is based in Moreton Hall, Bury St Edmunds and there will be a need to either 
extend or reconfigure the building to meet the additional capacity requirements that will be 
generated if this proposal is approved. The PCT have not specified an amount that they 
require, but they have confirmed that they will be making a bid under the Council’s CIL 
scheme for the funding that they require to carry out the works they deem necessary to 
ensure that the facilities can meet the need that arises from this development. 
 
Ramblers Association – Have concerns that this proposal will swamp footpath 7 so it will 
no longer be the pleasant walk that it is now. 
 
Suffolk Preservation Society: Object to this scheme on the following grounds: 
 

 It is a Greenfield site and is poorly related to the village. 

 It is harmful to the setting of Manor Farm which is a Grade II* Listed Building and a 
group of barns that adjoin it which are Grade II Listed in their own right due to the 
loss of their associated agricultural land and subsequent development with housing. 

 It is acknowledged that the harm generated will be less than substantial and the 
society urges the Council to consider the impact significant when balancing the harm 
to the listed building with the benefits that the scheme brings. 

 

Page 172



Suffolk Wildlife Trust – Comment that they are unclear as to how many of the hedgerows 
within the site are to be removed as these offer habitat for birds and foraging grounds for 
bats. Consent should not be supported for schemes that would result in the loss of 
hedgerows which are a UK and Suffolk Priority Habitat. The application site is likely to 
provide suitable nesting habitat for Skylarks which are also UK and Suffolk Priority Habitat 
and as such suitable compensation for this loss would need to be provided with this 
application to make it acceptable. There were no badgers on site when the Trust visited, but 
badgers can colonise sites quickly and a walkover survey is suggested before any works are 
carried out on site if planning permission is granted for this scheme. Query how the 
greenspace and drainage areas within the site will be managed in the future to maximise its 
benefits for biodiversity enhancement. Advise that if this proposal is supported that the 
development should be carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ecology 
report. 
 
Representations 
 
9. 34 letters in total have been received objecting to this proposal on the following 

grounds: 
 
 Highway safety 
 

 The local roads are inadequate and dangerous to cope with so many new dwellings 
and they are always in a poor state of repair which will be made worse by this 
proposal. 

 There are a number of dangerous junctions and pinch points in the area which will 
become more dangerous with the number of vehicles which will be generated by this 
development. 

 Additional vehicles on the road network will cause congestion and chaos at peak 
times.  

 The railway station has poor parking. Additional residents from this site using the 
railway station to access places such as Bury St Edmunds will increase the parking 
issues experienced. 

 The 9 self-build plots are accessed from Meadow Lane which is a single track road 
with a dead end and no turning area. To use this road would be unacceptable and 
unsafe on highway safety grounds. 

 Saw a traffic survey being carried out earlier this year in Thurston. This proposal 
must be considered having regards to its findings. Any future traffic surveys should 
be done at peak times during the day to be accurate. 

 The new school will generate unacceptable traffic on Meadow Lane which is 
unacceptable. 

 This scheme proposes to change the speed limit of the road to 30mph. This might 
not be possible as that is a different legal process to this planning application. 

 
Infrastructure 

 

 This development will create excessive pressure on the local GP surgery as well as 
other NHS infrastructure in this part of Suffolk. 

 The PCT is asking for contributions towards improvements at the Park Farm Surgery 
and at the one at Woolpit, but this ignores the fact that most of the residents use the 
one at Ixworth. This proposal will therefore put more pressure on the Ixworth 
Surgery.  

 It will also put additional pressure on all of the emergency services in the area. 

 This development will place an excessive demand on the infrastructure of the area 
which will need to be resolved before any of the houses could be built. 

Page 173



 The local primary school cannot accommodate the children from this development.  

 The scheme does not mention its impact on the secondary provision in the locality 
either. 

 The local railway network will also not cope with the usage needs from the new 
residents of this proposal. 

 Who will maintain the drainage system for the site and the open space areas? This 
raises concerns as there have been surface water floods in the surrounding area in 
the past. 

 The local bus service is poor and inadequate to cope with the needs of the new 
residents of this site. 

 We can see the need for a new primary school, but this site is unsuitable as it is on 
the edge of the village and not very accessible. 

 There is no mention of employment opportunities in the application. 
 
 Impact on the character and amenity of the area 
 

 Too many houses are proposed in this proposal. 

 People use this amenity to walk with their families. This will be lost to future 
generations. 

 The erection of 2.5 to 3 storey houses will be out of keeping with the local 
environment as there are none in the locality. There needs to be a height limit 
imposed on the dwellings if this scheme is approved to ensure that they are no 
higher than the existing surrounding properties 

 The self-build houses will be out of keeping with the simple ones already on Meadow 
Lane. 

 The additional dwellings and their infrastructure will cause increased light pollution in 
the locality and affect the open countryside. 

 The erection of additional dwellings will generate more noise than the existing 
tranquil environment of the site and its surroundings. 

 
 Impact on residential amenity 
 

 The proposal will cause light pollution into existing properties. 

 The erection of new houses in close proximity to existing properties will cause noise 
pollution which will impact on the living conditions of the occupiers. 
 

 Impact on designated heritage assets 
 

 The proposal will have a negative impact on the setting of the grade II* Listed Manor 
Farm House. 

 
 Impact on wildlife in the locality 
 

 The scheme will result in the loss of trees and hedging which will have a negative 
impact on wildlife in the locality, particularly birds. 

 
 Other issues 
 

 This proposal is not sustainable. 

 This proposal should not go ahead until the Council works collaboratively with the 
local community and prepares its new local plan for the district and the new 
Neighbourhood plan is issued. 

 When will Mid Suffolk tell us the maximum number of new houses Thurston should 
take in the new Local Plan for the district? 

Page 174



 The developer has ignored the local need for more bungalows in his proposal. 

 The field which is the subject of this proposal has been used to grow crops over the 
years. Once developed on, this ability will be lost forever. 

 Development should be on Brownfield land and not on Greenfield land. 

 This site is on the edge of the village and result in the loss of valuable open 
countryside. 

 Wi-Fi and broadband connections are poor in the village and this scheme will make 
matters worse. 

 Why has Lady Greene’s plantation been included as part of this proposal and who is 
going to maintain it? 

 This plot is too big and on the wrong side of the village. 

 We are a village and not a town! 

 Why has the Council allowed the developer to submit this application? 

 No consideration has been given to the needs of the elderly in the village. No 
sheltered accommodation or care home has been suggested in any of these 
schemes. 

 
 Non material planning comments 
 

 We will lose our view over the beautiful surrounding open countryside. 

 This proposal will affect the value of our property. 
 
 Cumulative Impacts 
 

 The 5 sites in Thurston should be considered cumulatively and not singularly due to 
their linked impacts and they should also be considered having regards to the 
Granary site which already has permission. 

 827 houses are proposed and have concerns that there will be insufficient water 
supply and sewage capacity in the system to cope with them all 

 There are too many houses proposed particularly when you take into account all of 
those in Bury St Edmunds which is only a short distance away from Thurston 

 
Amended plans 
 

 A further letter has been received in relation to the applicant’s amended plans stating 
that the Pigeon development seems to have now addressed a number of the 
concerns that the village had with the scheme. The following additional comments 
are also made:  

 

 The suggested new layout of the bungalows along Meadow Lane has reduced the 
density in that position. 

 There is also an increase of bungalows to 26% and they have also increased the 
number of 1 & 2 bedroom properties. 

 They have also put a landscaped buffer along the length of the eastern boundary. 
 

The Site and Surroundings 
 
10. The application site lies in the village of Thurston which has a population of 

approximately 3200 people (2011 census) with the site extending to an area of 18.1 
hectares of grade 3b agricultural land. The land is generally flat but falls away gently 
towards its most northern point. To the west of the site is Meadow Lane which is a 
single car width dead end road which leads down to a row of cottages. To the south 
of the site lies Norton Road. In the north eastern corner of the site lies the Lady 
Green’s Plantation wooded area. Other than the wooded area, the whole field is in 

Page 175



use for agricultural purposes. 
 
11. The site abuts the settlement boundary for Thurston and remains as countryside for 

planning purposes. 
 
The Proposal 
 
12. Please note details of the proposed development including plans and application 

documents can be found online. 
 

13. Proposed is an outline planning application for the erection of up to 200 dwellings, 
including 9 self-build plots, the provision of 3ha of land for a new primary school 
together with landscaping and infrastructure. All matters are reserved except for 
access which is to be considered as part of this application.  

 
14. The applicant has submitted plans showing a suggested layout utilising a single 

spine road through the site with various secondary streets leading through to the 
dwellings. The dwellings are shown on the western part of the site running south to 
north with the school and the landscaping belt running south to north on the eastern 
part of the site.  The layout shows that the new access road will loop through the site 
and two access points will be provided from Norton Road. This is to ensure that 
conflict between the residents of the site and school users is minimised at peak 
times. 

 
15. The layout shows the Lady Greene Plantation being incorporated into the scheme 

and strengthened at its northern point to ensure that the urban edge of the scheme is 
softened where it meets the open countryside. The combined woodland area 
(existing and proposed) is approximately 3.1 Ha. The applicant has also in his recent 
amended plan strengthened the boundary treatment along the eastern part of the site 
in line with the comments made by Historic England and by the Council’s Heritage 
Officer (this will be discussed in greater detail later on in this report). The amended 
illustrative masterplan also repositioned the location of the 9 self-build plots which are 
now shown as being accessed from within the site rather than from Meadow Lane. 
The parameters plan shows the self-build plots located to the north of the site 
adjacent to a 1.9 Ha parcel of public open space. The amended illustrative 
masterplan has also increased the ratio of bungalows and smaller 1 and 2 bedroom 
properties. The illustrative masterplan and bungalows plan show 51 bungalows 
(26%) and 95 (48%) 1 and 2 bedroom properties. This plan gives the scheme an 
approximate density of 20 dwellings per hectare. 

 
16. However, it is important to note that the layout plans (be they the originally submitted 

ones or the amended ones) are indicative only and are not for consideration at this 
stage in the planning process, but have helpfully been included by the developer to 
show how the site could successfully be developed and to show the Council’s 
consultees that the matters that they raise can be addressed should this scheme be 
approved and the detailed layout is submitted for consideration at a later date. 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
17. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government's 

planning policies for England and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  
Planning law continues to require that applications for planning permission are 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  The policies contained within the NPPF are a material 
consideration and should be taken into account for decision-making purposes.   

Page 176



 
18. The following parts of the NPPF are considered to be applicable to this scheme: 
 

Para 6: Achieving sustainable development  
Para 7: Three dimensions to sustainable development  
Paras 11 – 15: The presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para 17: Core planning principles  
Paras 32 and 34: Transport movements  
Para 47: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes (including the need to have a 
5 year deliverable supply of housing)  
Para 49: All housing proposals should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Paragraph 55: To promote sustainable development in rural areas. 
Paras 56 & 60: Requiring good design  
Para 64: Development of poor design must not be supported.  
Para 69: Promoting healthy communities  
Para 70: Delivery of social, recreational and cultural facilities that the community 
needs. 
Para 72: Provision of school places. 
Para 73: Access to high quality open space.  
Para 75: Protection and enhancement of public rights of way. 
Para 100: Development and flood risk  
Para 103: Development and increasing flood risk elsewhere  
Para 109: Planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment.  
Paras 112 & 117–119: Development affecting protected wildlife   
Para 123: Planning and noise. 
Para 125: Planning and darker skies. 
Paras 128 & 129: Describing the significance of a designated heritage asset. 
Para 131: Determining planning applications that affect heritage assets. 
Para 132: Significance of heritage assets. 
Para 134: Development and less than substantial harm 
Para 186: Approaching decision taking in a positive way. 
Para 187: Local Planning Authorities should find solutions rather than problems in 
decision taking. 
Para 196: Plan led planning system. 
Para 197: Assessing and determining application applying the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.  
Paras 203 -206 – Planning conditions and obligations. 
Paras 211 - 212: Using development plans and the NPPF in decision making.  
Paras 214 – 215: The weight attached to development plan policies having regards 
to their consistency with the NPPF.  
Para 216 – Weight given to policies in emerging plans 

 
CORE STRATEGY 
 
19. Core Strategy Focused Review 
 
 FC1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 FC1.1 – Mid Suffolk’s approach to delivering sustainable development 
 FC2 – Provision and distribution of housing. 
 
20. Core Strategy 
 
 CS1 – Settlement hierarchy 

Page 177



 CS2 – Development in the countryside & countryside villages 
 CS4 – Adapting to climate change. 
 CS5 – Mid Suffolk’s environment 
 CS6 – Services and infrastructure 
 CS9 – Density and mix 
 
 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN / SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS /AREA 

ACTION PLAN 
 
21. In 2013 Thurston received a neighbourhood plan designation and the settlement is 

currently working on its new neighbourhood plan. The plan is however at an early 
stage and as yet does not have any policies which could be used in the assessment 
and consideration of this proposal 

 
SAVED POLICIES IN THE LOCAL PLAN 
 
22. GP1 – Design and layout of new developments 

HB1 – Protection of historic buildings 
HB13 – Protecting ancient monuments 

 HB14 – Ensuring that Archaeological remains are not destroyed 
 H3 – Housing developments in villages 
 H13 – Design and layout of development 
 H15 – Development to reflect local characteristics. 

H16 – Protecting existing residential amenity  
H17 – Keeping new development away from pollution 

 CL8 – Protecting wildlife 
 CL11 – Retaining high quality agricultural land 
 T9 – Parking standards 

T10 – Highway consideration in developments 
 RT4 – Amenity open space and play areas within residential development 
 RT12 – Footpaths and bridleways 
 SB3 – Retaining visually import landscapes 
 
Main Considerations 
 
23. From an assessment of relevant planning policy and guidance, representations 

received, the planning designations and other material issues the main planning 
considerations considered relevant to this case are set out including the reason/s for 
the decision, any alternative options considered and rejected.  Where a decision is 
taken under a specific express authorisation, the names of any Member of the 
Council or local government body who has declared a conflict of interest are 
recorded. 

 
24. The following are identified as the main considerations in assessing this application:  
 
The Principle Of Development 
 
25. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Councils to identify and 

update, on an annual basis, a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 
for five years’ worth of housing provision against identified requirements (paragraph 
47). For sites to be considered deliverable they have to be available, suitable, 
achievable and viable.  

 
26. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the 

Page 178

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites (as stated in paragraph 49 of the NPPF). Where policies cannot be considered 
up-to-date, the NPPF (paragraph 14) cites the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that planning permission should be granted unless i) any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or ii) 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted. The 
presumption in paragraph 14 also applies where a proposal is in accordance with the 
development plan, where it should be granted without delay (unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise).  

 
27. The precise meaning of ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing’ has been the 

subject of much case law, with inconsistent results. However last month, the 
Supreme Court gave judgment in a case involving Suffolk Coastal District Council 
which has clarified the position. The Supreme Court overruled earlier decisions of the 
High Court and the Court of appeal in this and other cases, ruling that a ‘’narrow’’ 
interpretation of this expression is correct; i.e.it means policies identifying the 
numbers and location of housing, rather than the “wider” definition which adds 
policies which have the indirect effect of inhibiting the supply of housing, for example, 
countryside protection policies. However, the Supreme Court made it clear that the 
argument over the meaning of this expression is not the real issue. The absence of a 
five year housing land supply triggers the application of paragraph 14 of the NPPF. In 
applying the ‘tilted balance’ required by this paragraph, the Council must decide what 
weight to attach to all of the relevant development plan policies, whether they are 
policies for the supply of housing or restrictive ‘counterpart’ polices such as 
countryside protection policies.  

 
28. In accordance with National Planning Policy Guidance paragraph 030 (Reference ID: 

3-030-20140306) the starting point for calculating the 5 year land supply should be 
the housing requirement figures in up-to-date adopted Local Plans. It goes on to 
state that ‘…considerable weight should be given to the housing requirement figures 
in adopted Local Plans, which have successfully passed through the examination 
process, unless significant new evidence comes to light….Where evidence in Local 
Plans has become outdated and policies in emerging plans are not yet capable of 
carrying sufficient weight, information provided in the latest full assessment of 
housing needs should be considered. But the weight given to these assessments 
should take account of the fact they have not been tested or moderated against 
relevant constraints...’ 

 
29. The Council published the Ipswich and Waveney Housing Market Areas Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) in May 2017 which is significant new evidence 
for the emerging Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan. Therefore, the 5 year 
land supply has been calculated for both the adopted Core Strategy based figures 
and the new SHMA based figures. For determining relevant planning applications, it 
will be for the decision taker to consider appropriate weight to be given to these 
assessments and the relevant policies of the development plan. 

 
30. A summary of the MSDC 5 year land supply position is: 

 

 Core Strategy based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 

 SHMA based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 
 

31. The NPPF requires that development be sustainable, and paragraph 6 of the NPPF 
sets out guidance on what this means in practice by drawing attention to all of the 
policies from paragraph 18 to 219 of the NPPF. In some circumstances there is also 

Page 179

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/


a presumption in favour of sustainable development which is to be applied as set out 
in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This has been discussed above.  

 
32. Paragraph 7 of the NPPF sets out three dimensions for sustainable development, 

economic, social and environmental: 
 

"an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure:  

 
a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and 
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect 
the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and  

 
an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and 
historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change including moving to a low carbon economy."  

 
33. In light of all of the above, this report will consider the proposal against the policies of 

the development plan to determine if the development is in accordance with the 
development plan as a whole. If it is not, and there are policy conflicts, they will need 
to be weighed against other material considerations to see whether a decision which 
does not accord with the development plan is warranted, in the light of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and in the context of the authority 
not being able to demonstrate a 5 year land supply. 

 
Sustainability of the Proposal (including assessment against the development plan 
and the NPPF) 
 
34. The NPPF also provides (para 187) that “Local planning authorities should look for 

solutions rather than problems, and decision-takers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.  Local planning 
authorities should work proactively with applicants to secure developments that 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.” 

 
35. The Parish Council and some of the objectors have commented that this scheme 

should be refused as it is outside the development limits for Thurston in line with the 
policies as contained in the adopted Core Strategy and Local Plan and that housing 
numbers should be limited in Thurston. However, it is clear on reviewing the 
guidance in the NPPF as outlined above that this cannot be done as housing delivery 
policies CS1 and CS2 of the core strategy should not be considered to be up-to- date 
along with policies such as H7 of the Local Plan as the Council does not have a 5 
year supply of housing as required by the NPPF. Other comments have been 
received stating that the Council should not consider this application and the others 
in the Thurston area until the Council determine in a new style local plan and its 
stance on the location of new housing in the district. Comments have also been 
made that the Council should not determine this application until the Parish Council’s 
Neighbourhood Plan has received its referendum vote.   However, national policy as 
contained in the NPPF does not give the Council either of these options and requires 
all applications to be determined promptly. Furthermore, as the Council has a deficit 
of housing completions with the result that it is significantly short of reaching its 5 

Page 180



year supply target, a limit on new housing in any part of the district cannot be given 
until the deficit in completions is made up to the 5 year level. 

 
36. The contents of paragraph 55 of the NPPF are also considered to be material in the 

making of a decision on this case. Objections have been received stating that this 
proposal should not be allowed as it is outside the settlement limit for Thurston and 
that the site should be considered as countryside. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF makes 
it clear that Councils can no longer consider sites that are adjacent or near to a 
settlement limit to be unacceptable simply because they are the wrong side of the 
line. It now makes it clear that ‘new isolated homes in the countryside will not be 
supported and that Councils are encouraged to promote sustainable development in 
rural areas by considering housing development in locations where they could 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. It gives an example in 
paragraph 55 that new housing could provide increased facilities in one settlement 
which would be of benefit to it and the other surrounding settlements.   

 
37. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the application site is not in an 

isolated location as it is adjacent to the built up part of the village, and the scheme 
will bring with it a new primary school, land to expand the secondary school as well 
as other contributions which will be of benefit to the residents of Thurston and the 
surrounding villages. Therefore, in terms of paragraph 55 of the NPPF, this proposal 
could be considered to promote sustainable development in a rural area. However, 
having regards to the fact that the Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing 
and has to balance the negatives of the scheme against the positives that it brings in 
line with the requirements of the NPPF, consideration of whether the scheme will be 
supported as sustainable development or not will be given in the conclusion to this 
report. 

 
38. In reaching a decision, paragraph 47 of the NPPF is a material consideration and 

requires Local Planning Authorities to boost significantly the supply of housing, by 
identifying and updating annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements with an 
additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. As 
stated above, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and as 
such paragraph 49 of the NPPF applies and states that in this situation, the relevant 
policies for the supply of housing in the Council’s adopted plan should not be 
considered to be up to date and that the scheme remains to be considered under the 
requirements of paragraphs 7 and 14 of the NPPF which defines what sustainable 
development is and how decisions should be made. 

 
39. Since the submission of this application, four other developers have also submitted 

application for residential development in Thurston. Bovis Homes have applied for 
138 dwellings on land on the west side of Barton Road (4386/16); Persimmon have 
applied for 250 dwellings plus a new school on land west of Ixworth Road (4963/16); 
Laurence Homes have applied for 64 dwellings on land at Meadow Lane (4942/16) 
and Hopkins Homes have applied for 175 dwellings (2797/16 and an identical 
proposal under reference number 5010/16 which they have appealed for 
non-determination). Including this application, 827 new homes are currently proposed 
in Thurston. There are also a further 92 dwellings which have planning permission at 
the Granary where works are commencing on site at present. 

 
40. Following receipt of these applications an approach of joint working to explore 

cumulative infrastructure issues has been agreed between the respective applicants 
and the District and County Council. This has enabled the constructive exploration of 
significant infrastructure issues on a collaborative but without prejudice basis to a 

Page 181



consensual timetable. Therefore, as there are unprecedented numbers of new 
dwellings proposed it is considered that all schemes must be considered both on 
their own merits and in combination with each other to assess if they meet the tests 
for sustainable development as outlined in the NPPF. The assessment of whether 
this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable development is given in the 
conclusion. 

 
41. Policy FC1 of the Mid Suffolk District Core Strategy Focused Review states that it 

takes a positive approach to sustainable development and like in the NPPF, the 
Council will work proactively with developers to resolve issues that improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. Related policy FC1.1 
makes it clear that for development to be considered sustainable it must be 
demonstrated against the principles of sustainable development. The policy goes on 
to say that proposals for development must conserve and enhance the local 
character of the different parts of the district and how it addresses the key issues of 
the district. 

 
42. The settlement of Thurston is one of the two largest villages in the district of Mid 

Suffolk (with the other being nearby Elmswell) where a wide range of local services 
and local infrastructure is provided. Thurston has both a primary and a secondary 
school, and a number of other local facilities which act as a service to the inhabitants 
of the village as well as providing employment opportunities. Whilst Thurston does 
not have a doctor’s surgery, there is one in Woolpit and another in Moreton Hall 
which is a reasonably short journey away either by car or via public transport.  

 
43. Thurston is also unusual in that it has a railway station which provides access for the 

residents to be able to commute to Ipswich, Bury St Edmunds and further afield 
without having to use their cars. Thurston is also on the Mendlesham to Bury St 
Edmunds bus route with a number of designated stops within the village.  

 
44. In relation to paragraph 7 of the NPPF, the proposals would contribute to building a 

strong, responsive and competitive economy through the creation of construction and 
related jobs and the on-going contribution to the local economy from the creation of 
up to 200 additional households in the area. The proposals would also contribute 
towards providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and 
future generations and by having the potential to create a high quality built 
environment, as well as contributions towards affordable housing, the highway 
network and other social infrastructure (public open space, education, health care) 
through a CIL contribution, or where appropriate, a section 106 agreement.  

 
45. It must also be remembers that paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that 

housing applications should be considered in the context of sustainable 
development. The applicant is proposing up to 200 dwellings in this instance and 
they have confirmed that it is their intention if they get planning permission to 
commence with work on site as soon as possible following the granting of their 
reserved matters application. To speed this up, they have agreed to have a shorter 
period than is usual to submit their reserved matters application (2 rather than 3 
years) which helps to justify that as a developer, they are serious about delivering the 
houses.  They have also signed an agreement with Mid Suffolk and Suffolk County 
Council to work as a group with the other 4 other developers in Thurston to contribute 
to and work together to achieve the necessary infrastructure within the area to make 
this and the other 4 schemes sustainable.   

 

Page 182



46. Consideration of whether this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable 
development, having regard to the contents of policies FC1 and FC1.2 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy Focused Review and the contents of the NPPF will be 
reached in the conclusion to this report. 

 
Site Access, Parking And Highway Safety Considerations 
 
47. Policy T10 of the Mid Suffolk District Local Plan provides criteria on highway 

considerations when assessing planning applications. This policy requires access 
points into and out of the site to be safe and an assessment made as to whether the 
existing local roads can suitably accommodate the impact of the proposal, whether 
adequate parking and turning spaces exist within the site and that the needs of 
pedestrians and cyclists have been met. This policy is considered to carry significant 
weight in the determination of this application as it is in compliance with paragraph 32 
of the NPPF which requires all schemes to provide safe access for all. 
 

48. A number of objections have been received to the scheme on the grounds that the 
two access points into the site from Norton Road would be detrimental to highway 
safety and that the local road network is unsuitable and badly maintained for a 
development of a further 200 dwellings. Mention has specifically been made that 
some local junctions are unsafe at present (see Parish Council objection for details 
as well as the Local Highway Authority consultation response), particularly those 
adjacent to the railway bridge to the south of the village and that this scheme will 
exacerbate this problem as more vehicles will be using these junctions to access 
local roads, particularly the A14 to reach other destinations such as Bury St 
Edmunds and further afield. Comments have also been received that this scheme 
cumulatively with the other 4 schemes that have been submitted in Thurston for 
residential development will cause a significant and severe impact on the road 
network in the locality both in terms of congestion and safety. 

 
49. The site is located to the north east of the village with Meadow Lane bordering the 

site to the west and Norton Road to the south. Proposed is two access points from 
the loop road within the site off Norton Road which would help to split traffic 
accessing the dwellings from traffic accessing the new school at peak times. The 
Local Highway Authority did not object to the access points as originally shown by 
the applicant or the newly amended layout which has resulted in the access point 
being moved to accommodate the suggested changed to the positon of the new 
school as suggested by the County Education Authority as well as the need to 
increase tree and landscaping cover on the eastern border of the site as requested 
by Historic England and the Council’s Heritage Officer. The Local Highway Authority 
does not consider that the access points as shown are unsafe as referred to by the 
objectors to the scheme and meets the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF in 
that safe access can be provided for all. Following discussions with the Local 
Highway Authority and on reviewing the comments of the local community, the 9 
self-build properties are now proposed to be accessed from within the site and not off 
Meadow Lane which has overcome the potential issue of safety which would have 
occurred as that road is a narrow dead end single track country lane. Regardless of 
the above, it must be remembered that the internal layout of the site is currently 
indicative only, and it can be suitably designed and altered again at reserved matters 
stage to the necessary highways standards to meet the requirements of the Highway 
Authority. 
 

50. The Local Highway Authority has considered the cumulative impact of this proposal 
and the other 4 schemes currently before the Council proposal both in terms of safety 
and congestion on the highway network in Thurston and they have come to the 

Page 183



conclusion that the impact of the 5 scheme if they all come forwards will be severe. 
However, the Local Highway Authority has made it clear that the NPPF requires all 
public bodies to try and resolve problems and they are confidents that if all 5 
developers work together those suitable and cost effective alterations can be made 
to the highway network to ensure that the impact does not become severe. The Local 
Highway Authority has assessed the road network and has suggested alterations and 
improvements to key areas of it (see the Local Highway Authority consultation 
response earlier in this report for more information) which all 5 developers have been 
asked to contribute towards through either a section 106 agreement or through the 
Highways Act. All 5 developers which include Pigeon have agreed to contribute 
towards the works as requested by the Highway Authority. For the Pigeon proposal, 
the Highway Authority is requesting £131,868 via a S106 agreement (excluding travel 
plan contributions which are in addition), and a further £69,788 under section 278 of 
the Highway Act. As such, the Local Highway Authority no longer considers that this 
proposal fails the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF when considered 
cumulatively with the other 4 residential schemes as the impact with the alterations 
carried out to the highway network will no longer be severe in terms of safety. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Local Highway Authority has not raised any objections to this 
scheme on congestion grounds and does not consider that that additional traffic and 
queuing as a consequence of this scheme can be considered to be severe to sustain 
a refusal of planning permission. 

 
51. The Local Highway Authority identify that the scheme will offer sustainable travel 

options to local residents as additional pavements and bus shelters are proposed 
and these will link up to both existing facilities and those proposed on neighbouring 
sites by the other developers seeking at the moment to build houses in Thurston. 
This will help to improve accessibility on foot and via public transport and will ensure 
that the site is accessible to the local railway station. The Local Highway Authority is 
also recommending that the applicant is obligated via a S106 agreement to provide a 
travel plan to ensure that there are sustainable transport options available to the new 
residents of the scheme rather than just having to rely on their private cars to access 
local facilities. 

 
52. Having regards to the specific and cumulative highway impacts of the scheme when 

considered in line with the requirements of paragraphs 21 and 32 of the NPPF the 
Local Highway Authority has had regards to the fact that in some locations, the 
impact of the granting of 827 dwellings will be severe on the highway network, but 
these impacts can successfully be mitigated by the works to the network as 
suggested. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the proposal complies 
with the requirements of policy T10 of the local plan and paragraph 32 of the NPPF, 
in that safe and suitable access for all people can be achieved and that cost effective 
improvements can be undertaken to the transport network to ensure that 
non-motorised modes of transport can be used to access local facilities.  

 
53. Concerns by the objectors in terms of the impact of construction traffic on the 

surrounding highways network, can be controlled by the imposition of a suitable 
condition should this scheme be granted planning permission. As the application is in 
an outline form, the indicative layout shows that a suitable internal layout, which 
would be up to the County Council’s highway standards, could be provided at 
reserved matters stage. 

 
54. An objector has commented that the applicant is suggesting in his documentation 

that the speed limit adjacent to the site should be reduced from its current limit to 
30mph and that this is a separate legal process that is outside this planning 
application. The Local Highway Authority has been questioned on this and they have 

Page 184



confirmed that this scheme and the 4 others have been designed and considered at 
the existing speed limit and that his comments are given on that basis. They advise 
that it would be in the public interest to alter the speed limit as suggested by the 
applicant and they are to take on this alteration under the relevant highway legislation 
to action it. 

 
55. Having regards to the above, it is considered that this proposal is acceptable in terms 

of highway safety and complies with the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF 
and paragraph T10 of the local plan as safe access can be provided for all. 

 
Design And Layout [Impact On Street Scene] 
 
56. Section 7 of the NPPF refers to design.  Specifically, paragraph 56 states that good 

design is a key aspect of sustainable development; it should contribute positively to 
making places better for people.  Decisions should aim to ensure that development 
will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, establish a strong sense of 
place, create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit, optimise the 
potential of the site to accommodate development, create and sustain an appropriate 
mix of uses and support local facilities and transport networks.  Furthermore it 
provides that development should respond to local character and history, and reflect 
the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation.  The NPPF goes on to state it is "proper to seek to promote 
or reinforce local distinctiveness" (para 60) and permission should be "refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving 
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions" (para 64).  In addition 
policy CS5 provides that "All development will maintain and enhance the 
environment, including the historic environment, and retain the local distinctiveness 
of the area” and echoes the provision of the NPPF. Policy GP1 provides design 
criteria that proposals should seek to achieve, to include; use of traditional materials 
that respect local architectural styles; use of open spaces to maintain or enhance the 
character of the site; protection of natural landscape features; suitable landscaping; 
sufficient parking, garaging and appropriate access arrangements; and opportunities 
to use the layout to minimise criminal activity. Policies H13 and CS9 also summarise 
separate criteria as to the design, layout, density and mix of housing developments. 
 

57. Objections have been received stating that the site is currently an open field and that 
dwellings of the scale and density of the proposal, particularly in reference to any 2.5 
to 3 storey dwellings potentially being built on site is considered to be inappropriate 
and not in keeping with the locality. The proposal will extend the built up footprint of 
the village into the surrounding open countryside which is unacceptable to the 
objectors and the parish council. 

 
58. The application is in outline form and the plans as submitted provide an indicative 

layout of how the scheme could potentially look should this outline planning 
application be approved which relates to the principle of the development of the site. 
This indicative layout provides a development with a density of approximately 20 
dwellings per hectare which is not high and is in keeping with existing patterns of 
development that adjoin the site. This site does extend the built footprint of the village 
into the surrounding open countryside as the fields that surround it are currently 
undeveloped with residential development limited to only the small amount of 
dwellings on Meadow Lane. However, the applicant has taken account of this and is 
using the Lady Greene Plantation and providing additional woodland screening and 
cover to its west and along the eastern corner of the site to help the proposal 
integrate into the Countryside. It is also noted in the consultation response from the 
Landscape Officer that the existing landscape envelope within and around the site 

Page 185



(combined with the proposed landscape mitigations proposed as part of the 
application) provide an adequate strategy to suitably reduce the visual impact of the 
development. 

 
59. Objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the needs of the 

elderly local community have not been considered and that there proposal is lacking 
in bungalows and smaller house types. It must be emphasised that the proposal is in 
outline form and full details of the housing specification will only be given at reserved 
matters stage. It must also be noted that the applicant has in his amended indicative 
layout plan shown additional bungalows and smaller properties which shows that 
they could meet the expectations of the community at reserved matters stage when 
the detailed layout of the site will be in for consideration. The applicant is not 
proposing a care home as part of this scheme as requested by one of the objectors 
to the scheme has requested and it is not considered to be appropriate to request 
that the detailed plans for the site should accommodate that type of use. 

 
60. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the scheme in terms of its 

suggested layout constitutes good design in line with the requirements of the NPPF 
and local policy CS5 as it proposes a form of development that would reflects the 
character, density and appearance of the surrounding settlement. It is agreed that the 
site does project into the surrounding countryside; however this matter needs to be 
balanced in coming to a decision about the proposal having regards to all of the 
positive matters that the scheme brings. As stated in previous topics above, that will 
be done in concluding this report. 

 
Parish Plan / Neighbourhood Plan 

 
61. A Neighbourhood Plan designation was confirmed in 2013 and covers the Parish of 

Thurston. At the time of the consideration of this proposal the parish have set up a 
neighbourhood Plan Committee to prepare the policies for the new Neighbourhood 
Plan. Both the Parish Council and their Neighbourhood Plan Committee have 
objected to this scheme with the latter raising objections based on some of the early 
work that they have carried out for the evidence base for the new plan. 

 
62. The Planning Practice Guidance identifies that “Paragraph 216 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework sets out the weight that may be given to relevant policies 
in emerging plans in decision taking. Factors to consider include the stage of 
preparation of the plan and the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures that the community has the final say 
on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers should 
respect evidence of local support prior to the referendum when seeking to apply 
weight to an emerging neighbourhood plan. The consultation statement submitted 
with the draft neighbourhood plan should reveal the quality and effectiveness of the 
consultation that has informed the plan proposals. And all representations on the 
proposals should have been submitted to the local planning authority by the close of 
the local planning authority’s publicity period. It is for the decision maker in each case 
to determine what is a material consideration and what weight to give to it”. 

 
63. As such, whilst it is ultimately for Members to determine the weight that should be 

given to the plan, whilst it is at an early stage in its development, it is the view of 
Officers that little material weight can be given at this time. 

 
Landscape Impact 
 

Page 186

https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#draft-neighbourhood-plan-meets-requirement


64. Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that proposals should provide appropriate 
landscaping to ensure that they integrate well into the surrounding locality. This 
requirement is repeated in one of the requirements of policy H13 of the Mid Suffolk 
District Local Plan. The Lady Greene Plantation forms part of the site and is to be 
retained and additional landscaping is proposed along the northern and eastern 
boundaries of the site boundaries of the site. This is to ensure that an attractive 
landscaped buffer is provided between the scheme and the surrounding open 
countryside to minimise its impact.  

 
65. Objections have been received to this proposal on the grounds that the site lies in an 

exposed location and that the approval of this scheme will erode the intrinsic beauty 
and the character of the surrounding open countryside. The Council’s Landscape 
Consultant has been consulted on this scheme and he has commented that it will 
significantly change the visual character of the site which will change from 
agricultural to residential. However, they also advise that the Landscape Statement 
proposes a clearly considered green infrastructure which adequately mitigates the 
impact of the development. They also state that views to the development identified 
on the LVIA have been adequately mitigated through planting along edge boundaries 
and within the residential development helping to screen and filter those critical 
views. Whilst it is acknowledged that the scheme will have a significant impact on the 
surrounding open countryside, he does not object to it as its effects can suitably be 
mitigated to ensure that no unacceptable harm is caused in landscape terms.  

 
66. Objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the new dwellings 

will have an impact on the surrounding countryside in terms of light pollution. 
Paragraph 125 of the NPPF states that decisions should limit light pollution from 
artificial lights to limit the impact on local amenity, particularly on intrinsically dark 
landscapes. 

 
67. It is agreed that the erection of up to 200 dwellings and a new school will cause 

increased lighting levels over what is now a dark field. However, it is suggested that a 
condition be imposed on the application to allow the council to consider and limit the 
impact of artificial lights on the surrounding open countryside to minimise the impact 
as far as is practicable. Having regards to the requirements of policy H13 of the 
MSDC Local Plan and paragraph 58 of the NPPF, it is considered that the scheme 
provides substantial landscaping both within and on the boundaries of the site to 
ensure that it assimilates well into the rural edge of Thurston and provides an 
attractive environment both for the new residents of the site and those living in the 
surrounding locality and artificial lighting can be regulated to minimise its effect on 
the surrounding open countryside.  

 
Residential Amenity 

 
68. Policies within the adopted development plan require, inter alia, that development 

does not materially or detrimentally affect the amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties.  This requirement is emphasised in the NPPF Core Values 
in paragraph 17 where it states that all schemes should seek a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.   

 
69. This proposal is in outline form where there are no specific details of the exact 

location, orientation and types of houses proposed. There have been no objections to 
this scheme based on loss of daylight/sunlight or impact of overlooking and it is 
considered that if this outline consent is approved, these can suitably considered and 
the scheme designed to mitigate the impacts at the reserved matters stage.  

 

Page 187



70. An objection has been received to this scheme on the basis that the erection of 200 
new dwellings and a school will increase pollution levels in the village. It is agreed 
that emissions from the dwellings and the vehicles owned by the residents will 
increase, but as the site is in a village location in close proximity to the surrounding 
open countryside, this will cause less impact than if it was in an enclosed urban/city 
type area. 

 
71. Further objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the new 

dwellings will have an impact on neighbouring properties in terms of noise pollution. 
Paragraph 123 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning decisions should aim to 
avoid new developments giving rise to significant noise levels which would impact on 
the health and quality of life of existing residents. However, it should be noted that 
paragraph 123 does go on to say that it must be recognised that development will 
often create noise and as such some element of noise and disturbance is allowed. 
The closest properties to this site are on Meadow Lane and the applicant has now 
amended his suggested layout plan to remove the access points to them from 
Meadow Lane. The plans show the properties being set back and with suitable 
boundary landscaping which will helps to offset the impact of the dwelling on the 
occupiers of the properties on Meadow Lane. Whilst the erection of 200 dwellings 
and a new school will increase noise levels in the locality, it is not considered that this 
will be significant enough to warrant a refusal of this scheme on loss of amenity 
grounds. 

 
72. It is considered that this proposal does not give rise to any significant concerns of 

loss of neighbour amenity by reason of noise, form, design, the distance between the 
dwellings and the substantial landscaping that is proposed along the periphery of the 
site and as such the proposal meets the relevant NPPF core value in paragraph 17 
and the requirements of paragraph 123. The environmental health officer has raised 
no objection subject to the imposition of standard conditions. Therefore, for the above 
reasons, it is not considered that there shall be any unacceptable impact in terms of 
residential amenity or safety (nor loss of important recreational space) and therefore 
the proposals comply with policy H16 and H17.   

 
Environmental Impacts – Ecology, management of land, loss of agricultural land, 
contaminated land 

 
73. The application site is a grade 3b agricultural parcel of land which is adjacent to the 

built up part of Thurston. As the site is in an agricultural use, there is limited tree 
cover within the site with the majority of the trees and hedging being along the field 
boundaries and in the Lady Greene Plantation to the north of the site. 

 
74. Objections have been received to this scheme from local residents and the Suffolk 

Wildlife Trust on the basis that the loss of the field and the hedgerows on the 
boundary of the field to create residential development will have a negative impact on 
animal species, particularly protected and priority species in the locality.  

 
75. Regulation 9(5) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

(Implemented 1st April 2010) provides that all "competent authorities" (public bodies) 

to "have regard to the Habitats Directive in the exercise of its functions.”  In order for 

a Local Planning Authority to comply with regulation 9(5) it must "engage" with the 

provisions of the Habitats Directive.   

 

Page 188



76. The content of paragraph 118 of the NPPF is also applicable to the consideration of 
this proposal as it states that when determining planning applications, consideration 
must be given to 6 principles. The two following principles are applicable to this 
scheme:  

 

 If significant harm is caused which cannot be avoided or mitigated by 
conditions then planning permission should be refused. 

 Opportunities to integrate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
supported. 

 
 

77. The Council’s Consultant Ecologist has been consulted on this application and she 
has not objected to it in terms of its impacts on protected species and has not raised 
any concerns about loss of hedgerow within the site. The Ecologist has however 
raised concerns that the proposal will result in the loss of Skylark habitat which is a 
UK and Suffolk Priority species and she has asked the applicant to provide mitigation 
in the form of two Skylark nest plots at another location away from the application 
site. The applicant has land in the area and he has agreed to this request. The 
mitigation strategy can be delivered via a S106 agreement.  

 
78. The Suffolk Wildlife Trust has raised concerns over the management of the open 

space areas, particularly the sustainable drainage system within the site and what 
impact this will have on the ecology that establishes in there. The Council is not 
intending to adopt the landscaped areas within the site, but through a S106 
agreement is requesting that the developer sets up a management company who will 
look after the open spaces and landscaped areas within the site, for the benefit of the 
new residents of the site and to ensure that its ecological value is retained and 
enhanced in future years.  

 
79. Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local authorities should take into account the 

economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land when 
making planning decisions. Where significant development of agricultural land is 
demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use poorer 
quality land in preference to that of higher quality land. Agricultural land is split into 
categories with land defined as 3a up to 1 being best and most versatile land and 
grades 3b down to 5 not being defined as best and most versatile land. The 
application site is a Grade 3b and as such it is not defined as best and most versatile 
agricultural land and as such the requirements of paragraph 112 of the NPPF do not 
apply to this scheme. In any case, having looked at the agricultural land 
classifications for Mid Suffolk, most of the land within the district is classified as 2, 3a 
and 3b with very little land in the lower categories. As the district is predominantly 
rural in character it is not considered that the loss of this parcel of land either on its 
own or considered cumulatively with the 4 other sites that have been put forwards for 
development in Thurston will have a significantly negative impact on food production 
or the local economy. 

 
80. The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted on this scheme and he 

has reviewed the documentation submitted by the applicant (Phase 1 risk 
assessment). Paragraph 121 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning decisions 
should make sure that the site is suitable for its new use taking account the hazards 
of any previous use. The Contaminated Land Officer has not raised any issues in 
relation to the agricultural field which the residential part of the scheme is to be sited 
on and only mentioned in his consultation response the small water feature in the 
wooded area (Lady Greene’s Plantation) which has been filled in. However, he has 
advised that the risk from this is very small and that he does not object to it if 

Page 189



conditions are imposed requesting that the works on site be carried in line with the 
applicant’s contamination report.  

 
81. As the site is currently a field, subject to agricultural practices which could have 

included the spraying of crops with chemicals in the past, and part of the site appears 
to have been subject to historical landfill waste, a contaminated land report has been 
submitted to the council for consideration. The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer 
in the Environmental Health team has reviewed the report and has advised that 
subject to the imposition of conditions, he does not object to the scheme. Therefore, 
it is considered that it is in compliance with paragraph 121 of the NPPF. 

 
82. Having regards to the above it is considered that the proposal complies with the 

requirements of paragraph 112 of the NPPF in terms of agricultural land, its effects 
on Priority Species can be mitigated and the landscaped areas within the site can be 
adequately maintained in the future to protect their biodiversity value.  

 
Heritage Issues (The Setting Of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
83. Both the NPPF and Core Strategy place significant emphasis on safeguarding 

heritage as an important component of sustainable development.  
 
84. With reference to the treatment of the submitted application, the Council embraces its 

statutory duties and responsibilities in relation to listed buildings, notably the general 
duties undersections 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 which requires the local planning authority to have “special regard to the 
desirability of preserving [a] building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 

 
85. Recent case law on the application of the statutory duty acknowledges that the 

consideration of the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset is a matter for its own planning judgement, but that the 
Local Planning Authority is required to give any such harm considerable importance 
and weight. However, where special regard to the desirability of preserving heritage 
assets has been paid and no harm is considered to be posed, the ‘balancing’ of harm 
(which should be given considerable weight as above) against public benefits as 
required by the NPPF, is not engaged.  

 
86. Policy HB1 (Protection of Historic Buildings) places a high priority on the protection of 

the character and appearance of historic buildings, particularly the setting of Listed 
Buildings. 

 
87. In paragraph 17 of the NPPF it makes it clear that development should “conserve 

heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations”.  
Para 131 goes on to state that “In determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of; the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the desirability of 
new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.”  Furthermore Para 132 states “When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. As 

Page 190



heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 
convincing justification.” 

88. Objections have been received to this scheme by members of the local community 
and by the Suffolk Preservation Society on the basis that the proposal is harmful to 
the setting of Manor Farm Barn which is grade II* listed and the converted barns to 
the north of this building which are also grade II listed. Manor Farm lies to the east of 
this site and is separated from the site by another field which has a hedgerow along 
its boundary running north south from Norton Road. The Preservation Society 
acknowledge that the impact on the listed building is considered to be less than 
substantial harm, but they would like to see the Council consider the impact to be 
significant when assessing this proposal.  

 
89. Historic England and the Council’s Heritage Officer have been consulted on the 

application. Historic England has raised concerns about the effect of the proposal on 
the significance of Manor Farm House as the loss of the agricultural land would result 
in the diminution of its context and setting as a farm house in an agricultural 
environment. However, they have not objected to the scheme and pass on the 
decision of what level of harm to apportion to this scheme to the council. 

 
90. The Council’s Heritage Officer has considered this proposal and he has not objected 

to the scheme. He makes the point that Manor Farm does not succeed an earlier 
building on site and that it is not as old as you would expect and as such its 
agricultural surroundings make a less important contribution to its significance than 
would be the case for a traditional farm house. He further adds that the barn complex 
which is also listed has been converted to residential and development relating to the 
keeping of horses has also occurred on site which further erodes the agricultural 
character of the land between the buildings and this site.   

 
91. The Heritage Officer goes on to explain that in his opinion, the change from farmland 

to residential and school use would represent a degree of harm in the spacious rural 
setting of the listed buildings, but because of the factors referred to above the level of 
harm resulting to the significance of the listed buildings is considered to be low. In 
accordance with NPPF paragraphs 129, 132 and 134 in determining this proposal the 
Council needs to consider whether this harm can be avoided or minimised, and 
whether it is justified in terms of public benefits. The Historic Offer also asks whether 
the layout of the site can be altered to allow for a strong green buffer along the 
eastern boundary of the site which would serve to sustain a more rural character in 
the setting of the listed building.  

 
92. The applicant has had to amend his layout to take account of the need to alter the 

position of the new school and he has taken the opportunity to strengthen the 
landscaped boundary on the eastern side of the site in line with the comments of the 
Heritage Officer to help to minimise the impact of the scheme on the adjacent listed 
buildings.  

 
93. Having regards to the above, it has been identified that the proposal will cause less 

than substantial harm to the adjacent listed buildings, including the Church of St 
Peter, with the Council’s Heritage Officer assessing the level of harm with the 
mitigation proposed to be low. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF requires the Council to 
weigh the harm (regardless of what level it is assessed at) against the public benefits 
of the scheme. It is considered that as the Council does not have a 5 year supply of 
housing as required by paragraph 47 of the NPPF that the proposal will help to 
contribute towards this deficit by providing up to 200 new dwellings which will provide 
public benefit. The scheme will also deliver 35% of the dwellings as affordable 
houses to help to meet the need in the locality and further contributions which cover 

Page 191



matters such as a new primary school and pre-school facility, the provision of land for 
the primary school as well as the provision of CIL money to facilitate a bid for 
improvements to the doctor’s surgery, local library and safety works at the Thurston 
Railway station. The scheme will also contribute towards improvements to the 
highway network in and around Thurston to ensure that the road network remains 
safe for its users. The scheme will bring with it public benefits also in the form of 
construction related jobs and also additional residents to help sustain and grow local 
services and businesses.  
 

94. As such, it is considered that the public benefits of this scheme are such that 

outweigh the less than substantial harm that has been identified to the setting of the 

listed buildings and, therefore, the scheme can be supported on heritage grounds. 

95. As there are 5 different applications for major housing development in the northern 
part of Thurston, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked to consider the 
cumulative impact of this scheme in relation to the others. Of the 5 applications, the 
application by Hopkins Homes for 175 homes on land adjacent to this site 
(application 2798/16 and appeal 5010/16) lies to the north of the Hopkins site and in 
combination with each other both schemes will have a cumulative impact on the 
setting of the listed buildings. It is considered that the other 3 sites are too far 
removed from the listed buildings to cause impact and as such, the Heritage Officer 
has been asked to consider the cumulative impact of the Hopkins and Pigeon 
scheme together on the listed building previously referred to. He has stated that in 
his opinion the cumulative harm to the Grade II* Listed farm house would not be 
greater than medium and the harm to St Peter’s Church would be somewhere 
between low and medium and as such it is up to officers in line with the NPPF to 
assess if the harm to the listed buildings is outweighed by the public benefits that the 
scheme brings as outlined in paragraph 134 of the NPPF.  

 
96. The public benefit of this proposal when considered on its own is highlighted above, 

but when the above is considered cumulatively with the adjacent Hopkins site, which 
will also deliver additional houses, contributions towards a new school, including 
pre-school, highway infrastructure contributions and also provides CIL money to 
facilitate bids for library, doctor’s surgery and railway station improvements, it is 
considered that the cumulative benefits of both schemes outweigh the low to medium 
harm that the proposals will have on the heritage assets identified in this report. 

 
Environment And Flood Risk 

 
97. Paragraph 100 of the NPPF makes it clear that inappropriate development in areas 

of flood risk should be avoided by directing development away from areas of highest 
risk. The contents of policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy is in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF in terms of flood risk and carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. In terms of flooding from rivers, the site complies 
with local and national policy as it lies in a flood zone 1 area which is land at least 
risk of flooding. To deal with surface water, the applicant is proposing a pond filled 
with reed within the north east corner of the site with the surface water flow from the 
site channelled into it. 

 
98. Objections have been received raising concerns that the development of the site may 

cause localised floods in the area. Anglian Water and the County Flood and Water 
team have been consulted on this proposal and both organisations have advised that 
they do not object to the scheme subject to the imposition of a condition requiring 
additional technical details relating to the submitted drainage strategy. 

Page 192



 
99. Due to unprecedented level of growth currently suggested for Thurston, the 

Environment Agency, County Flood and Water team and Anglian Water have been 
specifically asked to consider the cumulative impact of this proposal on drainage, 
flood risk and water supply grounds. They have advised that an increase of 827 
dwellings with the mitigation measures proposed by the applicants will not increase 
flood risk in the locality to an unacceptable level. Confirmation has also been 
received that there is capacity in the local pumping station to serve 827 new 
dwellings in terms of sewage needs. Thurston lies in an area where water supply can 
be an issue, however Anglian Water has a duty by law to supply new houses with a 
water supply and this is a matter for them to resolve under their legislation. 

 
100. Having regards to the above, it is considered in terms of flood risk, drainage, water 

supply and drainage that the scheme when either considered singularly or 
cumulatively can be made acceptable subject to the imposition of a suitably worded 
condition to meet the requirements of paragraph 100 of the NPPF and policy CS4 of 
the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy. 

 
Infrastructure -  Planning Obligations / CIL contributions 
 
101. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that the local 

infrastructure, which includes the local schools and health care, is insufficient to meet 
the need of the residents of this proposal. Comment has been made that if the 
scheme is approved without suitable provision, then it will cause significant impact on 
the existing community of Thurston. 

 
102. The Council has now implemented CIL which accordingly takes on board 

requirements such as open space contribution, NHS and education contributions.   
 

103. As part of this proposal contributions can be sought under the Council’s CIL Scheme 
for improvements to the following: 

 

 For the future expansion of the doctor’s surgery in Moreton Hall which the 
residents of this scheme would use. 

 For improvements to the local library provision. 

 Safety improvements to the Thurston Railway station. 
 
104. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that a new doctor’s 

surgery will not be provided and that the scheme will only provide ‘contributions’ 
rather than actual facilities. It should be noted that the Primary Care Trust (PCT) has 
made it clear that due to the existing situation with doctors, their salaries and 
contracts and the government’s policy in terms of the NHS that a new doctor’s 
surgery will not happen in Thurston as part of any of the 5 schemes. The PCT will be 
requesting contributions through CIL in relation to all 5 schemes and the monies will 
be used to improve the service offered and/or improve the facilities at the Woolpit 
Surgery and at the Park Farm Surgery in Moreton Hall to meet the expected needs of 
the additional residents of the new dwellings in Thurston. The PCT has not referred 
to the Ixworth Surgery in their consultation responses as suggested that they should 
by an objector, but are satisfied that the demand from Thurston can be 
accommodated at the Park Farm and Woolpit surgeries.  

 
105. An objection has also been received on the basis that the scheme will put more 

pressure on the emergency services in the area. However, it must be remembered 
when additional dwellings are built, these become the subject of Council tax. The 

Page 193



emergency services levy precepts as part of the Council Tax and these will be used 
towards providing a level of service that is needed to cater for the needs of the 
residents of the new housing developments.   

 
106. It has been identified following discussion with the County Infrastructure Officer that 

as suggested by the objectors and the Parish Council, there is no capacity in the 
local primary school to expand and as such a contribution of £82,450 is required 
towards the building of a new 420 place two form primary school either on this site or 
the persimmon site elsewhere in the village. It has also been suggested that a further 
£166,660 is required for the provision of new pre-school, which will be 
accommodated at the new school to help meet the demand generated by this 
development. As the CIL 123 list does not include the provision of new pre-school or 
primary school facilities (it only covers extensions to existing establishments) these 
contributions will have to be sought under S106 of the Planning Act and the applicant 
has agreed to the above payments. This application is one of two in Thurston at 
present which is proposing to include land for a new school as part of its proposal for 
residential development and the County Council is working with both developers to 
secure both sites. The County Council will decide which of the two sites it prefers in 
terms of accessibility and the County has confirmed that it will return the site that it 
doesn’t want to the developer for them to consider in discussion with the Council 
what may be appropriate to go on this land. The Pigeon application proposes a 3 Ha 
site for primary and pre-school purposes thereby providing the required 2.2 hectares 
required for a 2 form entry primary school with pre-school and an additional 0.8 
hectares to cater for any future expansion.  

 
107. Whilst the new school is being built, it has been suggested that the existing school 

will be provided with two temporary classrooms funded via CIL to cope on a 2 to 3 
year period with the increase in pupils generated from the first phase of new 
housebuilding in Thurston (from any of the 5 sites currently under consideration) until 
the new school is built. Once that happens, the existing school will be closed and the 
existing pupils moved over to the new school and the new school will be extended as 
appropriate up to a capacity of 420 pupils to accommodate the primary school age 
children arising from any of the proposed housing sites in Thurston. It is understood 
that the Diocese who own the primary school have committed to investing the capital 
receipt that they receive for the development of the existing school site into the new 
school which is also to be funded by a joint contribution by all 5 of the developers 
proposing major housing schemes currently in Thurston. 

 
108. Following further dialogue with the County Obligations Manager it is understood that 

progress is being made to secure options on the potential school sites proposed in 
other applications. The delivery of a new primary school is a necessary pre-requisite 
to mitigate the potential pressure on education infrastructure from the development 
and it has been agreed that a restrictive phasing condition is not necessary given the 
progress that has been made on options. Nevertheless the securing of a primary 
school site is a material consideration upon which the delivery of this development is 
predicated. 

 
109. The County Council has confirmed that there is capacity at all of the catchment 

secondary schools in the locality and as such a contribution is not warranted in that 
instance.  

 
110. As is the case for new education buildings, affordable Housing is not part of CIL and 

members should note that policy to seek up to a 35% provision remains in effect. The 
applicant has confirmed that he is agreeable to provide a policy compliant scheme for 
affordable housing and that this will be achieved via a Section 106 contribution. 

Page 194



 
111. Network Rail has been consulted on this scheme and has asked for a contribution of 

£1million through a S106 agreement between all five developers to close the existing 
level crossing and to provide safer and improved facilities at Thurston Railway 
Station having regards to the increased use of the facilities that will occur from the 
residents of the proposed 827 dwellings. The Council’s CIL 123 list includes provision 
for improvements to transport infrastructure. As such it is considered that it would be 
appropriate for Network Rail to bid for the specified amount to make the 
improvements they have requested to improve pedestrian safety at the station under 
the CIL scheme. 
 

112. The Local Highway Authority has, as stated earlier in the report, asked for £131,868 
under section 106 of the Planning act (with Travel Plan contributions in addition to 
this) to pay for Pigeon’s part of the contribution for works to the highway 
infrastructure to ensure that the impact of approving all 5 housing schemes totalling 
827 houses in Thurston is not severe on the highway network as referred to in 
paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 

 
113. It is noted that within the application site there are large expanses of open space and 

landscaped areas and concerns have been received from local residents over how 
these will be maintained. This will be done via a S106 agreement whereby the 
developer has to employ a management company to look after this land. None of it is 
to be transferred to the Council or the Parish Council as part of this or any of the 
other 4 schemes. 

 
114. Having regards to the above, in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations, 2010, the obligations recommended to be secured above by way of a 
planning obligation deed are (a) necessary to make the Development acceptable in 
planning terms (b) directly related to the Development and (c) fairly and reasonably 
relate in scale and kind to the Development.   

 
Other Issues 
 
115. Objections have been made to this scheme on the grounds that some of the 

residents of the existing dwellings will lose their views of the surrounding open 
countryside and all of the new housing schemes together will drive down local house 
prices. The law courts have determined that these objections are not material 
planning considerations and they cannot be used in making a decision on this 
scheme. 

 
Details Of Financial Benefits / Implications (S155 Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
 
116. Council Tax payments from the dwellings when built 
 Planning Delivery Grant from Central Government for delivering the dwellings 
 S106 Agreement: 

o £821,450 is required towards the building of a new primary school in 
Thurston.  

o £64,700 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 
o £166,660 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston 
o £131,868 is required for highway infrastructure works 
o Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per annum for a 

minimum of five years or one year after occupation of the final dwelling, 
whichever is longest.  

o Travel Plan Implementation Bond. 

Page 195



o CIL payments per dwelling built on site. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
Planning Balance 
 
117. The proposal for residential development on land at Meadow Lane/Norton Road in 

Thurston is considered to be contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy as 
the application site lies within the countryside outside the built framework of the 
settlement of Thurston on what is open agricultural land.   

 
118. However, as the housing policies in the Core Strategy are out of date due to the 

Council not having a deliverable five year supply of housing, this scheme falls to be 
considered in relation to paragraph 14 and 49 of the NPPF which relate to residential 
development and sustainable development.  

 
119. Paragraph 14 states that where the development plan for the area is out of date 

permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF as a whole or specific policies in the NPPF which indicate that 
the development should be restricted. Whilst it has been identified that the proposal 
either when considered on its own or in combination with the four other residential 
schemes that are with the Council for consideration will have an adverse impact on 
the quality of the landscape character of the area, and that it will result in the 
irreplaceable loss of countryside and has a low impact on the setting of listed 
buildings in the locality and have a potentially severe impact on parts of the highway 
network, it is considered that the benefits that the scheme brings such as the 
provision of 200 new housing of which 35% of them will be affordable,  contributions 
towards local infrastructure such as the highways improvements, provision of open 
space and the new school that the appellant has agreed to contribute towards 
outweighs the negative issues. 

 
120. Significant weight must also be given to the fact that there are no objections from the 

Council’s consultees to the scheme. In relation to highway safety, the applicant has 
agreed to contribute towards mitigating the severe impact of the scheme. There are 
no objections in terms of design; crime prevention; amenity; pollution; contamination; 
ecology; landscape; flood risk and drainage. The proposal will also help to deliver 
construction jobs and will also provide more residents who will helps to sustain and 
potentially grow the local economy.  

 
121. In relation to highways impacts there are road safety impacts which can be 

addressed through mitigation at Fishwick Corner and other highways infrastructure 
improvements which weigh in favour of the scheme by providing enhanced 
sustainable links.  

 
122. There remains a road safety and capacity issue at the A143 Thurston Road junction 

(adjacent to The Bunbury Arms). A number of solutions have been investigated and 
the current preferred solution is traffic signals. The highway authority consider that 
the effects of the development can be mitigated but further detailed work needs to be 

Page 196



undertaken to obtain the most practicable and viable solution to address the risks. 
For this reason Committee is asked to reach a “minded to” resolution which reserves 
the local planning authorities position pending the outcome of that detailed further 
investigation and junction design. Once the outcome of this investigation is known 
the application can be reported with a substantive recommendation to Committee. 

 
123. Therefore, it is considered having regards to paragraph 14 of the NPPF that the 

benefit the proposal brings outweighs the negatives. Furthermore, when assessing 
the proposal against the NPPF it is not contrary to its requirements as a whole and 
there are no specific policies within it that would restrict this development and as 
such it is considered that it constitutes sustainable development which should be 
approved planning permission without delay in line with the requirements of 
paragraph 14. 

 
Statement Required By Article 35 Of The Town And Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 
124. When determining planning applications The Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 requires Local 
Planning Authorities to explain how, in dealing with the application they have worked 
with the applicant to resolve any problems or issues arising.  

 
125. In this case the planning authority has worked with the applicant to overcome 

highway objections to the scheme and to clarify issues relating to drainage and 
impact on listed buildings. 

 
Identification of any Legal Implications of the decision 

 
126. There are no known legal implications derived from the determination of this 

application. 
 

127. The application has been considered in respect of the current development plan 
policies and relevant planning legalisation.  Other legislation including the following 
have been considered in respect of the proposed development.  

 
-  Human Rights Act 1998 
-  The Equalities Act 2012 
-  Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
-  Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (any rural site) 
-  The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
-  Localism Act 
-  Consideration has been given to the provisions of Section 17 of the Crime and 

Disorder Act, 1998, in the assessment of this application but the proposal does 
not raise any significant issues.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Committee express a “minded to” resolution, subject to the further investigation and 
reporting back of highway matters in relation to the A143 Thurston Road junction, on the 
following basis: 
 
That the authority would be minded to delegate to the Corporate Manager - Growth & 
Sustainable Planning to grant full planning permission subject to the prior completion of a 
Section 106 or Undertaking on terms to his satisfaction to secure the following heads of 
terms: 

Page 197



 

 £821,450 is required towards the building of a new primary school in Thurston.  

 £64,700 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

 £166,660 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston  

 35% Affordable Housing to be transferred over to a Registered Provider 

 To secure the provision of public open space to be managed by a dedicated 
management company 

 £131,868 to secure off site highway improvement works as listed below: 

 
o Improvements to PRoW Thurston 001 between Meadow Lane and Ixworth 

Road. A contribution of £7111 on commencement of the 100th dwelling.  
 

o Improve PROW 007 (un metalled) north of Meadow Lane. A contribution of 
£16500 in commencement of the 100th dwelling. 

 
o Contribution towards extension of speed limit on Norton Road. A contribution 

of £4267 on commencement of any construction work on site.  
 

o Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at Norton Road 
/ Station Hill / Ixworth Road junction. A contribution of £21838 on occupation 
of the first dwelling. 

 
o Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston 

Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton. A contribution of £69,528 
on commencement of any construction works on site. 

 
o Contribution towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 

Thurston Road / C693 New Road. A contribution of £12624 on 
commencement of the first dwelling.  

 

 To secure a travel plan in connection with the scheme detailed as follows: 

o Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 
annum for a minimum of five years or one year after occupation of the final 
dwelling, whichever is longest.  This is to cover Suffolk County Council officer 
time working with the Travel Plan Coordinator and agreeing new targets and 
objectives throughout the full duration of the travel plan 

 
o Travel Plan Implementation Bond – To be confirmed when a detailed 

application/Travel Plan is submitted.  This will be used to cover the cost of 
implementing the travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to deliver it 
themselves 

 
o Full Implementation of the Travel Plan and its monitoring. 

 
o Provision of an approved welcome pack to each dwelling after first 

occupation. 
 

o Securing remedial travel plan measures if the agreed travel plan targets are 
not achieved 
 
 

 Provision of Skylark Mitigation 

Page 198



 Setting up of a management company to look after the open space and Sustainable 
Drainage parts of the scheme. 

 
and that such permission be subject to the conditions as set out below: 
 

1) Two year time limit for submission of reserved matters (as opposed to the usual 3 
years) 

2) Reserved matters (outline) 
3) Existing tree protection 
4) Construction management agreement 
5) External lighting 
6) Commencement period for landscaping 
7) Protection of birds during construction period 
8) Works to be carried out in line with the ecological report. 
9) Archaeology 
10) Highway Conditions (covering site access and public highway, internal highway 

layout, footpath and cycle connectivity) 
11) Surface water drainage 
12) Implementation in line with recommendations of the ecological report. 
13) Fire Hydrant requirements 

 
 
 

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



Slide 1 

Application No: 

 

Address: 

5070/16 

Land At Norton Road 

Thurston 

P
age 201



Slide 2 

Verbal Updates: 

 

- Confirmation and summary of any 3rd Party 

representations received not previously issued to 

members.   

 

- Confirmation and summary of any consultee 

responses received not previously issued to 

members 

 

- Confirmation of any changes to recommendation, 

conditions or reasons.   

P
age 202



Slide 3 

Pigeon 

Settlement 

limits 

Settlement 

limits P
age 203



Slide 4 Site & Constraints Map 

P
age 204



Slide 5 Illustrative Masterplan 

P
age 205



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Committee Report     

 

Committee Date: 12th July 2017 

  

Item No:  Reference: 4386/16 
Case Officer: Dylan Jones 

    

 

Description of Development: Erection of 138 dwellings including the 

construction of a new vehicular access and provision of cycle/pedestrian 

link to Barton Road together with the provision of road and drainage 

infrastructure, landscaping and open space. 

Location: Land on the west side of Barton Road, Thurston IP31 3NT 

Parish: Thurston  

 
Ward: Thurston & Hessett  

Ward Members: Councillors Esther Jewson & Derrick Haley 

 

Site Area: 5.26 

Conservation Area: No 

Listed Building: Manor Farm, Grade 2* listed and Grange Farmhouse, Grade 2 Listed. 

 

Received: 26/10/2016  

Expiry Date: 30/06/2017 

 

 

Application Type: Full Planning Permission 

Development Type: Smallscale Major Dwellings 

Environmental Impact Assessment: Schedule 2 development – EIA not required. 

 

Applicant: Bovis Homes Ltd 

Agent: Artisan PPS Ltd 

 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED FOR CONSIDERATION 

 

The defined Red Line Plan for this application is drawing number THU-P-000 received on 
the 26th October 2016.  This drawing is the red line plan that shall be referred to as the 
defined application site.  Any other drawings approved or refused that may show any 
alternative red line plan separately or as part of any other submitted document have not 
been accepted on the basis of defining the application site.   
 

Submitted Documents:  
 

Tree Constraints plan reference number LSDP 11341-01 Rev A dated 8th March 2017 

Planning layout plan reference number THU-P-001 received on the 26th October 2016 

Materials plan reference number THU-P-002 received on the 26th October 2016 

Page 317

Agenda Item 7d



Landscape proposals plan LSDP 11341-02A dated 8th March 2017 

House type drawing pack received on 8th March 2017 

Base planning unit reference number THU-P-001R received on the 8th March 2017 

Pumping station figure 4 received on the 8th March 2017 

Archaeology report received on the 26th October 2016 

Contaminated land and geotechnical study received on 26th October 2016 

Design and Access Statement received on 26th October 2016 

Ecological Appraisal received on 26th October 2016 

Flood risk assessment & drainage report received on 26th October 2016 

Planning statement received on 26th October 2016  

Transport Assessment received on 26th October 2016 and updated on the 8th May 2017 

 

The application, plans and documents submitted by the Applicant can be viewed online at 

www.midsuffolk.gov.uk via the following link: 

 

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessioni

d=C887C3AA8A7097BDD744785F295B92D6?action=firstPage 

 

Alternatively, a copy is available to view at the Mid Suffolk and Babergh District Council 

Offices. 

 

SUMMARY 

 

The proposal has been assessed with regard to adopted development plan policies, the 

National Planning Policy Framework and all other material considerations. The scheme is 

contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy; however, the Council cannot demonstrate 

a 5 year supply of housing and the scheme falls to be considered under paragraph 14 of the 

NPPF where the adverse impacts of the scheme have to be balanced against the benefits of 

the scheme to demonstrate that it constitutes sustainable development. Officers are 

recommending a minded approval of this application as it is considered to be sustainable 

development as the public benefits that the scheme will deliver (contributions towards a new 

school, pre-school, highway improvements, health provision, affordable housing and library 

facilities amongst others) are considered to outweigh the negative aspects of the proposal. 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 
 
 -  It is a “Major” application for residential land allocation for 15 or over  
  dwellings. 
 
 
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND  
 

 

1. This section details history, policies, advice provided, other legalisation and events 

that forms the background in terms of both material considerations and procedural 

Page 318

http://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/


background.     

 

History 

 
2. The planning history relevant to the application site is listed below.  A detailed 

assessment of the planning history including any material Planning Appeals will be 
carried out as needed in Part Three: 

 
    There is no recent planning history for this site. 
 
3. The following applications are also considered to be relevant to the consideration of 

this proposal as they represent the other major applications for residential 

development in Thurston that are currently with the Council for consideration: 

 

2797/16 Application for Outline Planning Permission (with all matters other than means of  

access reserved) for residential development of up to 175 dwellings with associated 

car parking, landscaping, public open space areas, allotments, and vehicular access  

from Sandpit Lane. The applicant is Hopkins Homes and this proposal is identical to  

appeal 5010/16. 

 
4942/16  Full planning application for the erection of 64 dwellings on land at 

Meadow Lane, Thurston. The applicant is Laurence Homes. 

 

4963/16  Outline application for the erection of up to 250 dwellings and associated 

infrastructure including the provision of up to 2.4ha of land for use by the 

Thurston Community College and the provision of land for a new primary 

school on land west of Ixworth Road, Thurston. The applicant is 

Persimmon Homes. 

 

5010/16  Outline Planning Application (with all matters other than means of access 

reserved) for residential development of up to 175 dwellings with 

associated car parking, landscaping, public open space areas, allotments, 

and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane and Norton Road (This case is at 

appeal for non-determination in the statutory period of 13 weeks for a 

major application). 

 

5070/16 Outline Planning Permission sought for the erection of up to 200 homes 

(including 9 self-build plots), primary school site together with associated 

access, infrastructure, landscaping and amenity space (all matters 

reserved except for access) on land at Norton Road, Thurston – The 

applicant is Pigeon Capital Management. 

 

The consideration of the cumulative infrastructure issues that this group of 

applications present has been explored in a collaborative, but without 

prejudice, working group including County and District Council Officers with 

the five respective applicants and their technical advisers. This has enabled a 

constructive and timetabled analysis of the proposals and their cumulative 

impact. 

 

Page 319



Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions 

 

4. None 

 

Details of Member site visit  

 

5. Members visited Thurston on the 13th June to look at this site and the four other 

residential development schemes that are currently with the Council for 

consideration. 

 

Details of any Pre Application Advice 

 

6. The applicant engaged with the Council and received pre-application advice on the 

principle of the development and its acceptability having regards to the fact that the 

Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing. 

 

 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
7. Summary of Consultations 
 
Great Barton Parish Council – Objects to this application on the following grounds: 

 The Transport Assessment fails to take into account the committed schemes in Burry 
St Edmunds, Ixworth and Stanton. These should not be ignored in making this 
decision. 

 The Transport Assessment also ignores other schemes coming forwards in Thurston 
and how cumulatively these will impact on the locality. 

 The TA suggests that alterations to the junction outside the Bunbury Arms on the 
A143 do not need improving. This is not the case as this junction clearly needs 
improving. 

 Thurston Community College is the catchment secondary school for Great Barton 
and it is currently at its capacity in terms of pupil numbers. Therefore additional pupils 
in Thurston will have a negative effect on the residents of Great Barton. 

 The boundary of the site is the parish boundary between Great Barton and Thurston 
and is rural in character and this proposal will change that to a more urban type 
character. 

 The proposal is contrary to the NPPF as there are more negatives associated with it 
than the positive aspects that it brings and as such it should be refused planning 
permission. 

 This proposal is undermining the plan making process in Thurston. 
 

Thurston Parish Council (which includes the comments of the Thurston 

Neighbourhood Plan Team)  

The Neighbourhood Plans Team has stated that it does not support this proposal for the 

following reasons:  

 This site has been considered by the Neighbourhood Plans Team for consideration 
as part of the neighbourhood plan and there are a number of issues with it which are 

Page 320



considered to be major. 

 Consider that the Neighbourhood Plan should be given some weight in the 
consideration of this proposal as it has been the subject of public consultation despite 
not allocating sites or proposing planning policies. 

 The speed of the submission of the applications in Thurston and the amount of 
dwellings proposed between the five undetermined applications and the Granary site 
will result in Thurston losing its ‘village feel’ and for it to become ‘a small dormitory 
town’. 
 

Specifically in relation to the Bovis scheme, the Neighbourhood Plans team raise the 
following points:  
 

 The scheme shows an unimaginative off the shelf design and fails to respond to the 
fact that it abuts the countryside and existing houses on the other. 

 Consider that the inclusion of 2½ and 3 storey dwellings at this point in the village is 
not in keeping with its character and appearance.  

 They consider that there is a need for better screening around this site to enhance it 
and to provide biodiversity opportunities. 

 The scheme does not reflect the character of the surrounding area as its density is 
too high and the majority of the dwellings are large 4+ bedroom properties and not 
the 1 and 2 bedroom properties which the local needs survey showed was needed. 

 The applicant has commented in his supporting documentation that the proposal will 
only have a limited impact on the surrounding highway network. This is clearly not 
going to be the case as the proposal will have a negative impact on junctions such as 
Fishwick and Pokeriage Corners and on the narrow bridge over the A14. There will 
also be a negative cumulative impact with the other schemes either approved or 
coming forwards in Thurston in terms of highway safety. 

 There are no proposals to put footways in from the site to the existing footpaths so 
that the residents can access the local school and shops. This would be an unsafe 
arrangement. 

 There has not been an assessment with this proposal of its impact on the local 
railway station, particularly in relation to the lack of car parking there. 

 Both the primary and the secondary schools in Thurston are at capacity and this 
infrastructure issue needs to be resolved in planning growth in Thurston in the future. 

 They also state that they are concerned about the type of affordable homes proposed 
and that the cost of these will not be ‘affordable’ to local people. 
 

Thurston Parish Council has objected to this proposal on the following grounds: 
 

 This proposal is outside the development boundary for Thurston, albeit adjacent to it 
but it is considered that the scheme would bring forwards dwellings that would be 
visually, physically and functionally isolated from the facilities and services offered by 
Thurston. 

 This is overdevelopment of the site and it should be limited to 50 dwellings in line 
with the requirements of the local residents. 

 The two storey dwellings that are proposed along the western and southern part of 
the site is no a feature of the surrounding area and as such, the scheme will fail to 
complement the character of the existing area. These properties should be replaced 
by single storey properties which would minimise the impact. 

 There are privacy issues in terms of loss of daylight and overlooking between some 
of the proposed dwellings where they face existing properties. 

 The proposal fails to protect the intrinsic character of the surrounding countryside. 
This is contrary to policy CS5 of the Core Strategy and policy FC1.1 of the Core 
Strategy Focused Review and policies H13 and H16 of the Mid Suffolk Local Plan. 

Page 321



 The density and mix of the housing as proposed fails to take into account the 
accommodation needs of the area. 

 The proposal is not considered to provide safe access for all as required in 
paragraph 32 of the NPPF. There are particular concerns with pedestrian and cycle 
facilities and the ability to integrate the scheme with local public transport. 

 The proposed single access point into the site is considered to be unsafe, particularly 
having regards to the fact that no paths along its edge into Barton Road are 
proposed. 

 The scheme will put additional users onto the public highway which will burden it and 
cause congestion and safety concerns at places such as Fishwick Corner, Pokeriage 
Corner, on the narrow bridge crossing Barton Road and Thedwastre Road and at the 
entry and exist points of the A14 at the junction of Thurston Road, Great Barton and 
the A143. 

 The Thurston Primary Academy and the Thurston Community College are at capacity 
and as such the local education infrastructure will not be able to cope with this 
development. This would be contrary to policy CS6 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy. 

 
The Parish Council has been consulted on the most recent amended site plan and they 
confirm that they still object to the scheme on the same grounds as previously raised. 
However they have clarified that they are now satisfied with the new access visibility splay 
arrangements as contained in the amended plan. 
 
MSDC - Environmental Health – Contaminated land – Does not object to the scheme on 
contamination grounds subject to the imposition of planning conditions. 
 
MSDC - Environmental Health – Public Protection – Initially raised concerns about the 
potential impact in terms of noise of a proposed foul water pumping station within the site on 
the living conditions of the existing and surrounding residents. The applicant has addressed 
this issue and the Public Protection Officer has confirmed that she no longer objects to this 
proposal. 
 
MSDC Heritage Officer – The site lies on agricultural land which is within the setting of 
Manor Farm which is Grade 2* listed and also Grange Farmhouse. 
 
The Historic Buildings Officer advises that due to the location of the site which when 
developed will read as an extension to the existing residential part of the village would cause 
no harm to the setting of the listed buildings referred to above. As such, he has no objections 
to this proposal. 
 
MSDC - Strategic Housing (Summary) – Advises that no objections are raised to the 
scheme as submitted as 35% affordable housing is proposed in line with the Council’s 
requirements. The strategic Housing Officer advises that the affordable housing requirement 
for the site is 48 affordable units. These are broken down as follows: 
 

Affordable Rent Tenancy = 48 units broken down as follows: 
 
Affordable Rent Tenancy = 36 units:  
 

 10 x 1b 2p flats @ 50sqm  

 2 x 1b 2p bungalows @ 50sqm  

 2 x 2b 4p bungalows @ 70sqm  

 16 x 2b 4p houses @ 79sqm  

 5 x 3b 6p houses @ 102sqm  

 1 x 4b x 7p house @ 115sqm  

Page 322



Shared Ownership = 12 units as follows:  
 

 8 x 2bed 4p houses @ 79sqm  

 4 x 3bed 6p person houses @ 102sqm 
 
MSDC Sustainability Officer – After the submission of additional information, there are no 
objections to this proposal on sustainability grounds. 
 
MSDC Tree Officer – Does not object to this proposal. However, he has commented if it is 
necessary to remove the well-established hedge along the site frontage as he considers that 
it will soften and integrate the development into the locality.  
 
He also makes the comment that plot 1 is too close to the important Beech Tree T4 and it is 
important to redesign that part of the scheme so that there isn’t a conflict between the tree 
and the plot. Following an altered layout which has moved plot 1 and its garage outside of 
the root zone for plot 1, the Tree Officer no longer has any concerns in relation to this 
proposal.  
 
SCC Archaeology – Does not raise any objections to this scheme as the site is not in an 
area with any archaeological potential. 
 
SCC Flood and Water management – Has objected to this scheme and asked for 
additional information to be submitted. The applicant has submitted the information and at 
the time of reviewing this report no progress had been received in resolving this matter. The 
committee will be updated at the meeting with the comments of the Flood and Water 
Management Officer. 
 
The SCC Flood Management Team has been asked to comment on the cumulative impact 

of 827 houses being proposed in Thurston and they have commented that they would expect 

all of the developers to design suitable sustainable drainage systems (which they all have). 

All of the 5 sites are in a flood zone 1 so they comply with national policy requirements. 

However, surface water drainage has historically been an issue in Thurston with soil 

conditions not being viable for water to drain away easily. Most of the surface water from the 

village is drained into the foul sewer system with the east part of the village having a surface 

water drainage system. It is understood that Anglian Water are considering options to 

improve capacity in the locality to help to prevent the flood events that have happened in the 

centre of the village in recent years.  

SCC Highways – The Local Highway Authority has provided two responses on this 
proposal. One deals with the cumulative impact of this scheme and the four others that have 
all been submitted in Thurston on the local highway infrastructure. The second response 
deals with the highway issues that are specific to this proposal. 
 
Cumulative impact - The Transport Assessments provided for the individual proposed 
developments show varying degrees of impact on the highway infrastructure. To date none 
have shown the cumulative impact of all five developments but at some locations the Local 
Highway Authority considers this may be severe, particularly where the network is already 
close to or exceeding capacity. Paragraph 21 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) states that planning policies should recognise and seek to address potential barriers 
to investment, including any lack of infrastructure and identify priority areas for infrastructure 
provision. Both SCC and MSDC are aware that paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that 
development should only be prevented on transport grounds where residual impacts of 
development as severe. The same statement allows decisions to be made taking account of 

Page 323



whether improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively 
limits the significant impacts of development. 
On this occasion, the Local Highway Authority consider that by taking a co-operative 
approach for all five developments there is an opportunity that the planning process can 
provide improvements to both mitigate against any severe impacts and any lack of transport 
infrastructure. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Congestion)  
The initial data and modelling provided in Transport Assessments indicates that the road 
network will experience additional traffic through growth and development and at some 
locations this will exceed the theoretical junction capacity. Those junctions that are or may 
exceed capacity are discussed below. 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
Modelling shows that this junction is already close to theoretical capacity in the AM peak with 
northbound traffic waiting to turn onto the A143 queueing on Barton Road and at capacity in 
the PM peak with Thurston bound traffic waiting right from the A143 into Barton Road. The 
additional traffic from the proposed developments in Thurston will exacerbate these 
problems; in particular, modelling shows the queueing traffic on Barton Road will exceed 
capacity in the AM peak.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
Modelling indicates that the southbound approach to the junction is currently close to 
capacity in the morning peak and that its capacity will be exceeded before all five 
developments could be delivered. However, in the PM peak the junction has the capacity for 
the predicted traffic for all developments.  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
The modelling of this junction shows some inconstancies with one study indicating it will be 
close to capacity southbound on Thedwastre Road in the AM peak due to traffic from one 
specific development but other modelling showing it would have capacity for the traffic 
generated by the developments. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Road Safety) 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
There have been three recorded crashes resulting in slight injuries and one involving serious 
injury at this junction in the last 5 years for which data is available (2012-2016).  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
There have been two crashes resulting in slight injuries at this junction in the past 5 years. 
  
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
At this junction there have been 9 crashes resulting in slight injuries and one resulting in a 
serious injury in the past 5 years.  
 
The frequency of injury related crashes at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / 
C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner) junction would, in the opinion of SCC, necessitates some 
work to improve road safety. Although the frequency of crashes at the A143 Bury Road / 
C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road does not justify significant road safety 
improvements it is a factor that should be considered in any future mitigation measures. 
 
Suggested Mitigation Measures 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  

Page 324



An assumption has been made that the junction can be signalised and that this will reduce 
congestion and improve road safety. Although there is a generous width of highway verge in 
the vicinity of the junction the geography of the site may place constraints on the design and 
further work is required to confirm that a solution is possible or beneficial. The proposed 
junction improvements would be delivered through a jointly funded S106 contribution.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
The issue of congestion on the southbound approach is difficult to mitigate as there is 
insufficient land within the highway boundary to provide a meaningful solution. It is noted that 
the road network around Thurston is relatively permeable and an option exists for traffic to 
avoid this by diverting onto Beyton Road and then turning right to approach this junction from 
the east. 
 
Several minor traffic management features such as improved signing, marker posts and high 
friction surfacing have been used at this junction in the past as crash reduction measures. 
Despite this, crashes causing injury continue to occur. To reduce the severity of these 
crashes it is proposed to restrict the road to 40mph and undertake local safety improvements 
such as enhanced road signs and markings. This would be delivered through a jointly funded 
S106 contribution.  
 
A longer term solution would be to remodel the junction or drastically remodel the road 
network. It is recommended these matters should be addressed in any future revisions to the 
Local Plan. 
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road 
The highway boundary constrains any improvements in this location and thus there does not 
appear to be any viable mitigation to increase capacity on the southbound Thedwastre Road 
approach. The relatively low number of crashes suggests that the issue of road safety is not 
as important as it is for the other two junctions and mitigation measures would only comprise 
low cost work, such as road signs and markings. 
 
Speed Limits  
It is noted that a number of proposed access roads are located close to or beyond the 
existing 30mph speed limit in Thurston. In some cases, assumptions have been made when 
determining visibility for these junctions that the 85%ile speed limits are or will be close to 
30mph. Developers are advised that the visibility requirements shall be designed for the 
measured 85%ile speed adjacent to the junction and not the posted or proposed future 
speed limit. A legal process must be followed to change or extend a speed limit and during 
this process objections can be made which can delay or stop creation of the necessary legal 
order. For this reason, Suffolk County Council cannot accept visibility splays based on 
changes to speed limits unless there is confidence that no significant objections to the traffic 
regulation order are likely.  
 
Based on the available details of the five proposed developments the following changes to 
speed limits are suggested; 

 
 Extend the 30mph speed limit north on Ixworth Road to Thurston Rugby Club  

 Extend the 30mph speed limit on Norton Road towards and beyond Church Road  

 Extend of 30mph speed limit on Barton Road west of Mill Lane  

 Create a new 40mph speed limit between and including the C693 Thurston Road / 
C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road and the C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston 
Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road for road safety reasons.  
 

Page 325



The necessary Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) could be raised individually or preferably as 
a single order. The latter is preferred as it reduces cost and administration. This can be 
delivered through site specific or joint S106 contributions. As stated above implementation of 
an order cannot be guaranteed and if a TRO is required to justify reduced visibility splay 
lengths then the order would need to be substantially complete before such a reduction 
would be accepted. If a process can be agreed between the parties’ initial consultation can 
be undertaken in advance of determination of the planning applications. 
 
Pedestrian and Cycling Infrastructure 
The benefit of considering all five applications together is that a coherent system of footways 
and pedestrian crossings can be delivered in Thurston. The proposed footways are intended 
to provide good, direct pedestrian access both to the main village and schools. The 
proposed improvements, most of which have already been proposed by individual 
applications, are listed below:  
 

 An uncontrolled pedestrian crossing on Norton Road between Meadow Lane and 
Station Hill / Ixworth Road.  

 A footway on west side of Ixworth Road between Norton Road and the entrance to 
Persimmon’s site  

 A footway link on Ixworth Road between the entrance to the Persimmon development 
and the entrance to the Thurston Rugby Club.  

 A controlled pedestrian crossing facility (e.g. a raised table junction with zebra 
crossing) if practicable at or adjacent to the Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road 
junction. Pooled contributions from all 5 developments are required for the County 
Council to deliver this.  

 A footway on the north side of Norton Road from Meadow Lane east towards Church 
Lane as far as the site boundary allows. This could be within the development and or 
on the highway verge.  

 An uncontrolled pedestrian on Norton Road crossing linking the Hopkins Homes and 
Pigeon sites  

 Meadow Lane resurfaced to improve cycle / pedestrian facilities (and maintain 
access to properties)  

 Provide a metalled footway on Church Road between Footpath 006 and the footpath 
link to School Lane. This will include provision of street lighting along this short 
section of footpath.  

 Provide two uncontrolled pedestrian crossings on Sandpit Lane to link the Hopkins 
Homes development to the main village  

 
With the exception of the pedestrian crossing facility at the junction of Ixworth Road, Station 
Hill and Norton Road, the above are expected to be secured by conditions or S106 
obligations as appropriate and delivered by the relevant development with S278 
(improvements to existing highway) or S38 agreements (if adoption as highway maintainable 
at public expense is desired) as appropriate. All the footways are expected to be metalled 
and where verge space allows provision for cyclists should also be considered. 
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW)  
It is proposed that a small number of PRoW are improved to provide alternative pedestrian 
links between the proposed developments and current and future school sites. These are 
improvements to:  
 

 Thurston Footpath 001 between Ixworth Road and Meadow Lane. It is proposed that 
this is to an all-weather standard, preferably a bituminous surface.  

 Thurston Footpath 018 between Ixworth Road and Mill Lane. This lies within the 
development site and the works can be secured by condition.  

Page 326



 Thurston Footpath 006 between Norton Road and Church Road. This lies within the 
development site and the works can be secured by condition. It is proposed that this 
is to an all-weather standard; preferably a bituminous surface as far as it is a safe 
pedestrian route to the site north of Norton Road.  

 New PROW link along southern boundary of the Bovis Homes site to join Barton 
Road  

 New PROW link from the site west of Barton Road to Heath Road, linking with Cycle 
Route 51.  

 Improve PROW 007 North of Meadow Lane (un-metalled). 
 
If diversion of a PRoW is likely it is recommended that discussions are held with the relevant 
SCC officer at an early state. 
 
Public Transport  
Improvements to public transport infrastructure will be limited to any site-specific works 
necessary as a result of each development through S106. All other public transport 
improvements are included in the CIL.  
 
The specific highway comments relating to this scheme only are as follows: 
 

 Site access - Visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m are proposed. The access is very close 
to the northern end of the existing 30mph speed limit and unless evidence is 
produced by the applicant a speed limit of 37mph should be assumed for design 
purposes and thus a 43m visibility splay would not be acceptable. He also comments 
that no swept path analysis has been provided for the entrance or within the site.   

 Highway drainage – The application shows permeable paving into the public 
highway which is not considered to be acceptable due to maintenance and 
replacement costs. The highway authority would also not accept the adoption of 
soakaways or other drainage features that are not within the proposed limits of the 
public highway.  

 SCC would prefer footway access to the far northern edge of the site to allow 
connectivity to the wider road and footway network and any footway should be 
metalled using standard materials and drained to allow all year use. 

 Landscaping - On the plans supplied it is noted that trees are shown in indicative 
positions. These are close to and overhanging the highway. Planting of vegetation 
that will or may in the future overhanging the road would not be permitted. Before 
that Highway Authority would consider a layout for an adopted road the applicant will 
need to agree details of such planting including how these would facilitate adequate 
street lighting and the risk of root damage mitigated. 

 Transport Assessment and Local Highway Infrastructure - The trip rates are 
judged to be robust and are accepted. 

 Transport Assessment and Local Highway Infrastructure - The trip rates are 
judged to be robust and are accepted.  

 Advises that figures showing the development impacts at each junction should be 
provided.  
 

A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton  

 The traffic survey data has not been provided for movements to and from arm D at 
the A143 / Thurston Road junction. These must be provided to check capacity 
assessment flows. Without this data it is difficult to see how the conclusions in Table 
7.2 were reached.  

 Traffic flow diagrams should be provided relate to the individual junction capacity 
assessments. These were not included in Appendix E in the Transport Assessment 
on the Mid Suffolk District Council planning portal.  

Page 327



 

 The modelling outputs have only been provided for the 2016 AM Base only. All 
scenario outputs should be provided so that assessed flows can be confirmed.  

 The on-site enumerator observed that Thurston Road (at the A143 junction) merged 
into one lane after 15m. This means that there is space for about 2.5 PCUs to queue 
adjacent to each other (left lane and right lane). It would be useful to support this with 
evidence with scaled plans or drawings as it appears to be optimistic based on our 
own observations as does the visibility from Thurston Road, particularly north 
towards Ixworth. This arm of the junction has been assessed as a two lane approach 
using the Junction 9 program. Guidance for this software states the following:  

 “On the minor road there may be one lane, two lanes, or one lane that widens into 
two lanes (“one lane plus flare”). If there are two full lanes extending back from the 
give-way line to beyond the normal maximum queue length, the arm should be 
modelled as having two lanes. At flared junctions, it is recommended for simplicity to 
firstly model the arm with two lanes in order to establish whether the normal 
maximum queue length extends back beyond the end of the flare.”  

 It needs to be confirmed that the normal maximum queue length does not extend 
back beyond the two lanes (2.5 PCU’s as above). If so, the junction should be 
assessed as one lane plus flare.  

 The tight radius for vehicles turning into Thurston Road has not been mentioned. 
From site observations the verge appears to be regularly over-run. Local anecdotal 
evidence (from the Parish Council) suggests this is result of use by school busses 
accessing the local schools.  

 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner) 
junction.  
 

 The proposed improvements to road safety are broadly accepted although the 
vehicle activated signs shown in drawing 146/2015/05 Rev P1 would need to be solar 
powered. A commuted sum would be needed to cover maintenance and final 
removal. As part of the cumulative impact study it is recommended that the speed 
limit is also reduced to 40mph.  

 
Proposed S278 works  
 

 Extension of footway along Barton Road along the site frontage. This will be secured 
by condition as necessary.  

 
Proposed S106 Heads of Terms  
 

 Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ 
C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton. A contribution of £47,975 is required on 
commencement of work on site 

 Contribution towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 
Thurston Road / C693 New Road including a 40mph speed limit on the C692 
Thurston Road. A contribution of £8711 is required at the commencement of the first 
dwelling.  

 Contribution towards extension of the 30mph speed limit on Barton Road west of Mill 
Lane. A contribution of £8000 is required on commencement of construction work on 
site.  

 Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at the junction of 
Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road. A contribution of £15,068 is required on 
occupation of the first dwelling.  

Page 328



 Creation of new Prow along the southern boundary of the site to Heath Road (Cycle 
route 51). A contribution of £34,000 is required on completion fo 50% ot the total 
number of dwellings. 

 Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per annum 
until five years have passed after occupation of the final dwelling.  This is to cover 
Suffolk County Council officer time working with the Travel Plan Coordinator and 
agreeing new targets and objectives throughout the full duration of the travel plan 

 Travel Plan Implementation Bond - £108,585 (based on SCC calculations on the 
estimated cost of fully implementing the travel plan for 140 dwellings).  This is to 
cover the cost of implementing the travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to 
deliver it themselves. 
 

The S278 and S106 proposals are based on the assumption of a collaborative approach 
between all 5 developers. If this site is determined as a stand-alone application these 
conditions and contributions would be re-assessed.  
 
The applicant has subsequently amended his site plan and has been in negotiations with the 
Local Highway Authority in relation to the access visibility splays to resolve the issues raised 
above. The Local Highway Authority has advised that they are now satisfied with the scheme 
and that the reminder of the matters can be covered by planning conditions and within the 
S106 agreement for the scheme. The Local Highway Authority has indicated that the cost of 
this will be £113,754 for the works required under S106 of the act (excluding travel plan 
costs listed above) and £40,000 for works under section 278 of the Highways Act. 
 
SCC - Obligations Manager: Comments that 138 new houses proposed in the scheme will 
have an impact on local infrastructure particularly in terms of education.  
 
Primary Provision 
The residents of the scheme will generate the need for 29 new primary school places and it 
has been advised that there is no capacity in the local Primary School which is the Thurston 
Church of England Primary Academy to accommodate this development and as such a 
contribution is requested towards a new primary school. As new schools cannot be provided 
through the Council’s CIL scheme (the 123 list only allows for extensions to schools and not 
new schools) a request is made for a contribution towards a new school under S106 of the 
planning act.  
 
A contribution for £476,441 as broken down below is require to meet education needs which 
will arise from this development: 
 

School level Minimum pupil 
yield:  

Required: Cost per 
place £  
(2016/17): 

Primary school 
age range, 
5-11*: 

29 29 16,429 

 
Land for new school 
A contribution for a further £37,526 is also requested to contribute towards the cost of the 

land to provide the school. This is worked out on a maximum cost of £100,000 per acre 
(£247,100 per hectare, which will be £543,620 for a 2.2 hectare site and equates to 
£1,294 per pupil place. For the proposed development, this equates to a proportionate 
land contribution of 29 places x £1,294 per place = £37,526 
 
Temporary classroom 

Page 329



The Obligations Manager has also advised that there will be a need for temporary 
classroom arrangements to accommodate the needs of the children that arise from this 
development. The existing primary school is on a very constrained site and an extension 
to the facility is not possible under Department for Education guidelines. However, it is 
advised that where extra pupils either through a spike in local population or from housing 
development cause a ‘bulge’ in the admission numbers, this can be accommodated by 
providing temporary classrooms. 
 
A double temporary mobile classroom providing 60 places could be located within the 
hard surfaced play and car park areas within the school for a period of no longer than 3 
years to meet the admissions ‘bulge’ which would be caused by this and other large 
housing developments in Thurston.  As the primary school is an academy whereby the 
County Council has limited control over its operation, agreement to the provision of the 
temporary building has had to be sought from the Academy board that runs the school 
and it is understood from the Obligations Manager, that agreement has now been given 
by them for this to go ahead. 
 
The temporary classroom will be facilitated via a CIL bid as it is classified as being an 
extension to an existing school in the Council’s 123 list. 
 
Secondary School and 6th form provision 
The Obligations Manager has commented that secondary and 6th form provision in the area 
is currently sufficient to accommodate the additional pupils which will be generated from this 
proposal as shown in the table below. 
 
Total primary education contributions: £513,967 
 
Restriction on occupation 

The Obligations Manager has also commented that as there are two residential sites in 
Thurston proposing a primary school site (application 5070/16 – Land on land at Norton 

Road, Thurston for Pigeon Capital and 4963/16 – Land west of Ixworth Road – 
Persimmon Homes) but neither application is approved yet, that the district council 
should consider imposing a planning condition restricting occupation of any dwellings 
once the capacity of the existing primary school with additional temporary classroom are 
full. This condition could then be discharged once the construction of the new primary 
school on whichever site has been chosen has commenced. 
 
Pre-school      

The Obligations Manager has also noted that there are currently 4 pre-school 
establishments in the locality (2 childminders, Thurston pre-school and Tinkerbells Day 
Nursery) and that spare capacity between them is only 10 spaces. Based on the scale of 
development currently being assessed in Thurston, the proposed legislative changes and 
the intention to establish a new primary school (with nursery provision), the most practical 
approach is to establish a new early education setting on the site of the new primary school 
which would be a 30 place setting, providing sufficient capacity for 60 children in total. Our 
latest estimates are that a 30 place early education setting costs £500,000 to construct on a 
site of approximately 630m2 (note: this includes outdoor play and parking). 
 
The Mid Suffolk Regulation 123 List indicates that new early years settings are not identified 
for funding through CIL. A proportionate contribution for this scheme would be based on 14 
children of the total 60 who would be accommodated within the new setting, could be 
calculated as follows (revised costs from a similar scheme in Suffolk):  

Page 330



 £500,000 construction cost (including land as collocated with the new primary school) 
for a new 60 place setting  

 £500,000/60 early years pupils = £8,333 per place  From 137 dwellings there is the 
need for 14 additional places  

 Therefore 14 pupils x £8,333 per place = £116,662 (2016/17 costs)  
 
Total contribution for all education provision - £630,629  
 
Other infrastructure contributions 
Requests a contribution of £29,808 towards library provision. This is requested under the 
Council’s CIL 123 list. 
 
SCC Public Rights of Way – Does not raise any objections to this proposal. 
 
Anglian Water – They have not objected to this proposal. They confirm that there is 
capacity in the catchment of the Thurston Water Recycling centre for wastewater treatment. 
They have not objected to this scheme on foul sewage capacity but have requested a 
condition is imposed if planning permission is granted for this scheme requiring details of the 
pumped rate of water that will be discharged from the site to the foul sewage network. 
Anglian Water advises that they do not wish to provide any comments in relation to the 
surface water drainage for the site. 
 
Ecology Officer, Essex Place Services – Advises that the site contains priority habitat in 
the form of hedgerow and it is likely to support priority species such as Bats, Amphibians, 
Reptiles, Hare, Skylark and potentially Hedgehogs. The Ecology Officer agrees with the 
recommendations of the applicant’s ecology reports and requests that conditions be 
imposed requiring the scheme to be completed in accordance with the recommendations of 
the report and that detail of lighting within the site is provided to the Council to ensure that 
the impact on ecology is minimised. The Ecologist notes that there will be an adverse impact 
on Skylarks if this site is developed and requests that a scheme is secured via a S106 
agreement to provide off site mitigation. This will be in the form of nesting plots on land away 
from the application site. 
 
Environment Agency – Does not object to this scheme on flood risk or on foul water 
grounds.  
 
They have also considered the cumulative impact of all 5 schemes together and they advise 
that none of the sites are in an area at risk of fluvial flooding. They also confirm that from 
their records there will be sufficient capacity in the Thurston Water Recycling Centre to 
accommodate all 827 dwellings. They have advised that Thurston lies in an area of ‘water 
supply stress’ by Anglian Water which has a duty under their own legislation to provide a 
water supply to new houses when they are built. 
 
Fire Service - County Fire Officer – They do not object to this proposal subject to the 
imposition of a condition relating to the provision of fire hydrants on site. 
 
Highways England: Does not raise any objection in relation to this proposal. 
 
Historic England – They have advised that there was no need for the Council to consult 
with them on this application. 
 
Landscape Consultant – Essex Place Services: Comments that the proposal will have an 
impact on the existing rural edge character of Thurston. 
 

Page 331



The Suffolk Landscape Character Assessment defines the site and the surrounding area as 
part of the Plateau estate farmlands landscape character type. Some of the key 
characteristics for the Plateau estate farmlands landscape character type are flat landscapes 
of light loams and sandy soils, large scale rectilinear field pattern, network of tree belts and 
coverts, large areas of enclosed former heathland and 18th- 19th & 20th century landscape 
parks. There is an expectation that many of these landscape principles will be designed into 
the emerging development proposals. 
 
As part of a site appraisal it is clear that the key sensitive edge is the southern and western 
boundary where the existing dwellings will overlook the proposed development. Elsewhere, 
views along the existing public rights of way will also be greatly affected. In this situation, it 
was advised that a Landscape Visual Appraisal was required to assess and address this 
issue. 
 
The applicant has subsequently submitted an LVIA and the Landscape Consultant is now 
satisfied with its contents and the mitigation measures proposed by the applicant. The 
Consultant has advised that there is a need for more information in terms of the landscaping 
scheme within the site and this can be achieved via the imposition of a landscaping 
condition. 
 

Natural England – They do not have any comments to make on this proposal. 
 
Network Rail – They have been consulted on the cumulative impact of building 827 new 
dwellings in Thurston on the railway station and the local railway network as requested by 
the local community. They state that the main issue is the Barrow Level Crossing at 
Thurston station which has historically seen a number of safety issues associated with it and 
the level of usage which would arise from the erection of the number of dwellings proposed 
would have a severe impact on safety unless mitigation measures are introduced. They 
indicate that their preferred option is to close the level crossing and replace it with a new 
pedestrian ramp from platform 1 (upside) down the embankment leading onto Beyton Road. 
This design will also need to include a drop off point/layby for vehicles along Beyton Road. 
They have advised that the cost of the works amount to £1million and should be shared 
proportionally amongst the developers. They are seeking this through a S106 agreement.  
 
When questioned, Network Rail has made it clear that the works that they propose to the 
crossing point at Thurston Station are directly related to the impact of the 5 planning 
applications and the 827 houses that would be built.  They have advised that the other 
works that they propose to close crossing points elsewhere on the same line are minor in 
nature and cannot be compared to this site as the other crossing points are not facing 
unprecedented levels of pedestrian use which would be generated from the proposed 
housing in Thurston.  
 
NHS/Primary Care Trust – The proposal will have an impact on the Mount Farm Surgery 
and there will be a need to either extend or reconfigure the building to meet the additional 
capacity requirements that will be generated if this proposal is approved. The PCT have not 
specified an amount that they require, but they have confirmed that they will be making a bid 
under the Council’s CIL scheme for the funding that they require to carry out the works they 
deem necessary to ensure that the facilities can meet the need that arises from this 
development. 
 
Ramblers Association – Does not object to this proposal as there are no public footpaths 
either within or adjacent to this site. 
 
St Edmundsbury Borough Council – Does not wish to make any comments on this 
proposal. 

Page 332



 
Suffolk Wildlife Trust – Raise the following points: 
 

 The hedgerow along Barton Road is species rich and the plans show this as being 
removed. It should be retained as a suitable buffer and also for biodiversity reasons. 

 There are bats on site and it is recommended that a condition is imposed on any 
planning permission requiring the developer to provide a lighting strategy which will 
minimise impact on the protected species on site. 

 The applicant’s ecology report highlights that the site offers potential nesting for 
Skylarks, brown hares and hedgehogs and mitigation is required for the loss of the 
habitat in the application site. 

 If approved, there needs to be a condition on the planning permission to ensure that 
the scheme is developed in accordance with the recommendations of the ecological 
report. 

 The scheme should also provide environmental/ecological enhancements. 
 
Representations 
 
8.      34 letters in total (one of these having been written by a planning consultant on 

behalf of 14 local residents who have signed it) have been received objecting to this 
proposal on the following grounds: 

 
 Highway safety 
 

 Barton Road needs to be altered to allow traffic to flow better, especially at its 
junction with Mill Lane.  

 Barton Road is not wide enough for this development and it can be seen on site 
that vehicles regularly take to the verge to pass each other which is unsafe. This 
will only get worse with further dwellings on site. 

 The proposed entrance into the site is only just within the 30mph speed limit and 
as such, vehicles will be approaching it at 60mph. This will not be safe. 

 There is traffic congestion along Barton Road at certain parts of the day and this 
causes safety issues. The applicant’s transport consultant considers this to be a 
traffic calming situation, but disagree with this strongly. 

 The local roads are inadequate and dangerous to cope with so many new 
dwellings and they are always in a poor state of repair which will be made worse 
by this proposal. 

 There are a number of dangerous junctions and pinch points in the area which 
will become more dangerous with the number of vehicles which will be generated 
by this development. 

 There are congestion and safety concerns with the junction near the Bunbury 
Arms and the A143 and additional houses will make that worse. 

 There are no footways to and from the site and as such this will make the 
scheme highly dangerous. 

 Thurston faces traffic congestion from people going to work and coming home. 
This will make matters worse. 

 The applicant’s trip generation figures aren’t accurate and there are more 
vehicles using the local roads than suggested. 

 Barton Road needs a speed camera to resolve the constant speeding that 
happens along there. 

 Not convinced that there is sufficient width on Barton Road to provide a footway. 
Either the road will have to be narrowed which would cause more issues, or the 
hedgerow which is species rich will have to be removed which harms 
biodiversity. 

Page 333



 The local bus service is poor and terminates early in the evenings.  

 The railway station has poor parking. Additional residents from this site using the 
railway station will increase the parking issues experienced.  

 
Infrastructure 
 

 This proposal will have a negative impact on water pressure in the locality. 

 The infrastructure for this proposal is limited and as such it should be refused 
planning permission. 

 The applicant is not proposing to do anything in this application to improve 
infrastructure in the locality. 

 This development will create excessive pressure on the local GP surgery as well 
as other NHS infrastructure in this part of Suffolk. 

 Public transport is inadequate in this part of Suffolk to allow sustainable travel 
methods to take place. 

 As the local infrastructure cannot be improved before this scheme is built, then it 
should be considered to be premature and it should be refused permission. 

 Neither the local primary or secondary school can accommodate the children 
from this development as they are at capacity especially when you consider that 
the children from the Granary site will be using the local schools also. 

 This application has only been submitted as the Council does not have an up to 
date development plan. Bovis should have waited until one was in place before 
submitting. 

 
Impact on the character and amenity of the area 
 

 The proposal will result in urban sprawl into the surrounding open countryside. 

 The proposal does not respect the style or the density of any of the neighbouring 
properties. It is an urban style scheme in a village environment and totally out of 
keeping. 

 The applicant’s landscaping scheme lacks detail. They need to provide more 
information before this application is approved, or via a planning condition if that 
is suitable.  

 It is very surprising that no landscape assessment report has been submitted 
with this application. 

 The house types do not reflect the local vernacular. The applicant is proposing 
the same dwelling type in a scheme in Yorkshire. Clearly, Suffolk and Yorkshire 
are not alike in terms of housing types and styles.  

 
Impact on residential amenity 
 

 Would like to see single storey dwellings backing onto Roman Way as these 
would be less intrusive in terms of their impact on the living conditions of the 
surrounding residents in terms of loss of daylight and sunlight. 

 There needs to be a fence erected between the proposed properties and those 
on Roman Way to protect the privacy of the occupiers of both sets of properties. 
As submitted, the plans do not show anything. 

 Street lighting from this proposal will be invasive and will have a negative impact 
on the surrounding locality and also on the amenities of existing local residents. 

 The dwellings will be too close to existing properties. There is a separation of 
only 25m between the proposed and existing properties. It should be 25m from 
dwelling to boundary and another 25m to the new dwellings and not as 
suggested by the applicant.  

 There are too many 2 storey properties along the boundary and not the 1 storey 

Page 334



properties that the applicant assured the ,local residents there would be. 

 The dwelling and garage to plot 54 will have a negative impact on the enjoyment 
of the garden of the property, 19 Heather Close. It should be moved further 
away. 

 The use of trees to provide privacy between properties is not a good idea as they 
may not grow and they may not be maintained if they do.  

 The trees between the garden boundaries should be maintained by the by 
developer even after the dwellings have been occupied to make sure that they 
provide the screening that was envisaged. 

 It is proposed that trees are to be planted to the rear of plots 50, 51, 52 and 53, 
but this would be on top of a sewage pipe and as such, that will never happen 
and they cannot provide the screening that is needed between the dwellings and 
the existing surrounding properties. 

 No details of street lights have been provided for this scheme. This needs 
consideration as if done wrongly; it could create an urban type environment and 
not a rural one as is the case at present. 

 If this scheme is approved, consideration needs to be given to remove the 
permitted development rights of the plots that face directly towards the existing 
dwellings that surround them. 

 There is only a hedge between plot 32 and the objector’s property and there is 
concern that this would not be sufficient to maintain security between the 
properties. 

 
Impact on wildlife/trees in the locality 
 

 The dense greenery in this site is misleading as the trees are deciduous and do 
not form a screen. They will also cause problems with shading and also leaf fall 
onto the new properties. 

 The trees will encroach into the root zone of many of the trees and cause harm 
to them. These dwellings need to be removed from this proposal. 

 The proposal does not have an environmental role as it will harm all of the 
wildlife that lives within the application site. 

 There are bats in the locality and additional lighting from the dwellings will impact 
on their habitats. 

 The applicant’s ecology report is completely inadequate as there are a number of 
species in the locality which will be affected by this proposal. 

 The application is misleading as it says that the hedge along the access point will 
only be partly removed in one report, but another says it will be completely 
removed. Which is correct? 

 There are trees in the gardens of some of the surrounding existing properties. It 
is hoped that these will not be destroyed as part of the build process for this 
scheme. 

 
Flood risk 
 

 Drainage is an issue in the locality. The development can only make matters 
worse. 

 
Policy issues 
 

 Whilst Thurston is one of 13 Key Service Centres in the Council’s development 
plan, it should not bear the brunt of the majority of housing for the district.  

 The development is outside the settlement limits for Thurston and as such it 
cannot be considered to be sustainable. 

Page 335



 This proposal ignores the 50 limit per housing site as suggested by the Parish 
Council in their neighbourhood plan. 

 The Neighbourhood Plan is at an advanced stage and not at an early stage as 
suggested by the applicant. 

 Question if the affordable homes proposed are truly affordable? 

 This proposal is not sustainable and the objector can’t see how it could ever be 
improved to make it sustainable. 

 Planning permission was refused for a similar scheme to this on this site in 1989 
on the grounds that it was outside the village envelope. 

 This proposal should not go ahead until the new Neighbourhood plan is issued. 

 Policy FC2 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy allocates 200 dwellings (100 on 
Greenfield and a further 100 on brownfield) for the next 5 years. There is 
therefore no need to permit more dwellings in the Key Service Centres which 
would lead to those figures being exceeded. 

 Why didn’t Bovis promote this site via the Neighbourhood Plan process? 

 This proposal has more negatives associated with it than positives and as such, 
when weighing up the scheme as required by the NPPF, it is considered that it 
should be refused planning permission as it does not constitute sustainable 
development. 

 There are 19 other sites which have been suggested in the neighbourhood plan 
consultation exercise and these sites are all better than this one. Furthermore, 
the applicant submitted this scheme just before the Parish announced the 
schemes they were putting forwards which is unacceptable.   

 The Council will be forced to approve this scheme due to unsatisfactory national 
policy. 

 
Ecology 
 

 There are Great Crested Newts in the ponds of 19 Heather Close and other 
gardens in the vicinity and this site is adjacent to the application site. Therefore, 
there must be newts also in the application site which will be harmed by this 
development. 

 The hedgerow within the site will also provide habitat for other ecology and this 
scheme will result in the hedgerow being removed which will impact on this 
habitat. 

 Where the hedgerows don’t currently exist, or where there are gaps in them, they 
should be planted to improve the ecological value of the site. 

 The applicant states that hedgerow H4 is poor. Disagree with this as it is full of 
species so it must be species rich and worthy of retention. 

 The scheme will impact on Skylarks in the locality. 

 The applicant states in his application that there are no protected or priority 
species on site. This is clearly wrong as species have been observed on site.  

 
Other issues 
 

 Would like the applicant to put on the house deeds that the trees proposed along 
the site boundary cannot be removed. Or if this is not possible, then it should be 
via a section 106 agreement. 

 There are not enough bungalows as part of this scheme and there is a need for 
more 2/3 bedroom properties as part of this scheme rather than the large 4/5 
bedroom properties as proposed. 

 There is nothing in the application about fixing the fence which always breaks 
between the site and Marley Close. 

Page 336



 This field is agricultural land and it will be lost forever if this scheme is approved 
and built.  

 This proposal will make Thurston a town and not the current village that it is. 

 The proposal will impact on property prices in the locality as a number of local 
properties have gone on the market since this application was submitted. 

 
Cumulative Impacts 
 

 The 5 sites in Thurston should be considered cumulatively and not singularly due 
to their linked impacts and they should also be considered having regards to the 
Granary site which already has permission. 

 There are too many houses proposed particularly when you take into account all 
of those in Bury St Edmunds which is only a short distance away from Thurston. 

 
A further letter of objection has been received since local residents have been notified of the 
date of the Referrals Committee. The objector has raised the same comments as 
summarised above with the addition concern that the scheme will increase the likelihood and 
fear of crime in the locality.  
 
The Site and Surroundings 
 
9. The application site lies in the village of Thurston which has a population of 

approximately 3200 people (2011 census) with the site being a parcel of grade 3a 
agricultural land which is 5.26 hectares in area. The field lies in the north western 
corner of Thurston and is relatively flat with just a gentle slope towards the northern 
corner of the site. Residential development exists to the south of the site and partly to 
the west (Furze Close and Heather Close) and to the east in the form of dwellings 
that back onto Barton Road and also include Marley Close. To the north is open 
agricultural countryside.   

 
10. The field is currently in agricultural use with a hedge along most of its boundary with 

Barton Road and also as a boundary between the site and the field to the north of the 
site. The western boundary towards the properties on Heather Close is formed by a 
mixture of hedging and domestic garden fencing as well as sporadic tree cover as is 
the boundary to the properties on Furze Close. The development known as Marley 
Close which lies in the south eastern corner of the site is surrounded on its western 
and northern elevation by a number of established trees which are with an existing 
wooden garden fence which forms the domestic boundary of this site with the 
adjacent field. 

 
11. Barton Road is mainly characterised by single storey bungalow type development in 

relatively spacious plots, although there are examples of two storey properties in this 
location. Furze Close and the residential street that travel from it to the edge of the 
application site is also characterised by bungalows. There is a mixture of smaller 
single storey bungalows in relatively small plots and the taller dormer style 
bungalows with their high steeply pitched roofs within larger plots and also 
bungalows which have been substantially extended over the years and appear 
dominant in the street scene. This pattern of development is also repeated on 
Heather Close which borders the site to the west.  

 
The Proposal 
 
12. Please note details of the proposed development including plans and application 

documents can be found online. 

Page 337



 
13. The applicant is proposed a full planning application for the erection of 138 dwellings 

on the application site. Access to the site is from Barton Road opposite the last 
property on Barton Road before the speed limit rises from 30mph to the national 
speed limit. The site is laid out with an estate road running though from the access 
point along the centre of the site with various spine roads coming from it. To the 
south of the site, the estate road loops around so that it connects with the main spine 
road in two locations. The estate road is a mixture of adoptable highway and private 
driveways. The site layout plan shows a central green area within the site which will 
be lined by trees and an open space area with a water feature in it adjacent to the 
boundary of the site with Barton Road.  

 
14. The proposed layout for the site shows a mixture of 4 and 5 bedroom properties 

along the northern boundary of the site which is separated from the adjacent field by 
their access road and a green landscaped area before the boundary of the site is 
reached. This gives a density of 26 dwellings to the hectare. 

 
15. The properties on the western boundary of the site facing the dwellings on Heather 

Close and Furze Close are a mixture of bungalows and the smaller 3 bedroom two 
storey dwellings. These are separated from the existing dwellings to their west by a 
distance of greater than 20m.  

 
16. The properties on the southern boundary of the site are again a mixture of bungalows 

and the smaller 3 and 4 storey properties within the site. The dwellings directly to the 
west of Marley Close are a mixture of 3, 4 and 5 bedroom two storey dwellings with 
the ones to the north of the Close being a mixture of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom 2 storey 
properties, but these face side on (west/east) rather than facing Marley Close 
(north/south). The reminder of the site is a mixture of 2, 3, 4 and 5 bedroom two 
storey houses with two blocks of apartments with 18 separate residences within 
them. The apartment blocks are the tallest properties on site and are a mixture of 2 
and 3 storey projections to create space internally.  

 
17. The applicant comments in his design and access statement that the properties are 

of a design and style that reflects the surrounding locality as does the palate of 
materials chosen, which includes plain mortar, coloured render, orange/red and 
occasionally buff bricks. They also comment that the roofing style and the roofing 
materials of the proposed dwellings also match the local vernacular.    

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 

 
18. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government's 

planning policies for England and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  
Planning law continues to require that applications for planning permission are 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  The policies contained within the NPPF are a material 
consideration and should be taken into account for decision-making purposes.   

 
19. The following parts of the NPPF are considered to be applicable to this scheme: 
 

Para 6: Achieving sustainable development  
Para 7: Three dimensions to sustainable development  
Para 11 – 15: The presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para 17: Core planning principles  
Paras 32 and 34: Transport movements  

Page 338



Para 47: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes (including the need to have a 
5 year deliverable supply of housing)  
Para 49: All housing proposals should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Paragraph 55: To promote sustainable development in rural areas. 
Paras 56 & 60: Requiring good design  
Para 64: Development of poor design must not be supported.  
Para 69: Promoting healthy communities  
Para 70: Delivery of social, recreational and cultural facilities that the community 
needs. 
Para 72: Provision of school places. 
Para 73: Access to high quality open space.  
Para 75: Protection and enhancement of public rights of way. 
Para 100: Development and flood risk  
Para 103: Development and increasing flood risk elsewhere  
Para 109: Planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment.  
Paras 112 & 117–119: Development affecting protected wildlife   
Para 123: Planning and noise. 
Para 125: Planning and darker skies. 
Paras 128 & 129: Describing the significance of a designated heritage asset. 
Para 131: Determining planning applications that affect heritage assets. 
Para 132: Significance of heritage assets. 
Para 134: Development and less than substantial harm 
Para 186: Approaching decision taking in a positive way. 
Para 187: Local Planning Authorities should find solutions rather than problems in 
decision taking. 
Para 196: Plan led planning system. 
Para 197: Assessing and determining application applying the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.  
Paras 203 -206 – Planning conditions and obligations. 
Paras 211 - 212: Using development plans and the NPPF in decision making.  
Paras 214 – 215: The weight attached to development plan policies having regards 
to their consistency with the NPPF.  
Para 216 – Weight given to policies in emerging plans 

 
CORE STRATEGY 
 
20. Core Strategy Focused Review 
 

FC1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
FC1.1 – Mid Suffolk’s approach to delivering sustainable development 
FC2 – Provision and distribution of housing. 

 
21. Core Strategy 
 

CS1 – Settlement hierarchy 
CS2 – Development in the countryside & countryside villages 
CS4 – Adapting to climate change. 
CS5 – Mid Suffolk’s environment 
CS6 – Services and infrastructure 
CS9 – Density and mix 

 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN / SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS /AREA 
ACTION PLAN 

Page 339



 
22. In 2013 Thurston received a neighbourhood plan designation and the settlement is 

currently working on its new neighbourhood plan. The plan is however at an early 
stage and as yet does not have any policies which could be used in the assessment 
and consideration of this proposal 

 
SAVED POLICIES IN THE LOCAL PLAN 

 
GP1 – Design and layout of new developments 
HB1 – Protection of historic buildings 
HB13 – Protecting ancient monuments 
HB14 – Ensuring that Archaeological remains are not destroyed 
H3 – Housing developments in villages 
H13 – Design and layout of development 
H15 – Development to reflect local characteristics. 
H16 – Protecting existing residential amenity  
H17 – Keeping new development away from pollution 
CL8 – Protecting wildlife 
CL11 – Retaining high quality agricultural land 
T9 – Parking standards 
T10 – Highway consideration in developments 
RT4 – Amenity open space and play areas within residential development 
RT12 – Footpaths and bridleways 
SB3 – Retaining visually import landscapes (with the land to the south of this site 
between it and the college being designated) 

 
Main Considerations 
 
23. From an assessment of relevant planning policy and guidance, representations 

received, the planning designations and other material issues the main planning 
considerations considered relevant to this case are set out including the reason/s for 
the decision, any alternative options considered and rejected.  Where a decision is 
taken under a specific express authorisation, the names of any Member of the 
Council or local government body who has declared a conflict of interest are 
recorded. 

 
24. The following are identified as the main considerations in assessing this application: 
 
The Principle Of Development 
 
25. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Councils to identify and 

update, on an annual basis, a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 
for five years’ worth of housing provision against identified requirements (paragraph 
47). For sites to be considered deliverable they have to be available, suitable, 
achievable and viable.  

 
26. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the 

local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites (as stated in paragraph 49 of the NPPF). Where policies cannot be considered 
up-to-date, the NPPF (paragraph 14) cites the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that planning permission should be granted unless i) any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or ii) 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted. The 
presumption in paragraph 14 also applies where a proposal is in accordance with the 

Page 340

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


development plan, where it should be granted without delay (unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise).  

 
27. The precise meaning of ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing’ has been the 

subject of much case law, with inconsistent results. However last month, the 
Supreme Court gave judgment in a case involving Suffolk Coastal District Council 
which has clarified the position. The Supreme Court overruled earlier decisions of the 
High Court and the Court of appeal in this and other cases, ruling that a ‘’narrow’’ 
interpretation of this expression is correct; i.e.it means policies identifying the 
numbers and location of housing, rather than the “wider” definition which adds 
policies which have the indirect effect of inhibiting the supply of housing, for example, 
countryside protection policies. However, the Supreme Court made it clear that the 
argument over the meaning of this expression is not the real issue. The absence of a 
five year housing land supply triggers the application of paragraph 14 of the NPPF. In 
applying the ‘tilted balance’ required by this paragraph, the Council must decide what 
weight to attach to all of the relevant development plan policies, whether they are 
policies for the supply of housing or restrictive ‘counterpart’ polices such as 
countryside protection policies.  

 
28. In accordance with National Planning Policy Guidance paragraph 030 (Reference ID: 

3-030-20140306) the starting point for calculating the 5 year land supply should be 
the housing requirement figures in up-to-date adopted Local Plans. It goes on to 
state that ‘…considerable weight should be given to the housing requirement figures 
in adopted Local Plans, which have successfully passed through the examination 
process, unless significant new evidence comes to light….Where evidence in Local 
Plans has become outdated and policies in emerging plans are not yet capable of 
carrying sufficient weight, information provided in the latest full assessment of 
housing needs should be considered. But the weight given to these assessments 
should take account of the fact they have not been tested or moderated against 
relevant constraints...’ 

 
29. The Council published the Ipswich and Waveney Housing Market Areas Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) in May 2017 which is significant new evidence 
for the emerging Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan. Therefore, the 5 year 
land supply has been calculated for both the adopted Core Strategy based figures 
and the new SHMA based figures. For determining relevant planning applications, it 
will be for the decision taker to consider appropriate weight to be given to these 
assessments and the relevant policies of the development plan. 

 
30. A summary of the MSDC 5 year land supply position is: 

 

 Core Strategy based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 

 SHMA based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 
 

31. The NPPF requires that development be sustainable, and paragraph 6 of the NPPF 
sets out guidance on what this means in practice by drawing attention to all of the 
policies from paragraph 18 to 219 of the NPPF. In some circumstances there is also 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development which is to be applied as set out 
in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This has been discussed above.  

 
32. Paragraph 7 of the NPPF sets out three dimensions for sustainable development, 

economic, social and environmental: 
 

"an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 

Page 341

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/


places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure:  

 
a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and 
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect 
the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and  

 
an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and 
historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change including moving to a low carbon economy."  

 
33. In light of all of the above, this report will consider the proposal against the policies of 

the development plan to determine if the development is in accordance with the 
development plan as a whole. If it is not, and there are policy conflicts, they will need 
to be weighed against other material considerations to see whether a decision which 
does not accord with the development plan is warranted, in the light of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and in the context of the authority 
not being able to demonstrate a 5 year land supply. 

 
Sustainability of the Proposal (including assessment against the development plan 
and the NPPF) 

 
34. The NPPF also provides (para 187) that “Local planning authorities should look for 

solutions rather than problems, and decision-takers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.  Local planning 
authorities should work proactively with applicants to secure developments that 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.” 

 
35. The Parish Council and some of the objectors have commented that this scheme 

should be refused as this proposal is outside and does not even abut the 
development limits for Thurston, in line with the policies contained in the adopted 
Core Strategy and Local Plan. Further, comments also suggest that housing 
numbers should be limited in Thurston. However, it is clear on reviewing the 
guidance in the NPPF that, as the Council does not have a five year supply of 
housing land, the housing delivery policies CS1 and CS2 of the core strategy, along 
with policy H7 of the Local Plan, should not be considered to be up-to-date. In this 
respect, refusing the application solely on the basis of the development being outside 
the development limits of Thurston, or seeking to cap the development that can be 
considered, would not sit comfortably with the requirements of the NPPF that look to 
consider the sustainability of the development in relation to the environmental, social 
and economic strands of sustainability. Furthermore, as the Council has a deficit of 
housing completions with the result that it is significantly short of reaching its 5 year 
supply target, a limit on new housing in any part of the district cannot be given until 
the deficit in completions is made up to the 5 year level. This is why the housing 
figures in policy FC2 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy is considered to be out of date 
and cannot be used to limit housing as suggested we do by an objector.  

 
36. In reaching a decision, paragraph 47 of the NPPF is a material consideration and 

requires Local Planning Authorities to boost significantly the supply of housing, by 
identifying and updating annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements, with an 
additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. As 
stated above, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and as 

Page 342



such paragraph 49 of the NPPF applies and states that in this situation, the relevant 
policies for the supply of housing in the Council’s adopted plan should not be 
considered to be up to date and that the scheme remains to be considered under the 
requirements of paragraphs 7 and 14 of the NPPF which defines what sustainable 
development is and how decisions should be made. 

 
37. The contents of paragraph 55 of the NPPF are also considered to be material in the 

making of a decision on this case. Objections have been received stating that this 
proposal should not be allowed as it is outside the settlement limit for Thurston and 
that the site should be considered as countryside. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF makes 
it clear that Councils can no longer consider sites that are adjacent or near to a 
settlement limit to be unacceptable simply because they are the wrong side of a line. 
It now makes it clear that ‘new isolated homes in the countryside will not be 
supported and that Councils are encouraged to promote sustainable development in 
rural areas by considering housing development in locations where they could 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. It gives an example in 
paragraph 55 that new housing could provide increased facilities in one settlement 
which would be of benefit to it and the other surrounding settlements.   

 
38. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the application site is not in an 

isolated location as it is adjacent to the built up part of the village with dwellings to its 
west, south and east elevations, and the scheme will bring with it contributions which 
will be of benefit to the residents of Thurston and the surrounding villages. Therefore, 
in terms of paragraph 55 of the NPPF, this proposal could be considered to promote 
sustainable development in a rural area. However, having regards to the fact that the 
Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing and has to balance the negatives 
of the scheme against the positives that it brings in line with the requirements of the 
NPPF, consideration of whether the scheme will be supported as sustainable 
development will be given in the conclusion to this report. 

 
39. An objector has commented that this scheme should be refused planning permission 

as a similar scheme on the same parcel of land was refused at appeal in 1989 and 
this has set a precedent. This decision cannot now be considered to set a precedent 
as national planning policy has changes significantly since 1989 and also subsequent 
governments have made it clear that there is a housing crisis and more new 
dwellings are needed to meet population needs.   

 
40. Since the submission of this application, four other developers have also submitted 

application for residential development in Thurston. Laurence Homes have applied 
for 64 dwellings on land at Meadow Lane (4942/16); Hopkins Homes have applied for 
175 dwellings (2797/16 and an identical proposal under reference number 5010/16 
which they have appealed for non-determination); Persimmon has applied for up to 
250 dwellings and land for a new school on land off Ixworth Road (4963/16) and 
Pigeon Capital for up to 200 homes and also a new primary school (5070/16). 
Including this application, 827 new homes are currently proposed in Thurston. There 
are also a further 92 dwellings which have planning permission at the Granary where 
works are commencing on site at present. Following receipt of these applications an 
approach of joint working to explore cumulative infrastructure issues has been 
agreed between the respective applicants and the District and County Council. This 
has enabled the constructive exploration of significant infrastructure issues on a 
collaborative but without prejudice basis to a consensual timetable.   

 
41. As a consequence of the above, objections have been received on the basis that the 

Council has 13 Key Service Centres within the district and why should Thurston bear 
the brunt of all of the new housing. Thurston and Elmswell are two of the largest 

Page 343



villages in the district and due to their location adjacent to the A14 and their 
accessibility to Bury St Edmunds, Ipswich and further afield it was always likely that 
they will be desirable for development and experience greater levels of growth, which 
is witnessed by the unprecedented level of housing currently proposed.  

 
42. Therefore, as there are unprecedented numbers of new dwellings proposed it is 

considered that all schemes must be considered both on their own merits and in 
combination with each other to assess if they meet the tests for sustainable 
development as outlined in the NPPF. The assessment of whether this proposal is 
considered to constitute sustainable development is given in the conclusion. 

 
43. Policy FC1 of the Mid Suffolk District Core Strategy Focused Review states that it 

takes a positive approach to sustainable development and like in the NPPF, the 
Council will work proactively with developers to resolve issues that improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. Related policy FC1.1 
makes it clear that for development to be considered sustainable it must be 
demonstrated against the principles of sustainable development. The policy goes on 
to say that proposals for development must conserve and enhance the local 
character of the different parts of the district and how it addresses the key issues of 
the district. 

 
44. The settlement of Thurston is one of the two largest villages in the district of Mid 

Suffolk (with the other being nearby Elmswell) where a wide range of local services 
and local infrastructure is provided. Thurston has both a primary and a secondary 
school, and a number of other local facilities which act as a service to the inhabitants 
of the village as well as providing employment opportunities to the wider area. Whilst 
Thurston does not have a doctor’s surgery, there is one in Woolpit and another in 
Moreton Hall which is a reasonably short journey away either by car or via public 
transport.  

 
45. Thurston is also unusual in that it has a railway station which provides access for the 

residents to be able to commute to Ipswich, Bury St Edmunds and further afield 
without having to use their cars. Thurston is also on the Mendlesham to Bury St 
Edmunds bus route with a number of designated stops within the village. Comments 
have been received that this service is poor and that it terminated early. However, it 
is considered with the potential for an additional 827 dwellings in Thurston by virtue 
of the 5 applications that the profitability of running the service may increase due to 
increased demand from the new residents.  

 
46. In relation to paragraph 7 of the NPPF, the proposals would contribute to building a 

strong, responsive and competitive economy through the creation of construction and 
related jobs and the on-going contribution to the local economy from the creation of 
138 additional households in the area. The proposals would also contribute towards 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations and by having the potential to create a high quality built environment, as 
well as contributions towards affordable housing, the highway network and other 
social infrastructure (public open space, education, health care) through a CIL 
contribution, or where appropriate, a section 106 agreement.  

 
47. It must also be remembers that paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that 

housing applications should be considered in the context of sustainable 
development. The applicant is proposing up to 138 dwellings in this instance and 
they have confirmed that it is their intention if they get planning permission to 
commence with work on site as soon as possible. To speed this up, they have 
agreed to have a shorter period than is usual to commence with works on site (2 

Page 344



rather than 3 years) which helps to justify that as a developer, they are serious about 
delivering the houses. They have also signed an agreement with Mid Suffolk and 
Suffolk County Council to work as a group with the other 4 other developers in 
Thurston to contribute to and work together to achieve the necessary infrastructure 
within the area to make this and the other 4 schemes sustainable.   

 
48. Consideration of whether this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable 

development, having regard to the contents of policies FC1 and FC1.2 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy Focused Review and the contents of the NPPF will be 
reached in the conclusion to this report. 

 
Site Access, Parking And Highway Safety Considerations 
 
49. Policy T10 of the Mid Suffolk District Local Plan provides criteria on highway 

considerations when assessing planning applications. This policy requires access 
points into and out of the site to be safe and an assessment made as to whether the 
existing local roads can suitably accommodate the impact of the proposal, whether 
adequate parking and turning spaces exist within the site and that the needs of 
pedestrians and cyclists have been met. This policy is considered to carry significant 
weight in the determination of this application as it is in compliance with paragraph 32 
of the NPPF which requires all schemes to provide safe access for all. 
 

50. A number of objections have been received to the scheme on the grounds that 
Barton Road is not wide enough to accommodate the access into the site and that 
the junction itself will be unsafe as it is near to the 30mph sign on the entrance into 
the village and vehicles will be approaching it at a faster speed than this. Concerns 
have also been raised that the applicant’s traffic date is unrealistic and that it is in 
close proximity to a number of pinch points in the local highway network which will 
cause safety issues as well as increasing congestion at peak times. Mention has 
specifically been made that some local junctions are unsafe at present (see County 
Highway Officer’s consultation response for details), particularly those adjacent to the 
railway bridge to the south of the village and that this scheme will exacerbate this 
problem as more vehicles will be using these junctions to access local roads, 
particularly the A14 to reach other destinations such as Bury St Edmunds and further 
afield. Comments have also been received that this scheme cumulatively with the 
other 4 schemes that have been submitted in Thurston for residential development 
will cause a significant and severe impact on the road network in the locality both in 
terms of congestion and safety. 
 

51. The site is located to the north west of the village with the sole access to it being from 
Barton Road which lies to the east of the site. Proposed is a single access point 
which is proposed towards the northern part of the site from Barton Road with a 
network of internal estate roads leading off from that.  

 
52. The Local Highway Authority initially objected to the scheme as the concerns of the 

objectors and the Parish Council over the safety of the access point, in particular the 
visibility splay that had been provided was shared. Following discussions, the 
applicant has amended the extent of the visibility splay and the Local Highway 
Authority is now satisfied that the access point into the site can be made safe and 
they have withdrawn their objection to the scheme. The Local Highway Authority has 
not raised any issues with the internal layout of the site as proposed and specific 
matters in relation to the above can be controlled by planning conditions. They have 
also accepted the applicant’s trip data which some of the objectors challenged as 
being unrealistic and is satisfied with the pavement link that is proposed to the site 
along Barton Road which was another issue of concern to the objectors. The scheme 

Page 345



is considered to meet the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF in that safe 
access can be provided for all and the requirements of policy T10 of the Mid Suffolk 
District Local Plan. 

 
53. Comments have also been received that it is unacceptable on safety grounds that a 

single access is used for this development. It must be remembered that the Manual 
for Streets allows 250 dwellings to be accessed from a single access point, and to 
consider refusing this scheme on that ground would be difficult to defend at appeal.  

 
54. The Local Highway Authority has considered the cumulative impact of this proposal 

and the other 4 schemes currently before the Council both in terms of safety and 
congestion on the highway network in Thurston and they have come to the 
conclusion that the impact of the 5 scheme if they all come forwards will be severe. 
However, the Local Highway Authority made it clear that the NPPF requires all public 
bodies to try and resolve problems and they are confidents that if all 5 developers 
work together and are brought forwards together, suitable and cost effective 
alterations can be made to the highway network to ensure that the impact does not 
become severe. The Local Highway Authority has assessed the road network and 
has suggested alterations and improvements to key areas of it (see the Highway 
Department’s consultation response earlier in this report for more information) which 
all 5 developers have been asked to contribute towards through either a section 106 
agreement or through the Highways Act. All 5 developers which include Bovis have 
agreed to contribute towards the works as requested by the Highway Authority. For 
the Bovis proposal, the Local Highway Authority is requesting £113,754 via a S106 
agreement (excluding travel plan costs which are in addition to this), and a further 
£40,000 under section 278 of the Highway Act.  

 
55. As such, the Local Highway Authority no longer considers that this proposal fails the 

requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF when considered cumulatively with the 
other 4 residential schemes as the impact with the alterations carried out to the 
highway network will no longer be severe in terms of safety. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the Local Highway Authority has not raised any objections to this scheme on 
congestion grounds and does not consider that additional traffic and queuing as a 
consequence of this scheme can be considered to be severe to sustain a defendable 
refusal of planning permission. 

 
56. The Local Highway Authority identify that the scheme will offer sustainable travel 

options to local residents as additional pavements and bus shelters are proposed 
and these will link up to both existing facilities and those proposed on neighbouring 
sites by the other developers seeking at the moment to build houses in Thurston. 
This will help to improve accessibility on foot and via public transport and will ensure 
that the site is accessible to the local railway station. The Local Highway Authority is 
also recommending that the applicant is obligated via a S106 agreement to provide a 
travel plan to ensure that there are sustainable transport options available to the new 
residents of the scheme rather than just having to rely on their private cars to access 
local facilities. 

 
57. Having regards to the specific and cumulative highway impacts of the scheme when 

considered in line with the requirements of paragraphs 21 and 32 of the NPPF the 
County Highways Officer has had regards to the fact that in some locations, the 
impact of the granting of 827 dwellings will be severe on the highway network, but 
these impacts can successfully be mitigated by the works to the network as 
suggested. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the proposal complies 
with the requirements of policy T10 of the local plan and paragraph 32 of the NPPF, 
in that safe and suitable access for all people can be achieved and that cost effective 

Page 346



improvements can be undertaken to the transport network to ensure that 
non-motorised modes of transport can be used to access local facilities.  

 
58. An objector has commented that the applicant is suggesting in his documentation 

that the speed limit adjacent to the site should be extended and reduced from the 
national speed limit to 30mph and that this is a separate legal process that is outside 
this planning application. The Local Highway Authority has been questioned on this 
and he has confirmed that this scheme and the 4 others have been designed and 
considered at the existing speed limit and that his comments are given on that basis. 
He has advised that it would be in the public interest to alter the speed limit as 
suggested by the applicant and he is to take on this alteration under the relevant 
highway legislation to action it if this and the other Thurston schemes get the go 
ahead. 

 
59. Comment has been made by an objector that a speed camera is required on Barton 

Road to resolve existing speed issues. Enforcing the speed limit is a matter for the 
Police and the local Road Safety Partnership and the placing of static or moveable 
speed enforcement is something for them to consider and act upon.  

 
60. Having regards to the above, it is considered that this proposal is acceptable in terms 

of highway safety and complies with the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF 
and paragraph T10 of the local plan as safe access can be provided for all. 

 
Design And Layout [Impact On Street Scene] 
 
61. Section 7 of the NPPF refers to design.  Specifically, paragraph 56 states that good 

design is a key aspect of sustainable development; it should contribute positively to 
making places better for people.  Decisions should aim to ensure that development 
will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, establish a strong sense of 
place, create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit, optimise the 
potential of the site to accommodate development, create and sustain an appropriate 
mix of uses and support local facilities and transport networks.  Furthermore it 
provides that development should respond to local character and history, and reflect 
the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation.  The NPPF goes on to state it is "proper to seek to promote 
or reinforce local distinctiveness" (para 60) and permission should be "refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving 
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions" (para 64).  In addition 
policy CS5 provides that "All development will maintain and enhance the 
environment, including the historic environment, and retain the local distinctiveness 
of the area” and echoes the provision of the NPPF. 
 

62. Objections have been received stating that the site is currently an open field and that 
dwellings of the design, scale and density of the proposal, particularly in reference to 
any 3 storey dwellings potentially being built on site is considered to be inappropriate 
and urban in form and not in keeping with the rural design and feel of the locality.  

 
63. The applicant has submitted a full application showing 138 dwellings ranging from 

single storey 2 bedroom bungalows to large two storey 5 bedroom houses and two 
blocks of flats in the centre of the site which are in the main two storey in height but 
have 3 storey projections on them to maximise the amount of internal space they can 
offer. The applicant has shown that 35% of these dwellings are affordable and they 
are of a specification, location and tenure that is acceptable to the Council’s 
Affordable Housing Officer. The dwellings that surround the site to the south and the 
west are in the main, bungalows of various styles and designs and they are of 20th 

Page 347



century construction and are not traditional Suffolk style properties. The applicant has 
in his layout located the smaller properties along the site boundaries with the 
properties increasing in size towards the centre of the site or where they are 
screened by natural features so that their impact on the surrounding locality is 
reduced. The scheme has a density of 26 dwellings per hectare which is not 
considered to be high and is in keeping which what can be seen in the surrounding 
locality. The dwellings as proposed are not mock traditional Suffolk properties but 
have been designed using the local Suffolk style in terms of the proportions, roof 
style and detailing and the finish of the properties. Whilst as one objector points out 
the developer offers a similar style of property for sale in Yorkshire which is a 
consequence of them being a national house builder, the properties offered in 
Yorkshire and in this site in Suffolk will be different in their detailing, finish and colour.  

 
64. In terms of the layout of the site, a single road is proposed through the site with 

several estate roads linking through to the dwellings. These are a mixture of adopted 
highway and private driveways and in terms of the layout, this is not considered to be 
dissimilar to what is seen in the surrounding area which serves the development off 
Furze Close and Heather Close. 

 
65. Objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the proposal is 

lacking in bungalows and smaller house types and that there are too many 2 and 3 
storey properties on site which will impact on the character of the area. It is noted 
that the applicant is proposing 8 bungalows on site with as the objectors say the 
majority of the properties being 3 and 4 bedroom two storey dwellings. However, 
whilst the surrounding area is composed mainly of bungalow type development with 
the odd house mixed in, it is not considered that this development will be out of 
keeping and have an adverse impact on the locality as the applicant is locating the 
smaller properties along the site boundaries to link in with the existing properties and 
placing the larger properties towards the centre of the site. It is also proposed to use 
existing landscaping and new landscaping to further screen the proposal and 
integrate it into the surrounding village and rural landscape.   

 
66. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the scheme in terms of the style 

and layout of the properties as proposed constitutes good design in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF and local policy CS5 as it proposes a form of development 
that would reflects the character, appearance and desnity of the surrounding 
settlement. It is agreed that the site does slightly project into the surrounding 
countryside; however this matter needs to be balanced in coming to a decision about 
the proposal having regards to all of the positive matters that the scheme brings. As 
stated in previous topics above, that will be done in concluding this report. 

 
Parish Plan / Neighbourhood Plan 

 
67. A Neighbourhood Plan designation was confirmed in 2013 and covers the Parish of 

Thurston.  At the time of the consideration of this proposal the parish have set up a 
neighbourhood Plan Committee to prepare the policies for the new Neighbourhood 
Plan. Both the Parish Council and their Neighbourhood Plan Committee have 
objected to this scheme with the latter raising objections based on some of the early 
work that they have carried out for the evidence base for the new plan. 

 
68. The Planning Practice Guidance identifies that “Paragraph 216 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework sets out the weight that may be given to relevant policies 
in emerging plans in decision taking. Factors to consider include the stage of 
preparation of the plan and the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures that the community has the final say 

Page 348

https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216


on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers should 
respect evidence of local support prior to the referendum when seeking to apply 
weight to an emerging neighbourhood plan. The consultation statement submitted 
with the draft neighbourhood plan should reveal the quality and effectiveness of the 
consultation that has informed the plan proposals. And all representations on the 
proposals should have been submitted to the local planning authority by the close of 
the local planning authority’s publicity period. It is for the decision maker in each case 
to determine what is a material consideration and what weight to give to it”. 

 
69. As such, whilst it is ultimately for Members to determine the weight that should be 

given to the plan, whilst it is at an early stage in its development, it is the view of 
Officers that little material weight can be given at this time. 

 
70. A comment has been received that states when the Parish Council considered sites 

for inclusion in its neighbourhood plan that there were 19 sites that were ranked 
higher in desirability than this one and therefore these sites should come forwards 
first. As stated above, the Neighbourhood Plan is at an early stage and its weight in 
decision making is considered by officers having regards to the contents of the NPPF 
to be limited in the consideration of this proposal. Furthermore, there is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable housing development in the NPPF and there is 
no need for developers to sequentially analyse other sites before progressing their 
own.    

 
Landscape Impact 
 
71. Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that proposals should provide appropriate 

landscaping to ensure that they integrate well into the surrounding locality. This 
requirement is repeated in one of the requirements of policy H13 of the Mid Suffolk 
District Local Plan.  

 
72. Objections have also been received on the basis that the proposal will extend the 

built up footprint of the village into the surrounding open countryside which is 
unacceptable to the objectors and the parish council and that the applicant’s 
landscaping scheme is lacking in detail. Comments have also been made that it is 
surprising that the applicant has not submitted a landscape assessment report with 
his application to assess the impact of the scheme both on and from the surrounding 
countryside. 

 
73. The field that is the subject of this proposal is on the edge of the settlement limit for 

Thurston with existing residential development fully along its western boundary and 
approximately three plots short on the Barton Road boundary. Residential 
development already exists directly to the south of the site and the south east corner 
of the field has already been lost in the past to the properties known as Marley Close. 
So in effect, the only part of the site that lies adjacent to the open countryside is the 
northern boundary of the site which is as existing is screened with tall trees and 
hedging from the surrounding countryside. The site is also screened as existing from 
Barton Road by a dense hedge; however a part of this will have to be removed to 
facilitate this development due to the need to provide the necessary safe access 
visibility splays.  

 
74. The Council has sought comments from its Landscape Consultant on the scheme 

and as part of their assessment they have asked the applicant to provide the missing 
landscape assessment which is referred to by the objectors. The Landscape 
Consultant has examined the report and agrees with the LVIA assessment that the 
applicant has made and the mitigation measures proposed. The Landscape 

Page 349

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#draft-neighbourhood-plan-meets-requirement


Consultant asked for additional information as regards the landscaping for the 
internal part of the site and following the submission of this by the applicant, he has 
confirmed that he is satisfied with what the applicant is proposing. Specific details of 
the plant species and numbers can be received via a planning condition if permission 
is given for this scheme.  

 
75. Objectors to this scheme have raised concerns that the development may harm 

some of the existing trees on site due to the closeness to their root zones and that 
leaf fall from the trees will be a nuisance to the new residents. The Council’s Tree 
Officer has been consulted on this scheme and he has not object to it. He has 
requested that plot 1 be redesigned so that its impact on the important tree that lies 
adjacent to it is minimised. The applicant has done this by moving plot 1 further away 
from the tree and deleting the garage and as such no development is now proposed 
in its root zone. The Council’s Tree Officer has been consulted on this change and he 
supports what the applicant’s amendments. A condition will be imposed if this 
proposal is approved requesting a scheme to be submitted to protect the existing 
trees on site which are to be retained as part of this scheme.  

 
76. The Council’s Tree Officer has asked in his consultation response if it is necessary to 

lose so much of the hedging to form the access onto Barton Road and he requests if 
it is possible that more of it is retained. However, The Local Highways Authority has 
made it clear that due to the location of the site and the increase of the speed limit 
from 30mph to the national speed limit just a short distance away from the site on 
Barton Road that it is necessary to remove a large part of the hedge to facilitate the 
visibility splay for the sake of highway safety. However, it is considered that it will be 
possible as part of the landscaping scheme for this proposal to plant a suitable 
replacement within the site and outside the visibility splay for the access.  

 
77. Having regards to the requirements of policy H13 of the MSDC Local Plan and 

paragraph 58 of the NPPF, it is considered that the scheme can use existing and 
provide suitable new screen landscaping both within and on the boundaries of the 
site to ensure that it assimilates well into the rural edge of Thurston and provides an 
attractive environment both for the new residents of the site and those living in the 
surrounding locality. It is unfortunate that part of an existing hedge has to be 
removed to facilitate the new access into the site and this dis-benefit will be 
considered when weighing up at the end of the report as to whether the proposal 
constitutes sustainable development.  

 
Residential Amenity 

 
78. Policies within the adopted development plan require, inter alia, that development 

does not materially or detrimentally affect the amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties.  This requirement is emphasised in the NPPF Core Values 
in paragraph 17 where it states that all schemes should seek a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.   

 
79. A number of points have been raised by the objectors to this scheme in terms of its 

impact on their residential amenity (or living conditions). In the main, these relate to 
the fact that in some parts of the site, two storey dwellings will face existing 
bungalows, the separation distances between existing and proposed is too short, 
some of the new properties will overlook existing gardens and street lighting will alter 
the night time outlook for existing residents.  

 
80. The properties on Heather Close lie to the west of the site and 17 new dwellings are 

proposed spanning from the north to the south of the western boundary of the site. 

Page 350



The new dwellings proposed along this boundary are predominantly two storeys with 
the exception of 4 bungalows. To minimise the impact of overlooking, where 
habitable windows from properties face each the Council expects that a minimum 
distance of 20m shall be provided which is based on the appropriate standard which 
has arisen from case law and appeal decisions. For the sake of clarity, the 20m 
distance is from window to window and not to the garden boundary. In this instance, 
where the properties directly face each other the distances exceed the Council’s 
standards. In the applicant’s submission it shows a distance of 23.38m from plot 53 
to the property behind it and 20.93m from plot 43 to the property behind that.  Some 
of these properties are further screened by existing trees on site but this is not 
uniform along this boundary, neither is a continuous garden fence. It is considered 
appropriate to request that the applicant provides via a planning condition a suitable 
hard boundary along this part of the site to maintain the privacy of the residents of 
both the new and existing properties. This can be augmented by suitable tree and 
hedge planting as suggested in the applicant’s plan to improve the quality and the 
visual appearance of the scheme. Trees within each individual plot will have to be 
maintained by the property owner with the trees within the public realm managed by 
a management company. The developer will not manage all landscaping and trees 
as requested by one of the objectors as this would be unreasonable.  

 
81. The Southern boundary of the site faces the existing dwellings on Bracken Row, 

Roman Way and Furze Close. The existing properties on these roads are 
predominantly bungalows but they differ significantly in size with each other 
depending on which of the roads they are on. The applicant is proposing 4 
bungalows and 5 two storey dwellings along this boundary and again the distances 
between the proposed and the existing dwellings exceed the 20m standard. As is the 
case with the western boundary, some of the properties are screened by existing 
trees and hedging but it is considered appropriate that suitable screen fencing is 
located along the southern boundary of the site to protect the living conditions of both 
the new occupiers and the existing occupiers of the surrounding properties.  

 
82. On the south eastern corner of the site, Marley Close exists and this development 

has taken a rectangular chunk out of the corner of the field. The properties in Marley 
Close that have their boundaries with the application site have a number of large and 
dense trees within which helps to provide screening, although objectors point out that 
it is possible to see through the trees due to their species. At this location there is 
significantly more than 21m between the proposed dwellings and those which lie to 
their east in Marley Close so the impact of direct overlooking will be minimised. The 
northern boundary of Marley Close with the application site also has tree cover within 
it, but it is not as dense as the other boundary and has gaps within it. However, the 
properties have been designed so that they face side on to this boundary at this 
location without main habitable windows in them. The side of plot 11 will face the side 
elevation of the property directly to its south on Marley Close with plot 1 also facing 
the property to its south side on with existing mature trees in between. The property 
on Marley Close front faces plot 1, but it is considered that due to the angle between 
both properties and the trees between them, that overlooking and loss of privacy will 
be minimised. Furthermore, the recent amended plans have moved plot one slightly 
further away from the tree into the site and as such, the distance between plot 1 and 
the opposing property on Marley Close will be further away than originally proposed.  

 
83. Comment has been made that a number of the proposed properties due to them 

being two storeys will impact on the enjoyment of the existing occupiers when using 
their gardens in terms of loss of privacy. When considering the impact of a scheme 
on the privacy of an existing occupier, it must be remembered that a garden area is 
not habitable space and an element of loss of privacy is expected where 

Page 351



development is next to each other (such as is the case on many new housing 
estates). However, as stated above, a condition is suggested which will require the 
developer to install suitable screen fencing to minimise overlooking and loss of 
privacy to the nearby existing occupiers.  

 
84. In terms of loss of daylight and sunlight the properties on Heather Close are the only 

ones that will be affected as the properties without trees in their gardens currently 
have an open aspect onto the field where they benefit from the sun as it rises and 
travels throughout the day. The erection of dwellings in this location will impact on the 
amount of direct sunlight received in the morning as the sun rises, but due to the 
distance between the properties which is in excess of 20m they will still benefit from 
sunlight to their eastern facing windows during the day. It is not considered that the 
scheme will have an impact on the amount of daylight that any of the existing 
properties receive as the new dwellings are not close enough to overshadow and 
dominate. It is therefore not considered necessary in terms of daylight and sunlight 
for the dwellings along the western and southern boundaries of the site to all be 
bungalows as suggested by the objectors.  

 
85. An objector has requested that the permitted development rights of the properties on 

the elevations facing existing properties should be removed to prevent them from 
building extensions in the future. However, it is not considered that is appropriate 
here as the government no longer encourages the blanket removal of permitted 
development rights and it is considered that the requirements that are contained in 
the regulations in terms of the size and type of extension that can be built which is 
dependent on garden size will be sufficient to protect the living conditions of the 
surrounding occupiers whilst not disadvantaging the occupiers of the new properties.  

 
86. The objectors consider that the street lighting associated with the dwellings will be 

intrusive and have a negative impact on their living conditions. It is clear that allowing 
permission for this scheme will alter the locality as the field is currently dark and this 
will be change. However, the street lighting will be within the site and not directly 
adjacent to the existing properties and designed to the requirements of the Local 
Highway Authority. As such this should have a minimal impact on the living 
conditions of the surrounding occupiers.   

 
87. A condition on any permission that the council may grant on this proposal can be 

imposed requesting that the applicant enters into a construction management 
agreement with the Council to safeguard the living conditions of the surrounding 
occupiers during the construction phase of the scheme. 

 
88. The layout and the detailed design of the properties do not give rise to any significant 

concerns in terms of loss of neighbour amenity, either in terms of privacy, loss of 
daylight and sunlight and the proposal is considered to meet the relevant NPPF core 
value in paragraph 17 and the requirements of paragraph 123.  

 
Environmental Impacts - Trees, Ecology And Land Contamination 
 
89. The application site is a grade 3a agricultural parcel of land which is currently in use 

for agricultural purposes.  As the site is in an agricultural use, there is limited tree 
cover within the site with the majority of the trees running along the site boundary. 

 
90. Objections have been received to this scheme from local residents and the Suffolk 

Wildlife Trust on the basis that the loss of the field and the hedgerow on the 
boundary of the field to Barton Road to create residential development will have a 
negative impact on animal species, particularly protected and priority species in the 

Page 352



locality. Mention has specifically been made that the Wildlife Trust considers that the 
site is a prime habitat for Skylarks, Brown Hares and Hedgehogs and the loss of the 
hedge to create the access will harm bats which feed and forage in it. 

 
91. Regulation 9(5) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

(Implemented 1st April 2010) provides that all "competent authorities" (public bodies) 

to "have regard to the Habitats Directive in the exercise of its functions.”  In order for 

a Local Planning Authority to comply with regulation 9(5) it must "engage" with the 

provisions of the Habitats Directive.   

92. The content of paragraph 118 of the NPPF is also applicable to the consideration of 
this proposal as it states that when determining planning applications, consideration 
must be given to 6 principles. The two following principles are applicable to this 
scheme:  

 
93. If significant harm is caused which cannot be avoided or mitigated by conditions then 

planning permission should be refused. 
 

94. Opportunities to integrate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
supported. 

 
95. The Council’s Consultant Ecologist has been consulted on this application and they 

have confirmed that the site contains priority habitat in the form of Bats, Amphibians, 
Hares, Skylark and potentially Hedgehogs. She has advised that she has considered 
the applicant’s Ecological Report and is satisfied with its findings and requests that 
conditions are imposed to limit the level of lighting on site and to ensure that the 
scheme is carried out in accordance with the recommendation of the ecology report. 
In coming to their conclusion on this scheme, the Ecology Consultant is aware of the 
Local Highway Authority’s requirements to remove part of the hedge on Barton Road 
to facilitate the access visibility splay, but they are confident that the loss habitat can 
be compensated for within the site. In terms of Skylarks, the Consultant Ecologist 
notes that the development of this land would have a negative impact on them and 
they have agreed with the applicant a scheme to provide off site mitigation to 
compensate for this loss. This can be secured via a section 106 legal agreement as 
the parcel of land does not fall within the application site. Natural England has also 
been consulted on this scheme, and they have not raised any comments in relation 
to it.  

 
97. Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local authorities should take into account the 

economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land when 
making planning decisions. Where significant development of agricultural land is 
demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use poorer 
quality land in preference to that of higher quality land. Agricultural land is split into 
categories with land defined as 3a up to 1 being best and most versatile land and 
grades 3b down to 5 not being defined as best and most versatile land. The 
application site is a Grade 3a and as such it is defined as best and most versatile 
agricultural land and as such the requirements of paragraph 112 of the NPPF apply 
to the determination of this scheme. Paragraph 112 does not preclude the 
development of land classified as best and most versatile agricultural land; it requires 
local authorities in making decisions to take account of the economic and other 
benefit of the best and most versatile agricultural land. The NPPF states that where 
significant development is proposed, local authorities should seek to use areas of 
poorer quality land in preference to the higher quality land.  

 

Page 353



98. The applicant has submitted an agricultural assessment with his application to allow 
the council to make the assessment as required in the NPPF. In the assessment the 
applicant makes the point that the parcel of land cannot be considered to be 
‘significant’ as this is defined in the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 where it states that Natural England 
should only be consulted on plans involving the loss of 20ha or more of land on 
grades 1, 2 and 3a. As such, the parcel of land falls below the threshold and the 
consideration of other land which is of a poorer quality does not have to happen. The 
case officer agrees with the point made above by the applicant as in his experience, 
this has been replicated in other Council’s where similar schemes have come forward 
for consideration.  

 
99. In considering the economic and other benefit of the land, it must be remembered 

that the parcel of land constitutes only 5ha. Having looked at the agricultural land 
classifications for Mid Suffolk, most of the land within the district is classified as 2, 3a 
and 3b with very little land in the lower categories. As the district is predominantly 
rural in character it is not considered that the loss of this parcel of land either on its 
own, or considered cumulatively with the 4 other sites that have been put forwards 
for development in Thurston will have a significantly negative impact on agriculture 
and specifically food production, or on the local economy.  

 
100. The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted on this scheme and he 

has reviewed the documentation submitted by the applicant (Phase 1 risk 
assessment). Paragraph 121 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning decisions 
should make sure that the site is suitable for its new use taking account the hazards 
of any previous use. The Contaminated Land Officer has not raised any objections to 
the scheme subject to the imposition of conditions requesting that the works on site 
be carried in line with the applicant’s contamination report.  

 
101. Having regards to the above it is considered that the proposal complies with the 

requirements of paragraph 112 of the NPPF in terms of agricultural land, its effects 
on Priority Species can be mitigated and the landscaped areas within the site can be 
adequately maintained in the future to protect their biodiversity value.  

 
Heritage Issues (The Setting Of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
102. Both the NPPF and Core Strategy place significant emphasis on safeguarding 

heritage as an important component of sustainable development.  
 
103. With reference to the treatment of the submitted application, the Council embraces its 

statutory duties and responsibilities in relation to listed buildings, notably the general 
duties undersections 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 which requires the local planning authority to have “special regard to the 
desirability of preserving [a] building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 

 
104. Recent case law on the application of the statutory duty acknowledges that the 

consideration of the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset is a matter for its own planning judgement, but that the 
Local Planning Authority is required to give any such harm considerable importance 
and weight. However, where special regard to the desirability of preserving heritage 
assets has been paid and no harm is considered to be posed, the ‘balancing’ of harm 
(which should be given considerable weight as above) against public benefits as 
required by the NPPF, is not engaged.  

 

Page 354



105. Policy HB1 (Protection of Historic Buildings) places a high priority on the protection of 
the character and appearance of historic buildings, particularly the setting of Listed 
Buildings. 
 

106. In paragraph 17 of the NPPF it makes it clear that development should “conserve 
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations”.  
Para 131 goes on to state that “In determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of; the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the desirability of 
new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness”.  Furthermore Para 132 states “When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. As 
heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 
convincing justification.” 
 

107. No objections have been made to this scheme on Heritage grounds and the 
Council’s Heritage Officer has confirmed that due to the location of the site and the 
surrounding residential land uses that he does not raise any comments in relation to 
this scheme as it does not affect the setting of any listed buildings in the locality. 
Historic England has also not objected to this scheme. The proposal therefore 
complies with paragraph 132 of the NPPF  

 
108. As there are 5 different applications for major housing development in the northern 

part of Thurston, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked to consider the 
cumulative impact of this scheme in relation to the others. Of the 5 applications, the 
application by Hopkins Homes for 175 homes (application 2798/16 and appeal 
5010/16) and the one by Pigeon Capital (5070/16) are the only two out of the 5 that 
are considered to cumulatively have an impact on the settings of the listed buildings 
in the locality and this is assessed more appropriately in the reports for both of those 
applications.  

 
Environment And Flood Risk 

 
109. Paragraph 100 of the NPPF makes it clear that inappropriate development in areas 

of flood risk should be avoided by directing development away from areas of highest 
risk. The contents of policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy is in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF in terms of flood risk and carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. In terms of flooding from rivers, the site complies 
with local and national policy as it lies in a flood zone 1 area which is land at least 
risk of flooding. To deal with surface water, the applicant is proposing a drainage 
pond within the south western corner of the site with the surface water flow from the 
site channelled into it. 

 
110. Objections have been received raising concerns that the development of the site may 

cause localised floods in the area. Anglian Water and the County Flood and Water 
team have been consulted on this proposal. Neither Anglian Water nor the 
Environment Agency has objected to this proposal, but the County Flood and Water 
team has asked for additional information on this scheme. Additional information has 

Page 355



been provided, however the County still considered this to be deficient and have 
asked for further information from the applicant. At the time of revising this report, the 
applicant was in negotiation with the County Flood and Water Team and an update of 
on the situation will be provided to the members at the meeting.  

 
111. Due to unprecedented level of growth currently suggested for Thurston, the 

Environment Agency, County Flood and Water team and Anglian Water have been 
specifically asked to consider the cumulative impact of this proposal on drainage, 
flood risk and water supply grounds. The Environment Agency and the County Suds 
team have advised that an increase of 827 dwellings with the mitigation measures 
proposed by the applicants will not increase flood risk in terms of surface water 
drainage in the locality to an unacceptable level. Confirmation has also been 
received that there is capacity in the local pumping station to serve 827 new 
dwellings in terms of sewage needs. Thurston lies in an area where water supply can 
be an issue, however Anglian Water has a duty by law to supply new houses with a 
water supply and this is a matter for them to resolve under their legislation. 

 
112. Having regards to the above, it is considered in terms of flood risk, water supply and 

drainage that the scheme when either considered singularly or cumulatively can be 
made acceptable subject to the imposition of a suitably worded condition to meet the 
requirements of paragraph 100 of the NPPF and policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core 
Strategy. 

 
Infrastructure -  Planning Obligations / CIL contributions 
 
113. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that the local 

infrastructure, which includes the local schools and health care, is insufficient to meet 
the need of the residents of this proposal. Comment has been made that if the 
scheme is approved without suitable provision, then it will cause significant impact on 
the existing community of Thurston. 

 
114. The Council has now implemented CIL which accordingly takes on board 

requirements such as open space contribution, NHS and education contributions.   
 

115. As part of this proposal the contributions will be sought under the Council’s CIL 
Scheme for improvements to the following: 

 

 For the future expansion of the doctor’s surgery in Moreton Hall which the 
residents of this scheme would use. 

 For improvements to the local library provision. 

 Safety improvements to the Thurston Railway station. 
 

116. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that a new doctor’s 
surgery will not be provided and that the proposal will cause capacity issues at the 
local surgeries. It should be noted that the Primary Care Trust (PCT) has made it 
clear that due to the existing situation with doctors, their salaries and contracts and 
the government’s policy in terms of the NHS that a new doctor’s surgery will not 
happen in Thurston as part of any of the 5 schemes. The PCT will be requesting 
contributions through CIL in relation to all 5 schemes and the monies will be used to 
improve the service offered and/or improve the facilities at either the Woolpit Surgery 
or at the Park Farm Surgery in Moreton Hall to meet the expected needs of the 
additional residents of the new dwellings in Thurston. They have specified that they 
will seek a contribution towards improvements at the Woolpit Surgery in relation to 
this proposal. 

Page 356



 
117. It has been identified following discussion with the County Infrastructure Officer that 

as suggested by the objectors and the Parish Council, there is no capacity in the 
local primary school to expand and as such a contribution of £476,441 is required 
towards the building of a new 420 place two form primary school either on the 
Persimmon or the pigeon site elsewhere in the village. It has also been suggested 
that a further £116,662 is required for the provision of new pre-school, which will be 
accommodated at the new school to help meet the demand generated by this 
development. As the CIL 123 list does not include the provision of new pre-school or 
primary school facilities (it only covers extensions to existing establishments) these 
contributions will have to be sought under S106 of the Planning Act and the applicant 
has agreed to the above payments.  

 
118. The County Council has also clarified that whilst the new school is being built, the 

existing primary school in Thurston will be provided with two temporary classrooms 
funded via CIL to cope on a 2 to 3 year period with the increase in pupils generated 
from the first phase of new housebuilding in Thurston (from any of the 5 sites 
currently under consideration) until the new school is built. Once that happens, the 
existing school will be closed and the existing pupils moved over to the new school 
and the new school will be extended as appropriate up to a capacity of 420 pupils to 
accommodate the primary school age children arising from any of the proposed 
housing sites in Thurston. It is understood that the Diocese who own the primary 
school have committed to ploughing the capital receipt that they receive for the 
development of the existing school site into the new school which is also to be 
funded by a joint contribution by all 5 of the developers proposing major housing 
schemes currently in Thurston. 

 
119. Following further dialogue with the County Obligations Manager it is understood that 

progress is being made to secure options on the potential school sites proposed in 
other applications. The delivery of a new primary school is a necessary pre-requisite 
to mitigate the potential pressure on education infrastructure from the development 
and it has been agreed that a restrictive phasing condition is not necessary given the 
progress that has been made on options. Nevertheless the securing of a primary 
school site is a material consideration upon which the delivery of this development is 
predicated. 

 
120. The County Council has confirmed that there is capacity at all of the catchment 

secondary schools in the locality and as such a financial contribution towards new 
facilities is not warranted in that instance.  

 
121. As is the case for new education buildings, affordable Housing is not part of CIL and 

members should note that policy to seek up to a 35% provision remains in effect. The 
applicant has confirmed that he is agreeable to provide a policy compliant scheme for 
affordable housing and that this will be achieved via a Section 106 contribution and 
the Council’s Strategic Housing Officer has not objected to this proposal. 

 
122. Network Rail has been consulted on this scheme and has asked for a contribution of 

£1million through a S106 agreement between all five developers to close the existing 
level crossing and to provide safer and improved facilities at Thurston Railway 
Station having regards to the increased use of the facilities that will occur from the 
residents of the proposed 827 dwellings. The Council’s CIL 123 list includes provision 
for improvements to transport infrastructure. As such it is considered that it would be 
appropriate for Network Rail to bid for the specified amount to make the 
improvements they have requested to improve pedestrian safety at the station under 
the CIL scheme.  

Page 357



 
123. The Highway Authority has, as stated earlier in the report, asked for £113,754 under 

section 106 of the Planning act to pay for Bovis’ part of the contribution for works to 
the highway infrastructure to ensure that the impact of approving all 5 housing 
schemes totalling 872 houses in Thurston is not severe on the highway network as 
referred to in paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 

 
124. It is noted that within the application site there is a pond, open space and landscaped 

areas and concerns have been received from the objectors over how these will be 
maintained. This will be done via a S106 agreement whereby the developer has to 
employ a management company to look after this land. None of it is to be transferred 
to the Council or the Parish Council as part of this or any of the other 4 schemes. 

 
125. Having regards to the above, in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations, 2010, the obligations recommended to be secured above by way of a 
planning obligation deed are (a) necessary to make the Development acceptable in 
planning terms (b) directly related to the Development and (c) fairly and reasonably 
relate in scale and kind to the Development.  

 
126. In response to an objector comments, it would be unreasonable to expect the 

developer of this or any other application to not build the properties and wait for all of 
the necessary infrastructure to be in place first. It would also be unreasonable to 
refuse planning permission for this and the other schemes where the developers 
have agreed to fund works to resolve the infrastructure issues identified. To ensure 
that the correct level of infrastructure appears at the correct time, the Council and its 
partners will work with the developers so that appropriate triggers are in the S106 
legal agreements to ensure this happens. 

 
Other Issues 
 
127. Objections have been made to this scheme on the grounds that there are other more 

suitable sites elsewhere and these should come first. It must be remembered that 
each planning application must be considered under its own planning merits and 
specifically in terms of housing; there is no national requirement for a sequential test 
for preferred housing sites within an area. 

 
128. An objection has been received on the basis that the proposal will turn Thurston from 

a village into a town. Whilst Thurston will get larger as a consequence of additional 
housing growth, its status will remain as a village and it does not automatically turn 
into a town. This objection is not considered to be material in the consideration of this 
proposal. 

 
129. Mention has also been made that the scheme will have an impact on property prices 

in Thurston and that many houses have already gone for sale in the locality in 
anticipation. The courts have decided that this is not a material planning 
consideration in this or any other planning application. 
 

130. A concern has also been raised that the erection of dwellings in this location will 
increase crime in the locality and the fear of crime for existing surrounding residents. 
The applicant has designed the scheme so that open areas of the site are overlooked 
so that opportunities for crime are minimised both within the site and from the site 
into the surrounding neighbouring properties.  

  
Details Of Financial Benefits / Implications (S155 Housing and Planning Act 2016) 

Page 358



 
Council Tax payments from the dwellings when built 
Planning Delivery Grant from Central Government for delivering the dwellings 
S106 Agreement: 

 £476,441 is required towards the building of a new primary school in 
Thurston.  

 £37,526 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

 £116,662 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston 

 £113,754 is required for highway infrastructure works 

 Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 
annum until five years have passed after occupation of the final dwelling.   

 Travel Plan Implementation Bond - £108,585  

 CIL payments per dwelling built on site. 
 

 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
Planning Balance 

 
130. The proposal for residential development off Barton Road in Thurston is considered 

to be contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy as the application site lies 
within the countryside outside the built framework of the settlement of Thurston on 
what is agricultural land.   

 
131. However, as the housing policies in the Core Strategy are out of date due to the 

Council not having a deliverable five year supply of housing, this scheme falls to be 
considered in relation to paragraph 14 and 49 of the NPPF which relate to residential 
development and sustainable development.  

 
132. Paragraph 14 states that where the development plan for the area is out of date,  

permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF as a whole or specific policies in the NPPF which indicate that 
the development should be restricted. Whilst it has been identified that the proposal 
either when considered on its own or in combination with the four other residential 
schemes that are with the Council for consideration will have an adverse impact on 
the quality of the landscape character of the area, and that it will result in the 
irreplaceable loss of countryside and grade 3b agricultural land, will result in the loss 
of a hedge which provides habitat to protected species and will have an impact on 
the habitat of priority and has a potentially severe impact on parts of the highway 
network if not mitigated, it is considered that the benefits that the scheme brings such 
as the provision of 136 new houses of which 35% of them will be affordable,  
contributions towards local infrastructure such as the highways improvements, and a 
new primary school outweighs the negative issues. 

 
133. Significant weight must also be given to the fact that there are no unresolved 

objections from the Council’s consultees to the scheme. There are no objections in 
terms of design; crime prevention; amenity; pollution; contamination; ecology; 
landscape; flood risk and drainage. The proposal will also help to deliver construction 
jobs and will also provide more residents who will helps to sustain and potentially 
grow the local economy.  

 
134. In relation to highways impacts there are road safety impacts which can be 

Page 359



addressed through mitigation at Fishwick Corner and other highways infrastructure 
improvements which weigh in favour of the scheme by providing enhanced 
sustainable links.  

 
135. There remains a road safety and capacity issue at the A143 Thurston Road junction 

(adjacent to The Bunbury Arms). A number of solutions have been investigated and 
the current preferred solution is traffic signals. The highway authority consider that 
the effects of the development can be mitigated but further detailed work needs to be 
undertaken to obtain the most practicable and viable solution to address the risks. 
For this reason Committee is asked to reach a “minded to” resolution which reserves 
the local planning authority’s position pending the outcome of that detailed further 
investigation and junction design. Once the outcome of this investigation is known 
the application can be reported with a substantive recommendation to Committee. 

 
136. Therefore, it is considered having regards to paragraph 14 of the NPPF that the 

benefit the proposal brings outweighs the negatives. Furthermore, when assessing 
the proposal against the NPPF it is not contrary to its requirements as a whole and 
there are no specific policies within it that would restrict this development and as 
such it is considered that it constitutes sustainable development which should be 
approved planning permission without delay in line with the requirements of 
paragraph 14. 

 
Statement Required By Article 35 Of The Town And Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 
137. When determining planning applications The Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 requires Local 
Planning Authorities to explain how, in dealing with the application they have worked 
with the applicant to resolve any problems or issues arising.  

 
138. In this case the planning authority has worked with the applicant to overcome 

highway objections to the scheme and to clarify issues relating to drainage and 
impact on listed buildings. 

 
Identification of any Legal Implications of the decision 

 
139. There are no known legal implications derived from the determination of this 

application. 
 

140. The application has been considered in respect of the current development plan 
policies and relevant planning legalisation.  Other legislation including the following 
have been considered in respect of the proposed development.  

 

 Human Rights Act 1998 

 The Equalities Act 2012 

 Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (any rural 
site) 

 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

 Localism Act 

 Consideration has been given to the provisions of Section 17 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act, 1998, in the assessment of this application but the 
proposal does not raise any significant issues.  

 

Page 360



RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Committee express a “minded to” resolution, subject to the further investigation and 
reporting back of highway matters in relation to the A143 Thurston Road junction, on the 
following basis: 
 
That the authority would be minded to delegate to the Corporate Manager - Growth & 
Sustainable Planning to grant full planning permission subject to the prior completion of a 
Section 106 or Undertaking on terms to his satisfaction to secure the following heads of 
terms: 
 

 £476,441 is required towards the building of a new primary school in Thurston.  

 £37,526 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

 £116,662 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston  

 35% Affordable Housing to be transferred over to a Registered Provider 

 To secure the provision of public open space to be managed by a dedicated 
management company 

 £113,754 to secure off site highway improvement works as listed below: 

 
o Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston 

Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton. A contribution of £47975 is 
required on commencement of work on site 

 
o Contribution towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 

Thurston Road / C693 New Road including a 40mph speed limit on the C692 
Thurston Road. A contribution of £8711 is required at the commencement of 
the first dwelling.  

  
o Contribution towards extension of the 30mph speed limit on Barton Road 

west of Mill Lane. A contribution of £8000 is required on commencement of 
construction work on site.  

 
o Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at the junction 

of Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road. A contribution of £15068 is 
required on occupation of the first dwelling.  

 
o Creation of new Prow along the southern boundary of the site to Heath Road 

(Cycle route 51). A contribution of £34000 is required on completion fo 50% ot 
the total number of dwellings. 

 

 To secure a travel plan in connection with the scheme detailed as follows: 

o Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 
annum until five years have passed after occupation of the final 
dwelling.  This is to cover Suffolk County Council officer time working with the 
Travel Plan Coordinator and agreeing new targets and objectives throughout 
the full duration of the travel plan 

 

o Travel Plan Implementation Bond - £108,585 (based on SCC calculations on 
the estimated cost of fully implementing the travel plan for 140 
dwellings).  This is to cover the cost of implementing the travel plan on behalf 
of the developer if they fail to deliver it themselves. 

Page 361



 

 Provision of Skylark Mitigation 

 Setting up of a management company to look after the open space and Sustainable 
Drainage parts of the scheme. 

 
and that such permission be subject to the conditions as set out below: 
 

1) Two year time start time (as opposed to the usual 3)  
2) Existing tree protection 
3) Construction management agreement 
4) External lighting 
5) Landscaping details 
6) Commencement period for landscaping 
7) Protection of birds during construction period 
8) Works to be carried out in line with the ecological report. 
9) Materials 
10) Landscaping 
11) Residential boundary treatment 
12) Highway Conditions (covering site access, Internal layout, Construction management 

plan, highway drainage, footway and cycle connectivity) 
13) Surface water drainage 
14) Fire Hydrant requirements 

 
 

Page 362



Slide 1 

Application No: 

 

Address: 

4386/16 

Land On The West Side 

Of Barton Road 

Thurston 

IP31 3NT 

P
age 363



Slide 2 

Verbal Updates: 

 

- Confirmation and summary of any 3rd Party 

representations received not previously issued to 

members.   

 

- Confirmation and summary of any consultee 

responses received not previously issued to 

members 

 

- Confirmation of any changes to recommendation, 

conditions or reasons.   

P
age 364



Slide 3 

Bovis Homes 
Settlement 

limits 

Settlement 

limits 

P
age 365



Slide 4 Location Plan & Constraints Map 

P
age 366



Slide 5 Detailed Planning Layout Plan 

P
age 367



Slide 6 Example House types 

P
age 368



Slide 7 Example House types 

P
age 369



Slide 8 Example House types 

P
age 370



Slide 9 Example House Types 

P
age 371



Slide 10 Example House Types 

P
age 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



Page 386



Page 387



Page 388



Page 389



Page 390



Page 391



Page 392



Page 393



Page 394



Page 395



Page 396



Page 397



Page 398



Page 399



Page 400



Page 401



Page 402



Page 403



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



Page 442



Page 443



Page 444



Page 445



Page 446



Page 447



Page 448



Page 449



Page 450



Page 451



Page 452



Page 453



Page 454



Page 455



Page 456



Page 457



Page 458



Page 459



Page 460



Page 461



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee Report     

 

Committee Date: 12th July 2017 

  

Item No:  Reference: 4942/16 
Case Officer: Dylan Jones 

    

 

Description of Development: Residential development consisting of 64 

dwellings and associated highway, car parking and public open space 

Location: Land at Meadow Lane, Thurston IP31 3QG 

Parish: Thurston  

 
Ward: Thurston & Hessett  

Ward Members: Councillors Esther Jewson & Derrick Haley 

 

Site Area: 3.03 

Conservation Area: No 

Listed Building: Manor Farm which is Grade 2* listed and Grange Farmhouse, Grade 2 

Listed. 

 
Received: 12/12/2016 

Expiry Date: 30/06/2017 

 

 

Application Type: Full Planning Permission 

Development Type: Smallscale Major Dwellings 

Environmental Impact Assessment: Schedule 2 development – EIA not required. 

 

Applicant: Laurence Homes (Eastern) Ltd 

Agent: BDG Design (South) Ltd 

 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED FOR CONSIDERATION 

 

The defined Red Line Plan for this application is drawing number 15.033/100 received on the 
12th December 2016.  This drawing is the red line plan that shall be referred to as the 
defined application site.  Any other drawings approved or refused that may show any 
alternative red line plan separately or as part of any other submitted document have not 
been accepted on the basis of defining the application site.   
 

Submitted Documents:  
 

Layout plan reference number 15.033/101C received on the 9th May 2017. 

Plans & elevations plan reference number 15.033/102 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Plans & elevations plan reference number 15.033/103 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Plans & elevations plan reference number 15.033/104 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Page 463

Agenda Item 7e



Plans & elevations plan reference number 15.033/105 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Plans & elevations plan reference number 15.033/106 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Plans & elevations plan reference number 15.033/107A received on the 9th May 2017 

Plans & elevations plan reference number 15.033/108 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Plans & elevations plan reference number 15.033/109 received on the 13th December 2016. 

House type plan reference number 15.033/110 received on the 13th December 2016. 

House type plan reference number 15.033/111 received on the 13th December 2016. 

House type plan reference number 15.033/112 received on the 13th December 2016. 

House type plan reference number 15.033/113 received on the 13th December 2016. 

House type plan reference number 15.033/114 received on the 13th December 2016. 

House type plan reference number 15.033/115 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Garage & car port plan reference number 15.033/116 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Garage & car port plan reference number 15.033/117 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Foul pump station plan reference number 15.033/118 received on the 13th December 2016. 

Street elevation plan reference number 15.033/200A received on the 9th May 2017 

Street elevation plan reference number 15.033/201A received on the 9th May 2017 

Strategic landscaping plan reference number 15.033/300A received on the 9th May 

2017Landscape and visual assessment plan reference number 17.2088.01 received on the 

9th May 2017. 

Arboricultural Planning Statement received on the 12th December 2016 

Revised Design and Access Statement received on the 9th May 2017 

Ecological scoping survey received on the 13th December 2016 

Flood risk assessment received on the 13th December 2016 

Ground investigation report received on the 13th December 2016 

Planning statement received on the 13th December 2016 

Land contamination phase 1desk study received on 9th March 2017 

Sustainable Urban Drainage maintenance plan received on 13th June 2017 

Soakaways drainage plan received on 13th June 2017 

Exceedance Flood Plan received on 13th June 2017 

Drainage strategy construction details plan reference number 15-050/DSD-01 Rev P1 

received on 13th June 2017 

 

The application, plans and documents submitted by the Applicant can be viewed online at 

www.midsuffolk.gov.uk via the following link: 

 

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessioni

d=3C8D88B2598E491D44193C51A243937C?action=firstPage 

 

Alternatively, a copy is available to view at the Mid Suffolk and Babergh District Council 

Offices. 

 

SUMMARY 

 

The proposal has been assessed with regard to adopted development plan policies, the 

National Planning Policy Framework and all other material considerations. The scheme is 

contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy; however, the Council cannot demonstrate 

a 5 year supply of housing and the scheme falls to be considered under paragraph 14 of the 

NPPF where the adverse impacts of the scheme have to be balanced against the benefits of 

Page 464

http://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/


the scheme to demonstrate that it constitutes sustainable development. Officers are 

recommending a minded approval of this application as it is considered to be sustainable 

development as the public benefits that the scheme will deliver (contributions towards a new 

school, pre-school, highway improvements, health provision, affordable housing and library 

facilities amongst others) are considered to outweigh the negative aspects of the proposal. 

 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason/s: 
 
  - It is a “Major” application for residential land allocation for 15 or over dwellings. 
  
 
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND  
 

 

1. This section details history, policies, advice provided, other legalisation and events 

that forms the background in terms of both material considerations and procedural 

background.     

 

History 

 

2. The planning history relevant to the application site is listed below.  A detailed 

assessment of the planning history including any material Planning Appeals will be 

carried out as needed in Part Three: 

 

 There is no planning history for this site. 

 

3. The following applications are also considered to be relevant to the consideration of 

this proposal as they represent the other major applications for residential 

development in Thurston that are currently with the Council for consideration: 

 

2797/16 Application for Outline Planning Permission (with all matters other than 

means of access reserved) for residential development of up to 175 

dwellings with associated car parking, landscaping, public open space 

areas, allotments, and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane. The 

applicant is Hopkins Homes and this proposal is identical to appeal 

5010/16. 

 
4386/16 Full planning application for the erection of 138 dwellings on land on 

the west side of Barton Road, Thurston. The applicant is Bovis Homes.  

 

4963/16  Outline application for the erection of up to 250 dwellings and 

associated infrastructure including the provision of up to 2.4ha of land 

for use by the Thurston Community College and the provision of land 

for a new primary school on land west of Ixworth Road, Thurston. The 

Page 465



applicant is Persimmon Homes. 

 

5010/16  Outline Planning Application (with all matters other than means of 

access reserved) for residential development of up to 175 dwellings 

with associated car parking, landscaping, public open space areas, 

allotments, and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane and Norton Road. 

The applicant is Hopkins Homes and this proposal is identical to 

application 2797/16. (This case is at appeal for the non-determination 

of the proposal in the statutory period of 13 weeks for a major 

application). 

 

5070/16 Outline Planning Permission sought for the erection of up to 200 

homes (including 9 self-build plots), primary school site together with 

associated access, infrastructure, landscaping and amenity space (all 

matters reserved except for access) on land at Norton Road, Thurston 

– The applicant is Pigeon Capital Management. 

 

The consideration of the cumulative infrastructure issues that this group of 

applications present has been explored in a collaborative, but without 

prejudice, working group including County and District Council Officers with 

the five respective applicants and their technical advisers. This has enabled a 

constructive and timetabled analysis of the proposals and their cumulative 

impact. 

 

Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions 

 

4. None 

 

Details of Member site visit  

 

5. Members visited Thurston on the 13th June to look at this site and the four other 

residential development schemes that are currently with the Council for 

consideration. 

 

Details of any Pre Application Advice 

 

6. The applicant engaged with the Council and received pre-application advice on the 

principle of the development and its acceptability having regards to the fact that the 

Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing. 

 

 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
7. Summary of Consultations 
 
Thurston Parish Council (which includes the comments of the Thurston 

Neighbourhood Plan Team which is listed separately below)  

Page 466



The Neighbourhood Plans Team has stated that it wishes to provide the following comments 
on this proposal:  
 

 Thurston is to face an unprecedented level of growth due to the submission of 6 
planning applications proposing over 800 houses between them. 

 The 6 applications need to be considered on a cumulative basis as failure by the 
District Council to do so would result in the individual schemes having a significant 
impact on the local community and it wouldn’t meet the requirements of the NPPF. 

 Consider that the Neighbourhood Plan should be given some weight in the 
consideration of this proposal as it has been the subject of public consultation despite 
not allocating sites or proposing planning policies. 

 The speed of the submission of the applications in Thurston and the amount of 
dwellings proposed between the five undetermined applications and the Granary site 
will result in Thurston losing its ‘village feel’ and for it to become ‘a small dormitory 
town’. 

 The cumulative impact of the scheme needs to be considered in the light of the 101 
residences (92 dwellings and one block of flats incorporating 9 units) already granted 
at the Granary site. 

 The current primary school is at capacity and it is landlocked and cannot be 
extended. Any additional houses would need additional primary school places. Agree 
with the County Council’s stance that a new primary school is required and it should 
be provided before the dwellings are occupied. However, a new school causes its 
own infrastructure issues and there is nowhere in Thurston that has current adequate 
provision to assimilate the pedestrian and vehicle movements particularly at the 
beginning and at the end of the day in school term. 

 Development is proposed on the best and most versatile agricultural land on the 
northern part of the village. 

 The density of all of the schemes is too high and they reflect urban type development 
rather than what you would expect in a village. 

 The local community would prefer to see schemes of no greater than 50 dwellings 
being built with more open space around them. They would also like to see more 
bungalow developments which the developers are not providing. There should also 
be more one and two bedroom flats/apartments and houses in the schemes. 

 Thurston is accessed by a network of A roads and country lanes which are not well 
maintained by the County Council and are not of a design or standard to 
accommodate increased growth in Thurston and also that planned in the surrounding 
villages and in Bury St Edmunds.  

 Congestion of the local highway network already exists and these schemes will make 
the situation worse and will cause more accidents to occur at key sites which already 
experience accidents in the village. 

 There are no plans by network rail to improve the station at Thurston and this will 
cause capacity, parking and safety issues. 

 There shouldn’t be any more than 50 dwellings proposed per site at any one time. 

 The number of dwellings proposed cumulatively will cause social impacts for the local 
community. These have been split in a pros and cons list as below: 

 

Positive Negative 

 New purpose built 
school more attuned to 
21st Century needs.  

 Improved facilities and 
to allow more clubs and 
organisations to 
increase will increase 

 A new school would potentially 
trigger more new houses in the 
future which would change the 
social dynamics of the village. 

 New cycle and walking routes to the 
new school would have to be 
created as they don’t exist at 

Page 467



their sustainability. 

 More residents in the 
locality would help to 
support a greater variety 
of leisure facilities in the 
village. 

present. 

 Newcomers to the village will put 
pressure on current organisations in 
the village will not be able to expand 
to meet this increased demand. 

 A greater variety of 
shops and facilities 
would be supported. 

 More shops and facilities will 
change the character of the village 
into a small town and local residents 
will resent this change and the new 
developments that have caused this 
change to happen. 

 More residents will 
sustain bus and train 
services in the locality. 

 More residents will increase 
pressure on the network which 
cannot be met unless improvements 
are made to the railway station car 
park. 

 More pressure for a 
medical surgery. 

 The nearest practice doesn’t have 
capacity and all that is being asked 
through this and the other schemes 
is a contribution towards health care 
which will make the service 
unsustainable. 

 Additional footpaths and 
cycle ways will offer a 
variety of routes for 
walkers and cyclists.  

 The new residents using the paths 
will not be familiar with the way that 
local residents look after their 
valued paths and this could result in 
bad feeling against them. There 
may also be more dogs off leads 
which could cause problems. 

 
Specifically in relation to the Laurence scheme, the Neighbourhood Plans team raise the 
following points:  
 

 The site on Norton Road has only one vehicular entrance to potentially 64 dwellings 
with a footpath to Meadow Lane.  

 Road safety with emphasis on the junctions of Norton Road and Ixworth Road which 
is very close to the Community College at the AM and PM peak times.  

 Road safety issues with emphasis on those accessing the A14 via the pinch point at 
the railway bridge on Sandpit Lane – Thedwastre Road and onto Pokeriage Corner.  

 Pedestrian safety along Norton Road for accessing village facilities as there are no 
safe crossing points  

 Impact of the vehicular movements from a single point of entry onto Norton Road. It 
is also on the same side and near to the entrance to Rylands Close with also 
generates traffic  

 Development inappropriate to that of land abutting the countryside  

 Impact on village infrastructure particularly education and health provision  

 Type and density of housing mix not in accordance with the Neighbourhood Plan 
findings of the Ipswich Housing Market Area, Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
and the 2014 Suffolk Housing Needs Survey, all of which indicate that there is a high 
demand for smaller homes across all tenures both for younger people and for older 
people.  

 Cost of affordable homes for local residents – the application fails to take into 
account the District Wide need on the housing register for 1 and 2 bedrooms with a 

Page 468



smaller element requiring 3+ bedroom properties. 
 

Thurston Parish Council has objected to this proposal on the following grounds: 
 

 This proposal is outside the development boundary for Thurston, albeit adjacent to it 
but it is considered that the scheme would bring forwards dwellings that would be 
visually, physically and functionally isolated from the facilities and services offered by 
Thurston. 

 This is overdevelopment of the site and it should be limited to 50 dwellings in line 
with the requirements of the local residents. 

 The two storey dwellings that are proposed along the western and southern part of 
the site is no a feature of the surrounding area and as such, the scheme will fail to 
complement the character of the existing area. These properties should be replaced 
by single storey properties which would minimise the impact. 

 There are privacy issues in terms of loss of daylight and overlooking between some 
of the proposed dwellings where they face existing properties. 

 The proposal fails to protect the intrinsic character of the surrounding countryside. 
This is contrary to policy CS5 of the Core Strategy and policy FC1.1 of the Core 
Strategy Focused Review and policies H13 and H16 of the Mid Suffolk Local Plan. 

 The density and mix of the housing as proposed fails to take into account the 
accommodation needs of the area. 

 Supports the comments of the police in that the hedging in and around the site could 
provide a fear of crime for the local residents.  

 The proposal is not considered to provide safe access for all as required in 
paragraph 32 of the NPPF. There are particular concerns with pedestrian and cycle 
facilities and the ability to integrate the scheme with local public transport. 

 Is particularly concerned at the location of the access point into the site so close to 
Rylands Close and Sandpit Lane. If a second access point is provided, this will cause 
further problems in the locality.  

 Due to the location of the site and in particular its access point, this will encourage 
the residents to use their car rather than walk.  

 All proposals in Thurston should be considered on a cumulative basis and at the 
same time as a full review of the local infrastructure is carried out.  

 
MSDC - Environmental Health – Contaminated land – Does not object to the scheme on 
contamination grounds subject to the imposition of planning conditions.  
 
MSDC - Environmental Health – Public Protection – Does not raise any objections to this 
scheme on air quality grounds. 
 
MSDC Heritage Officer – The site lies on agricultural land which is within the setting of 
Manor Farm which is Grade 2* listed and also Grange Farmhouse. 
 
The Historic Buildings Officer advises that due to the location of the site which when 
developed will read as an extension to the existing residential part of the village would cause 
no harm to the setting of the listed buildings referred to above. As such, he has no objections 
to this proposal. 
 
MSDC - Strategic Housing (Summary) – Advises that no objections are raised to the 
scheme as submitted as 35% affordable housing is proposed in line with the Council’s 
requirements. The strategic Housing Officer advises that the affordable housing requirement 
for the site is 22 affordable units. These are broken down as follows: 
 

Page 469



General needs affordable dwellings: 
 

 2 x 1 bed 2 person flats @ 48m²  

 2 x 2 bed 3 person bungalows @ 63m²  

 9 x 2 bed 4 person houses @ 76m² 

 2 x 3 bed 5 person houses @ 85m²  
 
Total: 15 units 
 

Shared Ownership:  
 

 2 x 1 bed 2 person flats @ 48m² 

 4 x 2 bed 4 person houses @ 76m²  

 1 x 3 bed 5 person houses @ 86m² 
 

Total: 7 units  
 
MSDC Sustainability Officer – Objects to the scheme as it was considered that insufficient 
information has been submitted in terms of the sustainability of this scheme. 
 
MSDC Tree Officer – Does not object to this proposal subject to the imposition of a 
condition requiring details of tree protection measures during the build process for this 
proposal. 
 
SCC Archaeology – Does not raise any objections to this scheme subject to the imposition 
of conditions to record any archaeological artefacts that may be found during the building out 
of the site. 
 
SCC Flood and water management – Initially objected to the scheme. The applicant has 
subsequently been in negotiation with the Flood and Water Management team over the 
objections and following the submission of additional information the Flood and Water 
Management team no longer object to this proposal subject to the imposition of suitable 
planning conditions.  
 
The SCC Flood Management Team has been asked to comment on the cumulative impact 

of 827 houses being proposed in Thurston and they have commented that they would expect 

all of the developers to design suitable sustainable drainage systems (which they all have). 

All of the 5 sites are in a flood zone 1 so they comply with national policy requirements. 

However, surface water drainage has historically been an issue in Thurston with soil 

conditions not being viable for water to drain away easily. Most of the surface water from the 

village is drained into the foul sewer system with the east part of the village having a surface 

water drainage system. It is understood that Anglian Water are considering options to 

improve capacity in the locality to help to prevent the flood events that have happened in the 

centre of the village in recent years.  

SCC Highways – The Local Highway Authority has provided two responses on this 
proposal. One deals with the cumulative impact of this scheme and the four others that have 
all been submitted in Thurston on the local highway infrastructure. The second response 
deals with the highway issues that are specific to this proposal. 
 
Cumulative impact - The Transport Assessments provided for the individual proposed 

developments show varying degrees of impact on the highway infrastructure. To date none 

have shown the cumulative impact of all five developments but at some locations the Local 

Page 470



Highway Authority considers this may be severe, particularly where the network is already 

close to or exceeding capacity. Paragraph 21 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) states that planning policies should recognise and seek to address potential barriers 

to investment, including any lack of infrastructure and identify priority areas for infrastructure 

provision. Both SCC and MSDC are aware that paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that 

development should only be prevented on transport grounds where residual impacts of 

development as severe. The same statement allows decisions to be made taking account of 

whether improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively 

limits the significant impacts of development. 

On this occasion, we consider that by taking a co-operative approach for all five 
developments there is an opportunity that the planning process can provide improvements to 
both mitigate against any severe impacts and any lack of transport infrastructure. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Congestion)  
The initial data and modelling provided in Transport Assessments indicates that the road 
network will experience additional traffic through growth and development and at some 
locations this will exceed the theoretical junction capacity. Those junctions that are or may 
exceed capacity are discussed below. 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
Modelling shows that this junction is already close to theoretical capacity in the AM peak with 
northbound traffic waiting to turn onto the A143 queueing on Barton Road and at capacity in 
the PM peak with Thurston bound traffic waiting right from the A143 into Barton Road. The 
additional traffic from the proposed developments in Thurston will exacerbate these 
problems; in particular, modelling shows the queueing traffic on Barton Road will exceed 
capacity in the AM peak.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
Modelling indicates that the southbound approach to the junction is currently close to 
capacity in the morning peak and that its capacity will be exceeded before all five 
developments could be delivered. However, in the PM peak the junction has the capacity for 
the predicted traffic for all developments.  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
The modelling of this junction shows some inconstancies with one study indicating it will be 
close to capacity southbound on Thedwastre Road in the AM peak due to traffic from one 
specific development but other modelling showing it would have capacity for the traffic 
generated by the developments. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Road Safety) 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
There have been three recorded crashes resulting in slight injuries and one involving serious 
injury at this junction in the last 5 years for which data is available (2012-2016).  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
There have been two crashes resulting in slight injuries at this junction in the past 5 years. 
  
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
At this junction there have been 9 crashes resulting in slight injuries and one resulting in a 
serious injury in the past 5 years.  
 

Page 471



The frequency of injury related crashes at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / 
C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner) junction would, in the opinion of SCC, necessitates some 
work to improve road safety. Although the frequency of crashes at the A143 Bury Road / 
C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road does not justify significant road safety 
improvements it is a factor that should be considered in any future mitigation measures. 
 
Suggested Mitigation Measures 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
An assumption has been made that the junction can be signalised and that this will reduce 
congestion and improve road safety. Although there is a generous width of highway verge in 
the vicinity of the junction the geography of the site may place constraints on the design and 
further work is required to confirm that a solution is possible or beneficial. The proposed 
junction improvements would be delivered through a jointly funded S106 contribution.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
The issue of congestion on the southbound approach is difficult to mitigate as there is 
insufficient land within the highway boundary to provide a meaningful solution. It is noted that 
the road network around Thurston is relatively permeable and an option exists for traffic to 
avoid this by diverting onto Beyton Road and then turning right to approach this junction from 
the east. 
 
Several minor traffic management features such as improved signing, marker posts and high 
friction surfacing have been used at this junction in the past as crash reduction measures. 
Despite this, crashes causing injury continue to occur. To reduce the severity of these 
crashes it is proposed to restrict the road to 40mph and undertake local safety improvements 
such as enhanced road signs and markings. This would be delivered through a jointly funded 
S106 contribution.  
 
A longer term solution would be to remodel the junction or drastically remodel the road 
network. It is recommended these matters should be addressed in any future revisions to the 
Local Plan. 
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road 
The highway boundary constrains any improvements in this location and thus there does not 
appear to be any viable mitigation to increase capacity on the southbound Thedwastre Road 
approach. The relatively low number of crashes suggests that the issue of road safety is not 
as important as it is for the other two junctions and mitigation measures would only comprise 
low cost work, such as road signs and markings. 
 
Speed Limits  
It is noted that a number of proposed access roads are located close to or beyond the 
existing 30mph speed limit in Thurston. In some cases, assumptions have been made when 
determining visibility for these junctions that the 85%ile speed limits are or will be close to 
30mph. Developers are advised that the visibility requirements shall be designed for the 
measured 85%ile speed adjacent to the junction and not the posted or proposed future 
speed limit. A legal process must be followed to change or extend a speed limit and during 
this process objections can be made which can delay or stop creation of the necessary legal 
order. For this reason, Suffolk County Council cannot accept visibility splays based on 
changes to speed limits unless there is confidence that no significant objections to the traffic 
regulation order are likely.  
 
Based on the available details of the five proposed developments the following changes to 
speed limits are suggested; 
 

Page 472



 
o Extend the 30mph speed limit north on Ixworth Road to Thurston Rugby Club  

o Extend the 30mph speed limit on Norton Road towards and beyond Church Road  

o Extend of 30mph speed limit on Barton Road west of Mill Lane  

o Create a new 40mph speed limit between and including the C693 Thurston Road / 
C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road and the C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston 
Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road for road safety reasons.  
 

The necessary Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) could be raised individually or preferably as 
a single order. The latter is preferred as it reduces cost and administration. This can be 
delivered through site specific or joint S106 contributions. As stated above implementation of 
an order cannot be guaranteed and if a TRO is required to justify reduced visibility splay 
lengths then the order would need to be substantially complete before such a reduction 
would be accepted. If a process can be agreed between the parties’ initial consultation can 
be undertaken in advance of determination of the planning applications. 
 
Pedestrian and Cycling Infrastructure 
The benefit of considering all five applications together is that a coherent system of footways 
and pedestrian crossings can be delivered in Thurston. The proposed footways are intended 
to provide good, direct pedestrian access both to the main village and schools. The 
proposed improvements, most of which have already been proposed by individual 
applications, are listed below:  
 

o An uncontrolled pedestrian crossing on Norton Road between Meadow Lane and 
Station Hill / Ixworth Road.  

 
o A footway on west side of Ixworth Road between Norton Road and the entrance to 

Persimmon’s site  
 

 
o A footway link on Ixworth Road between the entrance to the Persimmon development 

and the entrance to the Thurston Rugby Club.  

o A controlled pedestrian crossing facility (e.g. a raised table junction with zebra 
crossing) if practicable at or adjacent to the Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road 
junction. Pooled contributions from all 5 developments are required for the County 
Council to deliver this.  

o A footway on the north side of Norton Road from Meadow Lane east towards Church 
Lane as far as the site boundary allows. This could be within the development and or 
on the highway verge.  

o An uncontrolled pedestrian on Norton Road crossing linking the Hopkins Homes and 
Pigeon sites  

o Meadow Lane resurfaced to improve cycle / pedestrian facilities (and maintain 
access to properties)  

o Provide a metalled footway on Church Road between Footpath 006 and the footpath 
link to School Lane. This will include provision of street lighting along this short 
section of footpath.  

Page 473



o Provide two uncontrolled pedestrian crossings on Sandpit Lane to link the Hopkins 
Homes development to the main village  

 
With the exception of the pedestrian crossing facility at the junction of Ixworth Road, Station 
Hill and Norton Road, the above are expected to be secured by conditions or S106 
obligations as appropriate and delivered by the relevant development with S278 
(improvements to existing highway) or S38 agreements (if adoption as highway maintainable 
at public expense is desired) as appropriate. All the footways are expected to be metalled 
and where verge space allows provision for cyclists should also be considered. 
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW)  
It is proposed that a small number of PRoW are improved to provide alternative pedestrian 
links between the proposed developments and current and future school sites. These are 
improvements to:  
 

o Thurston Footpath 001 between Ixworth Road and Meadow Lane. It is proposed that 
this is to an all-weather standard, preferably a bituminous surface.  

o Thurston Footpath 018 between Ixworth Road and Mill Lane. This lies within the 
development site and the works can be secured by condition.  

 
o Thurston Footpath 006 between Norton Road and Church Road. This lies within the 

development site and the works can be secured by condition. It is proposed that this 
is to an all-weather standard; preferably a bituminous surface as far as it is a safe 
pedestrian route to the site north of Norton Road.  

 
o New PROW link along southern boundary of the Bovis Homes site to join Barton 

Road  
 

o New PROW link from the site west of Barton Road to Heath Road, linking with Cycle 
Route 51.  

 
o Improve PROW 007 North of Meadow Lane (un-metalled). 

 
If diversion of a PRoW is likely it is recommended that discussions are held with the relevant 
SCC officer at an early state. 
 
Public Transport  
Improvements to public transport infrastructure will be limited to any site-specific works 
necessary as a result of each development through S106. All other public transport 
improvements are included in the CIL.  
 
The specific highway comments relating to this scheme only are as follows: 
 
Site Access  
 

 Visibility splays of 4.5m x 60m are proposed and the access is within of the 30mph 
speed limit. This would be acceptable.  

 No swept path analysis has been provided for the entrance or within site. This will be 
required to show that the junction design is acceptable.  

 
Highway Drainage  
 

Page 474



 The applicant’s attention is drawn to the issue of potential adoption and future 
maintenance of the highway drainage system. SCC is reluctant to adopt permeable 
paving, lagoons and most Suds systems. Early discussion with SCC Development 
Management officers is recommended.  
 

Footway and cycle connectivity (inc Public Rights of Way)  
 

 The footway link to Meadow Lane should allow use by cycles in addition to 
pedestrians.  
 

Internal Highway Layout  
 

 The 5.5m width carriageway and 2m wide verges would be acceptable for the 
principal access road. Details of the shared surfaces has not been supplied.  

 
Car Parking  
 

 In the Design and Access Statement it is proposed that on-site parking and sizes of 
garages will comply with the current SCC guidance  

 
Landscaping  
 

 On the plans supplied it is noted that trees are shown in indicative positions. These 
are close to and overhanging the highway. Planting of vegetation that will or may in 
the future overhang the road should be restricted. Before the Highway Authority 
would consider a layout for an adopted road the applicant will need to agree details 
of such planting including how these would facilitate adequate street lighting and the 
risk of root damage mitigated. 
 

Proposed S278 works  
 

 Pedestrian crossing on Norton Road between Meadow Lane and Station Hill / 
Ixworth Road (uncontrolled)  

 

 Improvements to surface of Meadow Lane to promote cycle / pedestrian facilities 
(and maintain access to properties)  

 
Proposed S106 Heads of Terms  
 

 Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ 
C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton. A contribution of £22,249 is required on 
commencement of construction work on site. 
 

 Contribution towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 
Thurston Road / C693 New Road. A contribution of £4040 is required on 
commencement of the first dwelling. 

 

 Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at the junction of 
Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road. A contribution of £6988 is required on 
commencement of the first dwelling. 
 

 Contribution towards bus stops on Norton Road. A contribution of £4000 is required 
on commencement of the first dwelling. 
 

Page 475



The Local Highway Authority advises that the matters raised above and the reminder of the 
issues that are relevant to this proposal can be covered by planning conditions and within 
the S106 agreement for the scheme. The County has indicated that the cost of this will be 
£37,277 for the works required under S106 of the act and £23,879 for works under section 
278 of the Highways Act.  
 
 
SCC - Obligations Manager: Comments that 64 new houses proposed in the scheme will 
have an impact on local infrastructure particularly in terms of education.  
 
Primary Provision 
The residents of the scheme will generate the need for 15 new primary school places and it 
has been advised that there is no capacity in the local Primary School which is the Thurston 
Church of England Primary Academy to accommodate this development and as such a 
contribution is requested towards a new primary school. As new schools cannot be provided 
through the Council’s CIL scheme (the 123 list only allows for extensions to schools and not 
new schools) a request is made for a contribution towards a new school under S106 of the 
planning act.  
 
A contribution for £246,435 as broken down below is require to meet education needs which 
will arise from this development: 
 

School level Minimum pupil 
yield:  

Required: Cost per 
place £  
(2016/17): 

Primary school 
age range, 
5-11*: 

15 15 16,429 

 
Land for new school 
A contribution for a further £19,410 is also requested to contribute towards the cost of the 

land to provide the school. This is worked out on a maximum cost of £100,000 per acre 
(£247,100 per hectare, which will be £543,620 for a 2.2 hectare site and equates to 
£1,294 per pupil place. For the proposed development, this equates to a proportionate 
land contribution of 29 places x £1,294 per place = £19,410 
 
Temporary classroom 
The Obligations Manager has also advised that there will be a need for temporary 
classroom arrangements to accommodate the needs of the children that arise from this 
development. The existing primary school is on a very constrained site and an extension 
to the facility is not possible under Department for Education guidelines. However, it is 
advised that where extra pupils either through a spike in local population or from housing 
development cause a ‘bulge’ in the admission numbers, this can be accommodated by 
providing temporary classrooms. 
 
A double temporary mobile classroom providing 60 places could be located within the 
hard surfaced play and car park areas within the school for a period of no longer than 3 
years to meet the admissions ‘bulge’ which would be caused by this and other large 
housing developments in Thurston.  As the primary school is an academy whereby the 
County Council has limited control over its operation, agreement to the provision of the 
temporary building has had to be sought from the Academy board that runs the school 
and it is understood from the Obligations Manager, that agreement has now been given 
by them for this to go ahead. 
 

Page 476



The temporary classroom will be facilitated via a CIL bid as it is classified as being an 
extension to an existing school in the Council’s 123 list. 
 
Secondary School and 6th form provision 
The Obligations Manager has commented that secondary and 6th form provision in the area 
is currently sufficient to accommodate the additional pupils which will be generated from this 
proposal as shown in the table below. 
 
Total primary education contributions: £265,845 
 
Restriction on occupation 

The Obligations Manager has also commented that as there are two residential sites in 
Thurston proposing a primary school site (application 5070/16 – Land on land at Norton 

Road, Thurston for Pigeon Capital and 4963/16 – Land west of Ixworth Road – 
Persimmon Homes) but neither application is approved yet, that the district council 
should consider imposing a planning condition restricting occupation of any dwellings 
once the capacity of the existing primary school with additional temporary classroom are 
full. This condition could then be discharged once the construction of the new primary 
school on whichever site has been chosen has commenced. 
 
Pre-school      

The Obligations Manager has also noted that there are currently 4 pre-school 
establishments in the locality (2 childminders, Thurston pre-school and Tinkerbells Day 
Nursery) and that spare capacity between them is only 10 spaces. Based on the scale of 
development currently being assessed in Thurston, the proposed legislative changes and 
the intention to establish a new primary school (with nursery provision), the most practical 
approach is to establish a new early education setting on the site of the new primary school 
which would be a 30 place setting, providing sufficient capacity for 60 children in total. Our 
latest estimates are that a 30 place early education setting costs £500,000 to construct on a 
site of approximately 630m2 (note: this includes outdoor play and parking). 
 
The Mid Suffolk Regulation 123 List indicates that new early years settings are not identified 
for funding through CIL. A proportionate contribution for this scheme would be based on 14 
children of the total 60 who would be accommodated within the new setting, could be 
calculated as follows (revised costs from a similar scheme in Suffolk):  

o £500,000 construction cost (including land as collocated with the new primary school) 
for a new 60 place setting  

o £500,000/60 early years pupils = £8,333 per place  From 137 dwellings there is the 
need for 14 additional places  

o Therefore 6 pupils x £8,333 per place = £49,998 (2016/17 costs)  
 
Total contribution for all education provision - £315,843  
 
Other infrastructure contributions 
Requests a contribution of £13,824 towards library provision. This is requested under the 
Council’s CIL 123 list. 
 
Landscape Officer – Essex Place Services: Does not raise any objections to this proposal 

and requests that the specific detailing of the landscaping can be controlled by a planning 

condition.  

SCC Public Rights of Way – Does not raise any objections to this proposal as they 
comment that it does not directly affect public footpath no.1 which runs nearby. 
 

Page 477



Ecology Officer, Essex Place Services – Advises that the mitigation measures outlined in 
the applicant’s ecology report should be implemented in full. The ecologist has not objected 
to this proposal subject to the imposition of conditions to achieve the above and to control 
lighting on site.   
 
Environment Agency – Does not object to this scheme on flood risk or on foul water 
grounds.  
 
They have also considered the cumulative impact of all 5 schemes together and they advise 
that none of the sites are in an area at risk of fluvial flooding. They also confirm that from 
their records there will be sufficient capacity in the Thurston Water Recycling Centre to 
accommodate all 827 dwellings. They have advised that Thurston lies in an area of ‘water 
supply stress’ by Anglian Water which has a duty under their own legislation to provide a 
water supply to new houses when they are built. 
 
Highways England: Does not raise any objection in relation to this proposal. 
 
Natural England – They do not have any comments to make on this proposal. 
 
Network Rail – They have been consulted on the cumulative impact of building 827 new 
dwellings in Thurston on the railway station and the local railway network as requested by 
the local community. They state that the main issue is the Barrow Level Crossing at 
Thurston station which has historically seen a number of safety issues associated with it and 
the level of usage which would arise from the erection of the number of dwellings proposed 
would have a severe impact on safety unless mitigation measures are introduced. They 
indicate that their preferred option is to close the level crossing and replace it with a new 
pedestrian ramp from platform 1 (upside) down the embankment leading onto Beyton Road. 
This design will also need to include a drop off point/layby for vehicles along Beyton Road. 
They have advised that the cost of the works amount to £1million and should be shared 
proportionally amongst the developers. They are seeking this through a S106 agreement. 
 
When questioned, Network Rail has made it clear that the works that they propose to the 
crossing point at Thurston Station are directly related to the impact of the 5 planning 
applications and the 827 houses that would be built.  They have advised that the other 
works that they propose to close crossing points elsewhere on the same line are minor in 
nature and cannot be compared to this site as the other crossing points are not facing 
unprecedented levels of pedestrian use which would be generated from the proposed 
housing in Thurston.   
 
NHS/Primary Care Trust – The proposal will have an impact on the Woolpit Health Centre 
and there will be a need to either extend or reconfigure the building to meet the additional 
capacity requirements that will be generated if this proposal is approved. The PCT have not 
specified an amount that they require, but they have confirmed that they will be making a bid 
under the Council’s CIL scheme for the funding that they require to carry out the works they 
deem necessary to ensure that the facilities can meet the need that arises from this 
development. 
 
Suffolk Constabulary – Initially raised a few concerns in terms of potential site security and 
advised how these could be resolved.   
 
Suffolk Wildlife Trust – Raise the following points: 
 

o The site is bordered by hedgerow which is a Suffolk Priority species. The plans are 
unclear in that they show the hedgerow being incorporated into domestic gardens 

Page 478



which will cause issues. As the hedgerow is species rich it should be retained outside 
of the gardens of the dwellings. 

o The hedgerow on Norton Road is to be removed. It is unclear in the application if this 
is going to be replaced elsewhere in the site as an ecological compensation 
measure. 

o The scheme should be lit sympathetically to ensure that it does not have a negative 
impact on ecology. 

o There are hedgehogs in the locality which are a UK and Suffolk Priority species. We 
recommend that gaps are maintained in the hedgerows and boundaries within the 
site so that the hedgehogs can permeate through it.  

o The applicant’s ecology report was done late in the season for Skylarks and it could 
be the case that the site currently offers potential nesting for Skylarks and a 
compensation scheme would be required for this loss if planning permission is given.   

o The scheme should provide environmental/ecological enhancements in the locality. 
 
Representations 
 
 11 letters have been received objecting to this proposal on the following grounds: 
 
Highway safety 
 

 A single access point into the site is unacceptable as this will impact greatly on the 
known pinch points on the highway network in the village. 

 Norton Road is dangerous along the stretch of highway where the access to the site 
will be located.   

 The local roads are inadequate and dangerous to cope with so many new dwellings 
and they are always in a poor state of repair which will be made worse by this 
proposal. 

 There are a number of dangerous junctions and pinch points in the area which will 
become more dangerous with the number of vehicles which will be generated by this 
development. 

 There are congestion and safety concerns with the junction in the village particularly 
at Thedwastre Corner and Fishwick Corner. 

 The Community College is already a traffic hazard. The increased number of 
residents will make this situation worse. 

 Parking at the railway station is an issue and this will make the situation worse. 

 The railway station has poor parking. Additional residents from this site using the 
railway station will increase the parking issues experienced.  

 
Infrastructure 
 

 This proposal will have a negative impact on water pressure in the locality. 

 This development will create excessive additional pressure on the local GP 
surgeries.   

 The local primary school can accommodate the children from this development as it 
is at capacity. Children may have to be bussed elsewhere which is not acceptable. 

 A new primary school should be built before the dwellings are built and occupied. 
 
Impact on the character and amenity of the area 

 

 The proposal will result in urban sprawl into the surrounding open countryside and 
does not respect the rural building patterns and styles in this part of Thurston. 

 The proposal does not respect the style or the density of any of the neighbouring 
properties. It is an urban style scheme in a village environment and totally out of 

Page 479



keeping. 

 The applicant’s landscaping scheme lacks detail and has not been designed with the 
existing surrounding dwellings in mind.  

 The surrounding area is currently dark and this proposal will significantly alter that to 
an unacceptable level.  

 There are too many 4 and 5 bedroom properties in this scheme. 
 
Impact on residential amenity 
 

 The proposal would severely affect the amenity and the privacy of the objector by 
changing the character of this part of the village from agricultural to residential. 

 The proposed flats on site would provide views into the objector’s garden which is 
unacceptable. 

 Consider if the layout was changed, that the scheme could be made acceptable so it 
does not affect the objector’s living conditions.  

 It is surprising that two storey properties are being erected next to bungalows. This is 
unacceptable as it will impact on the amenities of the bungalow owner.  

 
 
Impact on wildlife/trees in the locality 
 

 The proposal will impact on the root zones of trees in the objector’s garden.  

 The extent of the Ecological report for the site is not clear from the documents 
submitted. It needs to be clarified.   

 
Flood risk 
 

 Drainage is an issue in the locality. The development can only make matters worse 
particularly for the properties that are not on mains drainage. 

 
Policy issues 
 

 The proposal does not reflect the housing needs in the locality as identified in the 
emerging neighbourhood plan. 

 All existing houses in the area should be occupied before new ones are built. When 
this happens development should be on brownfield land only. 

 All development in Thurston should be put on hold until the neighbourhood plan and 
the new style local plan is in place. A limited number of developers should then be 
invited to apply for planning permission for residential development in Thurston.  

 The site is in the Greenbelt and national policy is for that to be developed only in 
exceptional circumstances.  

 The development is outside the settlement limits for Thurston and as such it cannot 
be considered to be sustainable. 

 
Ecology 
 

 The proposal will result in the loss of valuable ecology through the development of 
the field. There are bats, amphibians, Owls and Swallows, hedgehogs and mice on 
this site amongst many other species.  

 
Other issues 
 

 This field is agricultural land and it will be lost forever if this scheme is approved and 
built.  

Page 480



 This proposal will make Thurston a town and not the current village that it is. 

 This proposal will add to the current safety concerns at the railway station where 
pedestrians have to cross over the railway line to access trains. 

 The applicant has not considered archaeology or anything in relation to buildings of 
historic interest in his application. It is likely that there may be items of importance 
within the ground and the proposal would end up destroying them. 

 The view across Meadow Lane which is currently enjoyed by residents will be lost. 

 There would be increase pollution in the village from all of the vehicles belonging to 
the occupiers of the new properties.  

 Why has the council allowed this developer to submit this application? Doesn’t the 
council have any control to stop things like this from being submitted? 

 The land the other side of the railway line should be developed first before this 
parcel.   
 

 
Cumulative Impacts 
 

 The 5 sites in Thurston should be considered cumulatively and not singularly due to 
their linked impacts and the effect they will have on the infrastructure of the area. 

 The quantity of houses in this application is more reasonable than in the other 
schemes proposed However cumulatively with the others and if approved, this 
scheme is considered to be unacceptable as the total housing numbers between all 
schemes is too high.  

 
A single letter has been received in support of this scheme raising the following point: 
 

 64 dwellings are more in keeping with Thurston than the other schemes proposed.  
 
The Site and Surroundings 
 
8. The application site lies in the village of Thurston which has a population of 

approximately 3200 people (2011 census) and is on the land of a former nursery 
business. The land contains in part a number of disused glasshouses and poly 
tunnels with the reminder of the land being used as open grassland for the grazing of 
sheep. The land is classified as grade 3b agricultural land for the part used to graze 
sheep and grade 5 for the part that contains the glasshouses and the polytunnels 
and is just over 3 hectares in area.  

 
9. The site lies to the west of Meadow Lane, to the north of Norton Road and stretches 

towards Ryland Close to the west. The site extends as far north as Meadow Lodge 
Cottage and to the south of Cedars Close. 

 
10. The field subject of this application is predominantly is flat and is subdivided into two 

parts by a hedge due to its existing agricultural and former plant nursery use. The 
Norton Road frontage of the site is bordered by a mixture of trees and hedging with 
only limited views possible into the site. Meadow Lane is to the east and is a single 
car width dead end road, and is bordered from the site by a hedge with sporadic 
trees within it. There are gaps in this hedge and views are possible into the site from 
Meadow Lane.  

 
11. The dormer bungalow known as Meadow Lodge Cottage has its frontage facing into 

the site and is only divided from the field by a post and rail fence. Ryland Close is a 
housing estate to the south west corner of the site and it is separated from the field 
by hedging. Two further properties border the site and are accessed off Ixworth Road 

Page 481



and these properties have substantial rear gardens that butt up to a hedge and trees 
which divide them from the site. Further to the north lies the most southern property 
on Cedar’s Close which again is divided from the site by the belt of trees and hedging 
that runs from the western boundary of the site along the northern boundary.  

 
12. The properties in the surrounding area include large modern detached houses to the 

south of Norton Road, on the road known as Cloverfields with properties of similar 
proportion within Rylands Close, although these are semi-detached houses as 
opposed to detached. The two properties on Ixworth Road are different to each other 
with one being a bungalow and the other a detached house. The properties on 
Cedar’s Close to the North are all large detached houses.  

 
The Proposal 
 
13. Please note details of the proposed development including plans and application 

documents can be found online. 
 
14. The applicant is proposed a full planning application for the erection of 64 dwellings 

on the application site. Vehicular access to the site will be solely from Norton Road 
almost at the central point of the frontage of the site. It is laid out with an estate road 
running though from the access point running in a squared off loop. There are private 
driveways at various points in the layout providing access to the various dwellings 
and there is a footpath link from Meadow Lane into the site to provide an alternative 
pedestrian access point. A large communal open space/Suds drainage area is shown 
as a focal point within the site and lies towards the north of the estate with a number 
of properties enjoying a view onto it.   

 
15. The proposed layout for the site shows that the majority of the dwellings are two 

storeys. There is a bungalow proposed on site and there are also flats, but the flats 
are within properties that have the appearances of a detached house rather than 
being in a larger taller block. The applicant comments in his design and access 
statement that the properties are of a design and style that reflects the surrounding 
locality as does the suggested palate of materials. They also comment that the 
roofing style and the roofing materials of the proposed dwellings also match the local 
vernacular. The scheme as submitted has a density of 21 dwellings per hectare. 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
16. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government's 

planning policies for England and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  
Planning law continues to require that applications for planning permission are 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  The policies contained within the NPPF are a material 
consideration and should be taken into account for decision-making purposes.   

 
17. The following parts of the NPPF are considered to be applicable to this scheme: 
 

Para 6: Achieving sustainable development  
Para 7: Three dimensions to sustainable development  
Para 11 – 15: The presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para 17: Core planning principles  
Paras 32 and 34: Transport movements  
Para 47: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes (including the need to have a 
5 year deliverable supply of housing)  

Page 482



Para 49: All housing proposals should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Paragraph 55: To promote sustainable development in rural areas. 
Paras 56 & 60: Requiring good design  
Para 64: Development of poor design must not be supported.  
Para 69: Promoting healthy communities  
Para 70: Delivery of social, recreational and cultural facilities that the community 
needs. 
Para 72: Provision of school places. 
Para 73: Access to high quality open space.  
Para 75: Protection and enhancement of public rights of way. 
Para 100: Development and flood risk  
Para 103: Development and increasing flood risk elsewhere  
Para 109: Planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment.  
Paras 112 & 117–119: Development affecting protected wildlife   
Para 123: Planning and noise. 
Para 125: Planning and darker skies. 
Paras 128 & 129: Describing the significance of a designated heritage asset. 
Para 131: Determining planning applications that affect heritage assets. 
Para 132: Significance of heritage assets. 
Para 134: Development and less than substantial harm 
Para 186: Approaching decision taking in a positive way. 
Para 187: Local Planning Authorities should find solutions rather than problems in 
decision taking. 
Para 196: Plan led planning system. 
Para 197: Assessing and determining application applying the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.  
Paras 203 -206 – Planning conditions and obligations. 
Paras 211 - 212: Using development plans and the NPPF in decision making.  
Paras 214 – 215: The weight attached to development plan policies having regards 
to their consistency with the NPPF.  
Para 216 – Weight given to policies in emerging plans 

 
CORE STRATEGY 
 
18. Core Strategy Focused Review 

 
 FC1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 FC1.1 – Mid Suffolk’s approach to delivering sustainable development 
 FC2 – Provision and distribution of housing. 
 
19. Core Strategy 
 
 CS1 – Settlement hierarchy 
 CS2 – Development in the countryside & countryside villages 
 CS4 – Adapting to climate change. 
 CS5 – Mid Suffolk’s environment 
 CS6 – Services and infrastructure 
 CS9 – Density and mix 
 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN / SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS /AREA 

ACTION PLAN 
 
20. In 2013 Thurston received a neighbourhood plan designation and the settlement is 

Page 483



currently working on its new neighbourhood plan. The plan is however at an early 
stage and as yet does not have any policies which could be used in the assessment 
and consideration of this proposal 

 
SAVED POLICIES IN THE LOCAL PLAN 
 
21. GP1 – Design and layout of new developments 

HB1 – Protection of historic buildings 
HB13 – Protecting ancient monuments 

 HB14 – Ensuring that Archaeological remains are not destroyed 
 H3 – Housing developments in villages 
 H13 – Design and layout of development 
 H15 – Development to reflect local characteristics. 

H16 – Protecting existing residential amenity  
H17 – Keeping new development away from pollution 

 CL8 – Protecting wildlife 
 CL11 – Retaining high quality agricultural land 
 T9 – Parking standards 

T10 – Highway consideration in developments 
 RT4 – Amenity open space and play areas within residential development 
 RT12 – Footpaths and bridleways 
 SB3 – Retaining visually import landscapes (with the land to the south of this site 

between it and the college being designated) 
 
Main Considerations 
 
22. From an assessment of relevant planning policy and guidance, representations 

received, the planning designations and other material issues the main planning 
considerations considered relevant to this case are set out including the reason/s for 
the decision, any alternative options considered and rejected.  Where a decision is 
taken under a specific express authorisation, the names of any Member of the 
Council or local government body who has declared a conflict of interest are 
recorded. 

 
23. The following are identified as the main considerations in assessing this application: 
 
The Principle Of Development 
 
24. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Councils to identify and 

update, on an annual basis, a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 
for five years worth of housing provision against identified requirements (paragraph 
47). For sites to be considered deliverable they have to be available, suitable, 
achievable and viable.  

 
25. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the 

local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites (as stated in paragraph 49 of the NPPF). Where policies cannot be considered 
up-to-date, the NPPF (paragraph 14) cites the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that planning permission should be granted unless i) any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or ii) 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted. The 
presumption in paragraph 14 also applies where a proposal is in accordance with the 
development plan, where it should be granted without delay (unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise).  

Page 484

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 
26. The precise meaning of ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing’ has been the 

subject of much case law, with inconsistent results. However last month, the 
Supreme Court gave judgment in a case involving Suffolk Coastal District Council 
which has clarified the position. The Supreme Court overruled earlier decisions of the 
High Court and the Court of appeal in this and other cases, ruling that a ‘’narrow’’ 
interpretation of this expression is correct; i.e.it means policies identifying the 
numbers and location of housing, rather than the “wider” definition which adds 
policies which have the indirect effect of inhibiting the supply of housing, for example, 
countryside protection policies. However, the Supreme Court made it clear that the 
argument over the meaning of this expression is not the real issue. The absence of a 
five year housing land supply triggers the application of paragraph 14 of the NPPF. In 
applying the ‘tilted balance’ required by this paragraph, the Council must decide what 
weight to attach to all of the relevant development plan policies, whether they are 
policies for the supply of housing or restrictive ‘counterpart’ polices such as 
countryside protection policies.  

 
27. In accordance with National Planning Policy Guidance paragraph 030 (Reference ID: 

3-030-20140306) the starting point for calculating the 5 year land supply should be 
the housing requirement figures in up-to-date adopted Local Plans. It goes on to 
state that ‘…considerable weight should be given to the housing requirement figures 
in adopted Local Plans, which have successfully passed through the examination 
process, unless significant new evidence comes to light….Where evidence in Local 
Plans has become outdated and policies in emerging plans are not yet capable of 
carrying sufficient weight, information provided in the latest full assessment of 
housing needs should be considered. But the weight given to these assessments 
should take account of the fact they have not been tested or moderated against 
relevant constraints...’ 

 
28. The Council published the Ipswich and Waveney Housing Market Areas Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) in May 2017 which is significant new evidence 
for the emerging Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan. Therefore, the 5 year 
land supply has been calculated for both the adopted Core Strategy based figures 
and the new SHMA based figures. For determining relevant planning applications, it 
will be for the decision taker to consider appropriate weight to be given to these 
assessments and the relevant policies of the development plan. 

 
29. A summary of the MSDC 5 year land supply position is: 

 

 Core Strategy based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 

 SHMA based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 
 

30. The NPPF requires that development be sustainable, and paragraph 6 of the NPPF 
sets out guidance on what this means in practice by drawing attention to all of the 
policies from paragraph 18 to 219 of the NPPF. In some circumstances there is also 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development which is to be applied as set out 
in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This has been discussed above.  

 
31. Paragraph 7 of the NPPF sets out three dimensions for sustainable development, 

economic, social and environmental: 
 

"an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure:  

Page 485

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/


 
a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and 
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect 
the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and  

 
an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and 
historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change including moving to a low carbon economy."  

 
32. In light of all of the above, this report will consider the proposal against the policies of 

the development plan to determine if the development is in accordance with the 
development plan as a whole. If it is not, and there are policy conflicts, they will need 
to be weighed against other material considerations to see whether a decision which 
does not accord with the development plan is warranted, in the light of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and in the context of the authority 
not being able to demonstrate a 5 year land supply. 

 
Sustainability of the Proposal (including assessment against the development plan 
and the NPPF) 
 
33. The Parish Council and some of the objectors have commented that this scheme 

should be refused as this proposal is outside the development limits for Thurston and 
is contrary to the policies as contained in the adopted Core Strategy and Local Plan. 
They also comment that housing numbers should be limited in Thurston to no more 
than 50 per site. However, it is clear on reviewing the guidance in the NPPF as 
outlined above that this cannot be done as as the Council does not have a 5 year 
supply of housing as required by the NPPF. Other comments have been received 
stating that the Council should not consider this application and the others in the 
Thurston area until the Council determine in a new style local plan its stance on the 
location of new housing in the district. Comments have also been made that the 
Council should not determine this application until the Parish Council’s 
Neighbourhood Plan has received its referendum vote.   However, national policy as 
contained in the NPPF does not give the Council either of these options and requires 
all applications to be determined promptly. Furthermore, as the Council has a deficit 
of housing completions with the result that it is significantly short of reaching its 5 
year supply target, a limit on new housing in any part of the district cannot be given 
until the deficit in completions is made up to the 5 year level. This is why the housing 
figures in policy FC2 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy is considered to be out of date 
and cannot be used to limit housing as suggested we do by an objector.  

 
34. In reaching a decision, paragraph 47 of the NPPF is a material consideration and 

requires Local Planning Authorities to boost significantly the supply of housing, by 
identifying and updating annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements with an 
additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. As 
stated above, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and as 
such paragraph 49 of the NPPF applies and states that in this situation, the relevant 
policies for the supply of housing in the Council’s adopted plan should not be 
considered to be up to date and that the scheme remains to be considered under the 
requirements of paragraphs 7 and 14 of the NPPF which defines what sustainable 
development is and how decisions should be made. 

 

Page 486



35. The contents of paragraph 55 of the NPPF are also considered to be material in the 
making of a decision on this case. Objections have been received stating that this 
proposal should not be allowed as it is outside the settlement limit for Thurston and 
that the site should be considered as countryside. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF makes 
it clear that Councils can no longer consider sites that are adjacent or near to a 
settlement limit to be unacceptable simply because they are the wrong side of a line. 
It now makes it clear that ‘new isolated homes in the countryside will not be 
supported and that Councils are encouraged to promote sustainable development in 
rural areas by considering housing development in locations where they could 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. It gives an example in 
paragraph 55 that new housing could provide increased facilities in one settlement 
which would be of benefit to it and the other surrounding settlements.   

 
36. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the application site is not in an 

isolated location as it is adjacent to the built up part of the village with dwellings to its 
west, south and north east elevations, and the scheme will bring with it contributions 
which will be of benefit to the residents of Thurston and the surrounding villages. 
Therefore, in terms of paragraph 55 of the NPPF, this proposal could be considered 
to promote sustainable development in a rural area. However, having regards to the 
fact that the Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing and has to balance the 
negatives of the scheme against the positives that it brings in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF, consideration of whether the scheme will be supported as 
sustainable development will be given in the conclusion to this report. 

 
37. Since the submission of this application, four other developers have also submitted 

application for residential development in Thurston. Hopkins Homes have applied for 
175 dwellings (2797/16 and an identical proposal under reference number 5010/16 
which they have appealed for non-determination); Bovis Homes has applied for 138 
dwellings on land to the west side of Barton Road under reference number 4386/16; 
Persimmon has applied for up to 250 dwellings and land for a new school on land off 
Ixworth Road (4963/16) and Pigeon Capital for up to 200 homes and also a new 
primary school (5070/16). Including this application, 827 new homes are currently 
proposed in Thurston. There are also a further 92 dwellings which have planning 
permission at the Granary where works are commencing on site at present. 

 
38. Following receipt of these applications an approach of joint working to explore 

cumulative infrastructure issues has been agreed between the respective applicants 
and the District and County Council. This has enabled the constructive exploration of 
significant infrastructure issues on a collaborative but without prejudice basis to a 
consensual timetable.  Therefore, as there are unprecedented numbers of new 
dwellings proposed it is considered that all schemes must be considered both on 
their own merits and in combination with each other to assess if they meet the tests 
for sustainable development as outlined in the NPPF. The assessment of whether 
this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable development is given in the 
conclusion. 

 
39. Policy FC1 of the Mid Suffolk District Core Strategy Focused Review states that it 

takes a positive approach to sustainable development and like in the NPPF, the 
Council will work proactively with developers to resolve issues that improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. Related policy FC1.1 
makes it clear that for development to be considered sustainable it must be 
demonstrated against the principles of sustainable development. The policy goes on 
to say that proposals for development must conserve and enhance the local 
character of the different parts of the district and how it addresses the key issues of 
the district. 

Page 487



 
40. The settlement of Thurston is one of the two largest villages in the district of Mid 

Suffolk (with the other being nearby Elmswell) where a wide range of local services 
and local infrastructure is provided. Thurston has both a primary and a secondary 
school, and a number of other local facilities which act as a service to the inhabitants 
of the village as well as providing employment opportunities to the wider area. Whilst 
Thurston does not have a doctor’s surgery, there is one in Woolpit and another in 
Moreton Hall which is a reasonably short journey away either by car or via public 
transport.  

 
41. Thurston is also unusual in that it has a railway station which provides access for the 

residents to be able to commute to Ipswich, Bury St Edmunds and further afield 
without having to use their cars. Thurston is also on a bus route with a number of 
designated stops within the village.  

 
42. In relation to paragraph 7 of the NPPF, the proposals would contribute to building a 

strong, responsive and competitive economy through the creation of construction and 
related jobs and the on-going contribution to the local economy from the creation of 
64 additional households in the area. The proposals would also contribute towards 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations and by having the potential to create a high quality built environment, as 
well as contributions towards affordable housing, the highway network and other 
social infrastructure (public open space, education, health care) through a CIL 
contribution, or where appropriate, a section 106 agreement.  

 
43. It must also be remembers that paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that 

housing applications should be considered in the context of sustainable 
development. The applicant is proposing up to 138 dwellings in this instance and 
they have confirmed that it is their intention if they get planning permission to 
commence with work on site as soon as possible. To speed this up, they have 
agreed to have a shorter period than is usual to commence with works on site (2 
rather than 3 years) which helps to justify that as a developer, they are serious about 
delivering the houses. They have also signed an agreement with Mid Suffolk and 
Suffolk County Council to work as a group with the other 4 other developers in 
Thurston to contribute to and work together to achieve the necessary infrastructure 
within the area to make this and the other 4 schemes sustainable.  

 
44. The Council’s Sustainability Officer has objected to the scheme on the grounds that 

insufficient detail in terms of the build specification and the energy efficiency of the 
dwellings has been submitted to the Council. The applicant has subsequently 
submitted this information and it is considered to be sufficient to address the issues 
raised by the Sustainability Officer.  

 
45. Consideration of whether this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable 

development, having regard to the contents of policies FC1 and FC1.2 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy Focused Review and the contents of the NPPF will be 
reached in the conclusion to this report. 

 
Site Access, Parking And Highway Safety Considerations 
 
46. Policy T10 of the Mid Suffolk District Local Plan provides criteria on highway 

considerations when assessing planning applications. This policy requires access 
points into and out of the site to be safe and an assessment made as to whether the 
existing local roads can suitably accommodate the impact of the proposal, whether 
adequate parking and turning spaces exist within the site and that the needs of 

Page 488



pedestrians and cyclists have been met. This policy is considered to carry significant 
weight in the determination of this application as it is in compliance with paragraph 32 
of the NPPF which requires all schemes to provide safe access for all. 
 

47. A number of objections have been received to the scheme on the grounds that a 
single access point from Norton Road into the site is unacceptable as it is in close 
proximity to a number of pinch points in the local highway network which will cause 
safety issues as well as increasing congestion at peak times. Mention has specifically 
been made that some local junctions are unsafe at present (see Local Highway 
Authority consultation response for details), particularly those adjacent to the railway 
bridge to the south of the village and that this scheme will exacerbate this problem as 
more vehicles will be using these junctions to access local roads, particularly the A14 
to reach other destinations such as Bury St Edmunds and further afield. Comments 
have also been received that this scheme cumulatively with the other 4 schemes that 
have been submitted in Thurston for residential development will cause a significant 
and severe impact on the road network in the locality both in terms of congestion and 
safety. 

 
48. The site is located to the north east of the village with the sole access to it being from 

Norton Road which lies to the south of the site. Proposed is a single access point 
which is proposed towards the centre of the boundary of the site with Norton Road 
with a network of internal estate roads leading off from that.  

 
49. The Local Highway Authority has not objected to the scheme as he is satisfied that 

the access point into the site can be made safe.  Furthermore, he has not raised any 
issues with the internal layout of the site as proposed and specific matters in relation 
to the above can be controlled by planning conditions. He has also accepted the 
applicant’s trip data and is satisfied that the site can be linked to the neighbouring 
Pigeon site and to the village itself by a network of pavements to allow pedestrian 
access. The scheme is considered to meet the requirements of paragraph 32 of the 
NPPF in that safe access can be provided for all and the requirements of policy T10 
of the Mid Suffolk District Local Plan. 

 
50. In terms of the comments that have been received that a single access point is 

unacceptable and that a second access point should be provided that the Manual for 
Streets which the Local Highway Authority works to, allows 250 dwellings to be 
accessed from a single access point, and to consider refusing this scheme which has 
significantly less dwellings on it than that on that grounds would be difficult to defend 
at appeal.  

 
51. The Local Highway Authority has considered the cumulative impact of this proposal 

and the other 4 schemes currently before the Council both in terms of safety and 
congestion on the highway network in Thurston and they have come to the 
conclusion that the impact of the 5 scheme if they all come forwards will be severe. 
However, the Local Highway Authority made it clear that the NPPF requires all public 
bodies to try and resolve problems and they are confidents that if all 5 developers 
work together and are brought forwards together, suitable and cost effective 
alterations can be made to the highway network to ensure that the impact does not 
become severe. The Local Highway Authority has assessed the road network and 
has suggested alterations and improvements to key areas of it (see the Local 
Highway Authority consultation response earlier in this report for more information) 
which all 5 developers have been asked to contribute towards through either a 
section 106 agreement or through the Highways Act. All 5 developers which include 
Laurence Homes have agreed to contribute towards the works as requested by the 
Highway Authority. For the Laurence proposal, the Local Highway Authority is 

Page 489



requesting £37,277 via a S106 agreement, and a further £23,879 under section 278 
of the Highway Act.  

 
52. As such, the Local Highway Authority does not consider that this proposal fails the 

requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF when considered cumulatively with the 
other 4 residential schemes as the impact with the alterations carried out to the 
highway network will no longer be severe in terms of safety. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the Local Highway Authority has not raised any objections to this scheme on 
congestion grounds and does not consider that additional traffic and queuing as a 
consequence of this scheme can be considered to be severe to sustain a defendable 
refusal of planning permission. 

 
53. The Local Highway Authority identify that the scheme will offer sustainable travel 

options to local residents as additional pavements and bus shelters are proposed 
and these will link up to both existing facilities and those proposed on neighbouring 
sites by the other developers seeking at the moment to build houses in Thurston. 
This will help to improve accessibility on foot and via public transport and will ensure 
that the site is accessible to the local railway station. The Local Highway Authority is 
also recommending that the applicant provides a travel plan to ensure that there are 
sustainable transport options available to the new residents of the scheme rather 
than just having to rely on their private cars to access local facilities. Due to the size 
of this scheme, the Local Highway Authority considers that this can be done via a 
planning condition as opposed to the S106 route which is to be used by the larger 
proposals.  

 
54. Having regards to the above, it is considered that this proposal is acceptable in terms 

of highway safety and complies with the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF 
and paragraph T10 of the local plan as safe access can be provided for all. 

 
Design And Layout [Impact On Street Scene] 
 
55. Section 7 of the NPPF refers to design.  Specifically, paragraph 56 states that good 

design is a key aspect of sustainable development; it should contribute positively to 
making places better for people.  Decisions should aim to ensure that development 
will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, establish a strong sense of 
place, create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit, optimise the 
potential of the site to accommodate development, create and sustain an appropriate 
mix of uses and support local facilities and transport networks.  Furthermore it 
provides that development should respond to local character and history, and reflect 
the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation.  The NPPF goes on to state it is "proper to seek to promote 
or reinforce local distinctiveness" (para 60) and permission should be "refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving 
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions" (para 64).  In addition 
policy CS5 provides that "All development will maintain and enhance the 
environment, including the historic environment, and retain the local distinctiveness 
of the area” and echoes the provision of the NPPF. 
 

56. Objections have been received stating that the site is currently an open field and that 
dwellings of the design, scale and density of the proposal, particularly in reference to 
the fact that the majority of the properties are two storey dwellings potentially being 
built on site is considered to be inappropriate and urban in form and not in keeping 
with the rural design and feel of the locality.  

 

Page 490



57. The applicant has submitted a full application showing 64 dwellings with the majority 
of these being houses, although there is a limited supply of bungalows on site. The 
houses range in size with some of them being semi-detached, others being split into 
flats and other being single dwelling houses and they are mixed throughout the site. 
This gives a density of 21 dwellings per hectare. The applicant has shown that 35% 
of these dwellings are affordable and they are of a specification, location and tenure 
that is acceptable to the Council’s Affordable Housing Officer.  

 
58. The dwellings that surround the site are predominantly of 20th century construction 

and are in the main modern estate type houses. The dwellings as proposed are not 
mock traditional Suffolk properties but have been designed using the local Suffolk 
style in terms of the proportions, roof style and detailing and the finish of the 
properties and are similar in style and proportion to the existing estate style 
properties that surround parts of the site. Objectors have asked for the numbers of 
bungalows proposed to be increased as they consider that this would make the 
development more in keeping with the locality. They say that this increase would also 
meet the findings of the emerging Neighbourhood Plan. However, as stated above, 
the residential form of this part of Thurston is modern housing and as such what is 
proposed by the applicant is in keeping with this and there is no need to redesign the 
layout to incorporate more bungalows. As stated above, the Neighbourhood Plan is 
at an early stage and has yet to have any policies for consideration and is some way 
off from its referendum and as such only limited weight can be apportioned to it as 
advised by the NPPF. As this is the case, and it has been established that the 
proposal is in keeping with the house styles in the locality that it would not be a 
defendable decision to make the applicant alter the scheme to provide more 
bungalows.  

 
59. In terms of the layout of the site, a single road is proposed through the site with the 

estate road forming a loop back to the access. These are a mixture of adopted 
highway and private driveways and in terms of the layout, this is not considered to be 
dissimilar to what is seen in the modern development in the modern estates that 
neighbour the site. The site has substantial landscaping and hedging around it and 
the applicant is using this and supplanting it to ensure that the scheme minimises its 
impact on the surrounding area and helps it to integrate with the surrounding open 
countryside to the north. The density of the scheme of the scheme is also considered 
to be appropriate to its location and it cannot be considered to be a dense form of 
development as referred to by some of the objectors. The Police initially raised 
concerns in relation to the amount of hedging and trees proposed within the site as 
this could provide opportunities for crime. However, it is considered that the specific 
specification of the applicant’s landscaping scheme can be provided via a planning 
condition if this scheme is approved and this matter can be addressed as part of that 
scheme.  

 
60. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the scheme in terms of the style, 

density and layout of the properties as proposed constitutes good design in line with 
the requirements of the NPPF and local policy CS5 as it proposes a form of 
development that would reflects the character and appearance of the surrounding 
settlement.  

 
Parish Plan / Neighbourhood Plan 

 
61. A Neighbourhood Plan designation was confirmed in 2013 and covers the Parish of 

Thurston.  At the time of the consideration of this proposal the parish have set up a 
neighbourhood Plan Committee to prepare the policies for the new Neighbourhood 
Plan. Both the Parish Council and their Neighbourhood Plan Committee have 

Page 491



objected to this scheme with the latter raising objections based on some of the early 
work that they have carried out for the evidence base for the new plan. The objectors 
to the scheme have gone as far as saying that they think that this scheme should 
either be refused or held in abeyance until the Neighbourhood Plan comes forward.   

 
62. The Planning Practice Guidance identifies that “Paragraph 216 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework sets out the weight that may be given to relevant policies 
in emerging plans in decision taking. Factors to consider include the stage of 
preparation of the plan and the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures that the community has the final say 
on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers should 
respect evidence of local support prior to the referendum when seeking to apply 
weight to an emerging neighbourhood plan. The consultation statement submitted 
with the draft neighbourhood plan should reveal the quality and effectiveness of the 
consultation that has informed the plan proposals. And all representations on the 
proposals should have been submitted to the local planning authority by the close of 
the local planning authority’s publicity period. It is for the decision maker in each case 
to determine what is a material consideration and what weight to give to it”. 

 
63. As such, whilst it is ultimately for Members to determine the weight that should be 

given to the plan, whilst it is at an early stage in its development, it is the view of 
Officers that little material weight can be given at this time. 

 
Landscape Impact 
 
64. Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that proposals should provide appropriate 

landscaping to ensure that they integrate well into the surrounding locality. This 
requirement is repeated in one of the requirements of policy H13 of the Mid Suffolk 
District Local Plan.  

 
65. Objections have also been received on the basis that the proposal will extend the 

built up footprint of the village into the surrounding open countryside which is 
unacceptable to the objectors and the parish council and that the applicant’s 
landscaping scheme is lacking in detail. 

 
66. The field that is the subject of this proposal has residential development to its west 

and south, two properties on the northern elevation and further properties to the north 
along Meadow Lane. Whilst the site is a field, it does not enjoy an open aspect on all 
elevations. Currently, the field to the east is open, but that is the site of the proposed 
Pigeon Housing development and as such if that site is approved this proposal will 
have very little countryside aspect. Furthermore, the application site is predominantly 
enclosed by hedging and trees which further contributes to the feeling that it is 
enclosed rather than being ‘open countryside’.  

 
67. The Council has sought comments from its Landscape Consultant on the scheme 

and having regards to the above they have not objected to this proposal. The 
Landscape Consultant has commented that due to the location of the site and what 
surrounds it, both built and natural features that the development of this site will not 
have a negative impact on the surrounding countryside and will not give the feeling 
that the scheme juts out into the Countryside as referred to by the objectors. The 
Landscape Consultant has commented that the specific details of the applicant’s 
landscaping scheme can be successfully controlled by planning conditions.  

 
68. Objectors to this scheme have raised concerns that the development may harm the 

root zones of some of the trees that lie along the field boundary or within the gardens 

Page 492

https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#draft-neighbourhood-plan-meets-requirement


of the neighbouring properties. The Council’s Tree Officer has been consulted on this 
scheme and he has not object to it and the trees referred to be the objectors can be 
protected during construction by suitable fencing which can be controlled by a 
planning condition.  

 
69. One objector has commented that this land is Greenbelt and land designated as such 

can only be developed in exceptional circumstances. It must be clarified that there is 
no Greenbelt land in Mid Suffolk and that the status of the site is as a green field and 
an assessment of the policy requirements and the physical impact of the scheme on 
the land is given in this report.  

 
70. Having regards to the requirements of policy H13 of the MSDC Local Plan and 

paragraph 58 of the NPPF, it is considered that the scheme can use existing and 
provide suitable new screen landscaping both within and on the boundaries of the 
site to ensure that it assimilates well into the rural edge of Thurston and provides an 
attractive environment both for the new residents of the site and those living in the 
surrounding locality. It is unfortunate that part of an existing hedge from Norton Road 
has to be removed to facilitate the new access into the site and this dis-benefit will be 
considered when weighing up at the end of the report as to whether the proposal 
constitutes sustainable development.  

 
Residential Amenity 

 
71. Policies within the adopted development plan require, inter alia, that development 

does not materially or detrimentally affect the amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties.  This requirement is emphasised in the NPPF Core Values 
in paragraph 17 where it states that all schemes should seek a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.   

 
72. A number of points have been raised by the objectors to this scheme in terms of its 

impact on their residential amenity (or living conditions). In the main, these relate to 
the fact that in some parts of the site, two storey dwellings will face an existing 
bungalow, and some of the new properties will overlook existing gardens and street 
lighting will alter the night time outlook for existing residents. It has also been 
commented that the change in the land from agriculture to residential will negatively 
impact on a resident’s outlook. 

 
73. The existing properties to the west of the site are screened by existing hedging which 

is to be retained as part of this proposal. The dwellings that are proposed adjacent to 
Ryland Close are designed so that they are side on to the garden boundary so that 
overlooking and loss of privacy is minimised. The existing dwellings that are further 
north along the western boundary of the site face west/east but are separated from 
the proposed dwellings by their long rear gardens and the screen landscaping along 
the current field boundary which is to be retained. The closest dwelling to the site on 
Cedars Close (no.1) is at an oblique angle to plot 25 and is to be screened by the 
existing trees and hedging and also there will be a boundary treatment at this point. 
All of this will minimise the impact of loss of privacy and overlooking to this occupier. 
Meadow Lodge Cottage currently has an open southern aspect with views directly 
into the application site. This will change as part of this proposal with a screen 
hedge/boundary treatment being erected along the current boundary between the 
field and the site. The dwelling directly to the south of this site is to be orientated 
west/east whilst Meadow Lodge Cottage is orientated north/south so that there won’t 
be any habitable windows facing each other. Whilst it is regrettable that the open 
aspect currently enjoyed by Meadow Lodge Cottage is to be lost; however it must be 
remembered that this aspect is not within the control of the occupier of Meadow 

Page 493



Lodge Cottage and the owner of the application site could have erected a fence or 
planted tree/hedging along this boundary at any time in the past without the need for 
planning permission.  

 
74. In terms of loss of daylight and sunlight, the existing properties along the western 

boundary including the dwellings on Cedars Close are screened by existing trees and 
landscaping and it is not considered that the site layout or the dwellings as proposed 
will impact on this significantly greater. Meadow Lodge Cottage will still be open to its 
east and will enjoy sunlight throughout most of the day. Sunlight is likely to be 
disturbed in the evening due to the increase landscaping cover that is proposed to 
the west, but this is not considered to be to a significant enough level which would 
warrant the refusal of this scheme.  

 
75. Objectors consider that the street lighting associated with the dwellings will be 

intrusive and have a negative impact on their living conditions. It is clear that allowing 
permission for this scheme will alter the locality as the field is currently dark and this 
will change. However, the street lighting will be within the site and not directly 
adjacent to the existing properties and designed to the requirements of the Highway 
Authority. As such this should have a minimal impact on the living conditions of the 
surrounding occupiers.   

 
76. A condition on any permission that the council may grant on this proposal can be 

imposed requesting that the applicant enters into a construction management 
agreement with the Council to safeguard the living conditions of the surrounding 
occupiers during the construction phase of the scheme. 

 
77. The layout and the detailed design of the properties do not give rise to any significant 

concerns in terms of loss of neighbour amenity, either in terms of privacy; loss of 
daylight and sunlight and due to the distance and the orientation of the properties 
there is no need for the applicant to redesign the scheme to incorporate more 
bungalows. Having regards to the above, the proposal is considered to meet the 
relevant NPPF core value in paragraph 17 and the requirements of paragraph 123 in 
terms of providing a suitable level of amenity for all.  

 
Environmental Impacts - Trees, Ecology And Land Contamination 
 
78. The application site is part grade 3b and part grade 5 agricultural land which is 

currently in use for agricultural purposes.  As the site is in an agricultural use, there 
is limited tree cover within the site, other than a hedge which splits the location of the 
polytunnels and the glasshouses from the adjacent open field with the majority of the 
trees running along the site boundary. 

 
79. Objections have been received to this scheme from local residents and the Suffolk 

Wildlife Trust on the basis that the development of the site will impact on biodiversity 
and that consideration needs to be given to the mitigation for this harm. Mention has 
been made that there is concern that either part, or all of the hedge along the Norton 
Road frontage is to be removed and this will impact on the biodiversity that it holds. 
The Wildlife Trust also considers that the site would be suitable for Skylark nesting 
and that a suitable mitigation scheme is required to compensate for this loss.  

 
80. Regulation 9(5) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

(Implemented 1st April 2010) provides that all "competent authorities" (public bodies) 

to "have regard to the Habitats Directive in the exercise of its functions.”  In order for 

a Local Planning Authority to comply with regulation 9(5) it must "engage" with the 

Page 494



provisions of the Habitats Directive.   

81. The content of paragraph 118 of the NPPF is also applicable to the consideration of 
this proposal, as it states that when determining planning applications, consideration 
must be given to 6 principles. Two of those principles are particularly relevant to the 
consideration of this proposal, being;  

 
a. If significant harm is caused which cannot be avoided or mitigated by 

conditions then planning permission should be refused. 
 

b. Opportunities to integrate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
supported. 

 
82. The Council’s Consultant Ecologist has been consulted on this application and they 

have confirmed that the site contains priority habitat. They have advised that they are 
satisfied with the applicant’s Ecological Report and requests that conditions are 
imposed to limit the level of lighting on site and to ensure that the scheme is carried 
out in accordance with the recommendation of the ecology report. In coming to this 
conclusion, the Consultant Ecologist is aware of the Local Highway Authority’s 
requirements to remove part of the hedge on Norton Road to facilitate the access 
visibility splay (it is not proposed to remove it completely), but they are confidents 
that the loss of habitat can be compensated for within the site. In terms of Skylarks, 
the Consultant Ecologist notes that due to the former use of the site as a commercial 
nursery and that the reminder of it has been used for pasture for sheep that it would 
be an unsuitable location for Skylarks to nest. As such, they do not consider it 
necessary or appropriate in this situation to request a mitigation scheme as 
suggested by the Wildlife Trust.  

 
83. Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local authorities should take into account the 

economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land when 
making planning decisions. Where significant development of agricultural land is 
demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use poorer 
quality land in preference to that of higher quality land. Agricultural land is split into 
categories with land defined as 3a up to 1 being best and most versatile land and 
grades 3b down to 5 not being defined as best and most versatile land. The 
application site is part 3b and part grade 5 and as such it is not defined as best and 
most versatile agricultural land and its development meets the requirements of 
paragraph 112 of the NPPF.   

 
84. The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted on this scheme and he 

has reviewed the documentation submitted by the applicant (Phase 1 risk 
assessment). Paragraph 121 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning decisions 
should make sure that the site is suitable for its new use taking account the hazards 
of any previous use. The Contaminated Land Officer has not raised any objections to 
the scheme subject to the imposition of conditions requesting that the works on site 
be carried in line with the applicant’s contamination report.  

 
85. Mention has been made that if this scheme is approved, the increase number of 

vehicles that will come from the new development will worsen air quality in the 
locality. This matter has been discussed with the Council’s pollution control officer 
and he does not consider that air borne pollution will increase to a significant enough 
level from this scheme alone, or where it is considered with the other 4 sites in 
Thurston to exceed clean air standards. As such, he does not object to this proposal 
on air quality grounds.  

 

Page 495



86. Having regards to the above it is considered that the proposal complies with the 
requirements of paragraph 112 of the NPPF in terms of agricultural land, its effects 
on Priority Species can be mitigated and the landscaped areas within the site can be 
adequately maintained in the future to protect their biodiversity value.  

 
Heritage Issues (The Setting Of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
87. Both the NPPF and Core Strategy place significant emphasis on safeguarding 

heritage as an important component of sustainable development.  
 
88. With reference to the treatment of the submitted application, the Council embraces its 

statutory duties and responsibilities in relation to listed buildings, notably the general 
duties undersections 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 which requires the local planning authority to have “special regard to the 
desirability of preserving [a] building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 

 
89. Recent case law on the application of the statutory duty acknowledges that the 

consideration of the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset is a matter for its own planning judgement, but that the 
Local Planning Authority is required to give any such harm considerable importance 
and weight. However, where special regard to the desirability of preserving heritage 
assets has been paid and no harm is considered to be posed, the ‘balancing’ of harm 
(which should be given considerable weight as above) against public benefits as 
required by the NPPF, is not engaged.  

 
90. Policy HB1 (Protection of Historic Buildings) places a high priority on the protection of 

the character and appearance of historic buildings, particularly the setting of Listed 
Buildings. 
 

91. In paragraph 17 of the NPPF it makes it clear that development should “conserve 
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations”.  
Para 131 goes on to state that “In determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of; the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the desirability of 
new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.”  Furthermore Para 132 states “When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. As 
heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 
convincing justification.” 
 

92. An objector has commented that they are concerned that the applicant has not 
mentioned archaeology or heritage matters in his supporting statement and this 
scheme is likely to impact on both. However, no objections have been made to this 
scheme on Heritage grounds by the Council’s Heritage Officer and they have 
confirmed that due to the location of the site and the surrounding residential land 
uses that it will not affect the setting of any listed buildings in the locality. The 
proposal therefore complies with paragraph 132 of the NPPF.  

 

Page 496



93. As there are 5 different applications for major housing development in the northern 
part of Thurston, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked to consider the 
cumulative impact of this scheme in relation to the others. Of the 5 applications, the 
application by Hopkins Homes for 175 homes (application 2798/16 and appeal 
5010/16) and the one by Pigeon Capital (5070/16) are the only two out of the 5 that 
are considered to cumulatively have an impact on the settings of the listed buildings 
in the locality and this is assessed more appropriately in the reports for both of those 
applications.  

 
94. The County Archaeologist has also been consulted on this scheme and they have 

not raised any objections to it. They are confident that should any remains be 
unearthed during the build process for the site that they could be recorded in line with 
County Council’s requirements. This can be facilitated via a planning condition 
appended to the scheme.  

 
Environment And Flood Risk 

 
95. Paragraph 100 of the NPPF makes it clear that inappropriate development in areas 

of flood risk should be avoided by directing development away from areas of highest 
risk. The contents of policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy is in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF in terms of flood risk and carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. In terms of flooding from rivers, the site complies 
with local and national policy as it lies in a flood zone 1 area which is land at least 
risk of flooding.  

 
96. Objections have been received raising concerns that the development of the site may 

cause localised floods in the area. Anglian Water and the County Flood and Water 
team have been consulted on this proposal. Neither Anglian Water, the Environment 
Agency or the County Flood and Water team have objected to this proposal. They 
have advised that permission can be granted subject to the imposition of conditions 
requiring the scheme to be built in line with the submitted drainage strategy and 
details. 

 
97. Due to unprecedented level of growth currently suggested for Thurston, the 

Environment Agency, County Flood and Water team and Anglian Water have been 
specifically asked to consider the cumulative impact of this proposal on drainage, 
flood risk and water supply grounds. The Environment Agency and the County Suds 
team have advised that an increase of 827 dwellings with the mitigation measures 
proposed by the applicants will not increase flood risk in terms of surface water 
drainage in the locality to an unacceptable level. Confirmation has also been 
received that there is capacity in the local pumping station to serve 827 new 
dwellings in terms of sewage needs. Thurston lies in an area where water supply can 
be an issue, however Anglian Water has a duty by law to supply new houses with a 
water supply and this is a matter for them to resolve under their legislation. 

 
98. Having regards to the above, it is considered in terms of flood risk, water supply and 

drainage that the scheme when either considered singularly or cumulatively can be 
made acceptable subject to the imposition of a suitably worded condition to meet the 
requirements of paragraph 100 of the NPPF and policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core 
Strategy. 

 
Infrastructure -  Planning Obligations / CIL contributions 
 
99. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that the local 

infrastructure, which includes the local schools and health care, is insufficient to meet 

Page 497



the need of the residents of this proposal. Comment has been made that if the 
scheme is approved without suitable provision, it will cause significant impact on the 
existing community of Thurston. 

 
100. The Council has now implemented CIL which accordingly takes on board 

requirements such as open space contribution, NHS and education contributions.   
 

101. As part of this proposal the contributions will be sought under the Council’s CIL 
Scheme for improvements to the following: 

 
102. For the future expansion of the doctor’s surgery in Moreton Hall which the residents 

of this scheme would use. 
 

 For improvements to the local library provision. 

 Safety improvements to the Thurston Railway station. 
 

103. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that a new doctor’s 
surgery will not be provided and that the proposal will cause capacity issues at the 
local surgeries. It should be noted that the Primary Care Trust (PCT) has made it 
clear that due to the existing situation with doctors, their salaries and contracts and 
the government’s policy in terms of the NHS that a new doctor’s surgery will not 
happen in Thurston as part of any of the 5 schemes. The PCT will be requesting 
contributions through CIL in relation to all 5 schemes and the monies will be used to 
improve the service offered and/or improve the facilities at either the Woolpit Surgery 
or at the Park Farm Surgery in Moreton Hall to meet the expected needs of the 
additional residents of the new dwellings in Thurston. They have specified that they 
will seek a contribution towards improvements at the Woolpit Surgery in relation to 
this proposal. 

 
104. It has been identified following discussion with the County Infrastructure Officer that 

as suggested by the objectors and the Parish Council, there is no capacity in the 
local primary school to expand and as such a contribution of £246,435 is required 
towards the building of a new 420 place two form primary school either on the 
Persimmon or the Pigeon site elsewhere in the village. It has also been suggested 
that a further £49,998 is required for the provision of new pre-school, which will be 
accommodated at the new school to help meet the demand generated by this 
development. As the CIL 123 list does not include the provision of new pre-school or 
primary school facilities (it only covers extensions to existing establishments) these 
contributions will have to be sought under S106 of the Planning Act and the applicant 
has agreed to the above payments.  

 
105. The County Council has also clarified that whilst the new school is being built, the 

existing primary school in Thurston will be provided with two temporary classrooms 
funded via CIL to cope on a 2 to 3 year period with the increase in pupils generated 
from the first phase of new housebuilding in Thurston (from any of the 5 sites 
currently under consideration) until the new school is built. Once that happens, the 
existing school will be closed and the existing pupils moved over to the new school 
and the new school will be extended as appropriate up to a capacity of 420 pupils to 
accommodate the primary school age children arising from any of the proposed 
housing sites in Thurston. It is understood that the Diocese who own the primary 
school have committed to ploughing the capital receipt that they receive for the 
development of the existing school site into the new school which is also to be 
funded by a joint contribution by all 5 of the developers proposing major housing 
schemes currently in Thurston. 

 

Page 498



106. Following further dialogue with the County Obligations Manager it is understood that 
progress is being made to secure options on the potential school sites proposed in 
other applications. The delivery of a new primary school is a necessary pre-requisite 
to mitigate the potential pressure on education infrastructure from the development 
and it has been agreed that a restrictive phasing condition is not necessary given the 
progress that has been made on options. Nevertheless the securing of a primary 
school site is a material consideration upon which the delivery of this development is 
predicated. 

 
107. The County Council has confirmed that there is capacity at all of the catchment 

secondary schools in the locality and as such a financial contribution towards new 
facilities is not warranted in that instance.  

 
108. As is the case for new education buildings, affordable Housing is not part of CIL and 

members should note that policy to seek up to a 35% provision remains in effect. The 
applicant has confirmed that they are agreeable to provide a policy compliant 
scheme for affordable housing and that this will be achieved via a Section 106 
contribution and the Council’s Strategic Housing Officer has not objected to this 
proposal. 

 
109. Network Rail has been consulted on this scheme and has asked for a contribution of 

£1million through a S106 agreement between all five developers to close the existing 
level crossing and to provide safer and improved facilities at Thurston Railway 
Station having regards to the increased use of the facilities that will occur from the 
residents of the proposed 827 dwellings. The Council’s CIL 123 list includes provision 
for improvements to transport infrastructure. As such it is considered that it would be 
appropriate for Network Rail to bid for the specified amount to make the 
improvements they have requested to improve pedestrian safety at the station under 
the CIL scheme.  

 
110. The Highway Authority has, as stated earlier in the report, asked for £37,277 under 

section 106 of the Planning act to pay for Laurence Homes’ part of the contribution 
for works to the highway infrastructure to ensure that the impact of approving all 5 
housing schemes totalling 872 houses in Thurston is not severe on the highway 
network as referred to in paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 

 
111. It is noted that within the application site there is an open space and landscaped 

areas and this will be maintained by a management company and delivered via a 
S106 agreement. None of it is to be transferred to the Council or the Parish Council 
as part of this or any of the other 4 schemes. 

 
112. Having regards to the above, in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations, 2010, the obligations recommended to be secured above by way of a 
planning obligation deed are (a) necessary to make the Development acceptable in 
planning terms (b) directly related to the Development and (c) fairly and reasonably 
relate in scale and kind to the Development.  

 
113. An objector has commented that Thurston is already an area of low water pressure 

and that additional houses on the water network will make the situation even worse. 
Anglian Water has a duty under the water regulations to supply new dwellings and 
they have legal powers to put measures in place to resolve this matter.  

 
114. In response to an objector comments, it would be unreasonable to expect the 

developer of this or any other application to not build the properties and wait for all of 
the necessary infrastructure to be in place first. It would also be unreasonable to 

Page 499



refuse planning permission for this and the other schemes where the developers 
have agreed to fund works to resolve the infrastructure issues identified. To ensure 
that the correct level of infrastructure appears at the correct time, the Council and its 
partners will work with the developers so that appropriate triggers are in the S106 
legal agreements to ensure this happens. 

 
Other Issues 
 
115. Objections have been made to this scheme on the grounds that there are other more 

suitable sites elsewhere (sites towards the south of the railway line have been 

mentioned) and these should come first. It must be remembered that each planning 

application must be considered under its own planning merits and specifically in 

terms of housing; there is no national requirement for a sequential test for preferred 

housing sites within an area. 

 

116. An objection has been received on the basis that the proposal will turn Thurston from 

a village into a town. Whilst Thurston will get larger as a consequence of additional 

housing growth, its status will remain as a village and it does not automatically turn 

into a town. This objection is not considered to be material in the consideration of this 

proposal. 

 

117. An objector has stated that this proposal should be refused until all existing houses 

that are in for sale in Thurston are occupied and as such a housing deficit is created. 

National housing policy is not based on this scenario and to follow the requirements 

of the objector would result in a decision that would be contrary to both local and 

national policy and it would not be defendable at appeal.  

 
Details Of Financial Benefits / Implications (S155 Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
 

 Council Tax payments from the dwellings when built 

 Planning Delivery Grant from Central Government for delivering the dwellings 

 S106 Agreement: 
£246,435 is required towards the building of a new primary school in 
Thurston.  
£19,410 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 
£49,998 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston 
£37,277 is required for highway infrastructure works 

 CIL payments per dwelling built on site. 
 

 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
Planning Balance 

 
118. The proposal for residential development off Norton Road in Thurston is considered 

to be contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy as the application site lies 
within the countryside outside the built framework of the settlement of Thurston on 
what is agricultural land.   

 

Page 500



119. However, as the housing policies in the Core Strategy are out of date due to the 
Council not having a deliverable five year supply of housing, this scheme falls to be 
considered in relation to paragraph 14 and 49 of the NPPF which relate to residential 
development and sustainable development.  

 
120. Paragraph 14 states that where the development plan for the area is out of date,  

permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF as a whole or specific policies in the NPPF which indicate that 
the development should be restricted. Whilst it has been identified that the proposal 
either when considered on its own or in combination with the four other residential 
schemes that are with the Council for consideration will have an adverse impact on 
the quality of the landscape character of the area, and that it will result in the 
irreplaceable loss of countryside and the loss of grade 3b and grade 5 agricultural 
land, will result in the loss of part of a hedge which provides habitat to protected and 
priority species and has a potentially severe impact on parts of the highway network 
if not mitigated, it is considered that the benefits that the scheme brings such as the 
provision of 64 new houses of which 35% of them will be affordable, contributions 
towards local infrastructure such as the highways improvements, and a new primary 
school outweighs the negative issues. 

 
121. Significant weight must also be given to the fact that there are no unresolved 

objections from the Council’s consultees to the scheme. There are no objections in 
terms of design; crime prevention; amenity; pollution; contamination; ecology; 
landscape; flood risk and drainage. The proposal will also help to deliver construction 
jobs and will also provide more residents who will helps to sustain and potentially 
grow the local economy.  
 

122. In relation to highways impacts there are road safety impacts which can be 
addressed through mitigation at Fishwick Corner and other highways infrastructure 
improvements which weigh in favour of the scheme by providing enhanced 
sustainable links.  

 
123. There remains a road safety and capacity issue at the A143 Thurston Road junction 

(adjacent to The Bunbury Arms). A number of solutions have been investigated and 
the current preferred solution is traffic signals. The highway authority consider that 
the effects of the development can be mitigated but further detailed work needs to be 
undertaken to obtain the most practicable and viable solution to address the risks. 
For this reason Committee is asked to reach a “minded to” resolution which reserves 
the local planning authority’s position pending the outcome of that detailed further 
investigation and junction design. Once the outcome of this investigation is known 
the application can be reported with a substantive recommendation to Committee. 

 
124. Therefore, it is considered having regards to paragraph 14 of the NPPF that the 

benefit the proposal brings outweighs the negatives. Furthermore, when assessing 
the proposal against the NPPF it is not contrary to its requirements as a whole and 
there are no specific policies within it that would restrict this development and as 
such it is considered that it constitutes sustainable development which should be 
approved planning permission without delay in line with the requirements of 
paragraph 14. 

 
Statement Required By Article 35 Of The Town And Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

Page 501



125. When determining planning applications The Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 requires Local 
Planning Authorities to explain how, in dealing with the application they have worked 
with the applicant to resolve any problems or issues arising.  

 
126. In this case the planning authority has worked with the applicant to overcome 

highway objections to the scheme and to clarify issues relating to drainage and 
impact on listed buildings. 

 
Identification of any Legal Implications of the decision 

 
127. There are no known legal implications derived from the determination of this 

application. 
 

128. The application has been considered in respect of the current development plan 
policies and relevant planning legalisation.  Other legislation including the following 
have been considered in respect of the proposed development.  

 
- Human Rights Act 1998 
- The Equalities Act 2012 
- Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
- Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (any rural site) 
- The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
- Localism Act 
- Consideration has been given to the provisions of Section 17 of the Crime and 

Disorder Act, 1998, in the assessment of this application but the proposal does 
not raise any significant issues.  

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Committee express a “minded to” resolution, subject to the further investigation and 
reporting back of highway matters in relation to the A143 Thurston Road junction, on the 
following basis: 
 
That the authority would be minded to delegate to the Corporate Manager - Growth & 
Sustainable Planning to grant full planning permission subject to the prior completion of a 
Section 106 or Undertaking on terms to his satisfaction to secure the following heads of 
terms: 
 

 £246,435 is required towards the building of a new primary school in Thurston.  

 £19,410 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

 £49,998 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston  

 35% Affordable Housing to be transferred over to a Registered Provider 

 £37,277 to secure off site highway improvement works as listed below: 

 
o Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston 

Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton. A contribution of £22249 is 
required on commencement of construction work on site. 

 
o Contribution towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 

Thurston Road / C693 New Road. A contribution of £4040 is required on 
commencement of the first dwelling. 

 

Page 502



o Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at the junction 
of Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road. A contribution of £6988 is 
required on commencement of the first dwelling. 

 
o Contribution towards bus stops on Norton Road. A contribution of £4000 is 

required on commencement of the first dwelling. 
 

o Setting up of a management company to look after the open space and 
Sustainable Drainage parts of the scheme. 

 
and that such permission be subject to the conditions as set out below: 
 

1) Two year time start time (as opposed to the usual 3)  
2) Existing tree protection 
3) Construction management agreement 
4) External lighting 
5) Commencement period for landscaping 
6) Protection of birds during construction period 
7) Works to be carried out in line with the ecological report. 
8) Materials 
9) Landscaping 
10) Residential boundary treatment 
11) Highway Conditions (site access, estate road layout, refuse bins & highway drainage 

& residential travel plan) 
12) Surface water drainage 
13) Foul water drainage 
14) Fire Hydrant requirements 
15) Archaeology 

 
 
 

Page 503



This page is intentionally left blank



Slide 1 

Application No: 

 

Address: 

4942/16 

Land At Meadow Lane 

Thurston 

IP31 3QG P
age 505



Slide 2 

Verbal Updates: 

 

- Confirmation and summary of any 3rd Party 

representations received not previously issued to 

members.   

 

- Confirmation and summary of any consultee 

responses received not previously issued to 

members 

 

- Confirmation of any changes to recommendation, 

conditions or reasons.   

P
age 506



Slide 3 

Laurence Homes 

Settlement 

limits 

Settlement limits 

P
age 507



Slide 4 Location Plan & Constraints Map 

P
age 508



Slide 5 Block Plan/Site Layout 

P
age 509



Slide 6 Selection of house types 

P
age 510



Slide 7 Selection of house types 

P
age 511



Slide 8 Selection of house types 

P
age 512



Slide 9 Selection of house types 

P
age 513



Slide 10 Street scene 

P
age 514



Slide 11 Street scene 

P
age 515



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 517



Page 518



Page 519



Page 520



Page 521



Page 522



Page 523



Page 524



Page 525



Page 526



Page 527



Page 528



Page 529



Page 530



Page 531



1, 10, 11, 20-34, and 51-56 are enclosed by 1.8m close boarded fencing or at least 1.5m 
boarded fencing,. enhanced by further 300cm trellis. 

Vulnerable areas, such as exposed side and rear gardens need more robust defensive 
barriers, by using walls or fencing to a minimum height of 1.8m. Installing fencing to a high 
standard ensures security and longevity of the boundary. High quality fencing that lasts for 
a long time will provide security and reduce 9verall maintenance costs for residents or 
Landlords. A fence that has a long predicted life is also rnore sustainable. 

I have concerns at the vulnerability to theft of vehicles parked within the car 
ports at plots 43-44 and 57.59 (pictured right). I note there will be windows 
at the front of each property to provide some forrn of surveillance, but feel 
that as thes.e areas are vulnerable during the dark hours, that security 
lighting should be installed to illuminate these areas. 

I note by plots 39 and 40 two perimeters have been incorporated Into the 
landscape design (pictured right). If such a proposal remains, this would 
create a dead space area for an offender to be shielded from view. I ,, . 
recommend that this outer perimeter should instead comprise of either 
1 metre picket fencing or metal railing to clearly define private from public 
spacing, but allow surveillance of the area in question. 

I note that for plot 56, it has been stated that the current boundary 
perimeter with Meadow lane will remain (pictured right). Again there -is a 
danger by having such vegetation, if not correctly maintained at a 
reasonable height of 1m high, this area will become overgrown and another 
area where an offender Is shielded from view. I would therefore prefer low 
1 m fencing for this area. 

I would also ·11ke to see 1 metre metal hooped railings or picket fenci11g around the . 
communal areas. 

On a final note I agree with the developers that a lack of shrub layer will facilitate pedestrian 
movement and allow natural surveillance of the area. 

· · 

1.0 SECURE BY DESIGN (SBD) 

An early input at the design stage Is often the best way foiward to promote a partnership approach 
to reducing !he opportunity for crime and the fear of crime. 

Secured by Design aims to achieve a good overall standard of security for buildings and the. 
Immediate environment. It attempts to deter criminal and anti-social behaviour within developments 
by introducing appropriate design features that enable natural surveillance and create a sense of 
ownership and responsibility for every part of the development. 

These features include secure vehicle parking, adequate lighting of common areas, control of 
access to individual and common areas, defensible space and a landscaping and lighting scheme 
which when combined, enhances natural surveillance and safety. 

Experience shows that incorporating security measures during a new build or a refurbishment 
project reduces crime, fear of crime and disorder. 

The role of the Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) within Suffoll< Police is lo assist in the design 
process to achieve a safe and secure environment for residents and visitors without creating a 
'fortress environment'. 

 

Page 532



2.0 REFERRALS 

2.11 Section 17 ofThe Crime and Disorder Ad 1998 outlines the responsibilities placed on local 
authorities to prevent crime and dis-order. 

2.12 The Na1ional Planning Policy Frame work on planning policies and decisions to create safe 
and accessible environmen1s, laid out in paragraphs 58 and 69 of the framework, 
emphasises that developments should create safe and accessible environments where the 
fear of crime should not undermine local quality of life or community cohesion. 

2.13 One of the main aims stated in the Babergh and Mid Suffolk Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document of 2008 (updated in 2012) at Section 1, para 1.19 under 
Local Development Framework and Community Strategy states: 

A safe community: Protect the environment from pollution, flooding and other natural and man
made disasters; reduce the level of crime; discourage re-offending; overcome the fear of 
crime; and provide a safe and secure environment. 

2.2 The. Suffolk Design Guide for Residential Areas• Shape of Development - Design 
Principles (Security) 

Landscaping will play an ever Increasing role In making the built environment a better place in 
which to live. Planted areas have, in the past, been created with little thought to how they affect 
opportunities for crime. Whilst creating no particular problem in the short term, certain types and 
species of shrubs when mature have fanned barriers where. natural surveillance is compromised. 
This not only creates areas where intruders or assailants can lurl<, but also allows attacks on 
vehicles to take place with little or no chance of being seen. Overgrown planting heightens the fear 
of crime, which often exceeds the actual risk. Planting next to footpaths should be kept low with 
taller varieties next1o walls. 

Where footpaths are separate from the highway they should be kept short, direct and well lit. Long 
dark alleyways should not be created, particularly to the rear of terraced properties. Where such 
foolpaths are unavoidable they should not provide a through route. Changes in the use of materials 
can also have an influence in deterring the opportunist thief by indicating a semi-public area where 
residents can exercise some form of control. 

Careful design and layout of new development can help to make crime more difficult to commit and 
increases the risk of detection for potential offenders, but any such security measures must forrri 
part of a balanced design approach which addresses the visual quality of the estate as well as its 
security. Local Planning Authorities may· therefore wish to consult their Local Police Architectural 
Liaison Offic.er (now referred to as Designing Out Crime Officer) on new estate proposals. 
Developers should be aware of the benefits obtained from the Secured by Design initiative which 

. can be obtained from the DOCO. 
· · 

2.3 Department for iransport - Manual for Streets (Crime Prevention 

The layout of a residential area can. have a significant impact on crime against properly (homes and 
cars) and pedestrians. Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, requires local authorities to 
exercise their function with due regard to the likely effect on crime and disorder. To ensure that 
crime prevention considerations are taken into account in the design of layouts, it is important to 
consult police architectural liaison officers (Now DOCO's) and crime prevention officers, as advised 
in Safer Places. 

To ensure that crime prevention is properly taken into account, it is important that the way in which 
permeability is provided is given careful consideration. High permeabfiity is conducive to walking 
and cycling,· but can lead to problems of anti-social behaviour if it is only achieved by providing 
routes that are poorly overlooked, such as rear alleyways. 

Page 533



Safer Places highlights the following principles for reducing the likelihood of crime in residential 
areas (Wales; also refer fo Technical Advice Note (TAN) 129): 

• the .desire for connectivity should not compromise the ability of householders to exert
ownership over private or communal 'defensible space';

• access to the rear of dwellings from public spaces, including alleys, should be
avoided - a block layout, with gardens in the middle, 1s a good way of ensuring this;

, cars, cyclists and pedestrians should be kept together if the · route is over any 
significant length - there should be a presumption against routes serving only 
pedestrians and/or cyclists away from the road unless they are wide, open, short and 
overlooked; 

• routes should lead directly to where people want to go;
• all routes should be necessary, serving a defined function;
• cars are less prone to damage or theft if parked in-curtilage (but sM Chapter 8). If

cars cannot be parked in-curtilage, they should
, ideally be parl<ed on the street in view of the home. 
• Where parking courts are used, they should be small and have natural surveillance;
• layouts should. be designed with regard to existing levels of crime in an area; and

layouts should provide natural surveillance by ensuring streets are overlool<ed and
well used (Fig. 4.10).

3.0 GENERAL COMMENTS ON PROPOSED PLAN 

My specffic .observations for this deyelopment ·are as follows; (Further details of the following 
recommendations can be found in the above SDB document "Homes16"). 

3.1 I agree as stated in the Design Access Statement (DAS) gaps between dwellings 
should be minimised . 

. 3,2 I note from the DAS all current boundary hedging will be retained for rear gardens or 
side residential plots, however, I have concerns that such hedging will be to 
permeable for an offender to gain access and would prefer these perimeters, 
especially the area around plots 1, 10,11, 20•34, and 51-56 are enclosed by 1.8m close 
boarded fencing or atJeast 1.5m boarded fencing, enhanced by further 300cm trellis. 

3.3 Vulnerable areas, such as exposed side and rear gardens need more robust defensive 
barriers,°by using walls or fencing to a minimum height of 1.Bm. Installing fencing to a 
high standard ensures security and longevity of the boundary, High quality fence that 
lasts for a long time· will provide security and reduce .overall maintenance costs for 
residents or Landlords. A fence that has a long predicted life is also more 
sustainable. 

3.4 I have concerns at the vuln·erabillty to theft of vehicles parked within 
the car ports at plots 43.44 and 57 .59 (pictured right). I note there will 
be windows at the.front of each property to provide some form of 
surveillance, but feel that as these areas are vulnerable during the 
dark hours, that security lighting should be installed to illuminate 
these areas. 

3.5 I note by plots 39 and 40 two perimeters have been incorporated into 
the landscape design (Pictured right). If such a proposal remains, 
this would create a dead space area for an offender to be shielded 
from view. I recommend that this outer perimeter should Instead 
comprise of either 1metre picket fencing or metal railing to clearly 
define private from public spacing, but allow surveillance of the area 
in question. 

IiJ

I 

Page 534



3.6 l would also like to see 1 metre metal hooped railings, or picket fencing around the 
communal areas. 

3.7 On a final note I agree. with th� developers that a lack of shrub layer will facilitate 
pedestrian movement and allow natural surveillance of the area. 

3.8 Should any play equipment be installed it should meet BS EN 1176 standards and be 
disabled friendly. I Would recommend that any such area has suitable floor matting tested to 
BS EN1177 standards. 

3.9 Should gymnasium/fitness equipment be installed, spacing of the equipment and falling 
space areas should be In line with BS EN1176. There is a recommended guideline that 
static equipment should be at a minimum 2.50 metres distance from each object. 

3.10 All litter bins should be of a fire retardant material. 

3.11 Attention should be paid to the sighting and fixing of Gates, Fences, Seats and Pathways. 
Page 17, qf SBD New Homes 2016 at Paras 9.1-9.4, under the heading "Communal Areas" 
refers. 

3.12 The physical security element of the application should not be overlool<ed. Doors and 
windows should be to British Standards (PAS 24) for doors and windows that ensure that 
the installed items are fit for purpose. 

3.13 Door chains/limiters fitted to front doors·, meeting the Door and Hardware Federation 
Technical Specification 003 (TS 003) and Installed in accordance with the manufacturer's 
recommendations. (SBD NH 2016 Para. 21.17). 

4.0 CONCLUSION 

4: 1 I strongly advice the development planners adopt the ADQ guide lines and Secure by 
Design (SBD) principles for a secure development and .gain SBD National BuHding approval 
membership. 

4.2 As of the 1'1June 2016 the police lead Secure By Design (SBD) New Home 2016 was 
introduced, replacing the previous Secure By Design (SBD) 2014 New Homes guide. This 
guide aptly meets the requirements of Approved Document Q.for new builds and renovation 
work to a preferred security specification, through the use of certified fabricators that meet 
Secure By Design principals, for external doors, windows and roof lights to the following 
standards http://www.securedbydesign.com/wpc 
conient/uploads/2016/03/Secured by Design Homes 2016 V1.pdf 

4.3 SBD New Hon:ies 2016 incorporates three standards available within the New Homes 2016 
guide. namely Gold, Silver or Bronze standards It is advisable that all new developments of 
10 properties or more should seel< at least a Bronze Secured by Design. Further details can 
be obtained through the Secure By Design (SBD) site at http:!/www.securedbydesign.com/ 

4.4 To achieve a .Silver standard, or part 2 Secured by Design physical security, which is 
the police approved minimum security standard and also achieves ADQ, involves the 
following: 

a. All exterior doors to have been certificated by an approved certification body to BS
PAS 24:2012, or STS 201 issue 4:2012, or STS 202 BR2, or LPS 1175 SR 2, or LPS
20.81 SRB.

b. All individual front entrance doors to have been certificated by an approved
certification body to BS Pas 24:2012 (internal specification).

 

Page 535



c. Ground level exterior windows to have been certiticate.d by an approved certification
body to BS Pas 24:2012, or STS204 issue 3:2012, or LPS1175 issue 7:2010
Security Rating 1, or LPS2081 Issue 1:2014. All glazing in the exterior doors, and
ground floor (easily accessible) windows next to or within 400mm of external doors to
include laminated glass as one of the panes of glass. Windows installed within SBD
developments must be certified by one of the UKAS accredited certification bodies.

The Police nationally promote Secured by Design (SBD) principles, aimed at achieving a good 
overall standard of security for buildings and the Immediate environment. It attempts to deter 
criminal and anti-social behaviour within developments by introducing appropriate design features 
that enable natural surveillance and create a sense of ownership and responsibility for every part of 
the development. 

5.0 FINAL CONCLUSION 

Should the concerns I have raised be addressed, I would approve this proposed design. 

I hope the planners will adopt Secure By Design standards and apply for Secure by Design 
National Building Approval membership. 

If the planners wish to· discuss anything further or need assistance with the SBD application; please 
contact me on 01284 774141 . 

Yours sincerely 

Phil Kemp 

Designing Out Crime Officer 
Western and Southern Areas 
Suffolk Constabulary 
Raynegate Street 
Bury St Edmunds 
Suffoll< 
IP33 2AP 

.. 

I 

Page 536



Page 537



Page 538



Page 539



Page 540



Page 541



Page 542



Page 543



Page 544



Page 545



Page 546



Page 547



Page 548



Page 549



Page 550



Page 551



Page 552



Page 553



Page 554



Page 555



Page 556



Page 557



Page 558



Page 559



Page 560



Page 561



Page 562



Page 563



Page 564



Page 565



Page 566



Page 567



Page 568



Page 569



Page 570



Page 571



Page 572



Page 573



Page 574



Page 575



Page 576



Page 577



Page 578



Page 579



Page 580



Page 581



Page 582



Page 583



Page 584



Page 585



Page 586



Page 587



Page 588



Page 589



Page 590



Page 591



Page 592



Committee Report     

 

Committee Date: 12th July 2017 

  

Item No:  Reference: 2797/16 
Case Officer: DYJO 

    

 

Description of Development: Outline Planning Application (with all matters 

other than means of access reserved) for residential development of up 

to 175 dwellings with associated car parking, landscaping, public open 

space areas, allotments, and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane  

Location: Land to the South of Norton Road, Thurston IP31 3QH 

Parish: Thurston  
 

Ward: Thurston & Hessett  

Ward Member/s: Councillors Esther Jewson & Derrick Haley 

 

Site Area: 11.2 

Conservation Area: None 

Listed Building: Manor Farm – Grade 2*, converted Manor Farm Barns - Grade 2, Church 

of St Peter Grade 2 – These are all buildings in the surrounding locality. 

 
Received: 23/06/2016  

Expiry Date: 30/06/2017 

 

 

Application Type: Outline 

Development Type: Smallscale Major Dwellings 

Environmental Impact Assessment: Schedule 2 development – EIA not required. 

 

Applicant:  Hopkins Homes 

Agent: Armstrong Rigg Planning 

 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED FOR CONSIDERATION 

 

The defined Red Line Plan for this application is drawing number 001 Rev A received on the 
3rd November 2016.  This drawing is the red line plan that shall be referred to as the defined 
application site.  Any other drawings approved or refused that may show any alternative red 
line plan separately or as part of any other submitted document have not been accepted on 
the basis of defining the application site.   
 

Submitted Documents:  
  
Tree Survey (documents 1 and 2) received on 4th July 2016 
Tree Protection Plan document 1 - 4 Revision A received on 4th July 2016 

Page 593

Agenda Item 7f



Illustrative layout plan reference number Thur/02 received on 4th July 2016 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey received on 4th July 2016 
Landscape and Visual Assessment document received on 4th July 2016 
Landscape Sensitivity study received on 4th July 2016 
Phase 1 Contaminated land study received on 4th July 2016 
Sustainability Appraisal study received on 4th July 2016 
Access visibility splay plan reference number IP15/127/11/SK02A received on 25th July 
2016 
Plan showing access point onto Norton Road reference number IP15/127/11/SK03A 
received on 25th July 2016 
Plan showing improvement to pavement on Church Road reference number 
IP15/127/11/SK04A received on 25th July 2016 
Flood Risk Assessment received on 25th July 2016 including addendum received on 10th 
November 2016 
Geophysical Survey received on the 12th October 2016 
Updated LVIA document (parts 1 - 3) received on 12th October 2016 
Development framework plan reference number Thur/01 Rev C received on 3rd November 
2016 
Revised Travel Plan document received on 11th November 2016 
Transport Assessment (parts 1 - 7) received on the 18th November 2016 
Heritage Statement received on the 22nd November 2016 
 

The application, plans and documents submitted by the Applicant can be viewed online 

using the following link:  

 

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_MSUFF_DCAPR_108699 

 

Alternatively, a copy is available to view at the Mid Suffolk and Babergh District Council 

Offices. 

 

SUMMARY 

 

The proposal has been assessed with regard to adopted development plan policies, the 

National Planning Policy Framework and all other material considerations. The scheme is 

contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy; however, the Council cannot demonstrate 

a 5 year supply of housing and the scheme falls to be considered under paragraph 14 of the 

NPPF where the adverse impacts of the scheme have to be balanced against the benefits of 

the scheme to demonstrate that it constitutes sustainable development. Officers are 

recommending a minded to approval of this application as it is considered to be sustainable 

development as the as the significant public benefits that the scheme will deliver 

(contributions towards a new school, pre-school, highway improvements, health provision, 

affordable housing and library facilities amongst others) are considered to outweigh the 

negative aspects of the proposal. 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 
 
 -  It is a “Major” application for residential land allocation for 15 or over  

Page 594

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_MSUFF_DCAPR_108699
http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_MSUFF_DCAPR_108699


  dwellings. 
 
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND  
 

 

1. This section details history, policies, advice provided, other legalisation and events 

that forms the background in terms of both material considerations and procedural 

background.     

 

History 

 

2. The planning history relevant to the application site is listed below.  A detailed 

assessment of the planning history including any material Planning Appeals will be 

carried out as needed in Part Three: 

 

5010/16 Outline Planning Application (with all 
matters other than means of access 
reserved) for residential development of up 
to 175 dwellings with associated car 
parking, landscaping, public open space 
areas, allotments, and vehicular access 
from Sandpit Lane and Norton Road 

Identical application to this 
one – Applicant has appealed 
to the Planning Inspectorate 
on the grounds of non-
determination within the 
statutory 13 week 
determination timescale. 

 
 

  

0337/88/
OL 

Residential development of 24.36 acres 
with new or altered vehicular accesses, 
including site for Primary School, open 
space and 0.5 acre for Parish Council 
housing. 
 

Refused 
05/04/1989 

0022/86/
OL 

Residential development with allocation of 
open space 

Refused 
24/03/1986 
 

 

3. The following applications are also considered to be relevant to the consideration of 

this proposal as they represent the other major applications for residential 

development in Thurston that are currently with the Council for consideration: 

 

4386/16 Full planning application for the erection of 138 dwellings on land on 

the west side of Barton Road, Thurston. The applicant is Bovis Homes.  

 

4942/16  Full planning application for the erection of 64 dwellings on land at 

Meadow Lane, Thurston. The applicant is Laurence Homes. 

 

4963/16  Outline application for the erection of up to 250 dwellings and 

associated infrastructure including the provision of up to 2.4ha of land 

for use by the Thurston Community College and the provision of land 

for a new primary school on land west of Ixworth Road, Thurston. The 

applicant is Persimmon Homes. 

 

Page 595



5070/16  Outline application for the erection of up to 200 homes (including 9 

self-build plots), land for a new primary school together with 

associated access, infrastructure, landscaping and amenity space on 

land at Norton Road, Thurston. The applicant is Pigeon Capital 

Management.   

 

4. The consideration of the cumulative infrastructure issues that this group of 

applications present has been explored in a collaborative, but without 

prejudice, working group including County and District Council Officers with 

the five respective applicants and their technical advisers. This has enabled a 

constructive and timetabled analysis of the proposals and their cumulative 

impact. 

 

Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions 

 

5. None 

 

Details of Member site visit  

 

6. Members visited Thurston on the 13th June to look at this site and the four other 

residential development schemes that are currently with the Council for 

consideration. 

 

Details of any Pre Application Advice 

 

7. The applicant engaged with the Council and received pre-application advice on the 

principle of the development and its acceptability having regards to the fact that the 

Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing. 

 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
8. Summary of Consultations 
 
Thurston Parish Council (which includes the comments of the Thurston 

Neighbourhood Plan Team) - Objects to the scheme on the following grounds:  

 The site and surrounding area are within the countryside and therefore outside of any 

settlement boundary for Thurston as defined by Mid Suffolk’s Local Plan and would 

result in the development of new dwellings that would be visually, physically and 

functionally isolated from the facilities and services offered by Thurston as a Key 

Service Centre.  

 It is also felt that the proposal is considered to be an overdevelopment of the site and 

fails to address the wishes of the views of the residents of Thurston (as expressed in 

the emerging Thurston Neighbourhood Plan) for all new development to be sited on 

areas containing no more than 50 dwellings and as such will not incorporate the 

creation of sufficient open spaces between existing and proposed buildings which will 

Page 596



neither maintain nor enhance the character of the village at this particular point. (GP1 

– Design and Layout of Development & csfr-fc2 provision and distribution of 

housing). 

 The proposal is considered not to form a sustainable development within the 

dimensions set out in the NPPF and that the proposed application risks harm to 

biodiversity and fails to address adequately the benefits on an economic and social 

benefit. 

 The Parish Council does not hold with the views expressed in the documents 

submitted that the application is sympathetic to the countryside in which it is situated 

and that it fails to protect the intrinsic character of the countryside by the density and 

mix of properties being proposed. It is felt that the development of 175 dwellings will 

intrude into an area of currently open, undeveloped, countryside resulting in an 

encroachment of built development extending beyond the settlement boundary of 

Thurston. This will harm the character and appearance of this open area and will be 

contrary to Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy, Policy FC1.1 of the Core Strategy of the 

Mid Suffolk Core Strategy Focus Review (2012) and saved Policies H13 and H16 of 

the Mid Suffolk Local Plan. Furthermore it is felt that the development fails to ensure 

that it reflects the local character and identity of the area immediately surrounding the 

proposed development and is therefore inconsistent with paragraph 58 of the NPPF. 

 The Parish Council considers that the application fails to take into account the current 

road infrastructure and the lack of pedestrian route-ways and cycle ways leading 

from the site to the amenities and Primary School and Secondary School within the 

village and as such would have a negative impact on road safety and therefore a 

detrimental impact on the amenities enjoyed by the surrounding area vis-à-vis traffic 

generation (SB2 Development Appropriate to its Setting & T10 Highway 

Considerations in Development). 

 It is furthermore held that as the development fails to demonstrate that it has 

considered safe and suitable access points for all people it is contrary to paragraph 

32 of the NPPF. As the development fails to give priority to pedestrian and cycle 

movements and with reference to the siting of this application would not support the 

transition to a low carbon future, it is unable to meet the environmental dimension of 

sustainable development and would be contrary to paragraph 17, 30, 35 and 55 of 

the NPPF and Policies FC1 and FC1.1 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy Focused 

Review.  

 It is further believed that the development of the site will not be able to allow for the 

convenient integration of public transport within the site and that the traffic that will be 

generated will not be able to be accommodated on the existing road network (CS6 – 

services and infrastructure). 

 The Parish Council feels that given the location of the site, a reliance on the private 

motor car will be generated in order to access amenities and services within the 

village which will also be contrary to the sustainability objectives of Policies FC1 and 

FC1.1 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy Focused Review (2012) and the NPPF 

paragraphs 14, 17, 55 and 56 and will place a further burden on the current road 

Page 597



network at (but not confined to) points such as Fishwick Corner, Pokeriage Corner, 

the narrow railway bridge crossings on Barton Road and Thedwastre Road and entry 

and exit points onto  the A14.  

 The Parish Council would also like to recommend that Suffolk County Council be 

involved in the discussion of future growth in Thurston with reference to the impact 

that this will have on the provision of education. As mentioned within the letter from 

Thurston’s Neighbourhood Plan Team, both the Thurston Primary Academy School 

and Thurston Community College are at capacity (taking into account existing 

planning approvals) and as such this application will ensure that the educational 

infrastructure is unlikely to meet the demand placed on it by 175 dwellings. The 

Parish Council is aware that the application is for phased development but feels that 

from the outset the total provision should be understood and capacity explored. As 

such the Parish Council feels that this application will put a negative strain on the 

existing infrastructure and as such would be contrary to Policy CS6 of the Core 

Strategy. 

 The Parish Council would also like to reiterate the concerns of the Thurston 
Neighbourhood Plan Team with regards to the speed at which this and potentially 
other applications have been/are in the process of being submitted for new housing 
in the village. It is recognised within the village that as a Key Service Centre the 
village of Thurston will appeal to developers and that a certain amount of growth is 
desirable and non-objectionable, however the Parish Council is concerned that 
piecemeal development will have a negative impact on the current infrastructure and 
that there should be a strict control over new housing proposals and the associated 
numbers until the general infrastructure of Thurston and the surrounding areas has 
been given time to absorb new residents and the impacts that this associated growth 
will have on a rural village 

 
The Parish Council has also written into the Council on the 7th October in response to the 
comments made by the applicant and they have reaffirmed their objection to the scheme on 
the grounds that they originally outlined. They have also commented on the amended plans 
received from the applicant and they have reconfirmed their strong objections to the scheme 
on the same grounds as stated above. 
 
MSDC Heritage Officer – The site is in close proximity to the Grade II listed Church of St 
Peter and also to Manor Farm which is Grade 2* listed and also the barn to the north of it 
which is Grade II listed in its own right. The Historic Buildings Officer considers that the 
proposal would cause less than substantial harm to the designated heritage assets listed 
above as it would erode their rural setting but he also considers that the impact is low due to 
the existing landscaping between the site and the heritage assets. The Heritage Team 
recommends that refinement of the layout and landscaping scheme should be pursued. This 
can be done via a planning condition as the application is outline and the entire layout, 
design and landscaping can be altered and refined at reserved matters stage to meet this 
requirement.   
 
As there are now 5 separate housing proposals in Thurston which together total 872 houses, 

with the potential for the cumulative impact of two or more of the schemes to have an impact 

on the heritage assets listed above, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked for his 

comments. He considers that in terms of the assets listed above, only the Pigeon site 

(5070/16 and this proposal) will have a cumulative impact. He has assessed when 

considered together that 375 houses (up to 200 on the Pigeon site and up to 175 on this 

Page 598



site) on a cumulative basis would cause harm to the grade II* Listed farm house of no 

greater than medium. He has assessed that even adding the harm to the significance of the 

nearby church; the resulting cumulative level of harm to the affected heritage assets would 

be greater than low but not greater than medium. 

MSDC - Strategic Housing (Summary) – Advises that no objections are raised to the 

scheme as submitted as 35% affordable housing is proposed in line with the Council’s 

requirements. The strategic Housing Officer advises that the affordable housing provision 

should be provided on site as follows: 

Affordable Rent Tenancy: 
14 x 1b 2p flat = 50sqm  
8 x 1b 2p bungalow = 50sqm  
18 x 2b 4p house = 79sqm  
5 x 3b 6p house = 95sqm  
1 x 4b 7p house = 115sqm  

 

Shared Ownership:  
10 x 2b 4p house = 79sqm  
5 x 3b 5p house = 93sqm  
 
MSDC - Tree Officer – Does not object to the proposal subject to the trees on site that are 
to be retained being protected during the build process in line with the details contained in 
the application. Whilst a number of trees are to be removed to facilitate this development, 
they are of poor species and their loss will be negligible on the character and appearance of 
the area. 
 
MSDC - Environmental Health - Land Contamination – Does not raise any objections to 
the original scheme or the amended plans. Request that conditions are imposed to control 
the impact of the scheme in terms of contamination. 
 
MSDC - Environmental Health – Public Protection – Raise concerns that a number of the 
new dwellings will be in close proximity to the Victoria Public House and that noise, nuisance 
and disturbance from the operation of the pub, both inside and in the external beer garden 
could cause public protection issues. It has also been suggested that a condition should be 
imposed to control noise and disturbance during the construction phase of the scheme to 
ensure that the living conditions of the surrounding occupiers are protected. 
 

SCC Archaeology – Initially objected to the scheme on the grounds that insufficient 

information existed to “describe the significance of any heritage assets affected” as required 
under P128 of NPPF. The applicant has carried out the additional work that was required 
and the there are no longer any objections to this scheme on archaeological grounds. 
Conditions are recommended for the provision of an archaeological survey on site prior to 
the commencement of the development and to record any archaeologically important 
remains that are found. 
 
SCC Ecology – Does not raise any objections to this scheme subject to conditions to 
minimise the impact of the scheme on species within the locality. 
 
SCC Flood and water management – They initially objected to the scheme, but following 
the submission of additional information from the applicant, they no longer object to the 
application subject to the imposition of conditions dealing with flood risk matters.  

Page 599



SCC Highways – The Local Highway Authority has provided two responses on this 
proposal. One deals with the cumulative impact of this scheme and the four others that have 
all been submitted in Thurston on the local highway infrastructure. The second response 
deals with the highway issues that are specific to this proposal. 
 
Cumulative impact - The Transport Assessments provided for the individual proposed 

developments show varying degrees of impact on the highway infrastructure. To date none 

have shown the cumulative impact of all five developments but at some locations the Local 

Highway Authority considers this may be severe, particularly where the network is already 

close to or exceeding capacity. Paragraph 21 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) states that planning policies should recognise and seek to address potential barriers 

to investment, including any lack of infrastructure and identify priority areas for infrastructure 

provision. Both SCC and MSDC are aware that paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that 

development should only be prevented on transport grounds where residual impacts of 

development as severe. The same statement allows decisions to be made taking account of 

whether improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively 

limits the significant impacts of development. 

On this occasion, the Local Highway Authority consider that by taking a co-operative 
approach for all five developments there is an opportunity that the planning process can 
provide improvements to both mitigate against any severe impacts and any lack of transport 
infrastructure. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Congestion)  
The initial data and modelling provided in Transport Assessments indicates that the road 
network will experience additional traffic through growth and development and at some 
locations this will exceed the theoretical junction capacity. Those junctions that are or may 
exceed capacity are discussed below. 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
Modelling shows that this junction is already close to theoretical capacity in the AM peak with 
northbound traffic waiting to turn onto the A143 queueing on Barton Road and at capacity in 
the PM peak with Thurston bound traffic waiting right from the A143 into Barton Road. The 
additional traffic from the proposed developments in Thurston will exacerbate these 
problems; in particular, modelling shows the queueing traffic on Barton Road will exceed 
capacity in the AM peak.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
Modelling indicates that the southbound approach to the junction is currently close to 
capacity in the morning peak and that its capacity will be exceeded before all five 
developments could be delivered. However, in the PM peak the junction has the capacity for 
the predicted traffic for all developments.  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
The modelling of this junction shows some inconstancies with one study indicating it will be 
close to capacity southbound on Thedwastre Road in the AM peak due to traffic from one 
specific development but other modelling showing it would have capacity for the traffic 
generated by the developments. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Road Safety) 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  

Page 600



There have been three recorded crashes resulting in slight injuries and one involving serious 
injury at this junction in the last 5 years for which data is available (2012-2016).  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
There have been two crashes resulting in slight injuries at this junction in the past 5 years. 
  
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
At this junction there have been 9 crashes resulting in slight injuries and one resulting in a 
serious injury in the past 5 years.  
 
The frequency of injury related crashes at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / 
C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner) junction would, in the opinion of SCC, necessitates some 
work to improve road safety. Although the frequency of crashes at the A143 Bury Road / 
C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road does not justify significant road safety 
improvements it is a factor that should be considered in any future mitigation measures. 
 
Suggested Mitigation Measures 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
An assumption has been made that the junction can be signalised and that this will reduce 
congestion and improve road safety. Although there is a generous width of highway verge in 
the vicinity of the junction the geography of the site may place constraints on the design and 
further work is required to confirm that a solution is possible or beneficial. The proposed 
junction improvements would be delivered through a jointly funded S106 contribution.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner)  
The issue of congestion on the southbound approach is difficult to mitigate as there is 
insufficient land within the highway boundary to provide a meaningful solution. It is noted that 
the road network around Thurston is relatively permeable and an option exists for traffic to 
avoid this by diverting onto Beyton Road and then turning right to approach this junction from 
the east. 
 
Several minor traffic management features such as improved signing, marker posts and high 
friction surfacing have been used at this junction in the past as crash reduction measures. 
Despite this, crashes causing injury continue to occur. To reduce the severity of these 
crashes it is proposed to restrict the road to 40mph and undertake local safety improvements 
such as enhanced road signs and markings. This would be delivered through a jointly funded 
S106 contribution.  
 
A longer term solution would be to remodel the junction or drastically remodel the road 
network. It is recommended these matters should be addressed in any future revisions to the 
Local Plan. 
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road 
The highway boundary constrains any improvements in this location and thus there does not 
appear to be any viable mitigation to increase capacity on the southbound Thedwastre Road 
approach. The relatively low number of crashes suggests that the issue of road safety is not 
as important as it is for the other two junctions and mitigation measures would only comprise 
low cost work, such as road signs and markings. 
 
Speed Limits  
It is noted that a number of proposed access roads are located close to or beyond the 
existing 30mph speed limit in Thurston. In some cases, assumptions have been made when 
determining visibility for these junctions that the 85%ile speed limits are or will be close to 
30mph. Developers are advised that the visibility requirements shall be designed for the 

Page 601



measured 85%ile speed adjacent to the junction and not the posted or proposed future 
speed limit. A legal process must be followed to change or extend a speed limit and during 
this process objections can be made which can delay or stop creation of the necessary legal 
order. For this reason, the Local Highway Authority cannot accept visibility splays based on 
changes to speed limits unless there is confidence that no significant objections to the traffic 
regulation order are likely.  
 
Based on the available details of the five proposed developments the following changes to 
speed limits are suggested; 
 

 
 Extend the 30mph speed limit north on Ixworth Road to Thurston Rugby Club  

 Extend the 30mph speed limit on Norton Road towards and beyond Church Road  

 Extend of 30mph speed limit on Barton Road west of Mill Lane  

 Create a new 40mph speed limit between and including the C693 Thurston Road / 
C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road and the C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston 
Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road for road safety reasons.  
 

The necessary Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) could be raised individually or preferably as 
a single order. The latter is preferred as it reduces cost and administration. This can be 
delivered through site specific or joint S106 contributions. As stated above implementation of 
an order cannot be guaranteed and if a TRO is required to justify reduced visibility splay 
lengths then the order would need to be substantially complete before such a reduction 
would be accepted. If a process can be agreed between the parties’ initial consultation can 
be undertaken in advance of determination of the planning applications. 
 
Pedestrian and Cycling Infrastructure 
The benefit of considering all five applications together is that a coherent system of footways 
and pedestrian crossings can be delivered in Thurston. The proposed footways are intended 
to provide good, direct pedestrian access both to the main village and schools. The 
proposed improvements, most of which have already been proposed by individual 
applications, are listed below:  
 

 An uncontrolled pedestrian crossing on Norton Road between Meadow Lane and 
Station Hill / Ixworth Road.  

 

 A footway on west side of Ixworth Road between Norton Road and the entrance to 
Persimmon’s site  

 

 
 A footway link on Ixworth Road between the entrance to the Persimmon development 

and the entrance to the Thurston Rugby Club.  

 A controlled pedestrian crossing facility (e.g. a raised table junction with zebra 
crossing) if practicable at or adjacent to the Norton Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road 
junction. Pooled contributions from all 5 developments are required for the County 
Council to deliver this.  

 A footway on the north side of Norton Road from Meadow Lane east towards Church 
Lane as far as the site boundary allows. This could be within the development and or 
on the highway verge.  

Page 602



 An uncontrolled pedestrian on Norton Road crossing linking the Hopkins Homes and 
Pigeon sites  

 Meadow Lane resurfaced to improve cycle / pedestrian facilities (and maintain 
access to properties)  

 Provide a metalled footway on Church Road between Footpath 006 and the footpath 
link to School Lane. This will include provision of street lighting along this short 
section of footpath.  

 Provide two uncontrolled pedestrian crossings on Sandpit Lane to link the Hopkins 
Homes development to the main village  

 
With the exception of the pedestrian crossing facility at the junction of Ixworth Road, Station 
Hill and Norton Road, the above are expected to be secured by conditions or S106 
obligations as appropriate and delivered by the relevant development with S278 
(improvements to existing highway) or S38 agreements (if adoption as highway maintainable 
at public expense is desired) as appropriate. All the footways are expected to be metalled 
and where verge space allows provision for cyclists should also be considered. 
 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW)  
It is proposed that a small number of PRoW are improved to provide alternative pedestrian 
links between the proposed developments and current and future school sites. These are 
improvements to:  
 

 Thurston Footpath 001 between Ixworth Road and Meadow Lane. It is proposed that 
this is to an all-weather standard, preferably a bituminous surface.  

 Thurston Footpath 018 between Ixworth Road and Mill Lane. This lies within the 
development site and the works can be secured by condition.  

 

 Thurston Footpath 006 between Norton Road and Church Road. This lies within the 
development site and the works can be secured by condition. It is proposed that this 
is to an all-weather standard; preferably a bituminous surface as far as it is a safe 
pedestrian route to the site north of Norton Road  

 

 New PROW link along southern boundary of the Bovis Homes site to join Barton 
Road  

 

 New PROW link from the site west of Barton Road to Heath Road, linking with Cycle 
Route 51.  

 

 Improve PROW 007 North of Meadow Lane (un-metalled). 
 
If diversion of a PRoW is likely it is recommended that discussions are held with the relevant 
SCC officer at an early state. 
 
Public Transport  
Improvements to public transport infrastructure will be limited to any site-specific works 
necessary as a result of each development through S106. All other public transport 
improvements are included in the CIL.  
 

Page 603



The Local Highway Authority advises that the reminder of the issues that are relevant to this 
proposal can be covered by planning conditions and within the S106 agreement for the 
scheme. 
 
The S106 heads of terms will cover the following issues: 
 

 Highway Improvement Contribution: £3733 contribution towards a Traffic Regulation 
Order (TRO) and associated works to extend the existing 30mph of speed limit on 
Norton Road eastwards to improve road safety for road users associated with the 
development.  Payable prior to occupation of the first dwelling. 

 

 Highway Pedestrian Crossing Improvement Contribution: £19,108 Contribution 
towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at Norton Road / Station Hill / 
Ixworth Road junction to provide improved pedestrian access to the Academy and 
mitigate increase pedestrian and vehicle use. Payable on occupation of the first 
dwelling. 

 

 Highway Capacity Improvement Contribution: £60,837 Contribution towards 
improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road, 
junction at Great Barton to mitigate congestion at peak periods. Payable on 
commencement of work on site. 

 

 Highway Safety Improvement Contribution: £11,046 Contribution towards safety 
improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road 
including a contribution towards 40mph speed limit on the C692 Thurston Road to 
improve road safety and mitigate increased use. Payable on commencement of the 
first dwelling. 
 

 Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per annum 
from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five years, or one year after 
occupation of the final dwelling, whichever is longer.   
 

 Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £104,631 (£598 per dwelling – 
based on the estimated cost calculated by Suffolk County Council of fully 
implementing the travel plan).  This is to cover the cost of implementing the travel 
plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to deliver it themselves. 

 
 
Except for the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great 
Barton the reasons for requesting these contributions are described above. The A143 
improvements are mitigation to improve capacity at this junction reflecting the small 
individual but, in terms of cumulative impact, significant effect that the five developments will 
have at this junction. The Local Highway Authority has indicated that the cost of this will be 
£94,724 for the works required under S106 of the Planning Act (excluding travel plan costs), 
£72,333 for works under section 278 of the Highways Act and £30,000 under S38 of the 
Highways Act.  
 
 
SCC - Obligations Manager: Comments that 175 new houses proposed in the scheme will 
have an impact on local infrastructure particularly in terms of education.  
 
Primary Provision 
The residents of the scheme will generate the need for 43 new primary school places and it 
has been advised that there is no capacity in the local Primary School which is the Thurston 

Page 604



Church of England Primary Academy to accommodate this development and as such a 
contribution is requested towards a new primary school. As new schools cannot be provided 
through the Council’s CIL scheme (the 123 list only allows for extensions to schools and not 
new schools) a request is made for a contribution towards a new school under S106 of the 
planning act.  
 
A contribution for £706,477 as broken down below is require to meet education needs which 
will arise from this development: 
 
 

School level Minimum pupil 
yield:  

Required: Cost per 
place £  
(2016/17): 

Primary school 
age range, 5-
11*: 

43 43 16,429 

 
Land for new school 
A contribution for a further £55,642 is also requested to contribute towards the cost of the 

land to provide the school. This is worked out on a maximum cost of £100,000 per acre 
(£247,100 per hectare, which will be £543,620 for a 2.2 hectare site and equates to 
£1,294 per pupil place. For the proposed development, this equates to a proportionate 
land contribution of 43 places x £1,294 per place = £55,642. 
 
Temporary classroom 
The Obligations Manager has also advised that there will be a need for temporary 
classroom arrangements to accommodate the needs of the children that arise from this 
development. The existing primary school is on a very constrained site and an extension 
to the facility is not possible under Department for Education guidelines. However, it is 
advised that where extra pupils either through a spike in local population or from housing 
development cause a ‘bulge’ in the admission numbers, this can be accommodated by 
providing temporary classrooms. 
 
A double temporary mobile classroom providing 60 places could be located within the 
hard surfaced play and car park areas within the school for a period of no longer than 3 
years to meet the admissions ‘bulge’ which would be caused by this and other large 
housing developments in Thurston.  As the primary school is an academy whereby the 
County Council has limited control over its operation, agreement to the provision of the 
temporary building has had to be sought from the Academy board that runs the school 
and it is understood from the Obligations Manager, that agreement has now been given 
by them for this to go ahead. 
 
The temporary classroom will be facilitated via a CIL bid as it is classified as being an 
extension to an existing school in the Council’s 123 list. 
 
Secondary School and 6th form provision 
The Obligations Manager has commented that secondary and 6th form provision in the area 
is currently sufficient to accommodate the additional pupils which will be generated from this 
proposal as shown in the table below. 
 
Total primary education contributions: £762,139 
 
Restriction on occupation 

Page 605



The Obligations Manager has also commented that as there are two other applications 
in Thurston that are proposing primary school sites (application 5070/16 – Land at 
Norton Road for Pigeon Capital and application 4963/16 – Land West of Ixworth Road 
for Persimmon Homes) but neither of these are approved yet, that the district council 
should consider imposing a planning condition restricting occupation of any dwellings 
once the capacity of the existing primary school with additional temporary classroom are 
full. This condition could then be discharged once the construction of the new primary 
school has commenced. 
 
Pre-school      

The Obligations Manager has also noted that there are currently 4 pre-school 
establishments in the locality (2 childminders, Thurston pre-school and Tinkerbells Day 
Nursery) and that spare capacity between them is only 10 spaces. Based on the scale of 
development currently being assessed in Thurston, the proposed legislative changes and 
the intention to establish a new primary school (with nursery provision), the most practical 
approach is to establish a new early education setting on the site of the new primary school 
which would be a 30 place setting, providing sufficient capacity for 60 children in total. Our 
latest estimates are that a 30 place early education setting costs £500,000 to construct on a 
site of approximately 630m2 (note: this includes outdoor play and parking). 
 
The Mid Suffolk Regulation 123 List indicates that new early years settings are not identified 
for funding through CIL. A proportionate contribution for this scheme would be based on 8 
children of the total 60 who would be accommodated within the new setting, could be 
calculated as follows (revised costs from a similar scheme in Suffolk):  
 

 £500,000 construction cost (including land as collocated with the new primary school) 
for a new 60 place setting  

 £500,000/60 early years pupils = £8,333 per place  From 175 dwellings there is the 
need for 8 additional places  

 Therefore 8 pupils x £8,333 per place = £66,664 (2016/17 costs)  
 
Total contribution for all education provision - £828, 803 
 
Other infrastructure contributions 
Requests a contribution of £37,800 towards library provision. This is requested under the 
Council’s CIL 123 list. 
 
SCC Senior Landscape Officer: Comments that the proposal will change the character of 
the site which will go through a significant change from agriculture to become the edge of the 
settlement. The applicant amended the LVIA report in line with the Landscaping Officer’s 
request and subsequently he has commented that the proposal is acceptable in landscape 
terms subject to the imposition of a number of conditions to control its impact. He has also 
viewed the amended plans submitted by the applicant and does not raise any additional 
comments or objections to this scheme. 
 
SCC Flood Management Team:  

Do not object to the application subject to the imposition of conditions dealing with flood risk 

matters. 

The SCC Flood Management Team has been asked to comment on the cumulative impact 

of 827 houses being proposed in Thurston and they have commented that they would expect 

all of the developers to design suitable sustainable drainage systems (which they all have). 

Page 606



All of the 5 sites are in a flood zone 1 so they comply with national policy requirements. 

However, surface water drainage has historically been an issue in Thurston with soil 

conditions not being viable for water to drain away easily. Most of the surface water from the 

village is drained into the foul sewer system with the east part of the village having a surface 

water drainage system. It is understood that Anglian Water are considering options to 

improve capacity in the locality to help to prevent the flood events that have happened in the 

centre of the village in recent years.  

 

SCC Public Rights of Way – Notes that public footpath number 6 runs through the site, but 
does not raise any objections to the scheme. 
 
SCC Sustainability Officer - Comment that the application is deficient in terms of detail of 

construction materials, sources of heating, renewable energy generation, design and 

orientation of the dwellings or reduction in the reliance of electricity consumption has not 

been mentioned. Also comments that the applicant does not offer any third party 

accreditation for the environmental credentials of the scheme. However, it is acknowledged 

that the scheme is in outline form and the majority of the above information is undecided at 

this stage. 

Anglian Water – Does not raise any objections to this proposal. They have requested that if 
the proposal is approved that an informative is included on the planning permission to advise 
the developer that Anglian Water has plant in the locality and the scheme must make 
provision for this 
 
Fire Service - County Fire Officer – Does not object to the proposal, but advises that 
details of the location of sufficient fire hydrants to make the development safe must be 
submitted. This can be covered by a planning condition. 
 
Highways England – Do not raise any objections to this scheme. 
 
Historic England – They initially objected to the scheme on the grounds that insufficient 
information had been submitted to allow the impact on the setting of the listed Manor Farm 
and Church of St Peter to be assessed. The applicant subsequently provided this 

information and Historic England consider that the proposed development in the vicinity of 
the grade II* listed Manor Farm House and the parish church of St Peter could result in 
harm to the significance of the historic buildings in terms of paragraph 132 of the NPPF. 
They comment that as required by paragraph 134 the Council should weigh any public 
benefit delivered by the development against such harm when seeking the ‘clear and 
convincing’ justification required by the NPPF. We would note that the area to be left 
undeveloped in the north eastern corner of the site could be beneficial to the setting of 
Manor Farm House is suitably planted and suggest that a similar landscaping belt along 
the whole northern edge of the site might also mitigate, but not wholly remove the 
harmful impact. 
 
Natural England – Does not have any comments to make on this application. 
 
Network Rail – They have been consulted on the cumulative impact of building 827 new 
dwellings in Thurston on the railway station and the local railway network as requested by 
the local community. They state that the main issue is the Barrow Level Crossing at 
Thurston station which has historically seen a number of safety issues associated with it and 
the level of usage which would arise from the erection of the number of dwellings proposed 

Page 607



would have a severe impact on safety unless mitigation measures are introduced. They 
indicate that their preferred option is to close the level crossing and replace it with a new 
pedestrian ramp from platform 1 (upside) down the embankment leading onto Beyton Road. 
This design will also need to include a drop off point/layby for vehicles along Beyton Road. 
They have advised that the cost of the works amount to £1million and should be shared 
proportionally amongst the developers. They are seeking this through a S106 agreement. 
 
When questioned, Network Rail has made it clear that the works that they propose to the 
crossing point at Thurston Station are directly related to the impact of the 5 planning 
applications and the 827 houses that would be built.  They have advised that the other works 
that they propose to close crossing points elsewhere on the same line are minor in nature 
and cannot be compared to this site as the other crossing points are not facing 
unprecedented levels of pedestrian use which would be generated from the proposed 
housing in Thurston.   
 
NHS/Primary Care Trust – The proposal will have an impact on the Mount Farm Doctors 
Surgery which is based in Moreton Hall, Bury St Edmunds and there will be a need to either 
extend or reconfigure the building to meet the additional capacity requirements that will be 
generated if this proposal is approved. It is recommended that a sum of £57,600 is provided 
as part of this application to facilitate the provision of the necessary capacity at the Mount 
Farm Surgery. 
 
Suffolk Constabulary - Police Architectural Liaison – Raises concerns about the 
permeability of the scheme which could provide opportunities for crime. Supports the 
extension of the 30mph speed limit along Norton Road towards Church Road in the interest 
of safety. 
 
Suffolk Preservation Society - They have advised that they have carried out a desk top 
survey earlier on in 2016 and considered that the site was a sustainable location having 
regards to its proximity to transport networks and services. They also agree with the 
applicant’s assessment that the proposal will not result in harm to the setting of the grade II* 
listed Manor Farm in that it is heavily enclosed by vegetation and that its isolation which 
contributes to its setting will not be harmed by this proposal. It is also noted that the part of 
the site closest to the listed Church will remain undeveloped and landscaped which will help 
to preserve its setting. They have also reviewed the amended plans and have commented 
that in their opinion, scheme should be supported. 
 
Representations 
 
9.     28 letters in total have been received making comments on this scheme.  
 
10. The objections to the scheme from 27 local residents are as follows: 
 
 Highway safety 
 

 The local roads are inadequate and dangerous to cope with so many new 
dwellings. 

 There are a number of dangerous junctions and pinch points in the area which will 
become more dangerous with the number of vehicles which will be generated by 
this development. 

 The railway station has poor parking. Additional residents from this site using the 
railway station to access places such as Bury St Edmunds will increase the 
parking issues experienced. 

 There are no pavements from the site onto Norton Road, Meadow Lane or onto 

Page 608



Sandpit Lane which will cause pedestrian safety issues. 

 Car users on the new access point onto Norton Road will cause conflict with 
pedestrians to the detriment of safety. 

 Disagree with the fact that the access onto Norton Road has been deleted in the 
amended plans. It should have been retained. This will now cause a greater safety 
problem on Sandpit Lane where the single access to cater for the whole 
development is proposed. 

 The internal road layout of the site should be sufficiently wide to accommodate all 
of the vehicles on the road safely and all houses should have garages of a 
suitable size to accommodate modern cars. 

 
Infrastructure 
 

 Will a new GP surgery be part of this scheme as local residents have to go out of 
Thurston at present to access this facility? 

 This development will place an excessive demand on the infrastructure of the area 
which will need to be resolved before any of the houses could be built. 

 The local primary school cannot accommodate the children from this 
development. Is a new local primary school proposed? 

 
Impact on the amenity of the area 
 

 The size of the scheme at 175 houses seems to disregard the findings of the 
housing survey carried out by the Neighbourhood Plans Team and is way too 
large for Thurston. 

 The erection of 2.5 to 3 storey houses will be out of keeping with the local 
environment as there are none in the locality. There needs to be a height limit 
imposed on the dwellings if this scheme is approved to ensure that they are no 
higher than the existing surrounding properties. 

 The additional dwellings and their infrastructure will cause increased light pollution 
in the locality. 

 The flood risk in the area is higher than stated in the report that accompanies this 
application. The land regularly floods and this is clear to see. 

 The erection of additional dwellings will generate more noise than the existing 
tranquil environment of the site and its surroundings. 

 
Impact on residential amenity 
 

 The erection of new houses in close proximity to my house will cause loss of 
privacy and overlooking over my garden. 

 There needs to be substantial and dense screening between the site and the 
surrounding existing neighbouring properties to protect the living conditions of the 
existing residents. 

 The Victoria Public House which adjoins the site is often noisy and has events 
regularly going on inside and out. This is not a problem at the moment as it 
doesn’t have any near neighbours, but it will be a problem if houses are built in 
close proximity to it. 

 
Impact on designated heritage assets 
 

 The proposal will have a negative impact on the setting of listed buildings in the 
locality. 

 
Impact on wildlife in the locality 

Page 609



 

 The scheme will impact on wildlife in the locality. 
 
Non material planning comments 
 

 We will lose our view over the beautiful surrounding open countryside. 

 This proposal will affect the value of our property. 
 

11. A single letter of support has been received raising the following points:  
 

 The development will provide much needed homes to the community and young 
people both in Thurston and the surrounding area. 

 I would like to stay in Thurston, but have found it difficult to buy a home here due 
to the shortage of properties. This has forced me in to a rented property which is 
expensive. However, if this scheme is approved, this will give me the opportunity 
to be able to buy my first house in the settlement that I want to live. 

 
The Site and Surroundings 
 
12. The application site lies in the village of Thurston which has a population of 

approximately 3200 people (2011 census) and extends to an area of 11.2 hectares of 
agricultural land (Grade 3b). The land is generally flat but falls towards the road in the 
northeast. The northern boundary of the site is onto Norton Road, the eastern 
boundary is on Church Road, the southern boundary adjoins residential properties 
(mixture of single and two storeys) and the western boundary fronts onto Sandy Pit 
Lane. 

 
13. The site abuts the settlement boundary for Thurston and remains as countryside for 

planning purposes. 
 

The Proposal 
 
14 Please note details of the proposed development including plans and application 

documents can be found online. 
 
15. Proposed is an outline planning application for the erection of up to 175 dwellings 

with all matters reserved except the vehicular access into the site.  
 

16. Following advice from the highway authority, this application has been amended to 
omit the vehicular access off Norton Road with only one access being deemed 
necessary to serve the development off Sand Pit Lane.  

 
17. The applicant has submitted plans showing a suggested layout utilising a single 

spine road through the site with various secondary streets leading through to the 
dwellings. The layout shows the retention of and strengthening of the hedge 
boundary on southern part of the site and also on part of the northern boundary of 
the site. The most eastern part of the site, which is most visible from the surrounding 
open countryside is to be retained as open land and will accommodate the retaining 
ponds for the surface water drainage for the site. However, these plans are indicative 
and the layout as shown may change at the reserved matters submission stage. The 
indicative layout gives a density of approximately 24 dwellings per hectare. 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 

Page 610



18. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government's 
planning policies for England and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  
Planning law continues to require that applications for planning permission are 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  The policies contained within the NPPF are a material 
consideration and should be taken into account for decision-making purposes.  

 
 The following parts of the NPPF are considered to be applicable to this scheme: 
 

Para 6: Achieving sustainable development  
Para 7: Three dimensions to sustainable development  
Para 11 – 15: The presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para 17: Core planning principles  
Para 32 and 34: Transport movements  
Para 47: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes (including the need to have a 
5 year deliverable supply of housing)  
Para 49: All housing proposals should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Paragraph 55: To promote sustainable development in rural areas. 
Paras 56 & 60: Requiring good design  
Para 64: Development of poor design must not be supported.  
Para 69: Promoting healthy communities  
Para 70: Delivery of social, recreational and cultural facilities that the community 
needs. 
Para 72: Provision of school places. 
Para 73: Access to high quality open space.  
Para 75: Protection and enhancement of public rights of way. 
Para 100: Development and flood risk  
Para 103: Development and increasing flood risk elsewhere  
Para 109: Planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment.  
Paras 112 & 117–119: Development affecting protected wildlife   
Para 123: Planning and noise. 
Para 125: Planning and darker skies. 
Paras 128 & 129: Describing the significance of a designated heritage asset. 
Para 131: Determining planning applications that affect heritage assets. 
Para 132: Significance of heritage assets. 
Para 134: Development and less than substantial harm 
Para 186: Approaching decision taking in a positive way. 
Para 187: Local Planning Authorities should find solutions rather than problems in 
decision taking. 
Para 196: Plan led planning system. 
Para 197: Assessing and determining application applying the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.  
P203 -206 – Planning conditions and obligations. 
Paras 211 - 212: Using development plans and the NPPF in decision making.  
Paras 214 – 215: The weight attached to development plan policies having regards 
to their consistency with the NPPF.  
Para 216 – Weight given to policies in emerging plans 

 
CORE STRATEGY 
 
19. Core Strategy Focused Review 

 
 FC1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

Page 611



 FC1.1 – Mid Suffolk’s approach to delivering sustainable development 
 FC2 – Provision and distribution of housing. 
 
20. Core Strategy 
 
 CS1 – Settlement hierarchy 
 CS2 – Development in the countryside & countryside villages 
 CS4 – Adapting to climate change. 
 CS5 – Mid Suffolk’s environment 
 CS6 – Services and infrastructure 
 CS9 – Density and mix 
 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN / SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS /AREA 

ACTION PLAN 
 
21. In 2013 Thurston received a neighbourhood plan designation and the settlement is 

currently working on its new neighbourhood plan. The plan is however at an early 
stage and as yet does not have any policies which could be used in the assessment 
and consideration of this proposal. 

 
SAVED POLICIES IN THE LOCAL PLAN 
 
 GP1 – Design and layout of new developments 

HB1 – Protection of historic buildings 
HB13 – Protecting ancient monuments 

 HB14 – Ensuring that Archaeological remains are not destroyed 
 H3 – Housing developments in villages 
 H13 – Design and layout of development 
 H15 – Development to reflect local characteristics. 

H16 – Protecting existing residential amenity  
H17 – Keeping new development away from pollution 

 CL8 – Protecting wildlife 
 CL11 – Retaining high quality agricultural land 
 T9 – Parking standards 

T10 – Highway consideration in developments 
 RT4 – Amenity open space and play areas within residential development 
 RT12 – Footpaths and bridleways 
 SB3 – Retaining visually import landscapes 
  
Main Considerations 
 
22. From an assessment of relevant planning policy and guidance, representations 

received, the planning designations and other material issues the main planning 
considerations considered relevant to this case are set out including the reason/s for 
the decision, any alternative options considered and rejected.  Where a decision is 
taken under a specific express authorisation, the names of any Member of the 
Council or local government body who has declared a conflict of interest are 
recorded. 

 
23. The following are identified as the main considerations in assessing this application:  
 
The Principle Of Development 
 
24. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Councils to identify and 

update, on an annual basis, a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 

Page 612

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


for five years’ worth of housing provision against identified requirements (paragraph 
47). For sites to be considered deliverable they have to be available, suitable, 
achievable and viable.  

 
25. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the 

local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites (as stated in paragraph 49 of the NPPF). Where policies cannot be considered 
up-to-date, the NPPF (paragraph 14) cites the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that planning permission should be granted unless i) any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or ii) 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted. The 
presumption in paragraph 14 also applies where a proposal is in accordance with the 
development plan, where it should be granted without delay (unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise).  

 
26. The precise meaning of ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing’ has been the 

subject of much case law, with inconsistent results. However last month, the 
Supreme Court gave judgment in a case involving Suffolk Coastal District Council 
which has clarified the position. The Supreme Court overruled earlier decisions of the 
High Court and the Court of appeal in this and other cases, ruling that a ‘’narrow’’ 
interpretation of this expression is correct; i.e.it means policies identifying the 
numbers and location of housing, rather than the “wider” definition which adds 
policies which have the indirect effect of inhibiting the supply of housing, for example, 
countryside protection policies. However, the Supreme Court made it clear that the 
argument over the meaning of this expression is not the real issue. The absence of a 
five year housing land supply triggers the application of paragraph 14 of the NPPF. In 
applying the ‘tilted balance’ required by this paragraph, the Council must decide what 
weight to attach to all of the relevant development plan policies, whether they are 
policies for the supply of housing or restrictive ‘counterpart’ polices such as 
countryside protection policies.  

 
27. In accordance with National Planning Policy Guidance paragraph 030 (Reference ID: 

3-030-20140306) the starting point for calculating the 5 year land supply should be 
the housing requirement figures in up-to-date adopted Local Plans. It goes on to 
state that ‘…considerable weight should be given to the housing requirement figures 
in adopted Local Plans, which have successfully passed through the examination 
process, unless significant new evidence comes to light….Where evidence in Local 
Plans has become outdated and policies in emerging plans are not yet capable of 
carrying sufficient weight, information provided in the latest full assessment of 
housing needs should be considered. But the weight given to these assessments 
should take account of the fact they have not been tested or moderated against 
relevant constraints...’ 

 
28. The Council published the Ipswich and Waveney Housing Market Areas Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) in May 2017 which is significant new evidence 
for the emerging Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan. Therefore, the 5 year 
land supply has been calculated for both the adopted Core Strategy based figures 
and the new SHMA based figures. For determining relevant planning applications, it 
will be for the decision taker to consider appropriate weight to be given to these 
assessments and the relevant policies of the development plan. 

 
29. A summary of the MSDC 5 year land supply position is: 

 

 Core Strategy based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 

Page 613

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/


 SHMA based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 
 

30. The NPPF requires that development be sustainable, and paragraph 6 of the NPPF 
sets out guidance on what this means in practice by drawing attention to all of the 
policies from paragraph 18 to 219 of the NPPF. In some circumstances there is also 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development which is to be applied as set out 
in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This has been discussed above.  

 
31. Paragraph 7 of the NPPF sets out three dimensions for sustainable development, 

economic, social and environmental: 
 

"an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure:  

 
a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and 
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect 
the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and  

 
an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and 
historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change including moving to a low carbon economy."  

 
32. In light of all of the above, this report will consider the proposal against the policies of 

the development plan to determine if the development is in accordance with the 
development plan as a whole. If it is not, and there are policy conflicts, they will need 
to be weighed against other material considerations to see whether a decision which 
does not accord with the development plan is warranted, in the light of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and in the context of the authority 
not being able to demonstrate a 5 year land supply. 

 
Sustainability of the Proposal (including assessment against the development plan 
and the NPPF) 

 
33. The Parish Council and some of the objectors have commented that this scheme 

should be refused as it is outside the development limits for Thurston in line with the 
policies as contained in the adopted Core Strategy and Local Plan. However, it is 
clear on reviewing the guidance in the NPPF as outlined above that this cannot be 
the case as housing delivery policies CS1 and CS2 of the core strategy should not be 
considered to be up-to- date along with policies such as H7 of the Local Plan as the 
Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing as required by the NPPF. Other 
comments have been received stating that the Council should not consider this 
application and the others in the Thurston area until the Council determine in a new 
style local plan its stance on the location of new housing in the district. However, 
national policy as contained in the NPPF does not give the Council this option and 
requires all applications to be determined promptly. 

 
34. The contents of paragraph 55 of the NPPF are also considered to be material in the 

making of a decision on this case. Objections have been received stating that this 
proposal should not be allowed as it is outside the settlement limit for Thurston and 
that the site should be considered as countryside. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF makes 
it clear that Councils can no longer consider sites that are adjacent or near to a 

Page 614



settlement limit to be unacceptable simply because they are the wrong side of the 
line. It now makes it clear that ‘new isolated homes in the countryside will not be 
supported and that Councils are encouraged to promote sustainable development in 
rural areas by considering housing development in locations where they could 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. It gives an example in 
paragraph 55 that new housing could provide increased facilities in one settlement 
which would be of benefit to it and the other surrounding settlements.   

 
35. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the application site is not in an 

isolated location as it is adjacent to the built up part of the village, and the scheme 
will bring with it contributions towards local infrastructure which will be of benefit to 
the residents of Thurston and the surrounding villages. Therefore, in terms of 
paragraph 55 of the NPPF, this proposal could be considered to promote sustainable 
development in a rural area. However, having regards to the fact that the Council 
does not have a 5 year supply of housing and has to balance the negatives of the 
scheme against the positives that it brings in line with the requirements of the NPPF, 
consideration of whether the scheme will be supported as sustainable development 
or not will be given in the conclusion to this report. 

 
36. In reaching a decision, paragraph 47 of the NPPF is a material consideration and 

requires Local Planning Authorities to boost significantly the supply of housing, by 
identifying and updating annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements with an 
additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. As 
stated above, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and as 
such paragraph 49 of the NPPF applies and states that in this situation, the relevant 
policies for the supply of housing in the Council’s adopted plan should not be 
considered to be up to date and that the scheme remains to be considered under the 
requirements of paragraphs 7 and 14 of the NPPF which defines what sustainable 
development is and how decisions should be made. 

 
37. Since the submission of this application, four other developers have also submitted 

application for residential development in Thurston. Bovis Homes have applied for 
138 dwellings on land on the west side of Barton Road (4386/16); Persimmon have 
applied for 250 dwellings plus a new school on land west of Ixworth Road (4963/16); 
Laurence Homes have applied for 64 dwellings on land at Meadow Lane (4942/16) 
and Pigeon Capital have applied for 200 homes plus a school on land at Norton 
Road (5070/16). Including this application, 827 new homes are currently proposed in 
Thurston.  

 
38. Following receipt of these applications an approach of joint working to explore 

cumulative infrastructure issues has been agreed between the respective applicants 
and the District and County Council. This has enabled the constructive exploration of 
significant infrastructure issues on a collaborative but without prejudice basis to a 
consensual timetable.  Therefore, as there are unprecedented numbers of new 
dwellings proposed it is considered that all schemes must be considered both on 
their own merits and in combination with each other to assess if they meet the tests 
for sustainable development as outlined in the NPPF. 

 
 
39. Policy FC1 of the Mid Suffolk District Core Strategy Focused Review states that it 

takes a positive approach to sustainable development and, as with the NPPF 
requirements, the Council will work proactively with developers to resolve issues that 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. Related 
policy FC1.1 makes it clear that for development to be considered sustainable it must 

Page 615



be demonstrated against the principles of sustainable development. The policy goes 
on to say that proposals for development must conserve and enhance the local 
character of the different parts of the district and how it addresses the key issues of 
the district. 

 
40. The settlement of Thurston is one of the two largest villages in the district of Mid 

Suffolk (with the other being nearby Elmswell) where a wide range of local services 
and local infrastructure is provided. Thurston has both a primary and a secondary 
school, and a number of other local facilities which act as a service to the inhabitants 
of the village as well as providing employment opportunities. Whilst Thurston does 
not have a doctor’s surgery, there is one in Woolpit and another in Moreton Hall 
which is a reasonably short journey away either by car or via public transport.  

 
41. Thurston is also unusual in that it has a railway station which provides access for the 

residents to be able to commute to Ipswich, Bury St Edmunds and further afield 
without having to use their cars. Thurston is also on a bus route with a number of 
designated stops within the village. As part of this scheme the applicant is proposing 
to provide bus shelters outside of the site to ensure that the future residents of the 
dwellings can access public transport conveniently without having to walk elsewhere 
in the village to get to the bus stops.  

 
42. In relation to paragraph 7 of the NPPF, the proposals would contribute to building a 

strong, responsive and competitive economy through the creation of construction and 
related jobs and the on-going contribution to the local economy from the creation of 
up to 175 additional households in the area. The proposals would also contribute 
towards providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and 
future generations and by having the potential to create a high quality built 
environment, as well as contributions towards affordable housing, the highway 
network and other social infrastructure (public open space, education, health care) 
through a CIL contribution, or where appropriate, a section 106 agreement.  

 
43. It must also be remembered that paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that 

housing applications should be considered in the context of sustainable 
development. The applicant is proposing up to 175 dwellings in this instance and 
they have confirmed that it is their intention if they get planning permission to 
commence with work on site as soon as possible following the granting of their 
reserved matters application. To speed this up, they have agreed to have a shorter 
period than is usual to submit their reserved matters application (2 rather than 3 
years) which helps to justify that as a developer, they are serious about delivering the 
houses.  They have also signed an agreement with Mid Suffolk and Suffolk County 
Council to work as a group with the other 4 other developers in Thurston to contribute 
to and work together to achieve the necessary infrastructure within the area to make 
this and the other 4 schemes sustainable.   

 
44. The Council’s Sustainability Officer has objected to the scheme on the grounds that 

detail in terms of the build, orientation and energy efficiency of the dwellings has not 
been submitted. However, it should be noted that this scheme is in outline form and 
the applicant does not have to provide this information at this stage.  This information 
can be addressed at the more appropriate reserved matters stage where full 
technical details of the layout, orientation and finish of the dwellings have to be 
provided. 

 
45. Consideration of whether this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable 

development, having regard to the contents of policies FC1 and FC1.2 of the 

Page 616



Adopted Core Strategy Focused Review and the contents of the NPPF will be 
reached in the conclusion to this report. 

 
Site Access, Parking And Highway Safety Considerations 
 
46. Policy T10 of the Mid Suffolk District Local Plan provides criteria on highway 

considerations when assessing planning applications. This policy requires access 
points into and out of the site to be safe and an assessment made as to whether the 
existing local roads can suitably accommodate the impact of the proposal, whether 
adequate parking and turning spaces exist within the site and that the needs of 
pedestrians and cyclists have been met. This policy is considered to carry significant 
weight in the determination of this application as it is in compliance with paragraph 32 
of the NPPF which requires all schemes to provide safe access for all. 
 

47. A number of objections have been received to the scheme on the grounds that the 
use of a single access point into the site would be detrimental to highway safety and 
that the local road network is unsuitable for a development of up to 175 dwellings. 
Mention has specifically been made that some local junctions are unsafe at present 
(see Parish Council objection for details as well as the Local Highway Authority’s 
consultation response), particularly those adjacent to the railway bridge to the south 
of the village and that this scheme will exacerbate this problem as more vehicles will 
be using these junctions to access local roads, particularly the A14 to reach other 
destinations further afield. Comments have also been received that this scheme 
cumulatively with the other 4 schemes that have been submitted in Thurston for 
residential development will cause a significant and severe impact on the road 
network in the locality. 
 

48. The site is located to the north east of the village with Sandpit Lane bordering the site 
to the west and Norton Road to the north. This proposal originally showed two 
access points; one off Norton Road and a second off Sandpit Lane. The Local 
Highway Authority originally objected to this layout, on the grounds that the access 
off Norton Road was not safe and could not be altered to be made safe. They also 
commented that the proposal lacked a footpath link from the existing part off Church 
Road to the edge of the site and that the above was contrary to paragraph 32 of the 
NPPF which requires safe access for all. The applicant has subsequently amended 
the scheme in line with the comments made by the Local Highway Authority. 
 

49. The Local Highway Authority has considered the cumulative impact of this proposal 
on the highway network in Thurston and they have come to the conclusion that the 
impact of the 5 scheme if they all come forwards will be severe. However, they have 
made it clear that the NPPF requires all public bodies to try and resolve problems 
and they are confidents that if all 5 developers work together those suitable and cost 
effective alterations can be made to the highway network to ensure that the impact 
does not constitute a severe one. The Local Highway Authority has assessed the 
road network and has suggested alterations and improvements to key areas of it (see 
the Local Highway Authority’s consultation response earlier in this report for more 
information) which all 5 developers have been asked to contribute towards through 
either a section 106 agreement or through the Highways Act. All 5 developers which 
include Hopkins Homes have agreed to contribute towards the works as requested 
by the Highway Authority. For the Hopkins proposal, the Highway Authority is 
requesting £94,724 via a S106 agreement, a further £72,333 under section 278 of 
the Highway Act and a further £30,000 under section 38 of the Highway Act. As such, 
this proposal no longer fails the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF when 
considered cumulatively with the other 4 residential schemes as the impact with the 
alterations carried out to the highway network will no longer be severe. 

Page 617



 
50. The Local Highway Authority identify that the scheme will offer sustainable travel 

options to local residents as additional pavements and bus shelters are proposed 
and these will link up to both existing facilities and those proposed on neighbouring 
sites by the other developers seeking at the moment to build houses in Thurston. 
This will help to improve accessibility on foot and via public transport and will ensure 
that the site is accessible to the local railway station. The Local Highway Authority is 
also recommending that the applicant is obligated via a S106 agreement to provide a 
travel plan to ensure that there are sustainable transport options available to the new 
residents of the scheme rather than just having to rely on their private cars to access 
local facilities.  

 
51. Having regards to the specific and cumulative highway impacts of the scheme when 

considered in line with the requirements of paragraphs 21 and 32 of the NPPF the 
Local Highway Authority has had regards to the fact that in some locations, the 
impact of the granting of 827 dwellings will be severe on the highway network, but 
these impacts can successfully be mitigated by the works to the network as 
suggested. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the proposal complies 
with the requirements of policy T10 of the local plan and paragraph 32 of the NPPF, 
in that safe and suitable access for all people can be achieved and that cost effective 
improvements can be undertaken to the transport network to ensure that non-
motorised modes of transport can be used to access local facilities.  

 
52. Concerns by the objectors in terms of the impact of construction traffic on the 

surrounding highways network, can be controlled by the imposition of a suitable 
condition should this scheme be granted planning permission. As the application is in 
an outline form, the indicative layout shows that a suitable internal layout, which 
would be up to the Council’s highway standards, could be provided at reserved 
matters stage. 

 
53. It is of merit to also note, that a public right of way (PROW) runs along the eastern 

end of the site and is to be incorporated into the green open part to the eastern end 
of the site. Having consulted with the SCC PROW Officer, it is noted that no 
objections have been received in relation to this aspect of the scheme.  

 
Design And Layout [Impact On Street Scene] 
 
54. Section 7 of the NPPF refers to design.  Specifically, paragraph 56 states that good 

design is a key aspect of sustainable development; it should contribute positively to 
making places better for people.  Decisions should aim to ensure that development 
will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, establish a strong sense of 
place, create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit, optimise the 
potential of the site to accommodate development, create and sustain an appropriate 
mix of uses and support local facilities and transport networks.  Furthermore it 
provides that development should respond to local character and history, and reflect 
the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation.  The NPPF goes on to state it is "proper to seek to promote 
or reinforce local distinctiveness" (para 60) and permission should be "refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving 
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions" (para 64).  In addition 
policy CS5 provides that "All development will maintain and enhance the 
environment, including the historic environment, and retain the local distinctiveness 
of the area” and echoes the provision of the NPPF. 
 

Page 618



55. Objections have been received stating that the site is currently an open field and that 
dwellings of the scale and density of the proposal, particularly in reference to the 
indicative plans to build of 2 to 3 storey dwellings on site is considered to be 
inappropriate and not in keeping with the locality. 

 
56. The application is in outline form and the plans as submitted provide an indicative 

layout of how the scheme could potentially look should this outline planning 
application be approved which relates to the principle of the development of the site. 
The area to the west and to the south of the site is residential in character. The 
dwellings to the west that border Sandpit Lane are modern predominantly two storey 
properties with the properties that run along the southern boundary of the site being a 
mixture of single and two storey properties again of relatively recent design and 
construction. The applicant has indicatively shown a layout which is considered to be 
in keeping with the residential character of the area and this can be altered to take on 
the concerns of any consultees and local residents at the reserved matters stage. 
Furthermore, the density of the scheme at approximately 24 dwellings per hectare is 
low and appropriate to its location and does not reflect the comments of the objectors 
who consider this scheme to be high density.  

 
57. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the scheme in terms of its 

suggested layout constitutes good design in line with the requirements of the NPPF 
and local policy CS5 as it proposes a form of development that would reflects the 
character and appearance of the surrounding streetscape.  

 
Parish Plan / Neighbourhood Plan 

 
58. A Neighbourhood Plan designation was confirmed in 2013 and covers the Parish of 

Thurston.  At the time of the consideration of this proposal the parish have set up a 
neighbourhood Plan Committee to prepare the policies for the new Neighbourhood 
Plan. Both the Parish Council and their Neighbourhood Plan Committee have 
objected to this scheme with the latter raising objections based on some of the early 
work that they have carried out for the evidence base for the new plan. 

 
59. The Planning Practice Guidance identifies that “Paragraph 216 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework sets out the weight that may be given to relevant policies 
in emerging plans in decision taking. Factors to consider include the stage of 
preparation of the plan and the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures that the community has the final say 
on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers should 
respect evidence of local support prior to the referendum when seeking to apply 
weight to an emerging neighbourhood plan. The consultation statement submitted 
with the draft neighbourhood plan should reveal the quality and effectiveness of the 
consultation that has informed the plan proposals. And all representations on the 
proposals should have been submitted to the local planning authority by the close of 
the local planning authority’s publicity period. It is for the decision maker in each case 
to determine what is a material consideration and what weight to give to it”. 

 
60. As such, whilst it is ultimately for Members to determine the weight that should be 

given to the plan, whilst it is at an early stage in its development, it is the view of 
Officers that little material weight can be given at this time. 

 
Landscape Impact 
 
61. Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that proposals should provide appropriate 

landscaping to ensure that they integrate well into the surrounding locality. This 

Page 619

https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#draft-neighbourhood-plan-meets-requirement


requirement is repeated in one of the requirements of policy H13 of the Mid Suffolk 
District Local Plan. It is proposed to retain and strengthen the hedging on the 
southern part of the site and also part of the site from the dwelling on Norton Road 
down to the part where the existing public footpath runs through the site. The most 
eastern part of the site, which is bordered by Norton Road and Church Road, is the 
most visible from the surrounding open countryside and which would cause most 
harm to the surrounding countryside if developed. The indicative plans show that this 
is to remain undeveloped and act as an attractive green buffer between the scheme 
and the surrounding open countryside.  

 
62. Objections have been received to this proposal on the grounds that the site lies in an 

exposed location and that the approval of this scheme will erode the intrinsic beauty 
and the character of the surrounding open countryside. The County Landscape 
Officer has been consulted on this scheme and following the submission of the 
amended plans he has not raised any objections to this scheme. He acknowledges 
that it will change the character and appearance of the surrounding open 
countryside, but with suitable landscaping and the provision of the green open space 
on the eastern side of the site its impact will be minimised both in the medium and 
longer term. 

 
63. Having regards to the requirements of policy H13 of the MSDC Local Plan and 

paragraph 58 of the NPPF, it is considered that the scheme provides substantial 
landscaping both within and on the boundaries of the site to ensure that it assimilates 
well into the rural edge of Thurston and provides an attractive environment both for 
the new residents of the site and those living in the surrounding locality. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
64. Policies within the adopted development plan require, inter alia, that development 

does not materially or detrimentally affect the amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties.  This requirement is emphasised in the NPPF Core Values 
in paragraph 17 where it states that all schemes should seek a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.   

 
65. Objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the dwellings running 

along the southern part of the site will be too close and have a negative impact on 
the living conditions of the occupiers. It has been noted from the site visit, that many 
of the properties that face north into the site on Sandpit Drive, Victoria Close and 
Oakfield Road have a number of windows that face into the field with a number of 
them not having their own boundaries between the field and their gardens and relying 
on the hedgerow, which is sparse in places as the boundary. 

 
66. However, the application is in outline form with the layout plan only being indicative. 

The indicative plan shows the dwellings along the southern buffer of the site being 
separated from the existing dwellings by the estate roads and the hedging along the 
site boundary being strengthened. It is considered that at reserved matters stage that 
a suitable layout can be drawn up which would not have a negative impact on the 
living conditions of the surrounding neighbouring occupiers in terms of loss of privacy 
and residential amenity. 

 
67. Objections to the scheme have been submitted on the grounds that the erection of 

houses in close proximity to the ‘The Victoria Pubic House’ which lies on the corner 
of Norton Road and Sandpit Lane will have a negative impact on the operation of the 
public house which has events both internally and externally which generate noise 
and nuisance. This concern has also been raised by the Council’s Environmental 

Page 620



Health Officer. As stated above, the layout of the site is indicative and whilst 
dwellings have been shown adjacent to the public house, these could be removed 
from the scheme that is submitted at reserved matters stage to ensure that noise and 
nuisance matters are minimised. The reserved matters layout could also take on 
board the comments raised and propose a form of suitable screening and/or 
landscaping in this location to further reduce the impact of noise from the users of the 
public house. It must also be emphasised that anybody buying a house adjacent to a 
public house must appreciate that such premises will generate noise as stated in 
paragraph 123 of the NPPF and whilst measures can be put in place to reduce noise 
impacts, these will never be completely ameliorated whilst the building continues to 
operate as a public house. 

 
68. It is considered that this proposal does not give rise to any significant concerns of 

loss of neighbour amenity by reason of noise, form, design, the distance between the 
dwellings and the substantial landscaping that is proposed along the periphery of the 
site and as such the proposal meets the relevant NPPF core value in paragraph 17. 

 
Environmental Impacts - Ecology And Land Contamination 
 
69. The application site is a grade 3b agricultural parcel of land which is adjacent to the 

built up part of Thurston. As the site is in an agricultural use, there is limited tree 
cover within the site with the majority of the trees and hedging being along the field 
boundaries. 

 
70. Numerous objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the loss of 

the field to create residential development will have a negative impact on animal 
species, particularly protected species in the locality.  

 
71. Regulation 9(5) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

(Implemented 1st April 2010) provides that all "competent authorities" (public bodies) 

to "have regard to the Habitats Directive in the exercise of its functions.”  In order for 

a Local Planning Authority to comply with regulation 9(5) it must "engage" with the 

provisions of the Habitats Directive.   

72. The content of paragraph 118 of the NPPF is also applicable to the consideration of 
this proposal as it states that when determining planning applications, consideration 
must be given to 6 principles. The two following principles are applicable to this 
scheme:  

 
73. If significant harm is caused which cannot be avoided or mitigated by conditions then 

planning permission should be refused. 
 
74. Opportunities to integrate biodiversity in and around developments should be 

supported. 
 
75. The County Ecologist has been consulted on this application and they have 

commented that as the majority of the site is in agricultural use, it will offer limited 
habitat for protected species. However, bats have been noted in the locality and she 
considers that in line with the requirements of the directive above and the contents of 
paragraph 118 of the NPPF that the scheme can be made acceptable by the 
imposition of conditions to control aspects such as the impact of street and 
residential lighting and to ensure that natural features such as the hedgerows around 
the site are protected during the construction of the scheme to protect habitat. It was 

Page 621



also noted that new habitat is proposed as part of the scheme and that a large part of 
the site to the east is to be retained as open space.  

 
76. Paragraph 121 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning decisions should make sure 

that the site is suitable for its new use taking account the hazards of any previous 
use. As the site is currently a field, subject to historical agricultural practices which 
could have included the spraying of crops with chemicals, and part of the site 
appears to have been subject to historical landfill waste, a contaminated land report 
has been submitted to the council for consideration. The Council’s Contaminated 
Land Officer in the Environmental Health team has reviewed the report and has 
advised that subject to the imposition of conditions, he does not object to the 
scheme. Therefore, it is considered that it is in compliance with paragraph 121 of the 
NPPF. 

 
Heritage Issues (The Setting Of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
77. Both the NPPF and Core Strategy place significant emphasis on safeguarding 

heritage as an important component of sustainable development.  
 
78. With reference to the treatment of the submitted application, the Council embraces its 

statutory duties and responsibilities in relation to listed buildings, notably the general 
duties undersections 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 which requires the local planning authority to have “special regard to the 
desirability of preserving [a] building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 

 
79. Recent case law on the application of the statutory duty acknowledges that the 

consideration of the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset is a matter for its own planning judgement, but that the 
Local Planning Authority is required to give any such harm considerable importance 
and weight. However, where special regard to the desirability of preserving heritage 
assets has been paid and no harm is considered to be posed, the ‘balancing’ of harm 
(which should be given considerable weight as above) against public benefits as 
required by the NPPF, is not engaged.  

 
80. Policy HB1 (Protection of Historic Buildings) places a high priority on the protection of 

the character and appearance of historic buildings, particularly the setting of Listed 

Buildings. 

81. In paragraph 17 of the NPPF it makes it clear that development should “conserve 
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations”.  Para 
131 goes on to state that “In determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of; the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the desirability of 
new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.”  Furthermore Para 132 states “When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. As 
heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 

Page 622



convincing justification.” 
 

82. Objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the proposal is 
harmful to the setting of three listed buildings. These being the Church of St Peter 
which is grade II listed, Manor Farm Barn which is grade II* listed and the converted 
barns to the north of this building which are grade II listed. Manor Farm lies to the 
north of the eastern field which forms part of this application and is screened from the 
site by existing trees to its south which separates it from the field adjacent to Norton 
Road. The listed converted buildings are further north and are also screened from the 
field which adjoins them and the site by substantial tree screening. The Church of St 
Peter lies to the east of Church Road and is screened from the site by a group of 
dwellings to the west. However, due to the height of the church, it is visible from the 
site and from Norton Road. 

 
83. Historic England and the Council’s Heritage Officer have been consulted on the 

application and they both consider that the proposal will cause harm to the setting of 
these three listed buildings as they are rural based buildings in an open countryside 
location. Both have identified that the harm will potentially be limited with the result 
that the proposal must be considered to be less than substantial harm and assessed 
in line with the requirement of paragraph 134 of the NPPF where the harm needs to 
be considered and weighed against the wider public benefits that the scheme will 
bring forwards. It is also worth noting that the Suffolk Preservation Society supports 
this scheme and considers the impact on the adjacent listed buildings to be minimal if 
even there is any harm to their settings generated at all. 

 
84. As there are 5 different applications for major housing development in the northern 

part of Thurston, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked to consider the 
cumulative impact of this scheme in relation to the others. Of the 5 applications, the 
application by Pigeon Capital for 200 homes plus a school on land at Norton Road 
(5070/16) lies to the north of the Hopkins site and in combination with each other 
both schemes will have a cumulative impact on the setting of the listed buildings. It is 
considered that the other 3 sites are too far removed from the listed buildings to 
cause impact and as such, the Heritage Officer has been asked to consider the 
cumulative impact of the Hopkins and Pigeon scheme together on the three listed 
building previously referred to. He has stated that in his opinion the cumulative harm 
to the Grade II* Listed farm house would not be greater than medium and the harm to 
the church would be somewhere between low and medium and as such it is up to 
officers in line with the NPPF to assess if the harm to the listed buildings is 
outweighed by the public benefits that the scheme brings as outlined in paragraph 
134 of the NPPF.  

 
85. It is considered that as the Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing as 

required by paragraph 47 of the NPPF (the current supply is 3.9 years) that the 
proposal will help to contribute towards this deficit by providing up to 175 new 
dwellings. The scheme will also deliver 35% of the dwellings as affordable houses to 
help to meet the need in the locality and further contributions which cover matters 
such a new primary school and pre-school facility as well as providing CIL money to 
facilitate improvements to the doctor’s surgery in Woolpit, to the local library and 
safety improvements at the Thurston Railway Station.  The scheme will also 
contribute towards improvements to the infrastructure of the local area by installing a 
new pavement and bus shelter on Sandpit Lane and the creation of a new pavement 
on Church Road to link the site up to the existing pavement within the village. On a 
more strategic level, the scheme will also contribute towards improvements to the 
highway network in and around Thurston to ensure that the road network remains 
safe for its users. 

Page 623



 
86. The public benefit of this proposal when considered on its own is highlighted above, 

but when the above is considered cumulatively with the adjacent Pigeon site, which 
will also deliver additional houses, provide land for a new primary school and 
contributions towards the cost of building it,  which also including a pre-school and 
highway infrastructure contributions and also provides CIL money to facilitate bids for 
library, doctor’s surgery and railway station improvements,  it is considered that the 
cumulative benefits of both schemes outweigh the low to medium harm that the 
proposals will have on the heritage assets identified in this report. 

 
 
 
 

Environment And Flood Risk 
 

87. Paragraph 100 of the NPPF makes it clear that inappropriate development in areas 
of flood risk should be avoided by directing development away from areas of highest 
risk. The contents of policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy is in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF in terms of flood risk and carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. In terms of flooding from rivers, the site complies 
with local and national policy as it lies in a flood zone 1 area which is land at least 
risk of flooding. To deal with surface water, the applicant is proposing a pond filled 
with reed within the north east corner of the site with the surface water flow from the 
site channelled into it. 

 
88. Objections have been received stating that the site floods to a considerably worse 

extent than that identified in the Flood risk assessment. Anglian Water and the 
County Flood and Water team have been consulted on this proposal and both 
organisations have advised that they do not object to the scheme subject to the 
imposition of a condition requiring additional technical details relating to the 
submitted drainage strategy. 

 
89. Due to unprecedented level of growth currently suggested for Thurston, the 

Environment Agency, County Flood and Water team and Anglian Water have been 
specifically asked to consider the cumulative impact of this proposal on drainage, 
flood risk and water supply grounds. They have advised that an increase of 827 
dwellings with the mitigation measures proposed by the applicants will not increase 
flood risk in the locality to an unacceptable level+. Confirmation has also been 
received that there is capacity in the local pumping station to serve 827 new 
dwellings in terms of sewage needs. Thurston lies in an area where water supply can 
be an issue, however Anglian Water has a duty by law to supply new houses with a 
water supply and this is a matter for them to resolve under their legislation. 

 
90. Having regards to the above, it is considered in terms of flood risk, drainage, water 

supply and drainage that the scheme when either considered singularly or 
cumulatively can be made acceptable subject to the imposition of a suitably worded 
condition to meet the requirements of paragraph 100 of the NPPF and policy CS4 of 
the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy. 

 
Infrastructure -  Planning Obligations / CIL contributions 
 
91. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that the local 

infrastructure, which includes the local schools and health care, is insufficient to meet 
the need of the residents of this proposal. Comment has been made that if the 
scheme is approved without suitable provision, then it will cause significant impact on 

Page 624



the existing community of Thurston. 
 

92. The Council has now implemented CIL which accordingly takes on board 
requirements such as open space contribution, NHS and education contributions.   

 
93. As part of this proposal the following contributions will be sought under the Council’s 

CIL Scheme: 
 

94. For the future expansion of the doctor’s surgery in Moreton Hall which the residents 
of this scheme would use. 
 

 For improvements to the local library provision. 

 Safety improvements to the Thurston Railway station. 
 

95. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that a new doctor’s 
surgery will not be provided and that the scheme will only provide ‘contributions’ 
rather than actual facilities. It should be noted that the Primary Care Trust (PCT) has 
made it clear that due to the existing situation with doctors, their salaries and 
contracts and the government’s policy in terms of the NHS that a new doctor’s 
surgery will not happen in Thurston as part of any of the 5 schemes. The PCT will be 
requesting contributions through CIL in relation to all 5 schemes and the monies will 
be used to improve the service offered and/or improve the facilities at the Woolpit 
Surgery and at the Park Farm Surgery in Moreton Hall to meet the expected needs of 
the additional residents of the new dwellings in Thurston. 

 
96. It has been identified following discussion with the County Infrastructure Officer that 

as suggested by the objectors and the Parish Council, there is no capacity in the 
local primary school to expand and as such a contribution of £706,477 is required 
towards the building of a new 420 place two form primary school in the locality. It has 
also been suggested that a further £66,664 is required for the provision of new pre-
school in the locality to help meet the demand generated by this development. As the 
CIL 123 list does not include the provision of new pre-school or primary school 
facilities (it only covers extensions to existing establishments) these contributions will 
have to be sought under S106 of the Planning Act. The applicant initially indicated 
that they would not agree to the payment of this contribution as they considered that 
the matter could be resolved via a CIL contribution to extend the existing school. 
However, the appellant has indicated to the Council that they have now reassessed 
the situation as the County Council has made it clear that due to a deficit of land at 
the school it cannot be extended as it would fail the Department for Education 
standards for minimum school sizes (both buildings and land) and an extension 
would not be allowed. 

 
97. Whilst the new school is being built, it has been suggested that the existing school 

will be provided with two temporary classrooms funded via CIL to cope on a 2 to 3 
year period with the increase in pupils generated from the first phase of new 
housebuilding in Thurston (from any of the 5 sites currently under consideration) until 
the new school is built. Once that happens, the existing school will be closed and the 
existing pupils moved over to the new school and the new school will be extended as 
appropriate up to a capacity of 420 pupils to accommodate the primary school age 
children arising from any of the proposed housing sites in Thurston. It is understood 
that the Diocese who own the primary school have committed to ploughing the 
capital receipt that they receive for the development of the existing school site into 
the new school which is also to be funded by a joint contribution by all 5 of the 
developers proposing major housing schemes currently in Thurston. 

 

Page 625



98. Following further dialogue with the County Obligations Manager it is understood that 
progress is being made to secure options on the potential school sites proposed in 
other applications. The delivery of a new primary school is a necessary pre-requisite 
to mitigate the potential pressure on education infrastructure from the development 
and it has been agreed that a restrictive phasing condition is not necessary given the 
progress that has been made on options. Nevertheless the securing of a primary 
school site is a material consideration upon which the delivery of this development is 
predicated. 
 

99. As is the case for new education buildings, affordable Housing is not part of CIL and 
members should note that policy to seek up to a 35% provision remains in effect. The 
applicant has confirmed that he is agreeable to provide a policy compliant scheme for 
affordable housing and that this will be achieved via a Section 106 contribution. 

 
100. Network Rail has been consulted on this scheme and has asked for a contribution of 

£1million through a S106 agreement between all five developers to close the existing 
level crossing and to provide safer and improved facilities at Thurston Railway 
Station having regards to the increased use of the facilities that will occur from the 
residents of the proposed 827 dwellings. The Council’s CIL 123 list includes 
provision for improvements to transport infrastructure. As such it is considered that it 
would be appropriate for Network Rail to bid for the specified amount to make the 
improvements they have requested to improve pedestrian safety at the station under 
the CIL scheme.  

 
101. The Local Highway Authority has, as stated earlier in the report, asked for £94,724 

under section 106 of the Planning act to pay for Hopkins Homes contribution for 
works to the highway infrastructure to ensure that the impact of approving all 5 
housing schemes totalling 872 houses in Thurston is not severe on the highway 
network as referred to in paragraph 32 of the NPPF. Additional monies is also being 
ask for travel plan initiatives for this scheme to ensure that sustainable forms of 
transportation is available to local residents. 

 
102. It is noted that the applicant has stated in his supporting statement that it is his 

intention to gift land adjacent to the church for use as an extension site to the existing 
graveyard. It must be noted that this land is outside the red line site boundary for this 
application and the provision of this land for an extension to the graveyard is not 
necessary to make this application acceptable in planning term and as such fails the 
CIL tests outlined above. However, as stated in the applicant’s supporting 
documents, this land can be gifted to the church regardless of the outcome of this 
application through other non-planning means. 

 
103. Having regards to the above, in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations, 2010, the obligations recommended to be secured above by way of a 
planning obligation deed are (a) necessary to make the Development acceptable in 
planning terms (b) directly related to the Development and (c) fairly and reasonably 
relate in scale and kind to the Development.   

 
Details Of Financial Benefits / Implications (S155 Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
 

 Council Tax payments from the dwellings when built 

 Planning Delivery Grant from Central Government for delivering the dwellings 

 S106 Agreement: 
£706,447 is required towards the building of a new primary school in 
Thurston.  
£55,642 towards the cost of the land to provide a new primary school. 

Page 626



£66,664 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston 
£94,724 is required for physical highway infrastructure works. 
Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 
annum from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five years, or 
one year after occupation of the final dwelling, whichever is longer.   
Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £104,631 (£598 per 
dwelling – based on the estimated cost calculated by Suffolk County Council 
of fully implementing the travel plan).  This is to cover the cost of 
implementing the travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to deliver it 
themselves. 
 

 CIL payments per dwelling built on site. 
 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
Planning Balance 

 
104. The proposal for residential development on land at Sandpit Lane/Norton Road in 

Thurston and is considered to be contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy 
as the application site lies within the countryside outside the built framework of the 
settlement of Thurston on what is open agricultural land.   

 
105. However, as the housing policies in the Core Strategy are out of date due to the 

Council not having a deliverable five year supply of housing, this scheme falls to be 
considered in relation to paragraph 14 and 49 of the NPPF which relate to residential 
development and sustainable development.  

 
106. Paragraph 14 states that where the development plan for the area is out of date 

permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF as a whole or specific policies in the NPPF which indicate that 
the development should be restricted. Whilst it has been identified that the proposal 
either when considered on its own or in combination with the four other residential 
schemes that are with the Council for consideration will have an adverse impact on 
the quality of the landscape character of the area, and that it will result in the 
irreplaceable loss of countryside and has an impact on the setting of three listed 
buildings in the locality and have a potentially sever impact on parts of the highway 
network, it is considered that the benefits that the scheme brings such as the 
provision of such as the provision of new housing of which 35% of them will be 
affordable,  contributions towards local infrastructure such as the highways 
improvements, provision of open space and the new school that the appellant has 
agreed to contribute towards outweighs the negative issues.  
 

107. Significant weight must also be given to the fact that there are no objections from the 
Council’s consultees to the scheme.  There are no objections in terms of design; 
crime prevention; amenity; pollution; contamination; ecology; landscape; flood risk 
and drainage either when considered in relation to the site or in combination with the 
4 other proposed residential sites in Thurston. 
 

108. In relation to highways impacts there are road safety impacts which can be 
addressed through mitigation at Fishwick Corner and other highways 
infrastructure improvements which weigh in favour of the scheme by providing 
enhanced sustainable links.  

Page 627



 
109. There remains a road safety and capacity issue at the A143 Thurston Road junction 

(adjacent to The Bunbury Arms). A number of solutions have been investigated and 
the current preferred solution is traffic signals. The highway authority consider that 
the effects of the development can be mitigated but further detailed work needs to be 
undertaken to obtain the most practicable and viable solution to address the risks. 
For this reason Committee is asked to reach a “minded to” resolution which reserves 
the local planning authority’s position pending the outcome of that detailed further 
investigation and junction design. Once the outcome of this investigation is known 
the application can be reported with a substantive recommendation to Committee. 

 
110. Therefore, it is considered having regards to paragraph 14 of the NPPF that the 

benefit the proposal brings outweighs the negatives. Furthermore, when assessing 
the proposal against the NPPF it is not contrary to its requirements as a whole and 
there are no specific policies within it that would restrict this development and as 
such it is considered that it constitutes sustainable development which should be 
approved planning permission without delay in line with the requirements of 
paragraph 14. 
 

Statement Required By Article 35 Of The Town And Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 
111. When determining planning applications The Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 requires Local 
Planning Authorities to explain how, in dealing with the application they have worked 
with the applicant to resolve any problems or issues arising.  

 
112. In this case the planning authority has worked with the applicant to overcome 

highway objections to the scheme and to clarify issues relating to drainage and 
impact on listed buildings. 

 
Identification of any Legal Implications of the decision 

 
113. There are no known legal implications derived from the determination of this 

application. 
 

114. The application has been considered in respect of the current development plan 
policies and relevant planning legalisation.  Other legislation including the following 
has been considered in respect of the proposed development.  

 
-  Human Rights Act 1998 
-  The Equalities Act 2012 
-  Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
-  Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (any rural site) 
-  The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
-  Localism Act 
-  Consideration has been given to the provisions of Section 17 of the Crime and  
 Disorder Act, 1998, in the assessment of this application but the proposal does 

not raise any significant issues.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Committee express a “minded to” resolution, subject to the further investigation and 
reporting back of highway matters in relation to the A143 Thurston Road junction, on the 
following basis: 

Page 628



 
That the authority would be minded to delegate to the Corporate Manager - Growth & 
Sustainable Planning to grant full planning permission subject to the prior completion of a 
Section 106 or Undertaking on terms to his satisfaction to secure the following heads of 
terms: 
 

 £706,447 is required towards the building of a new primary school in Thurston.  

 £55,642 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

 £66,664 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston  

 35% Affordable Housing to be transferred over to a Registered Provider 

 To secure the provision of public open space to be managed by a dedicated 
management company 

 £94,724 to secure off site highway improvement works as listed below: 
 

o Highway Improvement Contribution: £2333 contribution towards a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) and associated works to extend the existing 30mph 
of speed limit on Norton Road eastwards to improve road safety for road 
users associated with the development.  Payable prior to occupation of the 
first dwelling. 

 
o Highway Pedestrian Crossing Improvement Contribution: £10,000 

Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at Norton Road 
/ Station Hill / Ixworth Road junction to provide improved pedestrian access to 
the Academy and mitigate increase pedestrian and vehicle use. Payable on 
occupation of the first dwelling. 

 
o Highway Capacity Improvement Contribution: £10,000 Contribution towards 

improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand 
Road, junction at Great Barton to mitigate congestion at peak periods. 
Payable on commencement of work on site. 

 
o Highway Safety Improvement Contribution: £50,000 Contribution towards 

safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / 
C693 New Road including a contribution towards 40mph speed limit on the 
C692 Thurston Road to improve road safety and mitigate increased use. 
Payable on commencement of the first dwelling. 

 

 To secure a travel plan in connection with the scheme detailed as follows: 

o Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 
annum from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five years, or 
one year after occupation of the final dwelling, whichever is longer.   

 
o Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £104,631 (£598 per 

dwelling – based on the estimated cost calculated by Suffolk County Council 
of fully implementing the travel plan).  This is to cover the cost of 
implementing the travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to deliver it 
themselves. 

 
and that such permission be subject to the conditions as set out below: 
 

1) Two year time limit for submission of reserved matters (as opposed to the usual 3 
years) 

2) Reserved matters (outline) 

Page 629



3) Existing tree protection 
4) Contaminated land 
5) Construction management agreement 
6) External lighting 
7) Commencement period for landscaping 
8) Protection of birds during construction period 
9) Works to be carried out in line with the ecological report. 
10) Archaeology 
11) Highway Conditions (covering site access, Internal layout, Construction management 

plan, highway drainage, footway and cycle connectivity) 
12) Surface water drainage 

 
 

Page 630



Slide 1 

Application No: 

 

Address: 

2797/16 

Highfield 

Norton Road 

Thurston 

Bury St Edmunds 

IP31 3QH 

P
age 631



Slide 2 

Verbal Updates: 

 

- Confirmation and summary of any 3rd Party 

representations received not previously issued to 

members.   

 

- Confirmation and summary of any consultee 

responses received not previously issued to 

members 

 

- Confirmation of any changes to recommendation, 

conditions or reasons.   

P
age 632



Slide 3 

Hopkins Homes 

5010/16 and 

2797/16 
Settlement 

limit 

Settlement limit 

P
age 633



Slide 4 Constraints Map 

P
age 634



Slide 5 Illustrative Layout Plan 

P
age 635



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 637



Page 638



Page 639



Page 640



Page 641



Page 642



Page 643



Page 644



Page 645



Page 646



Page 647



Page 648



Page 649



Page 650



Page 651



Page 652



Page 653



Page 654



Page 655



Page 656



Page 657



Page 658



Page 659



MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Lisa Evans, Development Control Team 

FROM: Joanna Hart, Environmental Protection Team DATE; 12.08.2016 

YOUR REF: 2797/16/0UT 

SUBJECT: Land to the South of; Norton Road, Thurston, BURY ST EDMUNDS, Suffolk. 
Outline Planning Application (with all matters other than means of access 
reserved) for residential development of up to 175 dwellings with associated 
car parking, landscaping, public open space areas, allotments, and vehicular 
access from Sandpit Lane and Norton Road. 

Please find below my comments regarding 'Environmental Health - Other issues' only. 

Thank you for your consultation on the above application. 

I note that The Victoria public house is located to the north west of the site and that illustrative 
masterplan shows that a number of proposed residential plots which back directly onto the public 
house. 

The Victoria is a licensed premises which has permissions for live and recorded music, both 
indoors and outdoors, until 00.00hrs Monday - Thursdays and Sundays and 01.00hrs on Fridays 
and Saturdays. Opening hours are an additional 30 minutes each day. 

I am concerned that the proximity of the public house (including noise from t.he beer garden and 
play area), particularly during the evening has potenfial to result in loss of amenity at the new 
dwellings. If substantiated noise complaints were received, it could result in the operation of the 
public house· being fettered. I also note that there is an existing dwelling in close proximity to the 
public house, although I am not sure whether it is in the same ownership, although this does not. 
the same unobstructed line of sight to the beer garden that the new dwellings would have. 

The site is in proximity to a number of existing residential dwellings and for this reason there is a 
risk of loss of amenity during the construction phase of the development. I would therefore 
recommend that it would be essential for a construction management plan to be. required by 
means of condition. Such a plan shall include details of operating hours (which shall be limited to 
08.00 - 18.00 Monday - Friday, 09.00 - 13.00hrs on Saturdays, with no working to take place on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays. Deliveries should also be limited to these hours), means of access, 
traffic routes, vehicle parking and manoeuvring areas (site operatives and visitors), loading and 
unloading of plant and materials, wheel washing facilities, hours of operation and vehicle 
movements, lighting, location and nature of compounds and storage areas (including maximum 
storage heights), waste removal, temporary buildings and boundary treatments, dust 
management, noise management and litter management during the construction phases of the 
development. Thereafter, the approved construction plan shall be fully implemented and adhered 
to during the construction phases of the development hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

· Note: the Construction Management Plan shall cover both 'site clearance' and construction
phases of the above development.

Kind regards
Joanna Hart
Senior Environmental Protection Officer

. 

. 

Page 660



Page 661



Page 662



Page 663



Page 664



Page 665



Page 666



Page 667



Page 668



Page 669



Page 670



Page 671



Page 672



Page 673



Page 674



Page 675



Page 676



Page 677



Page 678



Page 679



Page 680



Page 681



Page 682



Page 683



Page 684



Page 685



Page 686



Page 687



Page 688



Page 689



Page 690



Page 691



Page 692



Page 693



Page 694



Page 695



Page 696



Page 697



Page 698



Page 699



Page 700



Page 701



Page 702



Page 703



Page 704



Page 705



Page 706



Page 707



Page 708



Page 709



Page 710



Page 711



Page 712



Page 713



Page 714



Page 715



Page 716



MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Lisa Evans, Development Control Team 

FROM: Joanna Hart, Environmental Protection Team 

YOUR REF: 2797/16/0UT 

DATE: 17.11.2016 

SUBJECT: Land to the South of, Norton Road, Thurston, BURY ST EDMUNDS, Suffolk. 
Outline Planning Application (with all matters other than means of access 

· reserved) for residential development of up .to 175 dwellings with associated
· car parking, landscaping, public open space areas, allotments, and vehicul<,tr
access from Sandpit Lane and Norton Road:

Please find below my comments regarding 'Environmental Health • other issues' only. 

Thank you for your re-consultation on the above application. 

My comments submitted in my memo of 12'h August 2016. are still relevant. 

I note that the development framework plan identifies an 'informal kickabout area' in the centre of 
the site. I do have some concerns about the siting of this rea which could lead to the potential for 
loss of amenity due to noise at nearby properties. If it is not possible to relocate this area, I would 
suggest that it will require careful design in terms of any features/equipment provided (such as 
goals) and lighting. 

Kind regards 
Joanna Hart 
Senior Environmental Protection Officer 

 

Page 717



Page 718



Page 719



Page 720



Page 721



Page 722



Page 723



Page 724



Page 725



Page 726



Page 727



Page 728



Page 729



Page 730



Page 731



Page 732



Page 733



Page 734



Page 735



Page 736



Page 737



Page 738



Page 739



Page 740



Page 741



Page 742



Page 743



Page 744



Page 745



Page 746



Page 747



Page 748



Page 749



Page 750



Page 751



Page 752



Page 753



Page 754



Page 755



Page 756



Page 757



Page 758



Page 759



Page 760



Page 761



Page 762



Page 763



Page 764



Page 765



Page 766



Page 767



This page is intentionally left blank



.Committee Report     

 

Committee Date: 12th July 2017 

  

Item No:  Planning Reference: 5010/16 
Appeal Reference: APP/W3520/W/17/3172098 
Case Officer: DYJO 

    

 

Description of Development: Appeal for non-determination of a major 

planning application within the 13 week statutory timescale for Outline 

Planning Permission (with all matters other than means of access 

reserved) for residential development of up to 175 dwellings with 

associated car parking, landscaping, public open space areas, 

allotments, and vehicular access from Sandpit Lane (Application 

2797/16 is a duplicate proposal to this one). 

Location: Land to the south of Norton Road, Thurston IP31 3QH 

Parish: Thurston  

 
Ward: Thurston & Hessett  

 

Ward Member/s: Councillors Esther Jewson & Derrick Haley 

 

Site Area: 11.2 

Conservation Area: None 

Listed Building: Manor Farm – Grade 2*, converted Manor Farm Barns - Grade 2, Church 

of St Peter Grade 2 – These are all buildings in the surrounding locality. 

 

Received: 16/12/2016  

Expiry Date: 18/03/2017 

 

 

Application Type: Outline (but now the subject of an appeal)  

Development Type: Smallscale Major Dwellings 

Environmental Impact Assessment: Schedule 2 development – EIA not required. 

 

Applicant:  Hopkins Homes 

Agent: Armstrong Rigg Planning 

 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED FOR CONSIDERATION 

 

The defined Red Line Plan for this application was received on the 19th December 
2016.  This drawing is the red line plan that shall be referred to as the defined application 
site.  Any other drawings approved or refused that may show any alternative red line plan 
separately or as part of any other submitted document have not been accepted on the basis 

Page 769

Agenda Item 7g



of defining the application site.   
 

Submitted Documents:  
  

Application form dated 19th December 2016 
Highway access plan   ip15_127_11_sk002 rev c 19th December 2016 
Highway improvement planip15_127_11_sk04 19th December 2016 
Development framework plan thur/01 rev c 19th December 2016 
Site location plan 19th December 2016 

Arboricultural impact assessment 19th December 2016 

Archaeological desk based assessment 19th December 2016 

Combined planning & Design & Access Statement 19th December 2016 
Extended phase 1 habitat survey 
Geophysical survey report   
Hedgerow survey 
Heritage response to Historic England 
Heritage statement 
Land sensitivity study 
Sustainability assessment   
Transport assessment 
Tree survey schedule 
Tree survey plan 
Tree protection plans 
Landscape visual impact assessment   
Interim travel plan 

 
The application plans and documents submitted by the Applicant can be viewed online via 

the following link: 

 

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessioni

d=A71703B5E1290C2FA93C17E5AC35A7F1?action=firstPage 

 

Alternatively, a copy is available to view at the Mid Suffolk and Babergh District Council 

Offices. 

 

SUMMARY 

 

Hopkins Homes has decided to appeal to the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) against the 

Council not determining their application within the statutory 13 week period. Part of 

this process involves the Council advising PINS of how it intends to defend the 

appeal and as such, this report is before members to resolve upon a  a ‘minded to 

decision’ which will allow officers to present the case for the local planning authority 

at the appeal in an appropriate manner.. 

 

The proposal has been assessed with regard to adopted development plan policies, the 

National Planning Policy Framework and all other material considerations including having 

regards to other major residential development in Thurston. The scheme is contrary to the 

adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy; however, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year 

supply of housing and the scheme falls to be considered under paragraph 14 of the NPPF 

where the adverse impacts of the scheme have to be balanced against the benefits of the 

Page 770

http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessionid=A71703B5E1290C2FA93C17E5AC35A7F1?action=firstPage
http://planningpages.midsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do;jsessionid=A71703B5E1290C2FA93C17E5AC35A7F1?action=firstPage


scheme to demonstrate that it constitutes sustainable development. Officers are 

recommending that the Council should advise the Planning Inspectorate that it is ‘minded to 

approve’ this proposal as it is considered to be sustainable development as the significant 

public benefits that the scheme will deliver (contributions towards a new school, pre-school, 

highway improvements, health provision, affordable housing and library facilities amongst 

others) are considered to outweigh the negative aspects of the proposal. 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 
 
  
-  It is a “Major” application for residential land allocation for 15 or over dwellings which 

is now at appeal. 
 
  
 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND  
 

 

1. This section details history, policies, advice provided, other legalisation and events 

that forms the background in terms of both material considerations and procedural 

background.     

 

History and other relevant proposals 

 

2. The planning history relevant to the application site is listed below.  A detailed 

assessment of the planning history including any material Planning Appeals will be 

carried out as needed in Part Three: 

 

2797/16 Application for Outline Planning Permission 
(with all matters other than means of access 
reserved) for residential development of up 
to 175 dwellings with associated car parking, 
landscaping, public open space areas, 
allotments, and vehicular access from 
Sandpit Lane (Original and identical 
application to the proposal in this report) 

 
Identical application to this one 
– currently undetermined. 

   
   
0337/88/OL Residential development of 24.36 acres with 

new or altered vehicular accesses, including 
site for Primary School, open space and 0.5 
acre for Parish Council housing. 
 

Refused 
05/04/1989 

0022/86/OL Residential development with allocation of 
open space 

Refused 
24/03/1986 

 

3. The following applications are also considered to be relevant to the consideration of 

this proposal as they represent the other major applications for residential 

Page 771



development in Thurston that are currently with the Council for consideration: 

 

4386/16 Full planning application for the erection of 138 dwellings on land on the west 

side of Barton Road, Thurston. The applicant is Bovis Homes.  

 

4942/16  Full planning application for the erection of 64 dwellings on land at Meadow 

Lane, Thurston. The applicant is Laurence Homes. 

 

4963/16  Outline application for the erection of up to 250 dwellings and associated 

infrastructure including the provision of up to 2.4ha of land for use by the 

Thurston Community College and the provision of land for a new primary school 

on land west of Ixworth Road, Thurston. The applicant is Persimmon Homes. 

 

5070/16  Outline application for the erection of up to 200 homes (including 9 self-build 

plots), land for a new primary school together with associated access, 

infrastructure, landscaping and amenity space on land at Norton Road, Thurston. 

The applicant is Pigeon Capital Management.   

 

The consideration of the cumulative infrastructure issues that this group of 

applications present has been explored in a collaborative but without prejudice 

working group including County and District Council Officers with the five respective 

applicants and their technical advisers. This has enabled a constructive and 

timetabled analysis of the proposals and their cumulative impact.  

 

Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions 

 

4. None 

 

Details of Member site visit  

 

5. Members visited Thurston on the 13th June to look at this site and the four other 

residential development schemes that are currently with the Council for 

consideration. 

 

Details of any Pre Application Advice 

 

6. The applicant engaged with the Council and received pre-application advice on the 

principle of the development and its acceptability having regards to the fact that the 

Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing. 

 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
7. Summary of Consultations 
 
Thurston Parish Council (incorporating the comments of their 

Neighbourhood Plan Team as requested by the parish) - Objects to the 

Page 772



scheme on the following grounds:  

 Thurston is to face an unprecedented level of growth due to the 

submission of 6 planning applications proposing over 800 houses 

between them. 

 The 6 applications need to be considered on a cumulative basis as failure 

by the District Council to do so would result in the individual schemes 

having a significant impact on the local community and it wouldn’t meet 

the requirements of the NPPF. 

 Consider that the Neighbourhood Plan should be given some weight in 

the consideration of this proposal as it has been the subject of public 

consultation despite not allocating sites or proposing planning policies. 

 The speed of the submission of the applications in Thurston and the 

amount of dwellings proposed between the five undetermined 

applications and the Granary site will result in Thurston losing its ‘village 

feel’ and for it to become ‘a small dormitory town’. 

 The cumulative impact of the scheme needs to be considered in the light 

of the 101 residences (92 dwellings and one block of flats incorporating 9 

units) already granted at the Granary site. 

 The current primary school is at capacity and it is landlocked and cannot 

be extended. Any additional houses would need additional primary 

school places. Agree with the County Council’s stance that a new primary 

school is required and it should be provided before the dwellings are 

occupied. However, a new school causes its own infrastructure issues 

and there is nowhere in Thurston that has current adequate provision to 

assimilate the pedestrian and vehicle movements particularly at the 

beginning and at the end of the day in school term. 

 Development is proposed on the best and most versatile agricultural land 

on the northern part of the village. 

 The density of all of the schemes is too high and they reflect urban typed 

development rather than what you would expect in a village. 

 The local community would prefer to see schemes of no greater than 50 

dwellings being built with more open space around them. They would 

also like to see more bungalow developments which the developers are 

not providing. There should also be more one and two bedroom 

flats/apartments and houses in the schemes. 

 Thurston is accessed by a network of A roads and country lanes which 

are not well maintained by the County Council and are not of a design or 

standard to accommodate increased growth in Thurston and also that 

planned in the surrounding villages and in Bury St Edmunds.  

Page 773



 Congestion of the local highway network already exists and these 

schemes will make the situation worse and will cause more accidents to 

occur at key sites which already experience accidents in the village. 

 There are no plans by network rail to improve the station at Thurston and 

this will cause capacity, parking and safety issues. 

 The number of dwellings proposed cumulatively will cause social impacts 

for the local community. These have been split in a pros and cons list as 

below: 

Positive Negative 

 New purpose built school 
more attuned to 21st Century 
needs.  

 Improved facilities and to 
allow more clubs and 
organisations to increase will 
increase their sustainability. 

 More residents in the locality 
would help to support a 
greater variety of leisure 
facilities in the village. 

 A new school would 
potentially trigger more new 
houses in the future which 
would change the social 
dynamics of the village. 

 New cycle and walking routes 
to the new school would have 
to be created as they don’t 
exist at present. 

 Newcomers to the village will 
put pressure on current 
organisations in the village will 
not be able to expand to meet 
this increased demand. 

 A greater variety of shops and 
facilities would be supported. 

 More shops and facilities will 
change the character of the 
village into a small town and 
local residents will resent this 
change and the new 
developments that have 
caused this change to 
happen. 

 More residents will sustain 
bus and train services in the 
locality. 

 More residents will increase 
pressure on the network which 
cannot be met unless 
improvements are made to the 
railway station car park. 

 More pressure for a medical 
surgery. 

 The nearest practice doesn’t 
have capacity and all that is 
being asked through this and 
the other schemes is a 
contribution towards health 
care which will make the 
service unsustainable. 

 Additional footpaths and cycle 
ways will offer a variety of 
routes for walkers and 
cyclists.  

 The new residents using the 
paths will not be familiar with 
the way that local residents 
look after their valued paths 
and this could result in bad 
feeling against them. There 
may also be more dogs off 

Page 774



leads which could cause 
problems. 

 

Specifically in relation to the Hopkins scheme, the Neighbourhood Plans team 

raise the following points:  

 That whilst the provision of 2 crossings is welcomed, the concern is that 

these are uncontrolled and will cause confusion as in the case of such a 

crossing located to the south of the development. 

 Road safety issues with emphasis on those accessing the A14 via the 
pinch point at the railway bridge on Sandpit Lane – Thedwastre Road 
and onto Pokeriage Corner.  

 
 Road safety with emphasis on the junctions of Norton Road and Ixworth 

Road for those accessing the Community College at the AM and PM 
peak times.  

 

 Impact of the vehicular movements from a single point of entry.  

 

 Development inappropriate to that of land abutting the countryside.  

 
 Development inappropriate to that of sites abutting the proposed land – 

whilst the new outline plans have bungalows backing onto bungalows in 
existing housing areas, there is a concern that the outline plans show 
2.5/3 storey dwellings which are neither in keeping or in conformity with 
the rest of the village nor suitable for a site in such a location on the edge 
of a village.  

 

 Village infrastructure particularly education and medical provision.  

 
 Type and density of housing mix not in accordance with the 

Neighbourhood Plan findings of the Ipswich Housing Market Area, 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment and the 2014 Suffolk Housing 
Needs Survey, all of which indicate that there is a high demand for 
smaller homes across all tenures both for younger people and for older 
people.  

 
 Cost of affordable homes for local residents – the application fails to take 

into account the District Wide need on the housing register for 1 and 2 
bedrooms with a smaller element requiring 3+ bedroom properties.  

 

Thurston Parish Council have raised the following additional comments in 
relation to this scheme: 

 

 The site and surrounding area are within the countryside and therefore 

outside of any settlement boundary for Thurston as defined by Mid 

Suffolk’s Local Plan and would result in the development of new 

dwellings that would be visually, physically and functionally isolated from 

the facilities and services offered by Thurston as a Key Service Centre. 

The proposal is contrary to policy GP1, H13 and H16 of the local plan, 

Page 775



policies FC1.1 and FC2 of the Core Strategy Focused Review and policy 

CS5 of the Core Strategy. 

 The internal layout of the scheme is not in keeping with development in 

the surrounding area as 2.5 and 3 storey dwellings are proposed. 

 Development of this site with 175 dwellings will result in it intruding into 

what is currently open, undeveloped, countryside resulting in 

encroachment which will harm the character and appearance of this open 

area and is contrary to policy CS5 of the Core Strategy, Policy FC1.1 of 

the Core Strategy of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy Focus Review (2012) 

and saved Policies H13 and H16 of the Mid Suffolk Local Plan. 

 The development fails to ensure that it reflects the local character and the 

identity of the area and is inconsistent with paragraph 58 of the NPPF 

and it fails to consider the loss of permanent pastureland and fails to 

consider the loss of permanent pastureland and will be contrary to policy 

CL8 – protecting wildlife habitats. 

 Considers that the application has still not considered adequately the 

current road infrastructure both for vehicles and pedestrians and the 

negative impact that will be had on road safety. It is still held that the 

location of the site will have a detrimental impact on the amenities 

enjoyed by the surrounding area vis-à-vis traffic generation (SB2 

Development Appropriate to its Setting & T10 Highway Considerations in 

Development). The proposal is also contrary to paragraph 32 of the 

NPPF. 

MSDC - Environmental Health - Land Contamination – They have not 
responded in relation to this proposal. However as this scheme is identical to the 
earlier application it is considered that their comments are still applicable.  The 
earlier comments are as follows: 
 
Does not raise any objections to the original scheme or the amended plans. 
Request that conditions are imposed to control the impact of the scheme in 
terms of contamination. 
 
MSDC - Environmental Health – Public Protection – Advises that they wish to 
provide the same comments as they have for the duplicate planning application 
2797/16. Their comments for that application are summarised as follows:  
 
Raise concerns that a number of the new dwellings will be in close proximity to 
the Victoria Public House and that noise, nuisance and disturbance from the 
operation of the pub, both inside and in the external beer garden could cause 
public protection issues. It has also been suggested that a condition should be 
imposed to control noise and disturbance during the construction phase of the 
scheme to ensure that the living conditions of the surrounding occupiers are 
protected. 
 

MSDC Heritage Officer – Considers that the comments made on the earlier 
application 2797/16 still apply. The officer advises that the site is in close 

Page 776



proximity to the Grade II listed Church of St Peter and also to Manor Farm 
which is Grade 2* listed and also the barn to the north of it which is Grade II 
listed in its own right. The Historic Buildings Officer considers that the proposal 
would cause less than substantial harm to the designated heritage assets listed 
above as it would erode their rural setting but he also considers that the impact 
is low due to the existing landscaping between the site and the heritage assets. 
The Heritage Team recommends that refinement of the layout and landscaping 
scheme should be pursued. This can be done via a planning condition as the 
application is outline and the entire layout, design and landscaping can be 
altered and refined at reserved matters stage to meet this requirement.   
 
As there are now 5 separate housing proposals in Thurston which together 

total 872 houses, with the potential for the cumulative impact of two or more of 

the schemes to have an impact on the heritage assets listed above, the 

Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked for his comments. He considers that 

in terms of the assets listed above, only the Pigeon site (5070/16 and this 

proposal) will have a cumulative impact. He has assessed when considered 

together that 375 houses (up to 200 on the Pigeon site and up to 175 on this 

site) on a cumulative basis would cause harm to the grade II* Listed farm 

house of no greater than medium. He has assessed that even adding the harm 

to the significance of the nearby church; the resulting cumulative level of harm 

to the affected heritage assets would be greater than low but not greater than 

medium. 

 
MSDC - Strategic Housing (Summary) – Advises that no objections are 

raised to the scheme as submitted as 35% affordable housing is proposed in 

line with the Council’s requirements. The strategic Housing Officer advises that 

the affordable housing provision should be provided on site as follows: 

Affordable Rent Tenancy: 
14 x 1b 2p flat = 50sqm  
8 x 1b 2p bungalow = 50sqm  
18 x 2b 4p house = 79sqm  
5 x 3b 6p house = 95sqm  
1 x 4b 7p house = 115sqm  

 

Shared Ownership:  
10 x 2b 4p house = 79sqm  
5 x 3b 5p house = 93sqm  
 
 
MSDC - Tree Officer – Advised that he wishes to provide the same comments 
as he did for the duplicate planning application 2797/16. His comments for that 
application are summarised as follows:  
 
Does not object to the proposal subject to the trees on site that are to be 
retained being protected during the build process in line with the details 
contained in the application. Whilst a number of trees are to be removed to 
facilitate this development, they are of poor species and their loss will be 
negligible on the character and appearance of the area. 
 

Page 777



SCC Highways – The Local Highway Authority has considered the cumulative 
impact of the provision of 827 houses on all 5 sites in Thurston on the highway 
network. They have concluded that the impact of all 5 sites coming forward 
without mitigation could be severe on the local highway network (paragraph 32 
of the NPPF) but under paragraph 21 of the NPPF, the County and the District 
Council has a duty to recognise and address potential barriers to investment, 
including any lack of infrastructure and identify areas for infrastructure 
provision. The Local Highway Authority considers that cost effective measures 
can be put into place to overcome the potential impacts of the scheme and to 
render its impact as not being severe on the local highway network. 
 
The Local Highway Authority has advised that the following junctions are or 
may exceed capacity: 
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
Modelling shows that this junction is already close to theoretical capacity in the 
AM peak with northbound traffic waiting to turn onto the A143 queueing on 
Barton Road and at capacity in the PM peak with Thurston bound traffic waiting 
right from the A143 into Barton Road. The additional traffic from the proposed 
developments in Thurston will exacerbate these problems; in particular, 
modelling shows the queueing traffic on Barton Road will exceed capacity in 
the AM peak.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick 
Corner)  
Modelling indicates that the southbound approach to the junction is currently 
close to capacity in the morning peak and that its capacity will be exceeded 
before all five developments could be delivered. However, in the PM peak the 
junction has the capacity for the predicted traffic for all developments.  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
The modelling of this junction shows some inconstancies with one study 
indicating it will be close to capacity southbound on Thedwastre Road in the 
AM peak due to traffic from one specific development but other modelling 
showing it would have capacity for the traffic generated by the developments. 
 
Highway Infrastructure (Road Safety)  
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
There have been three recorded crashes resulting in slight injuries and one 
involving serious injury at this junction in the last 5 years for which data is 
available (2012-2016).  
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
There have been two crashes resulting in slight injuries at this junction in the 
past 5 years  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick 
Corner)  
At this junction there have been 9 crashes resulting in slight injuries and one 
resulting in a serious injury in the past 5 years.  
 
The frequency of injury related crashes at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 
Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick Corner) junction would, in the 
opinion of SCC, necessitates some work to improve road safety. Although the 

Page 778



frequency of crashes at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 
Brand Road does not justify significant road safety improvements it is a factor 
that should be considered in any future mitigation measures. 
 
Suggested Mitigation Measures  
 
A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road  
An assumption has been made that the junction can be signalised and that this 
will reduce congestion and improve road safety. Although there is a generous 
width of highway verge in the vicinity of the junction the geography of the site 
may place constraints on the design and further work is required to confirm that 
a solution is possible or beneficial. The proposed junction improvements would 
be delivered through a jointly funded S106 contribution.  
 
C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road (Fishwick 
Corner)  
The issue of congestion on the southbound approach is difficult to mitigate as 
there is insufficient land within the highway boundary to provide a meaningful 
solution. It is noted that the road network around Thurston is relatively 
permeable and an option exists for traffic to avoid this by diverting onto Beyton 
Road and then turning right to approach this junction from the east. 
 
Several minor traffic management features such as improved signing, marker 
posts and high friction surfacing have been used at this junction in the past as 
crash reduction measures. Despite this, crashes causing injury continue to 
occur. To reduce the severity of these crashes it is proposed to restrict the road 
to 40mph and undertake local safety improvements such as enhanced road 
signs and markings. This would be delivered through a jointly funded S106 
contribution.  
 
A longer term solution would be to remodel the junction or drastically remodel 
the road network. It is recommended these matters should be addressed in any 
future revisions to the Local Plan. 
 
C560 Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road  
The highway boundary constrains any improvements in this location and thus 
there does not appear to be any viable mitigation to increase capacity on the 
southbound Thedwastre Road approach. The relatively low number of crashes 
suggests that the issue of road safety is not as important as it is for the other 
two junctions and mitigation measures would only comprise low cost work, 
such as road signs and markings. 
 
Speed Limits 
 
Based on the available details of the five proposed developments the following 
changes to speed limits are suggested;  
 

 Extend the 30mph speed limit north on Ixworth Road to Thurston Rugby 
Club  

 Extend the 30mph speed limit on Norton Road towards and beyond 
Church Road  

Page 779



 Extend of 30mph speed limit on Barton Road west of Mill Lane  

 Create a new 40mph speed limit between and including the C693 
Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / C693 New Road and the C560 
Beyton Road / C592 Thurston Road / U4920 Thedwastre Road for road 
safety reasons.  

 
Alterations to the speed limits cannot be done under the planning regulations 
and must be done under the Traffic Regulation Orders which is a separate 
Highway process governed by the County Council. 
 
Pedestrian and Cycling Infrastructure 
The suggested improvements to the pedestrian and cycling infrastructure that 
are considered to be necessary are as follows:  
 

 An uncontrolled pedestrian crossing on Norton Road between Meadow 
Lane and Station Hill / Ixworth Road.  

 

 A footway on west side of Ixworth Road between Norton Road and the 
entrance to Persimmon’s site  

 

 A footway link on Ixworth Road between the entrance to the Persimmon 
development and the entrance to the Thurston Rugby Club.  

 A controlled pedestrian crossing facility (e.g. a raised table junction with 
zebra crossing) if practicable at or adjacent to the Norton Road / Station 
Hill / Ixworth Road junction. Pooled contributions from all 5 
developments are required for the County Council to deliver this.  

 A footway on the north side of Norton Road from Meadow Lane east 
towards Church Lane as far as the site boundary allows. This could be 
within the development and or on the highway verge.  

 An uncontrolled pedestrian on Norton Road crossing linking the 
Hopkins Homes and Pigeon sites  

 Meadow Lane resurfaced to improve cycle / pedestrian facilities (and 
maintain access to properties)  

 Provide a metalled footway on Church Road between Footpath 006 and 
the footpath link to School Lane. This will include provision of street 
lighting along this short section of footpath.  

 Provide two uncontrolled pedestrian crossings on Sandpit Lane to link 
the Hopkins Homes development to the main village.  

 
Public Rights of Way (PRoW)  
 
It is proposed that a small number of PRoW are improved to provide alternative 
pedestrian links between the proposed developments and current and future 
school sites. These are improvements to:  
 

 Thurston Footpath 001 between Ixworth Road and Meadow Lane. It is 

Page 780



proposed that this is to an all-weather standard, preferably a bituminous 
surface.  

 Thurston Footpath 018 between Ixworth Road and Mill Lane. This lies 
within the development site and the works can be secured by condition.  

 
 

 Thurston Footpath 006 between Norton Road and Church Road. This 
lies within the development site and the works can be secured by 
condition. It is proposed that this is to an all-weather standard; 
preferably a bituminous surface as far as it is a safe pedestrian route to 
the site north of Norton Road.  

 

 New PROW link along southern boundary of the Bovis Homes site to 
join Barton Road.  

 

 New PROW link from the site west of Barton Road to Heath Road, 
linking with Cycle Route 51.  

 

 Improve PROW 007 North of Meadow Lane (un metalled)  
 
Public Transport  
 
Improvements to public transport infrastructure will be limited to any 
site-specific works necessary as a result of each development through S106. 
All other public transport improvements are included in the CIL. 
 
The Local Highway Authority advises that the reminder of the issues that are 
relevant to this proposal can be covered by planning conditions and within the 
S106 agreement for the scheme.  
 
The S106 heads of terms will cover the following issues: 
 

 Highway Improvement Contribution: £3733 contribution towards a 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) and associated works to extend the 
existing 30mph of speed limit on Norton Road eastwards to improve 
road safety for road users associated with the development.  Payable 
prior to occupation of the first dwelling. 

 

 Highway Pedestrian Crossing Improvement Contribution: £19,108 
Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at Norton 
Road / Station Hill / Ixworth Road junction to provide improved 
pedestrian access to the Academy and mitigate increase pedestrian 
and vehicle use. Payable on occupation of the first dwelling. 

 

 Highway Capacity Improvement Contribution: £60,837 Contribution 
towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ 
C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton to mitigate congestion at 
peak periods. Payable on commencement of work on site. 

 

 Highway Safety Improvement Contribution: £11,046 Contribution 
towards safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 
Thurston Road / C693 New Road including a contribution towards 
40mph speed limit on the C692 Thurston Road to improve road safety 

Page 781



and mitigate increased use. Payable on commencement of the first 
dwelling. 
 

 Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 
per annum from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five 
years, or one year after occupation of the final dwelling, whichever is 
longest.  This is to cover Suffolk County Council officer time working 
with the Travel Plan Coordinator and agreeing new targets and 
objectives throughout the full duration of the travel plan.  If the 
contribution is not paid Suffolk County Council may not be able to 
provide sufficient resource to assisting the ongoing implementation and 
monitoring of the travel plan, which may result in the failure of the 
Travel Plan to mitigate the highway impact of this development. 
 

 Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £118,525 (£593 per 
dwelling – based on the estimated cost calculated by Suffolk County 
Council of fully implementing the travel plan).  This is to cover the cost 
of implementing the travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to 
deliver it themselves. 

 
Except for the A143 Bury Road / C691 Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road, 

junction at Great Barton the reasons for requesting these contributions are 

described above. The A143 improvements are mitigation to improve capacity at 

this junction reflecting the small individual but, in terms of cumulative impact, 

significant effect that the five developments will have at this junction. The Local 

Highway Authority has indicated that the cost of this will be £94,724 for the 

works required under S106 of the Planning Act, £72,333 for works under 

section 278 of the Highways Act and £30,000 under S38 of the Highways Act. 

SCC - Obligations Manager: Comments that the 175 new houses proposed in 
the scheme will generate approximately 403 new people living on site. As such, 
the proposal will have an impact on local infrastructure. It has been advised 
that there is no capacity in the local Primary School which is the Thurston 
Church of England Primary Academy to accommodate this development and 
as such a contribution is requested towards a new 420 place, two forms of 
entry primary school to meet new pupil place needs.  
 
As new schools cannot be provided through the Council’s CIL (the 123 list only 
allows for extensions to schools and not new schools) a request is made for a 
contribution under S106 of the planning act. A contribution for £706,477 
(2016/2017 costs) as broken down below is require to meet the primary age 
(key stage 1 and 2) education needs which will arise from this development: 
 
 

School level Minimum pupil 
yield:  

Required: Cost per 
place £  
(2016/17): 

Primary school 
age range, 
5-11*: 

43 43 16,429 

High school age 
range, 11-16: 

31 0 18,355 

Page 782



Sixth school 
age range, 16+: 

5 0 19,907 

 
A contribution for a further £55,642 is also requested to contribute towards the 
cost of the land to provide the school. (Based on the cost of £247,100 per 
hectare with it costing £543,620 for the 2.2ha site proposed which works out at 
£1294 per pupil. It is anticipated that 43 places will arise from this scheme 
(£1294 x 43) which equals £55,642.  
 
Total primary education contributions: £762,119 
 
Temporary classroom 
 
The physical constrains of the existing primary school means that its 
permanent expansion is not possible. Therefore temporary arrangements will 
need to be put into place to accommodating the additional pupils arising from 
the homes. The Department for Education (DfE) provides minimum site area 
guidelines for schools and in this instance; a single entry school has to have a 
minimum area of 11,220m² (this figures includes all buildings and outside play 
areas). The existing school has a site area of 11,169m² and is already below 
the DfE standard and therefore no more accommodation can technically be 
added to the school. However, where there is an unavoidable and sudden 
spike in population growth (which would be the case with new housing), 
schools can provide temporary classrooms to meet this bulge in numbers until 
a suitable alternative is provided. The County has agreed with the school to 
provide a double mobile on the car park area at the school with this building 
being retained for a 2-3 year period. The double classroom will be able to 
facilitate 60 additional pupils as an interim measure whilst the new school is 
being commissioned and built. The temporary classroom will be secured via 
CIL payments as it is classified as an extension to an existing school as 
advised in the Council’s CIL 123 list. 
 
Having regards to the above, the County Council is suggesting that the district 
council considers a suitably worded planning condition restricting the 
occupancy of the proposed dwellings in all of the 6 applications submitted in 
Thurston (5 applications and this application which is at appeal) until works on 
the new primary school has commenced to make sure that the necessary 
infrastructure is in place to meet the needs of the new residents and to ensure 
that the temporary classroom does not become a permanent fixture. 
 
     

The Obligations Manager has also noted that there are currently 3 pre-school 
establishments in the locality and that spare capacity between them is only 10 
spaces. As there will be insufficient capacity in the locality, it is suggested that 
a contribution of £66,664 is given to provide pre-school places in conjunction 
with the new primary school. As is the case with school provision, the Council’s 
CIL 123 list does not provide for new pre-schools, only extensions to existing 
facilities. Therefore this contribution is requested under S106 of the planning 
act and is broken down as follows: 
 

 Minimum    
number of 
eligible children:  
 

Required: Cost per place £ 
(2016/17): 

Page 783



Pre-School age 
range, 2-4: 

18 8 8,333 

 
 
Required pre-school contributions:  

 
£66,664 
 
 

Total contribution for permanent pre-school and primary school 
education provision - £828,783 
 
Secondary school provision 
 
The Obligations Manager has commented that secondary and 6th form 
provision in the area is currently sufficient to accommodate the additional pupils 
who will be generated from this proposal and as such, no contributions are 
required. 
 
A contribution of £37,800 towards library provision will also be requested in 
relation to this proposal via the Council’s CIL 123 list. 
 
SCC Flood and water management – Advises that they wish to provide the 
same comments as they have for the duplicate planning application 2797/16. 
Their comments for that application are summarised as follows:  
 

They initially objected to the scheme, but following the submission of additional 

information from the applicant, they no longer object to the application subject 

to the imposition of conditions dealing with flood risk matters. 

The SCC Flood Management Team has been asked to comment on the 

cumulative impact of 827 houses being proposed in Thurston and they have 

commented that they would expect all of the developers to design suitable 

sustainable drainage systems (which they all have). All of the 5 sites are in a 

flood zone 1 so they comply with national policy requirements. However, 

surface water drainage has historically been an issue in Thurston with soil 

conditions not being viable for water to drain away easily. Most of the surface 

water from the village is drained into the foul sewer system with the east part of 

the village having a surface water drainage system. It is understood that 

Anglian Water are considering options to improve capacity in the locality to help 

to prevent the flood events that have happened in the centre of the village in 

recent years.  

SCC Landscape Officer: The same comments as provided for the earlier 
application 2797/16 applies to this proposal. The applicant has submitted the 
amended LVIA from the earlier application with this proposal and as such the 
comments made of no objection by the Landscape Officer still applies.  
 
Anglian Water – They have stated that the development is in the Thurston 
Water Recycling Centre catchment area and there is available capacity for the 
wastewater flows that will arise from this development. They have also 
confirmed that there is capacity in the sewerage system for the flows that will 
arise from this development. As such, they do not raise any objections to this 
proposal.  

Page 784



 
Ecology (Essex Place Services) – Does not raise any objections to this 
scheme as the applicant has considered the impact of the proposal on both 
protected and priority species and the impact of the scheme can be controlled 
by conditions. 
 
Environment Agency – Has considered the cumulative impacts of all 6 
submitted major application for residential developments in Thurston on flood 
risk and they have advised that none of the application sites lie within an 
environmental constraint that is in their remit. They have advised that according 
to their records, the Thurston Water Recycling Centre should have sufficient 
capacity to deal with foul water disposal for all of the 827 dwellings currently 
proposed across all 5 sites. They have advised that Anglian Water should be 
contacted about fresh water supply.   
 
Fire Service - County Fire Officer – Advises that they wish to provide the 
same comments as they have for the duplicate planning application 2797/16. 
Their comments for that application are summarised as follows:  
 
Does not object to the proposal, but advises that details of the location of 
sufficient fire hydrants to make the development safe must be submitted. This 
can be covered by a planning condition. 
 
Highways England – Do not raise any objections to this scheme. 
 
Historic England – They have advised that they wish to provide the same 
comments as they have for the duplicate planning application 2797/16. Their 
comments for that application are summarised as follows:  
 
They initially objected to the scheme on the grounds that insufficient 
information had been submitted to allow the impact on the setting of the listed 
Manor Farm and Church of St Peter to be assessed. The applicant 

subsequently provided this information and Historic England consider that the 
proposed development in the vicinity of the grade II* listed Manor Farm 
House and the parish church of St Peter could result in harm to the 
significance of the historic buildings in terms of paragraph 132 of the NPPF. 
They comment that as required by paragraph 134 the Council should weigh 
any public benefit delivered by the development against such harm when 
seeking the ‘clear and convincing’ justification required by the NPPF. They 
advise that if the area to be left undeveloped in the north eastern corner of 
the site could be beneficial to the setting of Manor Farm House if it is 
suitably planted and suggest that a similar landscaping belt along the whole 
northern edge of the site might also mitigate, but not wholly remove the 
harmful impact. 
 
Natural England – Does not have any comments to make on this application. 
 
Network Rail – Network Rail – They have been consulted on the cumulative 
impact of building 827 new dwellings in Thurston on the railway station and the 
local railway network as requested by the local community. They state that the 
main issue is the Barrow Level Crossing at Thurston station which has 
historically seen a number of safety issues associated with it and the level of 
usage which would arise from the erection of the number of dwellings proposed 
would have a severe impact on safety unless mitigation measures are 

Page 785



introduced. They indicate that their preferred option is to close the level 
crossing and replace it with a new pedestrian ramp from platform 1 (upside) 
down the embankment leading onto Beyton Road. This design will also need to 
include a drop off point/layby for vehicles along Beyton Road. They have 
advised that the cost of the works amount to £1million and should be shared 
proportionally amongst the developers. They are seeking this through a S106 
agreement. 
 
When questioned, Network Rail has made it clear that the works that they 
propose to the crossing point at Thurston Station are directly related to the 
impact of the 5 planning applications and the 827 houses that would be built.  
They have advised that the other works that they propose to close crossing 
points elsewhere on the same line are minor in nature and cannot be compared 
to this site as the other crossing points are not facing unprecedented levels of 
pedestrian use which would be generated from the proposed housing in 
Thurston.   
 
NHS/Primary Care Trust – There are two doctor’s surgeries within a 2km 
distance catchment area of the application site and neither practice has 
sufficient capacity for the additional growth coming from this development and 
the cumulative growth from the area. These surgeries are the Mount Farm 
Doctors Surgery in Moreton Hall and the Woolpit Health Centre in Woolpit. The 
NHS recommends that for this proposal funding should be provided towards 
the phase 2 extension plan for the provision of increased capacity at the 
Woolpit Health Centre. The amount of the required financial contribution has 
not been specified at this moment in time and will be secured via CIL once 
growth levels in the Thurston area are known. 
 
Ramblers Association – States that the path will become another 
“manufactured path” and lose its natural appeal. 
 
Suffolk Constabulary - Police Architectural Liaison – They have not 
responded in relation to this proposal. However as this scheme is identical to 
the earlier application it is considered that their comments are still applicable.  
The earlier comments are as follows: 
 
Raises concerns about the permeability of the scheme which could provide 
opportunities for crime. Supports the extension of the 30mph speed limit along 
Norton Road towards Church Road in the interest of safety. 
 
 
Suffolk Preservation Society: They have not responded in relation to this 
proposal. However as this scheme is identical to the earlier application it is 
considered that their comments are still applicable.  The earlier comments are 
as follows: 
 
They have advised that they have carried out a desk top survey earlier on in 
2016 and considered that the site was a sustainable location having regards to 
its proximity to transport networks and services. They also agree with the 
applicant’s assessment that the proposal will not result in harm to the setting of 
the grade II* listed Manor Farm in that it is heavily enclosed by vegetation and 
that its isolation which contributes to its setting will not be harmed by this 
proposal. It is also noted that the part of the site closest to the listed Church will 
remain undeveloped and landscaped which will help to preserve its setting. 
They have also reviewed the amended plans and have commented that in their 

Page 786



opinion, scheme should be supported.  

 

 
 
Representations 
 
8.  23 letters in total have been received making comments on this scheme.  
 
9. The objections to the scheme are as follows: 
 
 Policy considerations 
 

 The proposal is on the edge of the village and lies outside the settlement 
boundary for the village and is contrary to the adopted development plan for 
the district. 

 Until the Council can determine the number of new houses that it needs in a 
new style local plan, no new development should take place in Thurston. 

 No development should be determined until the Neighbourhood Plan is 
adopted. 

 Development should be on brownfield land and not greenfield land such as 
that proposed. 

 Alternative sites within the village should be considered first before this one. 
These include development at Thurston Granary which would provide the 
housing numbers, the development near the Community College would 
resolve the school situation and there are less highway issues with the Barton 
Road application. 

 
 Landscape issues 

 The scheme will have a negative impact on the beauty of the surrounding 
countryside. 

 
 Flooding 
 

 The impact of flood risk on the surrounding properties will be greater than 
stated in the applicant’s report. 

 
 Highway safety 
 

 The local roads are inadequate and dangerous to cope with so many new 
dwellings and the proposal will put additional strain on the A14. The extra 
traffic will also degrade the poorly maintained road surface even further. 

 The railway station has poor parking. Additional residents from this site using 
the railway station to access places such as Bury St Edmunds will increase 
the parking issues experienced. 

 There are no pavements from the site onto Norton Road, Meadow Lane or 
onto Sandpit Lane which will cause pedestrian safety issues. 

 Disagree with the fact that the access onto Norton Road has been deleted. It 
should have been retained. This will now cause a greater safety problem on 
Sandpit Lane where the single access to cater for the whole development is 
proposed. 

 The applicant’s travel plan is not fit for purpose.  

 Thurston is already severely congested at peak times and allowing a further 

Page 787



175 houses will make this significantly worse. 

 The highway layout of the site is torturous and will cause issues for the 
residents and for deliveries and refuse collections. 

 
 Infrastructure 

 Will a new GP surgery be part of this scheme as local residents have to go 
out of Thurston at present to access this facility and those facilities are at 
capacity at the moment. 

 This development will place an excessive demand on the infrastructure of the 
area which will need to be resolved before any of the houses could be built. 

 This scheme will also impact on local infrastructure outside the village, such 
as the Police service, Ambulance etc. 

 
 Impact on the amenity of the area 

 The erection of 2.5 to 3 storey houses will be out of keeping with the local 
environment as there are none in the locality. There needs to be a height limit 
imposed on the dwellings if this scheme is approved to ensure that they are 
no higher than the existing surrounding properties. 

 The estate will not integrate well into its surroundings and there will not be a 
need for anybody to go through it other than the people who live there. 

 The proposal will increase car ownership and hence pollution levels in the 
area which are already high due to its close proximity to the A14.  

 
 Impact on residential amenity 

 The erection of new houses in close proximity to existing houses will cause 
loss of privacy and overlooking over gardens.  

 The new dwellings will cause increased light pollution to the surrounding 
existing properties to the detriment of the living conditions of the occupiers. 

 The new dwellings will increase noise levels to the detriment of the living 
conditions of the surrounding properties. 

 The site is polluted and this has not been addressed by the developer and it 
could cause impact to the health of the new residents. 

 
 Impact on designated heritage assets 
 

 The proposal will have a negative impact on the setting of listed buildings in 
the locality. As Historic England has objected, then surely this application 
should be refused. 

 
 Impact on wildlife in the locality 
 

 The scheme will impact on wildlife in the locality particularly birds. 
 
 Other issues 
 

 There is a footpath that runs through the site and this will be lost as part of 
this scheme. 

 There is poor broadband in the village. Building houses there will make it 
worse. 

 Mobile phone signals in the area are poor and the building of additional 
houses will make this work. 

 Wants to know when the Council will announce how many houses Thurston is 
supposed to take as part of the new local plan. 

 Why is there a second application? Is the applicant trying to play the system? 

Page 788



 There is a need for bungalows in the area and not 2.5 to 3 storey houses as 
shown in the application plan. 

 If we have to have dwellings in Thurston, they should be on the southern side 
of the village as that is closer to the A14 and cause less traffic issues. 

 The houses on the site will overlook the  
 
 Cumulative Impacts 

 The 5 sites in Thurston should be considered cumulatively and not singularly 
due to their linked impacts. 

 827 houses are proposed and have concerns that there will be insufficient 
water supply and sewage capacity in the system to cope with them all. 

 There are too many houses proposed particularly when you take into account 
all of those in Bury St Edmunds which is only a short distance away from 
Thurston. 

 
 
The Site and Surroundings 
 
10. The application site lies in the village of Thurston which has a population of 

approximately 3200 people (2011 census) with the site extending to an area of 11.2 
hectares of Grade 3b agricultural land. The land is generally flat but falls towards the 
road in the northeast. The northern boundary of the site in onto Norton Road, the 
eastern boundary is on Church Road, the southern boundary adjoins residential 
properties (mixture of single and two storey) and the western boundary front onto 
Sandy Pit Lane. 

 
11. The site abuts the retained settlement boundary for Thurston but still remains as 

countryside for planning purposes. 
 
 
The Proposal 
 
12. Please note details of the proposed development including plans, application 

documents and appeal documentation can be found online. 
 
13. This proposal has been brought before the committee as the applicant Hopkins 

Homes has appealed to the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) on the basis of the 
non-determination of this planning application within the statutory 13 week period for 
major planning applications. 

 
14. Part of the appeal process requires the Council to provide a statement of case to 

PINS and to do this on an appeal for non-determination requires officers to ask the 
members how they would have considered the case if they had received it to make a 
decision. This is a ‘minded to decision’ to inform how the appeal should be defended 
by officers.   

 
15. In this appealed application, outline planning application is proposed for the erection 

of up to 175 dwellings with all matters reserved except the vehicular access into the 
site.  

 
16. The applicant has submitted plans showing a suggested layout utilising a single 

spine road through the site with various secondary streets leading through to the 
dwellings. The layout shows the retention of and strengthening of the hedge 
boundary on southern part of the site and also on part of the northern boundary of 

Page 789



the site. The most eastern part of the site, which is most visible from the surrounding 
open countryside is to be retained as open land and will accommodate the retaining 
ponds for the surface water drainage for the site. However, these plans are indicative 
and the layout as shown may change at the reserved matters submission stage. The 
indicative layout gives a density of approximately 24 dwellings per hectare. 

 
17. This application is identical to application 2797/16 which Hopkins Homes originally 

submitted for this site. That application is currently undetermined as is under 
consideration by the Council. 

 
Appellant’s grounds for appeal 
 
18. In making their appeal, the appellant must give their grounds as to why they have 

appealed and what their case will be. Hopkins have stated that their case should be 
considered on the following grounds: 

 

 The site can be considered on its own merits without the need to consider the 
other 4 major housing applications currently in with the Council at Thurston. 

 The Council does not have a 5 year supply of Housing and the proposal will 
contribute between 40 and 50 new dwellings per year over the next 5 years 
which will help to reduce the deficiency. 

 Thurston is still being promoted as a Key Service Centre by the Council 
where growth is encouraged and this scheme is well suited there. 

 The proposal will provide policy complaint number of affordable housing and 
also smaller properties and bungalows within the market housing to meet the 
needs identified by the local residents. 

 It will provide recreational facilities and be well linked to the rest of the village 
by new pedestrian links. 

 Existing trees and hedges will be retained. 

 The residents of the new scheme will help to sustain and potentially allow for 
the expansion of local services.  

 It will provide pre-school provision. 

 Provision of increased GP and medical capacity at the Woolpit Surgery. 

 Improvement of library services in the area. 

 The development will not increase flood risk in the locality. 

 No objections have been received from the Landscape Officer to the scheme. 

 The proposal causes less than substantial harm to the nearest listed buildings 
and the benefits that the scheme brings will outweigh this harm. 

 Issues relating to biodiversity can be overcome by suitable conditions as 
suggested by the Council’s Ecology Officer. 

 The trees within the site that are to be removed are of limited value as agreed 
with by the Council’s Tree Officer. 

 Land contamination issues have been dealt with to the satisfaction of the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer. 

 Will provide an extension to the local school to meet pupil needs that arise 
from this development. 

 All highway matters raised in terms of the site and the surrounding network 
have been resolved to the satisfaction of the highway Authority. 

 
19. In conclusion they make the case that all issues have been suitably resolved with all 

consultees and as such, this proposal can be considered on its own merits ahead of 
the other developer applications for residential development in Thurston. 

 
20. However, since the submission of the appeal and as a consequence of negotiations 

Page 790



with the Council over the cumulative impact of this scheme and the others currently 
before the Council in Thurston, the appellant has now agreed to alter their stance on 
the appeal and are now agreeable to the requirements of the County Highway 
Authority for contributions towards improvements to key junctions and highway 
infrastructure in Thurston. They have also changed their stance on education as they 
are now agreeable to contribute with the other developers in Thurston towards the 
provision of a new primary school rather than their original stance of only contributing 
towards extending the existing school which the education authority advised was not 
possible due to a lack of developable space at the setting. 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
21. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government's 

planning policies for England and sets out how these are expected to be applied.  
Planning law continues to require that applications for planning permission are 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.  The policies contained within the NPPF are a material 
consideration and should be taken into account for decision-making purposes.   

 
The following parts of the NPPF are considered to be applicable to this scheme: 
 

Para 6: Achieving sustainable development  
Para 7: Three dimensions to sustainable development  
Para 11 – 15: The presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para 17: Core planning principles  
Para 32 and 34: Transport movements  
Para 47: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes (including the need to have a 
5 year deliverable supply of housing)  
Para 49: All housing proposals should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Paragraph 55: To promote sustainable development in rural areas. 
Para 56 & 60: Requiring good design  
Para 64: Development of poor design must not be supported.  
Para 69: Promoting healthy communities  
Para 70: Delivery of social, recreational and cultural facilities that the community 
needs. 
Para 72: Provision of school places. 
Para 73: Access to high quality open space.  
Para 75: Protection and enhancement of public rights of way. 
Para 100: Development and flood risk  
Para 103: Development and increasing flood risk elsewhere  
Para 109: Planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment.  
Para 112 & 117–119: Development affecting protected wildlife   
Para 123: Planning and noise. 
Para 125: Planning and darker skies. 
Para 128 & 129: Describing the significance of a designated heritage asset. 
Para 131: Determining planning applications that affect heritage assets. 
Para 132: Significance of heritage assets. 
Para 134: Development and less than substantial harm 
Para 186: Approaching decision taking in a positive way. 
Para 187: Local Planning Authorities should find solutions rather than problems in 
decision taking. 
Para 196: Plan led planning system. 

Page 791



Para 197: Assessing and determining application applying the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development.  
P203 -206 – Planning conditions and obligations. 
Para 211 - 212: Using development plans and the NPPF in decision making.  
Para 214 – 215: The weight attached to development plan policies having regards to 
their consistency with the NPPF.  
Para 216 – Weight given to policies in emerging plans 

 
CORE STRATEGY 
 
22. Core Strategy Focused Review 
 FC1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 FC1.1 – Mid Suffolk’s approach to delivering sustainable development 
 FC2 – Provision and distribution of housing. 
 
23. Core Strategy 
 
 CS1 – Settlement hierarchy 
 CS2 – Development in the countryside & countryside villages 
 CS4 – Adapting to climate change. 
 CS5 – Mid Suffolk’s environment 
 CS6 – Services and infrastructure 
 CS9 – Density and mix 
 
 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN / SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS /AREA 

ACTION PLAN 
 
24. In 2013 Thurston received a neighbourhood plan designation and the settlement is 

currently working on its new neighbourhood plan. The plan is however at an early 
stage and as yet does not have any policies which could be used in the assessment 
and consideration of this proposal. 

 
 
SAVED POLICIES IN THE LOCAL PLAN 
 
 GP1 – Design and layout of new developments 

HB1 – Protection of historic buildings 
HB13 – Protecting ancient monuments 

 HB14 – Ensuring that Archaeological remains are not destroyed 
 H3 – Housing developments in villages 
 H13 – Design and layout of development 
 H15 – Development to reflect local characteristics. 

H16 – Protecting existing residential amenity  
H17 – Keeping new development away from pollution 

 CL8 – Protecting wildlife 
 CL11 – Retaining high quality agricultural land 
 T9 – Parking standards 

T10 – Highway consideration in developments 
 RT4 – Amenity open space and play areas within residential development 
 RT12 – Footpaths and bridleways 
 SB3 – Retaining visually import landscapes 
 
 
Main Considerations 

Page 792



 
25. From an assessment of relevant planning policy and guidance, representations 

received, the planning designations and other material issues the main planning 
considerations considered relevant to this case are set out including the reason/s for 
the decision, any alternative options considered and rejected.  Where a decision is 
taken under a specific express authorisation, the names of any Member of the 
Council or local government body who has declared a conflict of interest are 
recorded. 

 
26. The following are identified as the main considerations in assessing this application: 
 
The Principle Of Development 
 
27. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Councils to identify and 

update, on an annual basis, a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 
for five years worth of housing provision against identified requirements (paragraph 
47). For sites to be considered deliverable they have to be available, suitable, 
achievable and viable.  

  
28. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the 

local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites (as stated in paragraph 49 of the NPPF). Where policies cannot be considered 
up-to-date, the NPPF (paragraph 14) cites the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that planning permission should be granted unless i) any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or ii) 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted. 

 
29. The precise meaning of ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing’ has been the 

subject of much case law, with inconsistent results. However last month, the 
Supreme Court gave judgment in a case involving Suffolk Coastal District Council 
which has clarified the position. The Supreme Court overruled earlier decisions of the 
High Court and the Court of appeal in this and other cases, ruling that a ‘’narrow’’ 
interpretation of this expression is correct; i.e.it means policies identifying the 
numbers and location of housing, rather than the “wider” definition which adds 
policies which have the indirect effect of inhibiting the supply of housing, for example, 
countryside protection policies. However, the Supreme Court made it clear that the 
argument over the meaning of this expression is not the real issue. The absence of a 
five year housing land supply triggers the application of paragraph 14 of the NPPF. In 
applying the ‘tilted balance’ required by this paragraph, the Council must decide what 
weight to attach to all of the relevant development plan policies, whether they are 
policies for the supply of housing or restrictive ‘counterpart’ polices such as 
countryside protection policies.  

 
30. In accordance with National Planning Policy Guidance paragraph 030 (Reference ID: 

3-030-20140306) the starting point for calculating the 5 year land supply should be 
the housing requirement figures in up-to-date adopted Local Plans. It goes on to state 
that ‘…considerable weight should be given to the housing requirement figures in 
adopted Local Plans, which have successfully passed through the examination 
process, unless significant new evidence comes to light….Where evidence in Local 
Plans has become outdated and policies in emerging plans are not yet capable of 
carrying sufficient weight, information provided in the latest full assessment of 
housing needs should be considered. But the weight given to these assessments 
should take account of the fact they have not been tested or moderated against 
relevant constraints...’ 

Page 793

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment


  
31. The Council published the Ipswich and Waveney Housing Market Areas Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) in May 2017 which is significant new evidence 
for the emerging Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan. Therefore, the 5 year 
land supply has been calculated for both the adopted Core Strategy based figures 
and the new SHMA based figures. For determining relevant planning applications, it 
will be for the decision taker to consider appropriate weight to be given to these 
assessments and the relevant policies of the development plan. 

  
32. A summary of the MSDC 5 year land supply position is: 
 

i. Core Strategy based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 
ii. SHMA based supply for 2017 to 2022 = 3.9 years 

 

33. The NPPF requires that development be sustainable and that adverse impacts do not 
outweigh the benefits to be acceptable in principle. Paragraph 7 of the NPPF sets out 
three dimensions for sustainable development, economic, social and environmental: 
  
"an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure:  
 
a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and 
by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect 
the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; and  
 
an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and 
historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use natural 
resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate 
change including moving to a low carbon economy."  
 

34. In light of all of the above, this report will consider the proposal against the three 
strands of sustainable development, and also give due consideration to the 
provisions and weight of the policies within the development plan, in the context of 
the authority not being able to demonstrate a 5 year land supply. 

 
Sustainability of the Proposal (including assessment against the development plan  
and the NPPF) 
 
35. The NPPF provides (para 187) that “Local planning authorities should look for 

solutions rather than problems, and decision-takers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible. Local planning 
authorities should work proactively with applicants to secure developments that 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.” 

 
36. The Parish Council and some of the objectors have commented that this scheme 

should be refused as it is outside the development limits for Thurston in line with the 
policies as contained in the adopted Core Strategy and Local Plan. However, it is 
clear on reviewing the guidance in the NPPF as outlined above that this cannot be 
the case as housing delivery policies CS1 and CS2 of the core strategy should not be 
considered to be up-to- date along with policies such as H7 of the Local Plan as the 
Council does not have a 5 year supply of housing as required by the NPPF. Other 

Page 794

http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/evidence-base/current-evidence/call-for-sites-submissions/


comments have been received stating that the Council should not consider this 
application and the others in the Thurston area until the Council determine in a new 
style local plan its stance on the location of new housing in the district. However, 
national policy as contained in the NPPF does not give the Council this option and 
requires all applications to be determined promptly. 

 
37. The contents of paragraph 55 of the NPPF are also considered to be material in the 

making of a decision on this case. Objections have been received stating that this 
proposal should not be allowed as it is outside the settlement limit for Thurston and 
that the site should be considered as countryside. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF makes 
it clear that Councils can no longer consider sites that are adjacent or near to a 
settlement limit to be unacceptable simply because they are the wrong side of the 
line. It now makes it clear that ‘new isolated homes in the countryside will not be 
supported and that Councils are encouraged to promote sustainable development in 
rural areas by considering housing development in locations where they could 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. It gives an example in 
paragraph 55 that new housing could provide increased facilities in one settlement 
which would be of benefit to it and the other surrounding settlements.   

 
38. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the application site is not in an 

isolated location as it is adjacent to the built up part of the village, and the scheme 
will bring with it contributions towards local infrastructure which will be of benefit to 
the residents of Thurston and the surrounding villages. Therefore, in terms of 
paragraph 55 of the NPPF, this proposal could be considered to promote sustainable 
development in a rural area. However, having regards to the fact that the Council 
does not have a 5 year supply of housing and has to balance the negatives of the 
scheme against the positives that it brings in line with the requirements of the NPPF, 
consideration of whether the scheme will be supported as sustainable development 
or not will be given in the conclusion to this report. 

 
39. In reaching a decision, paragraph 47 of the NPPF is a material consideration and 

requires Local Planning Authorities to boost significantly the supply of housing, by 
identifying and updating annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements with an 
additional buffer of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. As 
stated above, the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing and as 
such paragraph 49 of the NPPF applies and states that in this situation, the relevant 
policies for the supply of housing in the Council’s adopted plan should not be 
considered to be up to date and that the scheme remains to be considered under the 
requirements of paragraphs 7 and 14 of the NPPF which defines what sustainable 
development is and how decisions should be made. 

 
40. Since the submission of this proposal, four other developers have also submitted 

application for residential development in Thurston. Bovis Homes have applied for 
138 dwellings on land on the west side of Barton Road (4386/16); Persimmon have 
applied for 250 dwellings plus a new school on land west of Ixworth Road (4963/16); 
Laurence Homes have applied for 64 dwellings on land at Meadow Lane (4942/16) 
and Pigeon Capital have applied for 200 homes plus a school on land at Norton Road 
(5070/16). Including this application, 827 new homes are currently proposed in 
Thurston.  

 
41. Following receipt of these applications an approach of joint working to explore 

cumulative infrastructure issues has been agreed between the respective applicants 
and the District and County Council. This has enabled the constructive exploration of 
significant infrastructure issues on a collaborative but without prejudice basis to a 

Page 795



consensual timetable.  Therefore, as there are unprecedented numbers of new 
dwellings proposed it is considered that all schemes must be considered both on 
their own merits and in combination with each other to assess if they meet the tests 
for sustainable development as outlined in the NPPF. 

 
42. Policy FC1 of the Mid Suffolk District Core Strategy Focused Review states that it 

takes a positive approach to sustainable development and like in the NPPF, the 
Council will work proactively with developers to resolve issues that improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. Related policy FC1.1 
makes it clear that for development to be considered sustainable it must be 
demonstrated against the principles of sustainable development. The policy goes on 
to say that proposals for development must conserve and enhance the local 
character of the different parts of the district and how it addresses the key issues of 
the district. 

 
43. The settlement of Thurston is one of the two largest villages in the district of Mid 

Suffolk (with the other being nearby Elmswell) where a wide range of local services 
and local infrastructure is provided. Thurston has both a primary and a secondary 
school, and a number of other local facilities which act as a service to the inhabitants 
of the village as well as providing employment opportunities. Whilst Thurston does 
not have a doctor’s surgery, there is one in Woolpit and another in Moreton Hall 
which is a reasonably short journey away either by car or via public transport.  

 
44. Thurston is also unusual in that it has a railway station which provides access for the 

residents to be able to commute to Ipswich, Bury St Edmunds and further afield 
without having to use their cars. Thurston is also on a bus route with a number of 
designated stops within the village. As part of this scheme the applicant is proposing 
to provide bus shelters outside of the site to ensure that the future residents of the 
dwellings can access public transport conveniently without having to walk long 
distances to get to bus stops.  

 
45. In relation to paragraph 7 of the NPPF, the proposals would contribute to building a 

strong, responsive and competitive economy through the creation of construction and 
related jobs and the on-going contribution to the local economy from the creation of 
up to 175 additional households in the area. The proposals would also contribute 
towards providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and 
future generations and by having the potential to create a high quality built 
environment, as well as contributions towards affordable housing, the highway 
network and other social infrastructure (public open space, education, health care) 
through a CIL contribution, or where appropriate, a section 106 agreement.  

 
46. It must also be remembers that paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that 

housing applications should be considered in the context of sustainable development. 
The applicant is proposing up to 175 dwellings in this instance and they have 
confirmed that it is their intention if they get planning permission to commence with 
work on site as soon as possible following the granting of their reserved matters 
application. To speed this up, they have agreed to have a shorter period than is usual 
to submit their reserved matters application (2 rather than 3 years) which helps to 
justify that as a developer, they are serious about delivering the houses.  They have 
also signed an agreement with Mid Suffolk and Suffolk County Council to work as a 
group with the other 4 other developers in Thurston to contribute to and work 
together to achieve the necessary infrastructure within the area to make this and the 
other 4 schemes sustainable.   

 

Page 796



47. The Council’s Sustainability officer has objected to the scheme on the grounds that 
detail in terms of the build, orientation and energy efficiency of the dwellings has not 
been submitted. However, it should be noted that this scheme is in outline form and 
the applicant does not have to provide this information at this stage.  This 
information can be addressed at the more appropriate reserved matters stage where 
full technical details of the layout, orientation and finish of the dwellings have to be 
provided. 

 
48. Consideration of whether this proposal is considered to constitute sustainable 

development, having regard to the contents of policies FC1 and FC1.2 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy Focused Review and the contents of the NPPF will be 
reached in the conclusion to this report. 

 
Site Access, Parking And Highway Safety Considerations 
 
49. Policy T10 of the Mid Suffolk District Local Plan provides criteria on highway 

considerations when assessing planning applications. This policy requires access 

points into and out of the site to be safe and an assessment made as to whether the 

existing local roads can suitably accommodate the impact of the proposal, whether 

adequate parking and turning spaces exist within the site and that the needs of 

pedestrians and cyclists have been met. This policy is considered to carry significant 

weight in the determination of this application as it is in compliance with paragraph 32 

of the NPPF which requires all schemes to provide safe access for all. 

50. A number of objections have been received to the scheme on the grounds that the 

use of a single access point into the site would be detrimental to highway safety and 

that the local road network is unsuitable for a development of up to 175 dwellings. 

Mention has specifically been made that some local junctions are unsafe at present 

(see Parish Council objection for details as well as the Local Highway Authority’s 

consultation response), particularly those adjacent to the railway bridge to the south 

of the village and that this scheme on its own and when considered with the 4 other 

schemes currently before the Council will exacerbate this problem as more vehicles 

will be using these junctions to access local roads, particularly the A14 to reach other 

destinations further afield. Comments have also been received that this scheme 

cumulatively with the other 4 schemes that have been submitted in Thurston for 

residential development will cause a significant and severe impact on the road 

network in the locality. 

51. The site is located to the north east of the village with Sandpit Lane bordering the site 

to the west and Norton Road to the north. This proposal originally showed two 

access points; one off Norton Road and a second off Sandpit Lane. The Local 

Highway Authority originally objected to this layout, on the grounds that the access 

off Norton Road was not safe and could not be altered to be made safe. They also 

commented that the proposal lacked a footpath link from the existing part off Church 

Road to the edge of the site and that the above was contrary to paragraph 32 of the 

NPPF which requires safe access for all. The applicant has subsequently amended 

the scheme in line with the comments made by the Local Highway Authority  

52. The Local Highway Authority has considered the cumulative impact of this proposal 

on the highway network in Thurston and they have come to the conclusion that the 

Page 797



impact of the 5 scheme if they all come forwards will be severe. However, they have 

made it clear that the NPPF requires all public bodies to try and resolve problems 

and they are confidents that if all 5 developers work together those suitable and cost 

effective alterations can be made to the highway network to ensure that the impact 

does not constitute a severe one. The highway officer has assessed the road 

network and has suggested alterations and improvements to key areas of it (see the 

Local Highway Authority’s consultation response earlier in this report for more 

information) which all 5 developers have been asked to contribute towards through 

either a section 106 agreement or through the Highways Act. All 5 developers which 

include Hopkins Homes have agreed to contribute towards the works as requested 

by the Highway Authority. For the Hopkins proposal, the Highway Authority is 

requesting £94,724 via a S106 agreement (with travel plan contributions being in 

addition to this), a further £72,333 under section 278 of the Highway Act and a further 

£30,000 under section 38 of the Highway Act. As such, this proposal no longer fails 

the requirements of paragraph 32 of the NPPF when considered cumulatively with 

the other 4 residential schemes as the impact with the alterations carried out to the 

highway network will no longer be severe. 

53. The Local Highway Authority identify that the scheme will offer sustainable travel 
options to local residents as additional pavements and bus shelters are proposed 
and these will link up to both existing facilities and those proposed on neighbouring 
sites by the other developers seeking at the moment to build houses in Thurston. 
This will help to improve accessibility on foot and via public transport and will ensure 
that the site is accessible to the local railway station. 

 
54. An objection has been received to this scheme on the basis that the applicant’s travel 

plan is not fit for purpose. They have commented that all it does is show bus and 
railway timetables in the locality. By their very nature, travel plans do as much as 
they can to encourage sustainable forms of transport to encourage the occupiers of 
the properties to use other options than their own cars. The travel plan has been 
reviewed by the Local Highway Authority and they have not objected to it or asked for 
it to be altered. The Local Highway Authority is also recommending that the applicant 
is obligated via a S106 agreement to provide the travel plan to ensure that there are 
sustainable transport options available to the new residents of the scheme rather 
than just having to rely on their private cars to access local facilities. 

 
55. A further objection has been received on the grounds that the passenger 

accommodation on the local train network is inadequate for the existing number of 
passenger users and the approving of this and other schemes in the locality will 
make matters worse. The objector suggests that the applicant of this scheme should 
pay towards improvements to the local railway network.  

 
56. Network Rail has been consulted on this proposal and also the 4 other sites within 

Thurston and their view has been sought as to the impact of the delivery of the 
application site and the other 4 sites (a total of 827 houses) on the local railway 
network. They have not asked for a contribution to improve passenger services or the 
railway accommodation in Thurston, but they have advised that they have assessed 
the railway crossing in Thurston and the impact of 827 new houses on it would be 
severe in terms of the safety of the railway users. Network Rail has asked for a 
contribution of £1million split proportionally between all 5 developers with proposals 
in Thurston to close the existing level crossing and to provide new and safer facilities 
in its place (see Network Rail consultation response for full details).  Network Rail 

Page 798



has the ability to bid for this money under the Council’s CIL scheme as the 123 list 
allows for improvements to passenger services to allow this work to go ahead. 

 
57. It is of merit to also note, that a public right of way runs along the eastern end of the 

site and is to be incorporated into the green open part to the eastern end of the site 
and is not to be lost as referred to by some of the objectors to the scheme. Having 
consulted with the County Public Rights Of Way (PROW) Officer, it is noted that no 
objections have been received in relation to this aspect of the scheme.  

 
58. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the proposal complies with the 

requirements of policy T10 of the local plan and paragraph 32 of the NPPF, in that 
safe and suitable access for all people can be achieved and that improvements can 
be undertaken to the local highway network to improve traffic safety and flow and to 
provide greater opportunities for the use of non-motorised modes of transport to 
access local facilities. As the application is in an outline form, the indicative layout 
shows that a suitable internal layout, which would be up to the County Council’s 
highway standards, could be provided at reserved matters stage. 

 
Design And Layout [Impact On Street Scene] 
 
59. Section 7 of the NPPF refers to design.  Specifically, paragraph 56 states that good 

design is a key aspect of sustainable development; it should contribute positively to 

making places better for people.  Decisions should aim to ensure that development 

will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, establish a strong sense of 

place, create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit, optimise the 

potential of the site to accommodate development, create and sustain an appropriate 

mix of uses and support local facilities and transport networks.  Furthermore it 

provides that development should respond to local character and history, and reflect 

the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging 

appropriate innovation.  The NPPF goes on to state it is "proper to seek to promote 

or reinforce local distinctiveness" (para 60) and permission should be "refused for 

development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving 

the character and quality of an area and the way it functions" (para 64).  In addition 

policy CS5 provides that "All development will maintain and enhance the 

environment, including the historic environment, and retain the local distinctiveness 

of the area” and echoes the provision of the NPPF. 

60. Objections have been received stating that the site is currently an open field and that 
dwellings of the scale and density of the proposal, particularly in reference to the 
indicative plans to build of 2 to 3 storey dwellings on site is considered to be 
inappropriate and not in keeping with the locality. 

 
61. The application is in outline form and the plans as submitted provide an indicative 

layout of how the scheme could potentially look should this outline planning 
application be approved which relates to the principle of the development of the site. 
The area to the west and to the south of the site is residential in character. The 
dwellings to the west that border Sandpit Lane are modern predominantly two storey 
properties with the properties that run along the southern boundary of the site being a 
mixture of single and two storey properties again of relatively recent design and 
construction. The applicant has indicatively shown a layout which is considered to be 
in keeping with the residential character of the area and this can be altered to take on 
the concerns of any consultees and local residents at the reserved matters stage. 

Page 799



Furthermore, the density of the scheme at approximately 24 dwellings per hectare is 
low and appropriate to its location and does not reflect the comments of the objectors 
who consider this scheme to be high density. 

 
62. Having regards to the above, it is considered that the scheme in terms of its 

suggested layout constitutes good design in line with the requirements of the NPPF 
and local policy CS5 as it proposes a form of development that would reflects the 
character and appearance of the surrounding streetscape.  

 
 
Parish Plan / Neighbourhood Plan 
 
63. A Neighbourhood Plan designation was confirmed in 2013 and covers the Parish of 

Thurston.  At the time of the consideration of this proposal the parish have set up a 
neighbourhood Plan Committee to prepare the policies for the new Neighbourhood 
Plan. Both the Parish Council and their Neighbourhood Plan Committee have 
objected to this scheme with the latter raising objections based on some of the early 
work that they have carried out for the evidence base for the new plan. 

 
64. The Planning Practice Guidance identifies that “Paragraph 216 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework sets out the weight that may be given to relevant policies 
in emerging plans in decision taking. Factors to consider include the stage of 
preparation of the plan and the extent to which there are unresolved objections to 
relevant policies. Whilst a referendum ensures that the community has the final say 
on whether the neighbourhood plan comes into force, decision makers should 
respect evidence of local support prior to the referendum when seeking to apply 
weight to an emerging neighbourhood plan. The consultation statement submitted 
with the draft neighbourhood plan should reveal the quality and effectiveness of the 
consultation that has informed the plan proposals. And all representations on the 
proposals should have been submitted to the local planning authority by the close of 
the local planning authority’s publicity period. It is for the decision maker in each case 
to determine what is a material consideration and what weight to give to it”. 

 
65. As such, whilst it is ultimately for Members to determine the weight that should be 

given to the plan, whilst it is at an early stage in its development, it is the view of 
Officers that little material weight can be given at this time. 

 
 
Landscape Impact 
 
66. Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that proposals should provide appropriate 

landscaping to ensure that they integrate well into the surrounding locality. This 
requirement is repeated in one of the requirements of policy H13 of the Mid Suffolk 
District Local Plan. It is proposed to retain and strengthen the hedging on the 
southern part of the site and also part of the site from the dwelling on Norton Road 
down to the part where the existing public footpath runs through the site. The most 
eastern part of the site, which is bordered by Norton Road and Church Road, is the 
most visible from the surrounding open countryside and which would cause most 
harm to the surrounding countryside if developed. The indicative plans show that this 
is to remain undeveloped and act as an attractive green buffer between the scheme 
and the surrounding open countryside.  

 
67. Objections have been received to this proposal on the grounds that the site lies in an 

exposed location and that the approval of this scheme will erode the intrinsic beauty 
and the character of the surrounding open countryside and that the proposed 

Page 800

https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-1-implementation/#para216
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#draft-neighbourhood-plan-meets-requirement


landscaping will take a considerable amount of time to mature to mitigate this impact. 
The County Landscape Officer has been consulted on this scheme and following the 
submission of the amended plans he has not raised any objections to this scheme. 
He acknowledges that it will change the character and appearance of the 
surrounding open countryside, but with suitable landscaping and the provision of the 
green open space on the eastern side of the site its impact will be minimised both in 
the medium and longer term.  

 
68. Having regards to the requirements of policy H13 of the MSDC Local Plan and 

paragraph 58 of the NPPF, it is considered that the scheme provides substantial 
landscaping both within and on the boundaries of the site to ensure that it assimilates 
well into the rural edge of Thurston and provides an attractive environment both for 
the new residents of the site and those living in the surrounding locality. 

 
Residential Amenity 
 
69. Policies within the adopted development plan require, inter alia, that development 

does not materially or detrimentally affect the amenities of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties.  This requirement is emphasised in the NPPF Core Values 
in paragraph 17 where it states that all schemes should seek a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.   

 
70. Objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the dwellings running 

along the southern part of the site will be too close and have a negative impact on 
the living conditions of the occupiers. It has been noted from the site visit, that many 
of the properties that face north into the site on Sandpit Drive, Victoria Close and 
Oakfield Road have a number of windows that face into the field with a number of 
them not having their own boundaries between the field and their gardens and relying 
on the hedgerow, which is sparse in places as the boundary. 

 
71. However, the application is in outline form with the layout plan only being indicative. 

The indicative plan shows the dwellings along the southern buffer of the site being 
separated from the existing dwellings by the estate roads and the hedging along the 
site boundary being strengthened. It is considered that at reserved matters stage that 
a suitable layout can be drawn up which would not have a negative impact on the 
living conditions of the surrounding neighbouring occupiers in terms of loss of privacy 
and residential amenity. 

 
72. Objections have also been received on the grounds that the new dwellings will 

increase noise levels in the locality and also impact on the darkness of the sky due to 
increased lighting. The proposal is for residential development and the developer will 
be expected at reserved matters stage to design and site the dwellings so as to 
minimise the impact on the surrounding existing local residents. The application site 
is a field at the moment and the erection of dwellings with associated private and 
public lighting will alter the outlook received by the existing residential occupiers. 
Noise from the residents living in the new properties will also differ to the noise 
currently experienced from the field. However, it is not considered that lighting and 
noise from the proposed dwellings would be so excessive to significantly affect the 
living conditions of the surrounding occupiers to necessitate this appeal to be 
dismissed on that ground. 

 
73. It is considered that this proposal does not give rise to any concerns of loss of 

neighbour amenity by reason of noise, lighting, form, design, the distance between 
the dwellings and the substantial landscaping that is proposed along the periphery of 

Page 801



the site and as such the proposal meets the relevant NPPF core value in paragraph 
17. 

 
Environmental Impacts - Ecology And Land Contamination 
 
74. The application site is a grade 3b agricultural parcel of land which is adjacent to the 

built up part of Thurston. As the site is in an agricultural use, there is limited tree 
cover within the site with the majority of the trees and hedging being along the field 
boundaries. 

 
75. Objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the loss of the field 

to create residential development will have a negative impact on animal species, 
particularly protected species in the locality.  

 
76. Regulation 9(5) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

(Implemented 1st April 2010) provides that all "competent authorities" (public bodies) 

to "have regard to the Habitats Directive in the exercise of its functions.”  In order for 

a Local Planning Authority to comply with regulation 9(5) it must "engage" with the 

provisions of the Habitats Directive.   

77. The content of paragraph 118 of the NPPF is also applicable to the consideration of 
this proposal, as it states that when determining planning applications, consideration 
must be given to 6 principles. Two of those principles are particularly relevant to the 
consideration of this proposal, being;  

 

 If significant harm is caused which cannot be avoided or mitigated by 
conditions then planning permission should be refused. 

 Opportunities to integrate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
supported. 

 
 
78. The County Ecologist has been consulted on this application and they have 

commented that as the majority of the site is in agricultural use, it will offer limited 
habitat for protected species. However, bats have been noted in the locality and she 
considers that in line with the requirements of the directive above and the contents of 
paragraph 118 of the NPPF that the scheme can be made acceptable by the 
imposition of conditions to control aspects such as the impact of street and 
residential lighting and to ensure that natural features such as the hedgerows around 
the site are protected during the construction of the scheme to protect habitat. It was 
also noted that new habitat is proposed as part of the scheme and that a large part of 
the site to the east is to be retained as open space.  

 
79. An objection has been received to this scheme on the grounds that the land is 

contaminated and that this has not been considered as part of this application. 
Paragraph 121 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning decisions should make sure 
that the site is suitable for its new use taking account the hazards of any previous 
use. As the site is currently a field, subject to agricultural practices which could have 
included the spraying of crops with chemicals in the past, and part of the site appears 
to have been subject to historical landfill waste, a contaminated land report has been 
submitted to the council for consideration. The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer 
in the Environmental Health team has reviewed the report and has advised that 
subject to the imposition of conditions, he does not object to the scheme. Therefore, 
it is considered that it is in compliance with paragraph 121 of the NPPF. 

  

Page 802



Heritage Issues (The Setting of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
80. Both the NPPF and Core Strategy place significant emphasis on safeguarding 

heritage as an important component of sustainable development.  
 
81. With reference to the treatment of the submitted application, the Council embraces its 

statutory duties and responsibilities in relation to listed buildings, notably the general 
duties undersections 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 which requires the local planning authority to have “special regard to the 
desirability of preserving [a] building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 

 
82. Recent case law on the application of the statutory duty acknowledges that the 

consideration of the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset is a matter for its own planning judgement, but that the 
Local Planning Authority is required to give any such harm considerable importance 
and weight. However, where special regard to the desirability of preserving heritage 
assets has been paid and no harm is considered to be posed, the ‘balancing’ of harm 
(which should be given considerable weight as above) against public benefits as 
required by the NPPF, is not engaged.  

 

83. Policy HB1 (Protection of Historic Buildings) places a high priority on the protection of 

the character and appearance of historic buildings, particularly the setting of Listed 

Buildings. 

 

In paragraph 17 of the NPPF it makes it clear that development should “conserve 

heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 

enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations”.  

Para 131 goes on to state that “In determining planning applications, local planning 

authorities should take account of; the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 

significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 

conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 

to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the desirability of 

new development making a positive contribution to local character and 

distinctiveness.”  Furthermore Para 132 states “When considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 

weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, 

the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 

alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. As 

heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and 

convincing justification.” 

 
84. Objections have been received to this scheme on the basis that the proposal is 

harmful to the setting of three listed buildings. These being the Church of St Peter 
which is grade II listed, Manor Farm Barn which is grade II* listed and the converted 
barns to the north of this building which are grade II listed. Manor Farm lies to the 
north of the eastern field which forms part of this application and is screened from the 
site by existing trees to its south which separates it from the field adjacent to Norton 
Road. The listed converted buildings are further north and are also screened from the 
field which adjoins them and the site by substantial tree screening. The Church of St 

Page 803



Peter lies to the east of Church Road and is screened from the site by a group of 
dwellings to the west. However, due to the height of the church, it is visible from the 
site and from Norton Road. 

 
85. Historic England and the Council’s Heritage Officer have been consulted on the 

application and they both consider that the proposal will cause harm to the setting of 
these three listed buildings as they are rural based buildings in an open countryside 
location. Both have identified that the harm will potentially be limited with the result 
that the proposal must be considered to be less than substantial harm and assessed 
in line with the requirement of paragraph 134 of the NPPF where the harm needs to 
be considered and weighed against the wider public benefits that the scheme will 
bring forwards. It is also worth noting that the Suffolk Preservation Society supports 
this scheme and considers the impact on the adjacent listed buildings to be minimal if 
even there is any harm to their settings generated at all. 

  
86. As there are 5 different applications for major housing development in the northern 

part of Thurston, the Council’s Heritage Officer has been asked to consider the 
cumulative impact of this scheme in relation to the others. Of the 5 applications, the 
application by Pigeon Capital for 200 homes plus a school on land at Norton Road 
(5070/16) lies to the north of the Hopkins site and in combination with each other 
both schemes will have a cumulative impact on the setting of the listed buildings. It is 
considered that the other 3 sites are too far removed from the listed buildings to 
cause impact and as such, the Heritage Officer has been asked to consider the 
cumulative impact of the Hopkins and Pigeon scheme together on the three listed 
building previously referred to. He has stated that in his opinion the cumulative harm 
to the Grade II* Listed farm house would not be greater than medium and the harm to 
the church would be somewhere between low and medium and as such it is up to 
officers in line with the NPPF to assess if the harm to the listed buildings is 
outweighed by the public benefits that the scheme brings as outlined in paragraph 
134 of the NPPF.  

 
87. In accordance with NPPF paragraphs 129, 132 and 134 in determining this proposal 

the Council needs to consider whether the identified harm can be avoided or 
minimised, and whether that harm is outweighed by the public benefits arising from 
the proposal. It is considered that as the Council does not have a 5 year supply of 
housing as required by paragraph 47 of the NPPF (the current supply is 3.9 years) 
and the proposal will help to contribute towards this deficit by providing up to 175 
new dwellings. The scheme will also deliver 35% of the dwellings as affordable 
houses to help to meet the need in the locality and further contributions which cover 
matters such a new primary school and pre-school facility as well as providing CIL 
money to facilitate improvements to the doctor’s surgery in Woolpit, to the local 
library and safety improvements at the Thurston Railway Station.  The scheme will 
also contribute towards improvements to the infrastructure of the local area by 
installing a new pavement and bus shelter on Sandpit Lane and the creation of a new 
pavement on Church Road to link the site up to the existing pavement within the 
village. On a more strategic level, the scheme will also contribute towards 
improvements to the highway network in and around Thurston to ensure that the road 
network remains safe for its users. The scheme will bring with it public benefits also 
in the form of construction related jobs and also additional residents to help sustain 
and grow local services and businesses.  

 
 
88. The public benefit of this proposal when considered on its own is highlighted above, 

but when the above is considered cumulatively with the adjacent Pigeon site, which 
will also deliver additional houses, provide land for a new primary school and 

Page 804



contributions towards the cost of building it,  which also including a pre-school and 
highway infrastructure contributions and also provides CIL money to facilitate bids for 
library, doctor’s surgery and railway station improvements, it is considered that the 
cumulative benefits of both schemes outweigh the low to medium harm that the 
proposals will have on the heritage assets identified in this report. 

 
Environment And Flood Risk 
 
89. Paragraph 100 of the NPPF makes it clear that inappropriate development in areas 

of flood risk should be avoided by directing development away from areas of highest 
risk. The contents of policy CS4 of the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy is in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF in terms of flood risk and carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. In terms of flooding from rivers, the site complies 
with local and national policy as it lies in a flood zone 1 area which is land at least 
risk of flooding. To deal with surface water, the applicant is proposing a pond filled 
with reed within the north east corner of the site with the surface water flow from the 
site channelled into it. 

 
90. Objections have been received stating that the site floods to a considerably worse 

extent than that identified in the Flood risk assessment and that the building of 
dwellings here will make matters worse for the adjacent existing properties. Anglian 
Water and the County Flood and Water team have been consulted on this proposal 
and both organisations have advised that they do not object to the scheme subject to 
the imposition of a condition requiring additional technical details relating to the 
submitted drainage strategy. 

 
91. Objections have also been received in relation to this scheme when considered 

cumulatively with the 4 other sites as currently proposed for residential development 
in Thurston on the grounds that together they will increase flood risk in the area, 
there is a lack of water supply to serve the new dwellings, and the sewage system 
locally has no capacity within it to cope with the extra demand. The Environment 
Agency, County Flood and Water team and Anglian Water have been specifically 
asked to consider the cumulative impact of this proposal. They have advised the 
Council that in terms of flood risk, an increase of 827 dwellings with the mitigation 
measures proposed by the applicants will not increase flood risk in the locality. 
Confirmation has also been received that there is capacity in the local pumping 
station to serve 827 new dwellings in terms of sewage needs. Thurston lies in an 
area where water supply can be an issue, however Anglian Water has a duty by law 
to supply new houses with a water supply and this is a matter for them to resolve 
under their legislation. 

 
92. Having regards to the above, it is considered in terms of flood risk, drainage, water 

supply and drainage that the scheme when either considered singularly or 
cumulatively can be made acceptable subject to the imposition of a suitably worded 
condition to meet the requirements of paragraph 100 of the NPPF and policy CS4 of 
the Mid Suffolk Core Strategy. 

 
Infrastructure -  Planning Obligations / CIL contributions 
 
93. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that the local 

infrastructure, which includes the local schools and health care, is insufficient to meet 
the need of the residents of this proposal. Comment has been made that if the 
scheme is approved without suitable provision, then it will cause significant impact on 
the existing community of Thurston. 

 

Page 805



94. The Council has now implemented CIL which accordingly takes on board 
requirements such as open space contribution, NHS and education contributions.   

 
95. As part of this proposal the following contributions will be sought under the Council’s 

CIL Scheme: 
 

 Towards the phase 2 expansion of the doctor’s surgery in Woolpit which the 
residents of this scheme would use. 

 For improvements to the local library provision. 

 Safety improvements to the Thurston Railway station. 
 
96. Objections have been received to this scheme on the grounds that a new doctor’s 

surgery will not be provided and that the scheme will only provide ‘contributions’ 
rather than actual facilities. It should be noted that the Primary Care Trust (PCT) has 
made it clear that due to the existing situation with doctors, their salaries and 
contracts and the government’s policy in terms of the NHS that a new doctor’s 
surgery will not happen in Thurston as part of any of the 5 schemes. The PCT will be 
requesting contributions through CIL in relation to all 5 schemes and the monies will 
be used to improve the service offered and/or improve the facilities at the Woolpit 
Surgery and at the Park Farm Surgery in Moreton Hall to meet the expected needs of 
the additional residents of the new dwellings in Thurston. 

 
97. It has been identified following discussion with the County Infrastructure Officer that 

as suggested by the objectors and the Parish Council, there is no capacity in the 
local primary school to expand and as such a contribution of £706,477 is required 
towards the building of a new 420 place two form primary school in the locality. It has 
also been suggested that a further £66,664 is required for the provision of new 
pre-school in the locality to help meet the demand generated by this development. As 
the CIL 123 list does not include the provision of new pre-school or primary school 
facilities (it only covers extensions to existing establishments) these contributions will 
have to be sought under S106 of the Planning Act. In the applicant’s statement of 
case, they initially indicated that they would not agree to the payment of this 
contribution as they considered that the matter could be resolved via a CIL 
contribution to extend the existing school. However, the appellant has indicated to 
the Council that they have now reassessed the situation as the County Council has 
made it clear that due to a deficit of land at the school it cannot be extended as it 
would fail the Department for Education standards for minimum school sizes (both 
buildings and land) and an extension would not be allowed. 

 
98. Whilst the new school is being built, it has been suggested that the existing school 

will be provided with two temporary classrooms funded via CIL to cope on a 2 to 3 
year period with the increase in pupils generated from the first phase of new 
housebuilding in Thurston (from any of the 5 sites currently under consideration) until 
the new school is built. Once that happens, the existing school will be closed and the 
existing pupils moved over to the new school and the new school will be extended as 
appropriate up to a capacity of 420 pupils to accommodate the primary school age 
children arising from any of the proposed housing sites in Thurston. It is understood 
that the Diocese who own the primary school have committed to ploughing the 
capital receipt that they receive for the development of the existing school site into 
the new school which is also to be funded by a joint contribution by all 5 of the 
developers proposing major housing schemes currently in Thurston. 

 
99. Following further dialogue with the County Obligations Manager it is understood that 

progress is being made to secure options on the potential school sites proposed in 

Page 806



other applications. The delivery of a new primary school is a necessary pre-requisite 
to mitigate the potential pressure on education infrastructure from the development 
and it has been agreed that a restrictive phasing condition is not necessary given the 
progress that has been made on options. Nevertheless the securing of a primary 
school site is a material consideration upon which the delivery of this development is 
predicated. 

 
100. As is the case for new education buildings, affordable Housing is not part of CIL and 

members should note that policy to seek up to a 35% provision remains in effect. The 
applicant has confirmed that he is agreeable to provide a policy compliant scheme for 
affordable housing and that this will be achieved via a Section 106 contribution. 

 
101. Network Rail has been consulted on this scheme and has asked for a contribution of 

£1million through a S106 agreement between all five developers to close the existing 
level crossing and to provide safer and improved facilities at Thurston Railway 
Station having regards to the increased use of the facilities that will occur from the 
residents of the proposed 827 dwellings. The Council’s CIL 123 list includes provision 
for improvements to transport infrastructure. As such it is considered that it would be 
appropriate for Network Rail to bid for the specified amount to make the 
improvements they have requested to improve pedestrian safety at the station under 
the CIL scheme.  

 
102. The Local Highway Authority has, as stated earlier in the report, has asked for 

£94,724 under section 106 of the Planning act to pay for Hopkins Homes contribution 
for works to the highway infrastructure to ensure that the impact of approving all 5 
housing schemes totalling 872 houses in Thurston is not severe on the highway 
network as referred to in paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 

 
103. It is noted that the applicant has stated in his supporting statement that it is his 

intention to gift land adjacent to the church for use as an extension site to the existing 
graveyard. It must be noted that this land is outside the red line site boundary for this 
application and the provision of this land for an extension to the graveyard is not 
necessary to make this application acceptable in planning term and as such fails the 
CIL tests outlined above. However, as stated in the applicant’s supporting 
documents, this land can be gifted to the church regardless of the outcome of this 
application through other non-planning means. 

 
104. Having regards to the above, in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations, 2010, the obligations recommended to be secured above by way of a 
planning obligation deed are (a) necessary to make the Development acceptable in 
planning terms (b) directly related to the Development and (c) fairly and reasonably 
relate in scale and kind to the Development.   

 
Other Issues 
 
105. Objections have been made to this scheme on the basis that there are a number of 

other planning applications with the Council at present and some of those should be 
approved before, or instead of this one and that they should all be considered 
cumulatively in terms of their impact. It must be remembered that each planning 
application must be considered on its own individual planning merits. However, the 
Council is actively considering the cumulative impact of all of the planning 
applications that have been submitted for residential development in Thurston to 
ensure that the right quantum of development will be provided and that the necessary 
infrastructure to accommodate the dwellings is provided. 

 

Page 807



106. An objection has been made on the ground that the mobile phone signal in the area 
is poor as is the broadband in the area and that it will get worse with the development 
of this site. The mobile telephone operators are constantly reviewing their networks 
and it is likely that when additional dwellings are approved in the locality, they will in 
the future plan for an improvement to their local mobile network.  

 
107. Comment has been made that the erection of dwellings in close proximity to the 

graveyard extension that is planned to the west of Church Road will not provide the 
tranquillity that the families of those buried in the graveyard will expect. The 
graveyard extension is to be sited adjacent to the landscaping belt for the site and is 
not adjacent to any proposed residential development. As such, the peace and 
tranquillity that the objector would expect within the graveyard will be maintained if 
the proposed scheme is approved and built. 

 
Details Of Financial Benefits / Implications (S155 Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
 

 Council Tax payments from the dwellings when built 

 Planning Delivery Grant from Central Government for delivering the dwellings 

 S106 Agreement: 

£706,447 is required towards the building of a new primary school in Thurston.  

£55,642 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

£66,664 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston 

£94,724 is required for highway infrastructure works 

Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per annum 

from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five years, or one year 

after occupation of the final dwelling, whichever is longer.   

Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £104,631 (£598 per dwelling 

– based on the estimated cost calculated by Suffolk County Council of fully 

implementing the travel plan).  This is to cover the cost of implementing the 

travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to deliver it themselves. 

 CIL payments per dwelling built on site. 

 
 

108. PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
Planning Balance 
 
109.  In order to provide context this scheme is the subject of a non-determination appeal 

and the substantive decision now rests with The Planning Inspectorate with a date for 
Public Inquiry now anticipated in October 2017. In order to present the Councils case 
appropriately it is necessary to agree the approach that the local planning authority 
would have been minded to take had the decision remained before them. The 
recommendation is therefore framed in that manner and the Councils statement of 
case is required to be presented to a timetable agreed with the appellant. This 
precludes the opportunity to further explore highways issues at the A143 Thurston 
Road junction as recommended in relation to those other cases presented 
contemporaneously. 

Page 808



 
110. The proposal for residential development on land at Sandpit Lane/Norton Road in 

Thurston is considered to be contrary to the adopted Mid Suffolk Core Strategy as 
the application site lies within the countryside outside the built framework of the 
settlement of Thurston on what is open agricultural land.  However, as the housing 
policies in the Core Strategy are out of date due to the Council not having a 
deliverable five year supply of housing, this scheme falls to be considered in relation 
to paragraph 14 and 49 of the NPPF which relate to residential development and 
sustainable development.  

 
111. Paragraph 14 states that where the development plan for the area is out of date 

permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF as a whole or specific policies in the NPPF which indicate that 
the development should be restricted. Whilst it has been identified that the proposal 
will have an adverse impact on the quality of the landscape character of the area, 
and that it will result in the irreplaceable loss of countryside and has an impact on the 
setting of three listed buildings in the locality, it is considered that the benefits that the 
scheme brings such as the provision of new housing of which 35% of them will be 
affordable,  contributions towards local infrastructure such as the highways 
improvements, provision of open space and the new school that the appellant has 
agreed to contribute towards outweighs the negative issues.  

 
112. Significant weight must also be given to the fact that there are no unresolved 

objections from the Council’s consultees to the scheme. There are no objections in 
terms of design; crime prevention; amenity; pollution; contamination; ecology; 
landscape; flood risk and drainage. The proposal will also help to deliver construction 
jobs and will also provide more residents who will helps to sustain and potentially 
grow the local economy. 

  
113. In relation to highways impacts there are road safety impacts which can be 

addressed through mitigation at Fishwick Corner and other highways infrastructure 
improvements which weigh in favour of the scheme by providing enhanced 
sustainable links.  

 
114. As noted above there remains a road safety and capacity issue at the A143 Thurston 

Road junction (adjacent to The Bunbury Arms). A number of solutions have been 
investigated and the current preferred solution is traffic signals. The highway 
authority consider that the effects of the development can be mitigated but further 
detailed work needs to be undertaken to obtain the most practicable and viable 
solution to address the risks. For this reason the attention of the Committee is drawn 
to the Section 106 package of obligations (third bullet) which would have been 
expected and which includes an expected contribution towards highway mitigation 
but which in the circumstances is itself subject to a caveat that further detailed survey 
and design investigation is required.  

 
 
115. Therefore, it is considered having regards to paragraph 14 of the NPPF that the 

benefit the proposal brings outweighs the negatives. Furthermore, when assessing 
the proposal against the NPPF it is not contrary to its requirements as a whole and 
there are no specific policies within it that would restrict this development and as 
such it is considered that it constitutes sustainable development which should be 
approved planning permission without delay in line with the requirements of 
paragraph 14. 

 

Page 809



Statement Required By Article 35 Of The Town And Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015. 
 
116. When determining planning applications The Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 requires Local 
Planning Authorities to explain how, in dealing with the application they have worked 
with the applicant to resolve any problems or issues arising.  

 
117. In this case the planning authority has worked with the applicant to overcome 

highway objections to the scheme and to clarify issues relating to drainage and 
impact on listed buildings. 

 
Identification of any Legal Implications of the decision 
 
118. There are no known legal implications derived from the determination of this 

application. 
 
119. The application has been considered in respect of the current development plan 

policies and relevant planning legalisation.  Other legislation including the following 
has been considered in respect of the proposed development.  

 
  - Human Rights Act 1998 
  - The Equalities Act 2012 
  - Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

- Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (any rural 
site) 

  - The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
  - Localism Act 

- Consideration has been given to the provisions of Section 17 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act, 1998, in the assessment of this application but the proposal 
does not raise any significant issues.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Mid Suffolk District Council is minded to advise the Planning Inspectorate in relation to 
the non-determination appeal that it would have recommended the grant planning 
permission subject to the completion of a Section 106 or Undertaking to secure the following 
heads of terms: 
 

 £706,447 is required towards the building of a new primary school in Thurston.  

 £55,642 towards the cost of the land to provide the new primary school. 

 £66,664 is required for the provision of new pre-school facility in Thurston  

 35% Affordable Housing to be transferred over to a Registered Provider 

 To secure the provision of public open space to be managed by a dedicated 
management company 

 £94,724 to secure off site highway improvement works as listed below: 
 

o Highway Improvement Contribution: £2333 contribution towards a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) and associated works to extend the existing 30mph 
of speed limit on Norton Road eastwards to improve road safety for road 
users associated with the development.  Payable prior to occupation of the 
first dwelling. 

 

Page 810



o Highway Pedestrian Crossing Improvement Contribution: £10,000 
Contribution towards provision of pedestrian crossing facilities at Norton Road 
/ Station Hill / Ixworth Road junction to provide improved pedestrian access to 
the Academy and mitigate increase pedestrian and vehicle use. Payable on 
occupation of the first dwelling. 

 
o Subject to the appropriate further investigation and resolution of a 

satisfactory scheme to address highway safety issues at the A143 
Thurston Road junction a Highway Capacity Improvement Contribution: 
£10,000 Contribution towards improvements at the A143 Bury Road / C691 
Thurston Road/ C649 Brand Road, junction at Great Barton to mitigate 
congestion at peak periods. Payable on commencement of work on site. 

 
o Highway Safety Improvement Contribution: £50,000 Contribution towards 

safety improvements at the C693 Thurston Road / C692 Thurston Road / 
C693 New Road including a contribution towards 40mph speed limit on the 
C692 Thurston Road to improve road safety and mitigate increased use. 
Payable on commencement of the first dwelling. 

 

 To secure a travel plan in connection with the scheme detailed as follows: 

 
o Travel Plan Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Contribution - £1,000 per 

annum from occupation of the 100th dwelling for a minimum of five years, or 
one year after occupation of the final dwelling, whichever is longer.   

 
o Travel Plan Implementation Bond, or cash deposit - £104,631 (£598 per 

dwelling – based on the estimated cost calculated by Suffolk County Council 
of fully implementing the travel plan).  This is to cover the cost of 
implementing the travel plan on behalf of the developer if they fail to deliver it 
themselves. 

 
 
and that such permission be subject to the conditions as set out below: 
 
 

1) Two year time limit for submission of reserved matters (agreed with applicant) 
2) Reserved matters (outline) 
3) Existing tree protection 
4) Contaminated land 
5) Construction management agreement 
6) External lighting 
7) Commencement period for landscaping 
8) Protection of birds during construction period 
9) Works to be carried out in line with the ecological report. 
10) Archaeology 
11) Highway Conditions (covering site access, Internal layout, Construction management 

plan, highway drainage, footway and cycle connectivity) 
12) Surface water drainage 

 

Page 811



This page is intentionally left blank



Slide 1 

Application No: 

 

 

Address: 

5010/16 – Appeal for 

non-determination 

Land To The South Of 

Norton Road 

Thurston 

IP31 3QH 

P
age 813



Slide 2 

Verbal Updates: 

 

- Confirmation and summary of any 3rd Party 

representations received not previously issued to 

members.   

 

- Confirmation and summary of any consultee 

responses received not previously issued to 

members 

 

- Confirmation of any changes to recommendation, 

conditions or reasons.   

P
age 814



Slide 3 

Hopkins Homes 

5010/16 and 

2797/16 
Settlement 

limit 

Settlement limit 

P
age 815



Slide 4 Site Location Plan & Constraints Map 

P
age 816



Slide 5 Illustrative Layout Plan 

P
age 817



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 819



Page 820



Page 821



Page 822



Page 823



Page 824



Page 825



Page 826



Page 827



Page 828



Page 829



Page 830



Page 831



Page 832



Page 833



Page 834



Page 835



Page 836



Page 837



Page 838



Page 839



Page 840



Page 841



Page 842



Page 843



Page 844



Page 845



Page 846



Page 847



Page 848



Page 849



Page 850



Page 851



Page 852



Page 853



Page 854



Page 855



Page 856



Page 857



Page 858



Page 859



Page 860



Page 861



Page 862



Page 863



Page 864



Page 865



Page 866



Page 867



Page 868



Page 869



Page 870



Page 871



Page 872



Page 873



Page 874



Page 875



Page 876



Page 877



Page 878



Page 879



Page 880



Page 881



Page 882



Page 883



Page 884


	Agenda
	7 RF/17/1 - Schedule of Applications
	7a Overview of all the Applications being presented to the Planning Referrals Committee
	7b 4963/16 - Land west of Ixworth Road, Thurston
	4963/16 - Presentation
	4963/16 - Consultee comments

	7c 5070/16 - Land at Norton Road, Thurston
	5070/16 - Presentation
	5070/16 - Consultee comments

	7d 4386/16 - Land on the west side of Barton Road, Thurston
	4386/16 - Presentation
	4386/16 - Consultee comments

	7e 4942/16 - Land at Meadow Lane, Thurston
	4942/16 - Presentation
	4942/16 - Consultee comments

	7f 2797/16 - Highfield, Norton Road, Thurston
	2797/16 - Presentation
	2797/16 - Consultee comments

	7g APPEAL ITEM 5010/16 - Land to the South of Norton Road, Thurston
	5010/16 - Presentation
	5010/16 - Consultee comments




